MAYOR AND COUNCIL
MEETING NO. 44-21
Monday, December 20, 2021 – 7:00 PM
AGENDA
Agenda item times are estimates only. Items may be considered at times other than those indicated.
Any person who requires assistance in order to attend a city meeting should call the ADA Coordinator at
240-314-8108.
Rockville City Hall is closed due to slowing down the spread of the coronavirus COVID-19 and continue
practicing safe social distancing.
Viewing Mayor and Council Meetings
To support social distancing, the Mayor and Council are conducting meetings virtually. The virtual meetings
can be viewed on Rockville 11, channel 11 on county cable, livestreamed at
www.rockvillemd.gov/rockville11, and available a day after each meeting at
www.rockvillemd.gov/videoondemand.
Participating in Community Forum & Public Hearings:
If you wish to submit comments in writing for Community Forum or Public Hearings:
• Please email the comments to mayorandcouncil@rockvillemd.gov by no later than 10:00 a.m. on
the date of the meeting.
• All comments will be acknowledged by the Mayor and Council at the meeting and added to the
agenda for public viewing on the website.
If you wish to participate virtually in Community Forum or Public Hearings during the live Mayor and Council
meeting:
1. Send your Name, Phone number, the Community Forum or Public Hearing Topic and Expected
Method of Joining the Meeting (computer or phone) to mayorandcouncil@rockvillemd.gov no
later than 10:00 am on the day of the meeting.
2. On the day of the meeting, you will receive a confirmation email with further details, and two
Webex invitations: 1) Optional Webex Orientation Question and Answer Session and 2) Mayor &
Council Meeting Invitation.
3. Plan to join the meeting no later than 6:40 p.m. (approximately 20 minutes before the actual
meeting start time).
4. Read for https://www.rockvillemd.gov/DocumentCenter/View/38725/Public-Meetings-on-Webex
5. meeting tips and instructions on joining a Webex meeting (either by computer or phone).
6. If joining by computer, Conduct a WebEx test: https://www.webex.com/test-meeting.html prior to
signing up to join the meeting to ensure your equipment will work as expected.
7. Participate (by phone or computer) in the optional Webex Orientation Question and Answer
Session at 4 p.m. the day of the meeting, for an overview of the Webex tool, or to ask general
process questions.
Participating in Mayor and Council Drop-In
The next scheduled Drop-In session will be held, by phone, on Monday, January 10 from 5:30-6:30 p.m. with
Mayor Newton and Councilmember Pierzchala . Please sign up by 10 a.m. on the meeting day using the
form at: https://www.rockvillemd.gov/formcenter/city-clerk-11/sign-up-for-dropin-meetings-227

Mayor and Council

7:00 PM 1.

December 20, 2021

Convene

2.

Pledge of Allegiance

3.

Agenda Review

7:05 PM 4.

COVID-19 Update

7:10 PM 5.

Proclamation
A.

7:15 PM 6.

Presentation
A.

7:35 PM 7.

Proclamation Declaring Kwanzaa During the Week of December 26,
2021 - January 1, 2022 (CM Myles)

Discussion with District 17: 2022 State Legislative Priorities
Collaboration

Community Forum

Any member of the community may address the Mayor and Council for 3 minutes during
Community Forum. Unless otherwise indicated, Community Forum is included on the agenda
for every regular Mayor and Council meeting, generally between 7:00 and 7:30 pm. Call the
City Clerk/Director of Council Operation's Office at 240-314-8280 to sign up to speak in
advance or sign up in the Mayor and Council Chamber the night of the meeting.
7:55 PM 8.

Consent
A.

Letter to WMATA - Rockville Safety Concerns

8:00 PM 9.

Fiscal Year 2021 Audited Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR)

8:20 PM 10.

Adoption of Resolution to Approve, with Conditions, Project Plan Application
PJT2020-00012, to Allow Up to 350 Multifamily Units Instead of Office
Development on an Undeveloped Property Within the Fallsgrove

Mayor and Council

December 20, 2021

Comprehensive Planned Development (CPD) at 1800 Research Boulevard;
Key West Center Fallsgrove LLC, Applicants
8:40 PM 11.

Approval of 1) a PILOT Agreement for 29 Scattered Site Units to be Owned by
an RHE Entity, RHE Properties, Inc., and Adoption of a Resolution to (I)
Authorize and Approve the Disposition of Certain Real Property by Rockville
Housing Enterprises, (Ii) Authorize the Acceptance of an Annual Payment in
Lieu of Regularly Assessed Property Taxes from RHE Properties, Inc. for
Thirty-Three (33) Scattered Site Single-Family Housing Units Located in the
City of Rockville, and (Iii) Retroactively Authorize and Approve the
Establishment of RHE Properties, Inc.

9:00 PM 12.

Discussion and Instruction to Staff for Zoning Text Amendment TXT202000256, to Amend Section 25.21.21 of the Zoning Ordinance to Establish Tree
Planting Requirements for New Residential Lots Containing Townhouses,
Duplexes and Other Attached Units (FAST Initiative); Mayor and Council of
Rockville, Applicant

9:30 PM 13.

Discussion, Instructions, and Possible Adoption of an Ordinance to Amend
Chapter 13.5 of the Rockville City Code Entitled "Moderately Priced Housing"
So as To: (1) Establish a 99-Year Control Period for Certain Rental MPDUs; (2)
Uniformly Apply a Fifteen Percent (15%) MPDU Set-Aside Requirements for
Developments of 50 or More Units; (3) Apply the In-Lieu Fee Formula
Currently Only Applicable to Lifecare Facilities for Contributions to the
Moderately Priced Housing Fund in Lieu of Providing MPDUs to Senior or
Special Needs Housing with Services Uses; (4) to Clarify Restrictions on the
Re-Sale of Certain MPDUs; and (5) Update the Name of the Implementing
Department.

9:50 PM 14.

Discussion on Proposed Parkland Dedication Requirements, Including Fee-InLieu of Dedication and Impact Fees

10:50 PM 15.

Old/New Business

11:00 PM 16.

Adjournment

The Mayor and Council Rules and Procedures and Operating Guidelines establish
procedures and practices for Mayor and Council meetings, including public hearing
procedures. They are available at: http://www.rockvillemd.gov/mcguidelines.

5.A

Mayor & Council Meeting Date: December 20, 2021
Agenda Item Type: Proclamation
Department: City Clerk/Director of Council Operations Office
Responsible Staff: Danny Winborne

Subject
Proclamation Declaring Kwanzaa During the Week of December 26, 2021 - January 1, 2022

Recommendation
Staff recommends that the Mayor and Council read and present the Proclamation.

Discussion
Kwanzaa (which translates from Swahili to mean “First Fruits”) was introduced in 1966 during a
turbulent time during the civil rights era in the United States. Dr. Maulana Karenga created this
African American Cultural Celebration to help evoke a sense of pride and create a unique
tradition for African Americans in America.
First-fruits festivals occur in Southern Africa and are celebrated in the December/January
timeframe during the southern solstice. During the early years of its observance, it was
intended to be an alternative to Christmas; however, now many families celebrate both. The
celebration consists of 7 days, from December 26th – January 1st; with each day symbolizing a
specific principle:
1. Umoja (Unity): To strive for and to maintain unity in the family, community, nation,
and race.
2. Kujichagulia (Self-Determination): To define and name ourselves, as well as to
create and speak for ourselves.
3. Ujima (Collective Work and Responsibility): To build and maintain our community
together and make our brothers' and sisters' problems our problems and solve them
together.
4. UJAMAA (Cooperative Economics): To build and maintain our own stores, shops,
and other businesses and to profit from them together.
5. Nia (Purpose): To make our collective vocation the building and developing of our
community in order to restore our people to their traditional greatness.
6. Kuumba (Creativity): To do always as much as we can, in the way we can, in order
to leave our community more beautiful and beneficial than we inherited it.
7. Imani (Faith): To believe with all our hearts in our people, our parents, our teachers,
our leaders, and the righteousness and victory of our struggle.

One of the most significant symbols of Kwanzaa is the Kinara, which consists of 7 candles
(Mishumaa Saba) one black, three red, and three green. One candle is lit each day of Kwanzaa.
Other symbols of Kwanzaa are crops (mazao), corn (Mahindi), unity cup (Kikime cha Umoja) and
gifts (Zawadi) that are exchanged.
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The greeting for each day of Kwanzaa is “Habari Gani?”, which means “How are you?”
Many people of African descent in Canada celebrate Kwanzaa; however, most Generation Z-ers
do not celebrate Kwanzaa or are not familiar with this tradition. The Principles of Kwanzaa can
be celebrated by all cultures in America, as they are principles which we can all enjoy!
Source: Wikipedia and writings of Maulana Karenga.

Mayor and Council History
This is the first time that the Mayor and Council have presented this proclamation for Kwanzaa.

Attachments
Attachment 5.A.a:

Proclamation for Kwanzaa - December 2021 (Dec 26th - Jan 1st)

(PDF)
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Mayor & Council Meeting Date: December 20, 2021
Agenda Item Type: Discussion
Department: City Manager's Office
Responsible Staff: Linda Moran

Subject
Discussion with District 17: 2022 State Legislative Priorities Collaboration

Recommendation
Staff recommends the Mayor and Council engage the District 17 Delegation in a discussion
focused on collaboration and the advancement of Rockville's 2022 State legislative priorities.

Discussion
The 2022 General Assembly Session will begin on January 12 and conclude on April 11, 2022.
On December 20, 2021, the Mayor and Council will engage the State Delegation in a discussion
to optimize collaboration between Rockville and District 17 in the advocacy of the City’s 2022
State legislative priorities. The conversation is an opportunity for the Mayor and Council to
highlight their priorities; ask questions; invite feedback on the prospects for passage of the
priorities in the upcoming Session; and request direct Delegation support for their State
advocacy goals.
The Mayor and Council approved Rockville’s 2022 State Legislative Priorities on November 1,
2021. The staff report at Attachment A provides detailed information related to the priorities.
The following is a recap of the Mayor and Council’s approved 2022 State legislative priorities:
2022 Rockville State Legislative Priorities:
Advocate for Legislation that Would Provide Enabling Authority for Jurisdictions to Post
Electronic Legal Notices
This priority entails advocating for enabling legislation that would authorize jurisdictions to post
electronic Legal notices. Currently, Rockville and other municipalities are forced to post costly
print notices in the Washington Post, since there are no local newspapers in Montgomery
County.
Advocate in Support of Educational Needs Across the Spectrum
This priority entails advocating in support of educational needs across the spectrum, by
prioritizing engagement in all aspects of education policy, from birth through community
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college, including childcare, in order to secure additional State funding for capital and operating
needs.
Municipal Government – Highway User Fund Restoration
This propriety entails advocating in support of the 2022 Maryland Municipal League and
Rockville priority to preserve full and permanent restoration of Municipal Highway User
Revenues beginning in FY25. Municipal HUR is funded at 85% of pre-recession level funding
from FY20-24.
Advocate that No Rockville Homes, Businesses, and Infrastructure are Taken in the I -270
& I-495 Managed Lanes Study
This priority entails advocating in support of the City’s longstanding opposition to the project.
Rockville residents are greatly concerned about the project's physical and equity impacts on
their communities, encroachment on their lands, effects on traffic, and the high tolls. The
District 17 Delegation and State legislature should continue to press the Administration to
demonstrate how this massive P3 project can be financially viable.
Advocate in Support of Noise Barrier Projects for All Communities Impacted Along I-270
This priority entails advocacy to ensure the State Highway Administration lives up to its
commitment to build the West End Park Noise Barrier Project, which will protect homes north
of the I-270/MD 28 interchange, and for sound walls to be erected in other impacted Rockville
neighborhoods.
The City informed MDOT of its strong concurrence with the additional sound walls
recommended on the east side of I-270, starting at MD 189 to the Woodley Gardens Shopping
Center, and on the west side of I-270, north of MD 189 at the Saddlebrook neighborhood, and
requested additional review for the east side of I-270 on Redland Blvd., just south of Shady
Grove Road, as well as the west side of I-270, just south of MD 189, at the Falls Ridge
Neighborhood near Seven Locks Road. The City of Rockville asked MDOT to reexamine noise
levels near Wootton Parkway and consider adding noise barriers in this area. Additionally, the
City asked MDOT that if the I-270 & I-495 Managed Lanes project is implemented, the City
requests a commitment from MDOT that sound levels be examined after 5-, 10- and 20-years
post construction to confirm projections, and if necessary, that corrective action be taken to
mitigate additional sound impacts that exceed the projections/threshold.
Advocate in Support of Climate Change Policy Initiatives
This priority entails advocating in support of climate change policy initiatives,
Including, but not limited to, climate resiliency; flood plain planning and resilience; community
choice aggregation; electric vehicle incentives; and renewable energy.
Advocate for Legislation that Would Increase the Fine for Illegally Altering
Automobiles with Illegal Modified Exhaust systems
This priority entails advocating for legislation that increases the fine for illegally altering
automobiles that generate excessive noise and disrupt the quality of life in Rockville
neighborhoods.
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Advocate for the Enhancement of Senior Programs and Services
This priority entails advocating for increased funding for senior transportation services;
recreation and wellness programming; senior programming in Rockville neighborhoods; aging in
place and villages; and outreach to increase awareness of Rockville senior programs.
Public Safety – Police Accountability Board – Municipal Authority MML Priority
This MML and Rockville priority entails advocating for enabling legislation that would revise the
state law relating to Police Accountability Boards and Administrative Charging Committees to
give municipalities the option of creating their own Board or Committee.
Rockville F. Scott Fitzgerald Theatre ADA Improvements Legislative Bond Initiative
Project $250,000
The project entails renovations to the Theatre and Social Hall lobby, auditorium, backstage
areas, gender-neutral restrooms, concession stand, box office, hallways, and corridors, as well
as speaker improvements to the Theatre auditorium. This is a different project than the 2015
award of $175, 000 in State bond bill funding that Rockville received for the Exterior Parking Lot
ADA Improvements to the F. Scott Fitzgerald Theatre.

Mayor and Council History
The District 17 Delegation on June 7, 2021 provided a 2021 Session Wrap-Up presentation to
the Mayor and Council. This is the first discussion between the Mayor and Council and the
District 17 Delegation regarding the 2022 General Assembly Session and the advancement of
Rockville’s State legislative priorities.

Next Steps
Staff and Rockville’s State lobbying firm representatives will be available to answer questions
and follow-up on any direction provided by the Mayor and Council. Staff and the City’s State
lobbying team will coordinate Rockville’s advocacy with Delegation staff, monitor and forward
2022 legislation that aligns with the Mayor and Council’s State legislative priorities, and will
keep the governing body informed and engaged.

Attachments
Attachment 6.A.a:

2022 State Legislative Priorities 110121 Staff Report

(PDF)
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Mayor & Council Meeting Date: November 1, 2021
Agenda Item Type: Discussion and Possible Approval
Department: City Manager's Office
Responsible Staff: Linda Moran

Subject
2022 State Legislative Priorities

Recommendation
Staff recommends that the Mayor and Council consider and approve the proposed 2022 State
legislative priorities.

Discussion
The Mayor and Council adopt an annual State Legislative Priorities advocacy program for the
upcoming Maryland General Assembly Session. In 2022, the General Assembly will be in Session
from January 12 to April 11.
This item continues the governing body’s consideration of Rockville’s 2022 State legislative
priorities. This effort began on July 19, 2021 when the Mayor and Council approved two
priorities for submittal to the Maryland Municipal League (MML) as Legislative Action Requests
(LARs): 1) Restoration of Municipal Highway User Revenue (HUR); and 2) Climate Change and
the Environment. These issues are included in the list of recommended 2022 Rockville State
Legislative priorities in the next section of the report. MML advocates for issues that are
resolved through State legislation and have broad impact to the membership. The League does
not typically advocate for issues that impact a small number of municipalities and it does not
engage in legislation introduced by local Delegations in the State legislature.
This agenda item is comprehensive and entails all issues that will be included in Rockville’s
2022 State legislative program. The Mayor and Council can continue its consideration of issues
and adjust or identify new priorities at any time throughout the 2022 session.
Given the prevalence of the Delta variant and the continuing pandemic, the format in which the
2022 General Assembly Session will be conducted is still unknown at this time. In the 2021
Session, public hearings, briefings, etc. were conducted in a virtual format, with extremely
limited public access to the State Complex buildings. While Voting and Floor Proceedings took
place in person, the proceedings did not include public access. There is possibility the Session
this year may be a hybrid of virtual and in-person proceedings; however, no decisions have
been made or information shared at this time. Staff will communicate details as more
information becomes available. Staff anticipates a December announcement when the General
Assembly is scheduled to meet in Special Session to address Congressional Redistricting.
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The 2022 Session is the last year of the current four-year term for the Governor and General
Assembly. Governor Hogan is term-limited from running for re-election, as he will have served
two four-year terms. Typically, the fourth year of a term can be unpredictable given election
year dynamics. The 2022 Session will have the added political complexity of the General
Assembly’s obligation to address redistricting of State Legislative Districts, as well as the
continuing impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. Consequently, the predictability of Session
dynamics and priority policy issues is even more speculative than usual. Despite the
uncertainty, State funding and budget issues will remain a priority focus, given the ongoing
debate of how Maryland will spend the Federal Aid it has received and not yet allocated, as well
as the overall positive revenue projections that have been recently publicized. The General
Assembly will receive revised revenue projections in December; the projections will better
frame the fiscal issues and provide a clear picture of the State’s fiscal condition heading into the
2022 Session. Staff will share revenue forecasts when they become available.
Rockville’s proposed 2022 State legislative priorities program takes the current context of the
General Assembly into account. The priorities include Rockville -specific initiatives, MML’s
adopted 2022 legislative priorities, and issues to monitor. The majority are ongoing and two
new recommendations are included. Given the large number of recommended items, the
Mayor and Council may choose to narrow the list so that the General Assembly may better
understand the City’s most pressing needs. Some items could be shifted from the “priority” list
to the “issues to monitor” category. Staff has included the range of issues that the Mayor and
Council have been interested in so the body may have a comprehensive menu of possibilities to
consider.
Proposed Rockville 2022 State Legislative Priorities
Advocate for Legislation that Would Provide Enabling Authority for Jurisdictions to Post
Electronic Legal Notices
Staff recommends that the Mayor and Council advocate for this priority in the 2022 Session.
Rockville and other jurisdictions have no other choice but to place print ads in the Washington
Post, which is very expensive. Given non-existence of local newspapers, the Washington Post
has a monopoly on this service. Posting electronic notices may enable jurisdictions to reach a
broader audience during and potentially after the pandemic, as numerous Washington Post
subscribers may have resorted to digital versions of the newspaper. The legislation would
broaden the requirements by allowing jurisdictions to post electronic notices. The MML
Montgomery Chapter approved this issue as a 2022 State legislative priority. In previous years,
there were several attempts by MML to advocate for this legislation. Due to opposition from
local newspapers around the State that were in existence at the time, the efforts failed. Given
the non-existence of local media in 2021, the prospects for the legislation passing may be more
favorable in the 2022 Session.
Advocate in Support of Educational Needs Across the Spectrum
Staff recommends this item as a 2022 Rockville-specific State legislative priority. This item was
a 2021 Rockville-specific priority. The priority involves advocacy in all aspects of educational
policy, from birth through community college, including childcare, in order to secure additional
State funding for capital and operating needs.
For more than 18 months, the global pandemic, recently exacerbated by the Delta variant,
continues to pose challenges for educational providers across the spectrum. The return of
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students to Montgomery County Public School (MCPS) classrooms, amidst a persistent
pandemic, is a complex educational and public health undertaking that has placed strains on
educational resources and programs. Addressing learning loss from distance learning is another
urgent issue requiring attention of education providers. MCPS data released in December of
2020 revealed increased educational disparities, including nearly 45% of 9th grade students with
limited English proficiency failing math in the first quarter of the 2020-2021 school year as
compared to 8% in 2019-2020. Sixth grade students from economically-challenged Hispanic
families failed math at a rate of 24% in 2020 up from 4% in 2019. While ARPA funding may
provide some support in the near-term, State funding over the long-term is critical in efforts to
address these issues.
The financial woes of the childcare industry have intensified as the pandemic continu es.
According to a press report (Washington Post 9/27/21), there are 126,000 fewer childcare
industry workers, due to staff leaving for higher paying jobs in other sectors. The resulting
economic impact is significant, as some daycare centers are turning children away, leaving
parents - mostly women - unable to work. State funding in support of these needs is critical.
With the return to classroom instruction, MCPS recent data indicate that student enrollment
decreased in the 2021-2022 school year by 1,559 students to 159,005, from the previous year
level at 161,583. This is the second consecutive year of decreased enrollment. According to
MCPS, the pandemic has impacted enrollment in County public schools and many across the
country. MCPS believes the trend is temporary, and in the near future, student enrollment will
return to pre-pandemic levels. The school system projects enrollment to increase to 166, 160
students in the 2027-2028 school year. Between the 2009-2010 and 2019-2020 school years,
enrollment significantly increased by 23,490 students. That prolonged period of growth is still
impacting MCPS facilities today.
MCPS is further challenged with multiple aging school facilities across the County. Clusters
serving Rockville students continue to experience overcrowding, with students attending aging
and outdated facilities. Capital projects are needed to alleviate these conditions. The demand
for capital improvement projects across the County far outweighs available resources. In the
2022 Session, staff and the City’s State lobbyist will monitor the conversation and any
opportunities for potential legislation that would align with the Mayor and Council’s position
and keep the governing body engaged and informed. This priority aligns with the goals and
actions related to actively engaging with MCPS to maintain the highest standards for schools as
possible, in Rockville’s 2040 Comprehensive Master Plan and the safe and livable
neighborhoods
critical
success
factor
in
the
FY22
Adopted
budget
(www.rockvillemd.gov/DocumentCenter/View/42125/FY-2022-Adopted-Budget), as well as the
Community
Facilities
element
of
Rockville’s
2040
Comprehensive
Plan
(rockvillemd.gov/203/Rockville-2040-Comprehensive-Plan-Update).
Municipal Government – Highway User Fund Restoration
This issue was approved as a Rockville legislative priority and MML LAR at the July 19, 2021
meeting by the Mayor and Council. At the 2021 Fall Conference, the MML membership
approved a similar aim as a League priority. MML will advocate in the 2022 Session to enact
legislation to reinstate municipal (HUR) funding to pre-recession levels with no sunset on
funding. FY22 is the third year of a five-year year 85% HUR restoration ending in FY24. HUR are
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the share of State motor fuel and vehicle taxes distributed to local governments for their own
road and bridge maintenance. The revenue is generated from vehicle-registration fees and
taxes for gas, corporate income, rental cars, and vehicle titling.

The Maryland Department of Transportation/State Highway Administration (MDOT/SHA) FY21
actual amount for Rockville’s Highway User Revenue (HUR) is $2,737,565. The revised HUR
Estimate from the Maryland Department of Transportation for FY2022 equals $2,614,206.
Rockville’s FY2022 Adopted Budget includes an HUR allocation of $2,600,000.
The MML Legislative Committee also approved the formation of an internal sub-committee on
alternative transportation funding sources. The sub-committee would undertake a study on
HUR funding, with a focus on the gas-tax. It would consider recent developments such as the
rise of telework, and decreased vehicle emissions due to the increase in electric and hybrid
vehicles, and other factors that make the current system of funding unsustainable. Their goal is
to study the issue and bring it forward to the next Governor and General Assembly following
the 2022 Election. This work aligns with Rockville’s HUR LAR, which noted that the focus of the
HUR discussion needs to shift to a long term and viable funding solution. Staff mentioned the
Mayor and Council’s interest to MML staff and requested that the League keep Rockville
informed of opportunities to support these efforts. MML staff noted that the Committee
should begin its work in the near term and staff will update the governing body on
developments.
This priority aligns with the Mayor and Council Critical Success Factor regarding the
Stewardship of Infrastructure (www.rockvillemd.gov/DocumentCenter/View/42125/FY-2022Adopted-Budget) and the Transportation Element of Rockville’s 2040 Comprehensive Plan
(rockvillemd.gov/203/Rockville-2040-Comprehensive-Plan-Update).
Advocate that No Rockville Homes, Businesses, and Infrastructure are Taken in the I-270
& I-495 Managed Lanes Study
Staff recommends that the ongoing advocacy effort be included as a Rockville -specific priority
in 2022. With the Board of Public Works approval of the contract for design and engineering in
August 2021, the project is proceeding. Over the past several months, there have been
numerous media reports indicating that MDOT/SHA plans to complete the execution of
contracts prior to the end of Governor Hogan’s term. In this context, the City’s advocacy is likely
to shift from weighing in on legislation and project elements during the public comment
process, to negotiations and work with MDOT/SHA to mitigate the negative impacts the project
will have on Rockville communities and City infrastructure.
The Mayor and Council have vigorously advocated with MDOT/SHA and the Governor to
protect the homes, businesses, and infrastructure of the nine Rockville neighborhoods that
abut I-270 from being affected.
The Mayor and Council on October 15 sent a letter to MDOT/SHA and the Federal Highway
Administration urgently requesting an extension of the Supplemental Draft Environment
Statement (SDEIS) comment period to 120 days, or January 31, 2022. The letter reiterated
Rockville’s concerns regarding the massive cost, scale, and timeframe of the project; the
physical and equity impacts to Rockville neighborhoods and encroachment on their lands;
effects on traffic; and high tolls. On October 20, DontWiden270.org, the Maryland

Packet Pg. 14

Attachment 6.A.a: 2022 State Legislative Priorities 110121 Staff Report (3934 : Discussion with District 17: 2022 State Legisaltive Priorities

6.A.a

Transportation Opportunities Coalition, and CABE sent a letter to the Federal Highway
Administration asking them to withdraw MDOT/SHA's supplemental environmental review for
the toll lane project because of fatal flaws in the traffic modeling.
Staff and our State lobbyist will monitor this issue during the 2022 Session and will alert the
Mayor and Council of developments that may warrant engagement and further action by the
governing body.
This priority aligns with Rockville’s Climate Action plan under development
https://www.rockvillemd.gov/2329/Climate-Action-Plan, the stewardship of infrastructure and
the environment and the safe and livable neighborhoods critical success factor in the FY22
Adopted Budget (www.rockvillemd.gov/DocumentCenter/View/42125/FY-2022-AdoptedBudget), as well as the transportation and environment goals in the 2040 Comprehensive
Master Plan. (https://www.rockvillemd.gov/200/Comprehensive-Plans)
Advocate in Support of the West End Park Noise Barrier Project
Staff recommends that the noise barrier project continue as a Rockville -specific priority in 2022.
It supports advocacy to ensure that the State Highway Administration lives up to its
commitment to build the West End Park Noise Barrier Project, protecting homes north of the I 270/MD 28 interchange from noise pollution. The West End Noise Barrier project is currently
not funded by the MDOT/SHA I-495 and I-270 Managed Lanes Study proposes improvements
along the entire length of roadway in Rockville, including the location proposed by the West
End Noise Barrier. MDOT/SHA has formally recommended Alternative 9, adding two highoccupancy toll (HOT) lanes on I-495 across the American Legion Bridge to I-270, and north on I270 to I-370.
On April 17, 2021, the City Manager forwarded information from MDOT/SHA to the Mayor and
Council notifying them that MDOT/SHA modified their plans and added the evaluation of
additional noise barriers that were not originally specified in the Draft Environmental Impact
Statement (DEIS). MDOT/SHA is evaluating additional locations (in addition to the barrier
originally proposed in the DEIS at the Woodley Gardens Shopping Center):
o On the east side of I-270, just south of Shady Grove Road, to protect the new
townhouse development at the King Farm neighborhood.
o On the east side of I-270, just south of Gude Dr. near Hawthorne Court and Rockville
Senior Center, a portion of the existing wall will be relocated to accommodate the
proposed managed-lanes access.
o On the east side of I-270, just south of MD 28, to protect the Rose Hill neighborhood.
o On the east side of I-270, just north of MD 189, to protect Julius West Middle School.
o On the west side of I-270, just north of MD 189, to protect the Saddlebrook Community.
o On the east side of I-270, between Montrose Road and MD 189, the existing sound
barrier will be relocated and replaced.
Traffic and Transportation asked MDOT/SHA to share information regarding the outcomes of
the evaluation. Final decisions will be made in the Final Evaluation Impact Statement (FEIS).
This priority aligns with Rockville’s Climate Action plan now under development
https://www.rockvillemd.gov/2329/Climate-Action-Plan, the stewardship of infrastructure and
the environment and the safe and livable neighborhoods critical success factors in the FY22
Adopted Budget (www.rockvillemd.gov/DocumentCenter/View/42125/FY-2022-Adopted-
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Budget), and the transportation and environment goals in the 2040 Comprehensive Master
Plan. (https://www.rockvillemd.gov/200/Comprehensive-Plans).
Advocate in Support of Climate Change Policy Initiatives
This issue was approved by the Mayor and Council as a priority at the July 19, 2021 meeting,
and was submitted by Rockville as a LAR Legislative priority to MML. The aim prioritizes
engagement in climate policy initiatives including, but not limited to:
o
o
o
o
o

Climate resiliency
Flood plain planning and resilience
Community Choice Aggregation
Electric Vehicle Incentives
Renewable Energy

While the MML Legislative Committee (LC) did not recommend climate Change policy initiatives
as a priority, they approved it as a strategic initiative. Climate change policy initiatives was also
an MML Strategic Initiative in 2021. MML strategic initiatives do not involve the introduction of
legislation. Instead, the League will closely monitor the discussion and legislation related to
climate change and forward it to the LC for potential action. Mayor and Council have
supported environmental legislation over the years, including community choice aggregation,
electric vehicle incentives, renewable energy, and climate solutions. Staff and the City’s State
lobbyist will monitor activity and forward legislative initiatives that align with the Mayor and
Council’s goals. MML indicated that they expect for the Climate Solutions Act to be introduced
again in the 2022 Session. Additionally, the City’s Environment Commission each year
recommends legislation of interest to the Mayor and Council for potential action.
This LAR aligns the Environment Element of Rockville’s 2040 Comprehensive Plan
(rockvillemd.gov/203/Rockville-2040-Comprehensive-Plan-Update), and the Environmental
Sustainability and Climate Action Priority included in the FY22 Adopted Budget
(www.rockvillemd.gov/DocumentCenter/View/42125/FY-2022-Adopted-Budget).
Advocate for Legislation that Would Increase the Fine for Illegally Altering Automobiles
with Illegal Modified Exhaust systems.
Staff recommends that this issue be pursued as a Rockville-specific priority through legislation
to focus on increased penalties for illegally modified exhaust systems in the 2022 Session.
During the pandemic, numerous residents have expressed concern about excessive noise
emitted from vehicles that have illegally modified exhaust systems. This is both a regional and
national issue. The City’s Police Department is continuing its collaboration and enforcement
efforts with the County and State police. In the 2021 Session, SB 408/HB178, as originally
introduced, would have increased the penalty for illegally modified exhaust systems to $200.
However, that language was removed from the bill. The amended bill focused on penalties
associated with race and speed contests, but it failed.
This priority aligns with the Mayor and Council Critical Success Factor regarding the safe and
livable
neighborhoods
(https://www.rockvillemd.gov/1919/Priorities-Initiatives),
the
Environment Element of Transportation Element of Rockville’s 2040 Comprehensive Plan
(rockvillemd.gov/203/Rockville-2040-Comprehensive-Plan-Update), and the Environmental
Sustainability and Climate Action Priority included in the FY22 Adopted Budget
(www.rockvillemd.gov/DocumentCenter/View/42125/FY-2022-Adopted-Budget).
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Public Safety – Police Accountability Board – Municipal Authority MML Priority
Staff recommends that this MML-adopted priority be included in the City’s program. This
initiative relates to the police reform suite of legislation that passed in 2021. According to MML,
a part of the legislation requires each County to have a police accountability board and
establish an administrative charging committee. The law does not, however, offer
municipalities the option to establish their own Accountability Board and Charging Committees,
despite their municipal police departments having autonomy from their county counterparts.
This year’s proposal would revise the state law relating to Police Accountability Boards and
Administrative Charging Committees to give municipalities the option of creating their own
Board and Committee. The City of Gaithersburg submitted this issue as a Legislative Action
Request.
This priority aligns with the FY22 Adopted Budget priorities on Social Justice , Inclusion, and
Diversity initiatives, the Safe and Livable Neighborhoods in Rockville’s FY22 Adopted Budget
www.rockvillemd.gov/DocumentCenter/View/42125/FY-2022-Adopted-Budget,
and
the
principle to maintain and promote safe and attractive, welcoming, and amenity-rich
neighborhoods
included
in
the
2040
Comprehensive
Plan.
(www.rockvillemd.gov/DocumentCenter/View/42815/City-of-Rockville-Comprehensive-Plan).
Advocate for the Enhancement of Senior Programs and Services
Staff recommends that the Mayor and Council continue to advocate in support of aging persons
programming and services as a Rockville-specific priority in the 2021 session. Rockville’s senior
population is growing, rapidly changing, and is expected to increase faster than any other age
group in Rockville. In fact, the city’s senior population is projected to spiral to 19,140 by the
year 2040, equaling approximately 22% of the total population. This segment of the city’s
population is placing increased demand on current services and therefore ne eds additional
programs, support, and services. Low- and fixed-income seniors are a special concern; 10.3 %
of Rockville’s population aged 65 and over are living below the poverty line, according to the
U.S Census 2019 American Community Survey.
Under this priority, the Mayor and Council would support funding and enhancements that
respond to the Rockville Senior Needs Assessment and Gap Analysis, including senior
transportation services; recreation and wellness programming; aging-in-place and villages; and
outreach to increase awareness of senior programs and services in Rockville.
This priority aligns with Rockville’s Recreation and Parks Strategic Plan goals
(https://www.rockvillemd.gov/DocumentCenter/View/41331/Recreation-and-Parks-StrategicPlan?bidId=) and the City’s Senior Needs Assessment Implementation Plan
(www.rockvillemd.gov/DocumentCenter/View/35800/Senior-Needs-AssessmentImplementation-Plan?bidId=).
Local Legislative Bond Initiative
Staff has included several proposed 2022 State legislative bond initiative options, which are
Rockville CIP projects, for the Mayor and Council’s consideration:
• 6 Taft Court Emergency Operations Center Renovations- $250,000
• F. Scott Fitzgerald Theatre ADA Improvements - $250,000
• City Hall ADA Improvements: Requested Amount - $150,000
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Attachment A is a summary of project details. There has been considerable interest expressed
by the governing body in pursuing State funding for Rockville’s 6 Taft Court Emergency
Operations Center, which reflects the listing of this project as the first option. The 6 Taft Court
project aligns with the Mayor and Council’s funding goals and with Senator Kagan’s interest in
projects and initiatives that support emergency operations and management. The F. Scott
Fitzgerald and City Hall ADA improvements projects are included as other options for the Mayor
and Council’s consideration. Rockville has achieved previous success in receiving State
legislative bond initiatives for ADA improvements projects to City facilities. Staff is asking Mayor
and Council for approval to share the three potential options with the District 17 Delegation,
and for direction on the ranking of the priorities by order of importance. Staff will keep the
Mayor and Council informed and engaged. Staff will return to the governing body for their
approval of the option that gains their majority support and that of the District 17 Delegation.
Each project is included in the Adopted FY22 Budget and would meet the required project
match.
These project options align with the efficient and effective service delivery and stewardship of
infrastructure and environment critical success factors in the FY22 Adopted Budget
(www.rockvillemd.gov/DocumentCenter/View/42125/FY-2022-Adopted-Budget)
and
the
community
facilities
vision
in
the
2040
Master
Plan
(https://www.rockvillemd.gov/DocumentCenter/View/42814/City-of-Rockville-ComprehensivePlan).
Proposed Issues to Monitor in the 2022 Session
Staff recommends that the Mayor and Council, staff, and the City’s State lobbyist monitor the
following issues during the 2022 legislative session:
• Affordable Housing – staff and the State lobbyist will monitor the introduction of bills
that would make the cost of housing more affordable and/or remove barriers to
housing.
• Statewide 3-1-1 - Senator Kagan will once again sponsor legislation on this topic in 2022.
• Preserving Voter Rights – staff and the City’s State lobbyist will monitor the introduction
of bills that would preserve and protect voter rights.
• Congressional and State Legislative Redistricting – Staff and the City’s State lobbyist will
monitor the General Assembly’s consideration and review of Congressional (special
Session in December 2021) and State legislative (regular 2022 Session) district maps for
any issues with impact.
Staff will inform the Mayor and Council of legislative or noteworthy developments that warrant
action, so that the Mayor and Council can direct staff and the City to engage, as needed.

Mayor and Council History
Each year, the Mayor and Council discuss and adopt State legislative priorities.

Next Steps
•

The Montgomery County Delegation’s Joint House and Senate Priorities virtual public
hearing will be held on November 15, 2021 at 7:00 p.m. Attachment B is draft
testimony for the Mayor and Council’s review and approval. As the hearing conflicts
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with the November 15 Mayor and Council meeting, the governing body can provide
direction to ask staff to represent them at the hearing or to submit written testimony
for the public record.
•

Prior to and during the 2022 Session, staff will work with the City’s State lobbyist and
MML to monitor issues and track legislation with impact on the City. Staff will keep the
Mayor and Council informed and engaged.

•

At any time throughout the course of the current term, the Mayor and Council may
continue the discussion, and adjust or identify new priorities.

Attachments
Potential Additonal LBI Projects for 2022 Session
jointpriorities hearing draft testimony 111521

(PDF)
(PDF)
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8.A

Mayor & Council Meeting Date: December 20, 2021
Agenda Item Type: Consent
Department: PW - Management & Support
Responsible Staff: Craig Simoneau

Subject
Letter to WMATA - Rockville Safety Concerns

Recommendation
Staff recommends that the Mayor and Council review and approve the draft letter to the
Washington Metropolitan Area Transit Authority (WMATA) conveying Rockville's concerns over
recent safety issues.

Discussion
The Mayor and Council of Rockville have expressed concerns over a series of recent decisions
by WMATA that have resulted in service disruptions, limited access, and safety issues on the
Red Line of the Metro. The attached draft letter details the concerns, including the decisions to
close the pedestrian bridge over MD-355 at the Rockville Metro station during the bridge
rehabilitation project, the single-tracking of the Red Line through Rockville during the summer
of 2021 to address a maintenance issue, and finally, the safety concerns related to the recent
derailment of the 7000-series railcars. The letter poses specific questions to WMATA regarding
the thought process and planning behind these decisions and requests a follow-up meeting
with WMATA staff to discuss them further.

Mayor and Council History
At the November 15th Mayor and Council meeting, the Mayor and Council authorized
Councilmember (Dr.) Myles to work with staff to draft a letter to WMATA expressing the City’s
concerns over recent decisions and events that have affected service availability, access and
safety for the residents and visitors of Rockville. The letter was discussed during the December
6th Mayor and Council Meeting and staff was directed to revise it based on Mayor and Council
feedback and recent developments.

Attachments
Attachment 8.A.a:

Draft WMATA letter 12.20.2021

(PDF)
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December 20, 2021

Mr. Gregory Slater, WMATA Board of Directors
Principal Director representing the State of Maryland
Washington Metropolitan Area Transit Authority
600 5th Street, NW
Washington, DC 20001
Col. Donald Drummer, WMATA Board of Directors
Principal Director representing the State of Maryland
Washington Metropolitan Area Transit Authority
600 5th Street, NW
Washington, DC 20001
The City of Rockville (City) is fortunate to have two Metro stations within our City limits, with close
proximity to two additional stations. Additionally, we are excited about the prospect of
the redesign of the Rockville (and possibly Twinbrook) Metro stations. Having these stations
operational helps us meet our goals for TOD, accessibility for all and supporting efforts to reduce
carbon pollution. In close proximity to the Rockville Metro station is housing for Seniors and people
with various degrees of ableness who utilize the pedestrian bridge to safely access the station, helping
us meet our safety goals for pedestrians, cyclists and those who use other non-automobile forms of
transportation.
The City recognizes and supports the importance and need for the recent projects Metro has
conducted and we are very excited about the reopening of the Rockville and Shady Grove Stations on
January 16th. To that end, we want to ensure that future decisions by Metro factor in the service
needs, accessibility and safety of our residents while addressing these necessary improvements.
The first concern is the safety of riders during the on-going pandemic, which was exacerbated by
service reductions due to the removal of 7000 series train cars and the closure of the Rockville and
Shady Grove Stations. The issue occurred first during the single-tracking operation during late
summer 2021 due to a fan replacement further south along the Red Line. The single tracking
increased crowding on the available trains. While the Rockville station was closed during the planned
canopy replacement, the opening of which was delayed due to damaged materials and impacts from
the recent derailment, riders sat in crowded buses while they were being transported to and from the
next open Metro station. More recently, the derailment of a train in mid-October 2021 led to the
removal of over 50 percent of trains from the fleet. This reduction in rail service led to crowded
standing-room only trains. While crowding and late trains are to be intermittently expected, the
concerns are elevated because of the pandemic and the lack of enforcement of the Federal masking
mandates.
The second concern is the impact that planned improvement projects have on safety and accessibility
to the Rockville station. During the rehabilitation to the pedestrian bridge over MD 355, the
pedestrian detour caused residents to cross a seven-lane thoroughfare (MD 355) that
has historically been dangerous for those not in vehicles. Additionally, the construction closed a lane
heading North causing congestion and resulted in an unsafe commute for motorists who suddenly
encountered a blocked lane.
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1. What led to the apparent delay in addressing the defects in 7000 series trains prior to the
decision to remove them from the fleet and prior to starting any capital projects?
2. When will WMATA be able to return an adequate number of train cars to the systems, so
that current service reductions are eliminated?
3. What is WMATA doing to increase the safety of riders who are riding crowded trains and
buses during a worsening pandemic, including compliance with the mask mandate?
4. How will Metro improve transparency of safety concerns?
5. How will Metro increase the public’s confidence in the service, such that ridership returns,
thereby helping to restore the area economy during and after the pandemic?
We thank you and the WMATA team for your continued efforts. We look forward to your responses
to these questions and invite you to attend (virtually) a Mayor and Council meeting on March 7 or 21,
2022 to address these concerns.
Sincerely,

cc: Mr. Charlie Scott, Senior Government Relations Officer, Maryland
Day file
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While we applaud your diligence and the decision to begin to return the 7000 series cars to service
and the news that the Metro stations at Rockville and Shady Grove will reopen on January 16, we are
seeking clarification on the planning process and how safety, access and service disruptions are
factored into decisions. Specifically:
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Mayor & Council Meeting Date: December 20, 2021
Agenda Item Type: Presentation
Department: Finance
Responsible Staff: Xiaojing Zhang

Subject
Fiscal Year 2021 Audited Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR)

Recommendation
Staff recommends that the Mayor and Council receive and file the audited Annual
Comprehensive Financial Report (Attachment A), the report on internal controls (Attachment
B), communication with those charged with governance (Attachment C), the management
letter (Attachment D) and the audited Report on Single Audit (Attachment E) for the City of
Rockville for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2021.

Discussion
COVID-19
The City continued to face financial challenges in fiscal year 2021 as the coronavirus (COVID-19)
pandemic resulted in significant changes to City services and operations. Many activities, events
and programs that were planned for the year were cancelled, rescheduled, or modified in the
interest of public safety. Despite these challenges, the City is pleased to report strong General
Fund fund balances at the end of fiscal year 2021.
The fiscal year 2021 audit was a combination of virtual and in-person audit performed at the
City. Many audit tests and assessments were conducted remotely by the Clifton Larson Allen
audit team, with the help of our accountants, Sharon Collins and Trupti Singh. While navigating
the coronavirus pandemic has been challenging in many ways, our dedicated and adaptable
staff have proven to rise to meet the needs of the City.
Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR)
Overview
The City’s financial policies specify that, on an annual basis, a firm of independent Certified
Public Accountants (CPA’s) audit the City’s financial statements, and that the auditor’s opinion
be included in the financial statements as is required by Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles (GAAP). An independent audit is essential to demonstrate the accountability of
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government officials’ use of public resources and provides a basis for user acceptance of the
audited financial statements. This was the fifth year of a five-year contract with
CliftonLarsonAllen LLP providing independent auditing services to the City.
The ACFR is a very detailed report that goes beyond the requirements of GAAP and beyond any
legal reporting requirements. The ACFR covers all funds of the government and all of the
financial transactions during the year. It is considered a general purpose report, as its contents
are intended to meet the needs of a broad range of user groups. GAAP encourages, but does
not require, a governmental entity to issue an ACFR.
The City’s audit was conducted in conformity with Generally Accepted Auditing Standards
(GAAS). These are the standards that a CPA must follow when auditing financial statements. In
an independent audit, the CPA expresses an opinion as to whether the financial statements
present fairly the financial position and results of operations for the year ended. The fiscal year
2021 audit report contains this unmodified opinion starting on page 13 of the ACFR
(Attachment A), at the beginning of the financial section.
There were no significant financial issues of concern with the fiscal year 2021 financial
statements. There were no identified material weaknesses in the City's internal controls. A
management letter was issued which provides feedback for the City to consider concerning its
computer servers. A governance letter was issued which references key accounting policies, the
existence of accounting estimates, financial statement disclosures and any other findings or
issues, where applicable.
The City was proud to accept, for the 31st year in a row, the Certificate of Achievement for
Excellence in Financial Reporting Award from the Government Finance Officers Association
(GFOA) for fiscal year 2020. Staff is confident that the fiscal year 2021 report will again earn this
distinction.
Management Discussion and Analysis
The Management Discussion and Analysis can be found on pages 17 through 24 of the ACFR
(Attachment A). This analysis gives the reader a concise overview of the government’s financial
situation. Additional and more detailed information can be obtained by reading the notes to
the financial statements that start on page 37 of the ACFR (Attachment A).
Net Position and Fund Balance
The ACFR reflects the reporting format (GASB 34) and classifications of fund balance (GASB 54),
which are required for all government entities. The overall goal of the GASB 34 format is to
answer the question of whether a government as a whole is in better or worse financial
condition than the preceding year. To this end, statements called “government-wide financial
statements” are presented on pages 25 and 26 of the ACFR (Attachment A). In fiscal year 2021,
the City of Rockville's government-wide change in financial position was a net increase of
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$13,695,993. The City's net increase in net position is based on increases in property tax
revenue, coupled with conservative spending across City departments and programs. Net
position is a term that most closely resembles equity in private sector financial statements, and
represents the difference between the City's assets, deferred inflows of resources, deferred
outflows of resources, and liabilities.
The classifications of fund balance, required in governmental funds in accordance with GASB
54, serve to further clarify the constraints on the uses of funds by the level of authority where
such constraints are placed. This can be seen on page 27 of the ACFR (Attachment A), which
reflects the categories of non-spendable, restricted, committed, assigned, and unassigned
being applied to the fund balance. At June 30, 2021, the City's unassigned General Fund fund
balance was $22,869,949 or 27.0% of fiscal year 2021 budgeted General Fund adopted revenue,
which exceeds the City's 20% reserve requirement.
During fiscal year 2021, the City’s General Fund fund balance increased by $1,196,007. This
change was primarily a result of transfer reductions to support capital projects and debt service
expenditures. The increase is highlighted on page 73 of the ACFR (Attachment A), which shows
budget-to-actual results for the General Fund. The General Fund Balance Sheet can be found on
page 27 of the ACFR (Attachment A); a ten-year fund balance trend can be found on page 86 of
the ACFR (Attachment A) in the statistical section.
The City ended the fiscal year in a strong financial position. All governmental funds ended the
year with positive fund balances (page 27 of the ACFR/Attachment A). All governmental funds
were within the Mayor and Council's adopted policy guidelines.
As shown on page 31 of the ACFR (Attachment A), all of the City's enterprise funds except the
Parking Fund, had positive net position balances as of June 30, 2021; this situation will continue
until the parking garage debt is repaid in full. The RedGate Golf Course Funds had negative cash
balance, and, consequently, was outside of the Mayor and Council's adopted policy guidelines.
All the rest of the enterprise funds had positive cash balances. The Water, Sewer, and Parking
Funds had positive cash balances compared to prior year and the improvements of the cash
position for the Water and Sewer Funds were the effect of the issuance of new obligation
bonds. The cash balances of the Water and Sewer Funds are expected to continue in this
direction under the City’s new rate structure. The cash balance of the Parking Fund has
improved with the ease of the coronavirus pandemic, and economic and social activities return.
The cash balance of the RedGate Golf Fund will continue to be negative until a General Fund
transfer is made to bring the fund back into compliance.
Single Audit
The Single Audit is a compliance audit for entities receiving federal funding. Fiscal year 2021
federal expenditures totaled $959,657. Of this total, $51,913 of federal expenditures represent
funding passed through Montgomery County to the City from the Department of Treasury
Coronavirus Relief Fund and $229,105 represents funding passed through the Maryland
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Emergency Management Agency from the FEMA COVID-19 Emergency Protective Measures
program. Other smaller grant programs also had federal spending in fiscal year 2021.

Fiscal Impact
The attached reports present the City's audited financial information for FY 2021.

Attachments
Attachment 9.a:
Attachment 9.b:
Attachment 9.c:
Attachment 9.d:
Attachment 9.e:

Attachment A_FY21 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report
(PDF)
Attachment B_FY21 Internal Control Letter (PDF)
Attachment C_FY21 Governance Communications Letter (PDF)
Attachment D_FY21 Management Letter
(PDF)
Attachment E_FY21 Report on Single Audit (PDF)
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October 29, 2021
Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council
City of Rockville, Maryland
State law requires that all general purpose local governments publish, within four months of the close of each fiscal
year, a complete set of financial statements presented in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) and
audited in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards (GAAS) by a firm of licensed certified public accountants
(CPA's). Pursuant to that requirement, we hereby issue the Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR) for the City of
Rockville, Maryland (City), for the year ended June 30, 2021.
This report consists of management’s representations concerning the finances of the City. Accordingly, management
assumes full responsibility for the completeness and reliability of all the information presented in this report. To provide a
reasonable basis for making these representations, management has established a comprehensive internal control framework
that is designed both to protect the government’s assets from loss, theft, or misuse, and to compile sufficient reliable information
for the preparation of the City's financial statements in conformity with GAAP. Because the cost of internal controls should
not outweigh their benefits, the City's comprehensive framework of internal controls has been designed to provide reasonable
rather than absolute assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement. As management, we assert
that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, this financial report is complete and reliable in all material respects.
The City’s financial statements have been independently audited by CliftonLarsonAllen LLP, a firm of licensed
certified public accountants. The goal of the independent audit was to provide reasonable assurance that the financial statements
of the City for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, are free of material misstatement. The independent audit involved
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements; assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management; and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.
The independent auditors concluded, based upon the audit, that there was a reasonable basis for rendering an unmodified
opinion that the City’s financial statements for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, are fairly presented in conformity with
GAAP. The independent auditor’s report is presented as the first component of the financial section of this report.
GAAP requires that management provide a narrative introduction, overview, and analysis to accompany the basic
financial statements in the form of Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A). This letter of transmittal is designed to
complement and should be read in conjunction with the MD&A. The City’s MD&A can be found immediately following the
independent auditors report.
PROFILE OF THE GOVERNMENT
The City was incorporated in 1860. Its legal authority is derived from Article XI E of the State Constitution and
Article 23A of the Annotated Code of Maryland. The City has an estimated population of 67,117 and a land area of 13.55
square miles. According to the 2020 census, the City is the fourth largest city in Maryland. The City has operated under the
council-manager form of government since 1948. The City is a municipal corporation where the City Council is comprised of
a Mayor and four at-large Council members, who are elected for four-year terms.
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The City is empowered to levy a property tax on both real and personal property located within its boundaries. State
statute also empowers it to extend its corporate limits by annexation, which occurs periodically when deemed appropriate by
the Mayor and Council. The Mayor and Council are responsible for passing ordinances, adopting the budget, appointing boards
and commissions, and hiring the City Manager, City Attorney, and City Clerk/Director of Council Operations. The City
Manager is responsible for carrying out the policies and ordinances of the Mayor and Council, overseeing day-to-day operations
of the government, and appointing the directors of the various departments.
The annual budget provides the basis for coordinating and controlling City programs and services. The City provides
a full range of services, including water, sewer, refuse, parking, streets and stormwater, recreation and parks, police, planning
and zoning, and engineering services. Schools, libraries, social services, police and fire protection are provided by Montgomery
County, Maryland.
As a management policy, unassigned fund balance of the General Fund is maintained at a level not less than 20 percent
of annual budgeted General Fund revenue. The purpose of the unassigned balance is to alleviate significant unanticipated
budget shortfalls and to ensure orderly provision of services to residents. To the extent the unassigned fund balance of the
General Fund exceeds the target, the City may draw upon the fund balance to provide pay-as-you-go financing for capital
projects, for other one-time capital asset purchases, and for additional contributions to the Other Post-Employment Benefit
(OPEB) and Pension Trusts to reduce unfunded liabilities.
Budget-to-actual comparisons are provided in this report for each individual governmental fund for which an
appropriated annual budget has been adopted. For the General Fund, this comparison is presented on page 73 as part of the
required supplementary information section for the governmental funds. For governmental funds, other than the General Fund,
the appropriated annual budgets are presented on pages 75 and 78.
FACTORS AFFECTING FINANCIAL CONDITION
The information presented in the financial statements is best understood when it is considered from a broader
perspective of the specific environment within which the City operates.
LOCAL ECONOMY
The City's economic environment mirrors what is being experienced regionally and nationally. During the fiscal year
the City continued to face challenges brought on by the coronavirus pandemic. National and regional unemployment decreased
compared to fiscal year 2020 but remained comparatively high. Major industries with headquarters or divisions located within
the City’s boundaries or in close proximity remain open, including computer hardware and software manufacturers, bio-tech
and several financial institutions. Despite the onset of the pandemic and high unemployment rate, the City’s two biggest
revenues sources - real property tax and income tax were really strong. The City observed a 3.6% increase in real property tax
revenues and a 3.6% increase in income tax revenues during fiscal year 2021.
The City has an employed labor force of approximately 78,700 within city limits. The City continues to experience
residential and commercial growth, as reflected by increased construction throughout the City and permits approved and in the
pipeline. The City remains cautiously optimistic as the impact of the pandemic continues and will closely monitor its programs
and planned expenditures.
City revenues and expenditures will continue to be budgeted conservatively. The City will continue its fiscal
responsibility by reducing costs where possible and seeking diverse revenues while maintaining the safety of the public in its
delivery of quality services and programs.
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The following table lists the labor force, employed persons and average unemployment rates for Montgomery County,
Maryland (County) as compared to the unemployment rates for the State of Maryland (State) for the years 2016 through 2021.
Information presented in the table below has not been seasonally adjusted.
Unemployment Statistics
Montgomery County
Year

Labor

Employment Unemployment

Unemployment

State of Maryland
Unemployment

Rate
6.51%

Rate
6.83%

2021

Force
538,493

2020

565,295

518,736

46,559

8.20%

8.50%

2019
2018
2017
2016

566,575
559,522
562,402
551,670

547,563
539,265
555,592
531,475

19,012
20,257
19,555

3.40%
3.60%
3.60%
3.70%

3.90%
4.30%
4.10%
4.30%

503,450

35,043

20,195

Source: Maryland Department of Labor
LONG - TERM FINANCIAL PLANNING
The City spends significant time and resources planning for the future. Through a mix of land use, financial
management policies, and forecasting, the City's goal is to maximize its current use of resources to ensure long-term financial
stability. The success of these initiatives is reflected in the City's credit rating from both Standard and Poor's and Moody's
rating agencies. These agencies rate all the City's debt at AAA and Aaa, the highest rating available. The City's financial
management policies serve as guidelines that allow the City to make prudent long-term financial decisions.
Included in the City's budget is a five-year forecast of the City's General and Enterprise Funds, which allows policy
makers to see the financial impact of their decisions over a five-year period. Most importantly, the City continues to maintain
its General Fund reserve levels above 20 percent of annual budgeted revenues. Careful monitoring of the City's property values,
level of debt and charging fees at full cost recovery, where possible, and conservative budgeting practices will ensure the
continued financial health of the City.
MAJOR INITIATIVES


During fiscal year 2021, the City spent over $3.1 million on the asphalt repair and replacement project which supports
sustainable streets. The work included milling, base asphalt repairs and restriping. The City maintains approximately
367 lane-miles of street. The City concluded the rehabilitation of approximately 30 lane miles of its streets.



During fiscal year 2021, the City spent over $1.6 million in completing a new Skate Park facility and a related SWM
facility within Welsh Park. This project reconfigured the outdoor pooling parking lot to accommodate the new Skate
Park while maintaining the current number of parking spaces. This project provides more modern recreational
activities to residents.



During fiscal year 2021, the City was faced with making significant changes to services and operations in response to
the coronavirus pandemic. Many activities, events and programs that were planned for the fiscal year were cancelled,
rescheduled or modified in the interest of public safety.
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AWARDS AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA) awarded a Certificate of
Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to the City for its comprehensive annual financial report (CAFR) for the
fiscal year ended June 30, 2020. This was the 31st consecutive year that the City has achieved this prestigious award. To be
awarded a Certificate of Achievement, a government must publish an easily readable and efficiently organized comprehensive
annual financial report. This report must satisfy both generally accepted accounting principles and applicable legal
requirements.
A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one year only. We believe that our current comprehensive annual
financial report continues to meet the Certificate of Achievement Program’s requirements. We are submitting it to the GFOA
to determine its eligibility for another certificate.
In addition, the City also received the GFOA’s Distinguished Budget Presentation Award for its annual budget
document for the fiscal year beginning July 1, 2019. To qualify for the Distinguished Budget Presentation Award, the City’s
budget document was judged to be proficient in several categories including: a policy document, a financial plan, an operations
guide and a communications device. The City also received the GFOA’s award of Outstanding Achievement for the Popular
Annual Financial Report (PAFR) for the fiscal year 2020. This is the 13th year the City has received this award. The PAFR is
specifically designed to be easily understandable to the general public and other interested parties without a background in
finance.
This report could not have been prepared without the dedicated cooperation of the entire staff of the Finance
Department. Special recognition is extended to Sharon Collins, Trupti Singh, Stacey Webster, Mary Sue Martin, Roshan
Sohoratally, Tim Peifer, Wanda Shoemaker, Anne Coyle, Carey Kurnaz, Marcus Odorizzi, Lori Russler and Eric Ferrell for
the sense of commitment they displayed throughout the preparation process. We also would like to express our appreciation
to the Mayor and Council for their interest and support in planning and carrying out the City’s financial operations in a
responsible manner.
Respectfully submitted,

Robert DiSpirito
City Manager

Gavin Cohen
Chief Financial Officer

Xiaojing Zhang
Director of Accounting
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As management of the City of Rockville (the City), we offer readers of the City’s financial statements a narrative
overview and analysis of the financial activities of the City for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021. We encourage readers
to consider the information presented in conjunction with the additional information that we have furnished in our letter of
transmittal, which can be found on pages 5-8 of this report and the financial statements beginning on page 25.
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS


The assets and deferred outflows of the City exceeded its
liabilities and deferred inflows at the close of the current
fiscal year by $307,115,278 (net position). That amount
includes a positive balance of $53,856,469 from
unrestricted net position made up of $18,021,201 from
governmental activities and $35,835,268 from businesstype activities. The unrestricted balance from businesstype activities includes negative balances from the
RedGate Golf Course Fund which reflects the ending of
operations at the course in fiscal year 2019.



As of the close of the current fiscal year, the City’s
governmental funds reported combined ending fund
balances of $55,322,859. Approximately 19.7% of this
total amount is reported as restricted special revenue programming totaling $10,872,899.



At the end of the current fiscal year, unassigned fund balance for the General Fund was $22,869,949 or 27.0% of total
General Fund budgeted revenues (adopted) of $84,605,000.



The City’s total debt principal outstanding increased by $8,043,792 or 6.2%. During fiscal year 2021, the City issued
new general obligation bonds to fund certain capital projects of its Capital Improvement Program for the Water and
Sewer Funds. During the year, advance refunding bonds were issued to refinance and defease outstanding debt in the
Water Fund, Sewer Fund, Debt Service Fund, and the Stormwater Fund.



Interest on investment earnings earned by the City’s investment portfolio totaled $426,309 for an average rate of return
of 0.28%. The average daily investment portfolio was $83,797,952.67.

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the City’s basic financial statements. The City’s
basic financial statements are comprised of three components: 1) government-wide financial statements, 2) fund financial
statements, and 3) notes to the financial statements. This report also contains other required supplementary information in
addition to the basic financial statements themselves.
Government-wide Financial Statements:
The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide readers with a broad overview of the City’s
finances in a manner similar to a private-sector business.
The Statement of Net Position presents information on the City’s assets and liabilities, with the difference between
the two reported as net position. Over time, fluctuations in net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial
position of the City is improving or deteriorating.
The Statement of Activities presents information showing how the City’s net position changed during the current
fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless
of the timing of related cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses are reported in this statement for some items that will only
result in cash flows in future fiscal periods (e.g., uncollected taxes and earned but unused vacation leave).
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Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the City that are principally supported by
taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from other functions that are intended to recover all or a
significant portion of their costs through user fees and charges (business-type activities). The governmental activities of the
City include general government, community development, public works, public safety, and recreation and parks. The
business-type activities of the City include water, sewer, refuse, stormwater management, parking, and golf course operations.
As of December 31, 2018 all golf operations were discontinued, however the RedGate Golf Course Fund continues to manage
debt service payments.
The government-wide financial statements can be found on pages 25-26 of this report.
Fund Financial Statements:
A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have been segregated for
specific activities or objectives. The City, like other state and local governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and
demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal requirements. All the funds of the City can be divided into three categories:
governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds.
Governmental funds: Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as
governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the government-wide financial
statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on the near-term inflows and outflows of spendable resources, as
well as on balances of spendable resources available at the end of the fiscal year. Such information may be useful in evaluating
a government’s near-term financing requirements.
Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial statements, it is
useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar information presented for governmental
activities in the government-wide financial statements. By doing so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of
the City’s near-term financing decisions. Reconciliations are provided between the governmental funds Balance Sheet and the
government-wide Statement of Net Position and also between the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund
Balances of governmental funds and the government-wide Statement of Activities.
The City maintains six individual governmental funds. Information is presented separately in the governmental funds
Balance Sheet and in the governmental funds Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances for the
General Fund, Debt Service Fund, and Capital Projects Fund, as they are considered major funds. Data from the other three
governmental funds are combined into a single, aggregated presentation. Individual fund data for each of these nonmajor
governmental funds is provided in the form of combining statements on pages 76-77 of this report.
The City adopts an annual appropriated budget for its General Fund, Debt Service Fund, and Non-Major Governmental
Funds. Budgetary comparison statements can be found on pages 73, 75 and 78, respectively.
The governmental funds financial statements can be found on pages 27 and 29 of this report.
Proprietary funds: The City maintains six different enterprise funds. Enterprise funds are used to report the same
functions presented as business-type activities in the government-wide financial statements. The City uses enterprise funds to
account for its water, sewer, refuse, stormwater management, parking, and golf course operations.
Enterprise funds provide the same type of information as the government-wide financial statements, only in more
detail. The enterprise financial statements provide separate information for the Water Facility, Sanitary Sewer, Refuse, Parking,
Stormwater Management, and the RedGate Golf Course, which are considered the major funds of the City. The Refuse Fund
and RedGate Golf Course Fund do not meet the requirements of a major fund, but management has elected to report these
funds as major.
The enterprise funds financial statements and cash flows can be found on pages 31-34 of this report.
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Fiduciary fund: The fiduciary fund is used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside the
government. The Pension and OPEB Trust Funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial statement because the
resources of these funds are not available to support the City’s own programs. The accounting used for the trust funds are
much like that used for proprietary funds.
The fiduciary fund financial statements can be found on pages 35 and 36 of this report. Data for each of the components
of the Pension and OPEB Trust Funds are provided in the form of combining statements on pages 81-82 of this report.
Notes to the financial statements: The notes provide additional information that is essential for a full
understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. The notes to the financial statements
can be found on pages 37-67 of this report.
Other information: In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report also presents
certain required supplementary information concerning the Rockville Employee Retirement System, the other postemployment benefits (OPEB) plan, and the City’s budgetary comparison schedules for major governmental funds. Required
supplementary information can be found beginning on page 69 of this report.
The combining statements referred to earlier in connection with nonmajor governmental funds are presented
immediately following the required supplementary information. Combining and individual fund statements along with
budgetary comparison schedules can be found on pages 76 through 78 of this report.
GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS
As noted earlier, over time, changes in net position serves as a useful indicator of a government’s financial position.
The City's overall assets exceeded all its liabilities by $307,115,278 at the close of the current fiscal year.
The largest portion of the City’s net position (78.9%) is reflected in its net investment in capital assets (e.g., CIP and
infrastructure less accumulated depreciation), less retainage and any related debt used to acquire those assets that is still
outstanding, excluding unspent debt proceeds of $19,838,782. The City uses these capital assets to provide services to
residents; consequently, these assets are not available for future spending. Although the City’s investment in its capital assets
is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to repay this debt must be provided from other
sources, since the capital assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities.

Current and Other Assets
Capital Assets, net
Noncurrent Assets
Total Assets
Deferred Outflows of Resources
Total Assets and Deferred
Outflows of Resources

Gov ernmental Activ ities
2021
2020
$ 73,277,369 $ 61,999,899
223,178,820
222,481,466
296,456,189
284,481,365
7,922,325
13,509,589

Business-Type Activ ities
2021
2020
$ 35,362,857 $ 16,432,932
136,071,035
139,144,803
22,623,885
22,931,276
194,057,777
178,509,011
2,413,920
1,597,600

Total
2021
2020
$ 108,640,226 $ 78,432,831
359,249,855
361,626,269
22,623,885
22,931,276
490,513,966
462,990,376
10,336,245
15,107,189

$ 304,378,514

$ 297,990,954

$ 196,471,697

$ 180,106,611

$ 500,850,211

$ 478,097,565

45,780,588
14,610,588
60,391,176
20,174,939

68,169,671
3,872,985
72,042,656
9,080,590

110,875,510
2,293,308
113,168,818
-

98,178,968
5,376,066
103,555,034
-

156,656,098
16,903,896
173,559,994
20,174,939

166,348,639
9,249,051
175,597,690
9,080,590

81,123,246

$ 113,168,818

$ 103,555,034

$ 193,734,933

$ 184,678,280

189,355,879
10,877,025
16,634,804
$ 216,867,708

47,467,611
35,835,268
83,302,879

45,275,449
31,276,128
76,551,577

242,385,910
10,872,899
53,856,469
$ 307,115,278

234,631,328
10,877,025
47,910,932
$ 293,419,285

Noncurrent Liabilities
Other Liabilities
Total Liabilities
Deferred Inflows of Resources
Total Liabilities and Deferred
Inflows of Resources

$

Net Position:
Net inv estment in capital assets
Restricted
Unrestricted
Total Net Position

194,918,299
10,872,899
18,021,201
$ 223,812,399

80,566,115

$

$

$
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The current and other assets increased by 30,207,395 or 38.5%. This increase of $18,929,925 or 115.2% in the
business-type activities is primarily due to the improvements of cash positions in the Water and Sewer Funds. The cash
balances of the Water Fund and Sewer Fund at the end of fiscal year 2021 are $10,687,086 and $6,965,788 respectively,
compared to $0 and $0 in fiscal year 2020. The improvements on the cash positions for these two funds are the effect of the
issuance of the new obligation bonds. These improvements also impacted the balances of other liabilities. The increase in
governmental other liabilities of $10,737,603 is primarily made up of the $4,809,594 increase in unearned revenue from
American Rescue Plan Act Fund (ARPA) and the retirement of interfund payables from fiscal year 2020 of $3,565,707 for
the Water, Sewer and Parking Funds. This also explains the decrease of $3,082,758 in business-type other liabilities.
The non-current liabilities had a net decrease of $9,692,541, or 5.8%. The non-current liabilities decreased by
$22,389,083 in the governmental activities. This decrease is the net effect of issuance of advance refunding bonds that
reduced the total debt due as well as the decrease of the net pension liability of $17,774,387. While there was a decrease on
the governmental activities, there was an increase of $12,696,542 in the business-type non-current liabilities. This increase is
due to the new issuance of the general obligation bonds in the Water and Sewer Funds, and the total amount of bonds payable
increased.
Deferred outflows of resources includes balances from charges on advance refundings, and pensions. Deferred inflows
of resources includes balances from pensions and OPEB. At the end of the fiscal year, deferred outflows of resources totaled
$10,336,245 and deferred inflows of resources totaled $20,174,939. The decreases in deferred outflows of resources and the
increases in deferred inflows of resources are primarily attributable to balances from pensions and OPEB, which are actuarily
determined.
At the end of the current fiscal year, there is a positive balance of $53,856,469 in unrestricted net position. This is an
increase of $5,945,537 from the balance of $47,910,932 in unrestricted net position in fiscal year 2020. This increase is
attributable to the City’s performance in fiscal year 2021. The City reports positive net position balances for the City as a whole,
as well as for its separate governmental and business-type activities, for the current fiscal year, with the exception of the Parking
Fund.
The governmental net investment in capital assets, increased by $5,562,420 or 2.9%. This increase is the net effect of
capital projects expenditures during the current fiscal year and reductions in long term debt.
The business-type activities net investment in capital assets, increased by $2,192,162 or 4.8%. This increase is the
net effect of unspent debt proceeds.
Gov ernmental Activ ities
2021
2020
Rev enues:
Program rev enues:
Charges for serv ices
Operat ing grants & contrib.
Capital grants & contrib.
General rev enues:
Property taxes
Other taxes
Other
Total Rev enues:
Expenses:
General gov ernment
Community dev elopment
Public safety
Public works
Recreation and Parks
Interest on long term debt
W at er
S ewer
Refuse
Parking
S t ormwater management
Golf Course
Total Expenses:
Increase in net posit ion before transfers

$

$
$

$

8,398,938
2,762,499
499,774
44,310,187
22,117,391
3,153,328
81,242,117
20,536,401
8,030,851
12,372,318
14,201,763
20,028,092
1,042,271
76,211,696

$

$
$

$

12,175,275
3,379,267
1,386,536
42,761,718
21,962,837
5,489,428
87,155,061
25,240,933
7,026,330
13,323,731
13,341,995
23,261,943
1,369,546
83,564,478

Business-Type Activ ities
2021
2020

$

$
$

$

39,942,133
118,316
147,019
315,710
40,523,178
9,945,637
10,850,259
5,429,616
1,279,238
4,251,262
101,594
31,857,606

$

$
$

$

$

160,762
355,509
42,222,636

44,457,206
22,117,391
3,469,038
$ 121,765,295

42,922,480
21,962,837
5,844,937
$ 129,377,697

10,225,304
11,608,010
5,405,423
3,421,832
4,318,925
490,370
35,469,864

$

20,536,401
8,030,851
12,372,318
14,201,763
20,028,092
1,042,271
9,945,637
10,850,259
5,429,616
1,279,238
4,251,262
101,594
$ 108,069,302

$

25,240,933
7,026,330
13,323,731
13,341,995
23,261,943
1,369,546
10,225,304
11,608,010
5,405,423
3,421,832
4,318,925
490,370
$ 119,034,342

13,695,993

10,343,355

and contributions

3,590,583

8,665,572

6,752,772

Transfers and contributions

1,914,270

2,619,270

(1,914,270)

(2,619,270)

Increase/(Decrease) in net posit ion
Net position - beginning, as

6,944,691

6,209,853

6,751,302

216,867,708
$ 223,812,399

210,657,855
$ 216,867,708

76,551,577
83,302,879

Net position - ending

$

$

2020

41,109,269
597,096

5,030,421

prev iously reported

Total
2021

48,341,071
2,762,499
618,090

$

53,284,544
3,379,267
1,983,632

-

-

4,133,502

13,695,993

10,343,355

72,418,075
76,551,577

293,419,285
$ 307,115,278

283,075,930
$ 293,419,285
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Governmental activities: Governmental activities net
position was $223,812,399 at the end of the fiscal year, an
increase of $6,944,691, or 3.2% over beginning net position.
Program revenues decreased by $5,279,867 (31.2%), which is
made up of decreases in charges for services of $3,776,337,
decreases in operating grants and contributions of $616,768
and decreases in operating grants and contributions of
$886,762. General revenues decreased by $633,077 (0.9%)
which is mainly attributable to an increase in property tax
revenues of $1,548,469, income tax revenues of $154,554 and
offset by a decrease of $2,336,100 in revenue from other. The
decrease in other revenues attributes to unfavorable interest
earnings during fiscal year 2021, as well as the decreases in
revenues in cable fees and hotel taxes. Continued efforts to
closely monitor costs across every department allowed for total
revenues to exceed expenses in the government-wide
Statement of Activities.
The total program revenues decreased while the revenues for
property taxes and income taxes increased during the fiscal
year 2021 represented a mixed pandemic impact.

Governmental Revenue Sources - June 30, 2021

Governmental Functional Expenses - June 30, 2021

Business-type activities: Business-type activities net
position was $83,302,879 at the end of the fiscal year, an
increase of $6,751,302, or 8.8% over beginning net position.
Program revenues decreased by $1,645,916 (3.9%) when
compared to the previous fiscal year. This revenue decrease is
due to the high level of delinquent water bills due to pandemic,
along with no late fees or re-connection fees. Expenses
decreased by $3,612,258 (10.2%) when compared to the
previous fiscal year. The most significant component of this
decrease in expenses was the $2,153,063 in recognition of loss
on advance refunding associated with the defeasance of bonds
in the Parking Fund in fiscal year 2020 and during fiscal year
2021, annual amortization was recognized. Close monitoring
of expenses allowed for the overall increase of net position for
business-type activities.
FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE
GOVERNMENT’S FUNDS

Governmental Fund Balance by Category
Other
Governmental
Funds

Governmental funds: The focus of the City’s
governmental funds is to provide information on near-term
inflows, outflows, and balances of spendable resources.
Such information is useful in assessing the City’s shortterm financing requirements. In particular, the unassigned
fund balance may serve as a useful measure of a
government’s net resources available for spending at the
end of the fiscal year.

Capital Projects
Fund
Debt Service Fund

General Fund
-

Nonspendable

5,000,000

Restricted

10,000,000

Committed

15,000,000

20,000,000

Assigned

25,000,000

Unassigned

All of the City’s governmental funds continue to
hold reserves above policy level. This is reflective of the
strength of the City’s financial management and
conservative financial practices.
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report | 21

Packet Pg. 56

Attachment 9.a: Attachment A_FY21 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (3971 : Fiscal Year 2021 Audited Annual Comprehensive

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

9.a

At the end of the current fiscal year, the City’s governmental funds reported a combined ending fund balance of
$55,322,859, a decrease of $1,362,834 or 2.4% in comparison with the prior fiscal year. This decrease is primarily due to
capital and debt service expenditures exceeding tax revenues and bond proceeds in the current year. The classifications of fund
balance are $850,844 as nonspendable, $10,872,899 as restricted for special revenue programming, $311,221 as committed for
debt service, $270,000 as committed for web redesign planning, $20,166,588 as assigned for capital outlays, consulting
services, and other purposes, and $22,851,307 as unassigned.
The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the City. At the end of the current fiscal year, the unassigned fund
balance is $22,869,949, of the total fund balance of $24,982,821. The unassigned fund balance increased $847,602 or 3.8%
from the prior fiscal year and the total fund balance increased $1,196,007 or 5.0% from the prior fiscal year. The increase in
unassigned and overall fund balance is a result of expenditure reductions in the General Fund.
The Debt Service Fund has a total fund balance of $311,221, which is committed to debt service. The decrease in
fund balance was $556,391 or 64.1%. This decrease was due to debt service expenditures exceeding revenues and transfers
from the General Fund into the Debt Service Fund.
The Capital Projects Fund has a total fund balance of $19,174,560, which is assigned to capital projects. The decrease
in fund balance was $1,979,682 or 9.4%. This decrease is due to capital outlays exceeding revenues and General Fund transfers
for planned future capital outlays.
Proprietary funds:
The City's
proprietary funds provide similar information
found in the government-wide financial
statements, but in more detail.
Overall, the results of the City’s
Enterprise Funds’ operations are mixed, with
some funds meeting reserve requirements, and
others not. The Water Facility and Sanitary
Sewer Funds do not have continued liquidity
issues due to the investment in infrastructure
improvements.

Proprietary Funds Net Position by Category
RedGate Golf
Course Fund
Stormwater
Mgmt. Fund
Parking Fund
Refuse Fund
Sanitary Sewer
Fund
Water Facility
Fund
(30,000,000) (20,000,000) (10,000,000)

-

10,000,000

20,000,000

30,000,000

Unrestricted net position of the Water
Net Investment in Capital Assets
Unrestricted
Facility, Sanitary Sewer, Refuse, Parking,
Stormwater Management, and RedGate Golf
Course Funds at the end of the fiscal year amounted to $763,118, $3,328,982, $1,566,648, $23,201,927, $7,045,742 and
($71,149), respectively.
Fiduciary fund: The City's fiduciary fund provides information on the pension and post-employment health benefit
trusts maintained by the City. This fund is not reported in the government-wide financial statements.
The net position of the Pension and OPEB Trust Funds at the end of the year amounted to $196,225,394. Net position
increased by $40,693,054 or 26.16% as a result of investment performance and ongoing City contributions. The City made its
full actuarially determined contributions (ADC) for both trust funds. Combining statements for the Pension and OPEB Trust
Funds can be found on pages 81 and 82.
GENERAL FUND BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS
The final amended budget included a $1,604,522 net decrease in revenues from the original adopted budget primarily
due to decreased revenue projections from charges for services and admissions and amusement taxes offset by increases to
income taxes and grants. Expenses in the final amended budget included a $1,171,737 decrease from the original adopted
budget. The net increase is primarily a result of increases for reappropriation of fiscal year 2020 encumbrances and a
$1,177,000 increase to the planned capital projects transfer offset by decreases in recreation and parks operating expenses.
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Actual revenues were $1,403,411 lower than the final amended budget. The decrease is primarily a result of revenue
shortfalls of $1,313,545 in charges for services combined with other smaller variances. Actual operating expenditures were
$3,940,433 less than the final amended budget. This decrease is a result of vacant positions, unused programming expenses,
unfinished consultant studies, and other smaller operating cost reductions across programs. The coronavirus pandemic
impacted City operations and required that many planned programs and activities be rescheduled or cancelled altogether, which
impacted revenues during the fiscal year and the associated expenditures planned for those programs and activities.
CAPITAL ASSET AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION
Capital assets. The City’s investment in capital assets for
its governmental and business-type activities as of June 30,
2021, amounts to $359,249,855 (net of accumulated
depreciation). This investment in capital assets includes land,
buildings and system improvements, machinery and
equipment, park facilities, roads, highways and bridges, and
water and sewer improvements. The total decrease in the
City’s investment in capital assets for the current fiscal year
was $2,376,414 or 0.6%, which reflects capital outlays less
than depreciation on capital assets. Governmental activities had a decrease in equipment of $1,491,277 primarily due to the
disposal of old automobiles and trucks. The improvements other than buildings decreased by $3,502,783 in business-type
activities. This decrease attributes to the depreciation on the capital assets in excess of capital outlays.
Major capital asset events during the current fiscal year included the following:


Rehabilitation and replacement of water and sewer mains throughout the City totaling $1,404,623.



Improvements to City roads, bridges and sidewalks continued; construction costs at the end of the current fiscal year
were $7,262,646.
City of Rockville's Capital Assets, Net of Accumulated Depreciation

Land
Construction in Progress
Buildings
Improv ements other than Buildings
Equipment
Infrastructure
Purchased Capacity
Total

Gov ernmental Activ ities
2021
2020
$ 11,544,482 $ 11,544,482
15,512,344
23,120,384
57,033,948
59,349,446
29,762,583
19,438,817
7,073,288
8,564,565
102,252,175
100,463,772
$ 223,178,820 $ 222,481,466

Business-Type Activ ities
2021
2020
$
2,058,940 $
2,058,940
1,941,109
1,764,402
348,419
377,347
119,682,923
122,735,706
2,788,733
2,651,908
9,250,911
9,556,500
$ 136,071,035 $ 139,144,803

Total
2021
2020
$ 13,603,422 $ 13,603,422
17,453,453
24,884,786
57,382,367
59,726,793
149,445,506
142,174,523
9,862,021
11,216,473
102,252,175
100,463,772
9,250,911
9,556,500
$ 359,249,855 $ 361,626,269

Additional information on the City's capital assets can be found in Note (2) D on pages 47-48 of this report.

Long-term obligations: At the end of the current fiscal year, the City had total long-term obligations of
$156,656,098, excluding the Net OPEB Asset which is presented below for comparative purposes. Long-term obligations are
backed by the full faith and credit of the government. Governmental debt is repaid from tax revenues, and business-type debt
is repaid from charges for services.
City of Rockville's Long Term Obligations

Bonds Payable and Loans Payable, net
Accrued Obligations for
Compensated Balances
Claims Payable
Net Pension Liability
Net OPEB (Asset)/Liability
Total Long-Term Liabilities

Gov ernmental Activ ities
2021
2020
$ 28,988,553 $ 33,640,035
5,876,305

$

2,328,963
8,586,767
(3,000,528)
42,780,060 $

5,886,603

Business-Type Activ ities
2021
2020
$ 109,786,135 $ 97,090,861
1,089,375

1,088,107

2,281,879
26,361,154
(1,092,485)
67,077,186 $ 110,875,510

98,178,968

$

Total
2021
2020
$ 138,774,688 $ 130,730,896
6,965,680

6,974,710

2,328,963
2,281,879
8,586,767
26,361,154
(3,000,528)
(1,092,485)
$ 153,655,570 $ 165,256,154

Additional information on the City's long term obligations can be found in Note (2) F on pages 49-54 of this report.
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The City’s total debt principal outstanding increased by $8,043,792 (6.2%) compared to the prior fiscal year, not
including the impact of unamortized bond premiums and deferred charges on advance refundings. This increase represents the
impact of the issuances of new general obligation bonds and advance refunding obligation bonds in the current fiscal year,
offset by repayments on existing long-term debt and payments to the advance refunding escrow agent. The net pension liability
decreased $17,774,387 (67.4%) based on projected future pension payments. The net OPEB liability in fiscal year 2021
decreased by $1,908,043 (174.7%) during the fiscal year and continued to be a net OPEB asset in fiscal year 2021 based on
plan asset performance and projected future retiree benefit expenses.
The City has been awarded a “AAA” rating from Standard & Poor’s and a “Aaa” rating from Moody’s Investor Service
for all of its outstanding general obligation debt.
Additional information on the City’s net pension liability and net OPEB liability can be found in Note (4) and Note
(5), respectively on pages 57-65 of this report.
ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR’S BUDGETS AND RATES
The Mayor and Council adopted the Fiscal Year 2022 (FY22) operating and capital budgets on May 10, 2021. The
total operating budget for all funds equals $141.2 million, an increase of 0.7% from the previous year. The General Fund budget
equals $86.5 million, an increase of 2.2%. The FY21 real property tax rate of $0.292 per $100 of assessed valuation remains
the same for FY22. In addition to adopting the FY22 budget ordinance, the Mayor and Council also approved several
ordinances and resolutions that maintained several of the utility rates at the same level as FY21 for the first six months of the
fiscal year FY22, in response to the Rockville community as a result of the coronavirus pandemic. The adopted FY22 rates
include:


A stormwater utility rate of $132 per equivalent residential unit (ERU). Each residential property will pay $132 or one
ERU per year, and each commercial property will pay $132 multiplied by the number of ERUs measured on their
property. This rate is unchanged from fiscal year 2021.



Water usage rates continue to follow a multi-tiered progressive structure which incorporates both fixed and variable
charges based on consumption and meter size. These rates are unchanged from fiscal year 2021.



Sewer usage rate of $10.50 per 1,000 gallons, consistent with the FY21 rate. The FY22 rates also include a fixed
ready-to-serve charge based on meter size which are unchanged from the prior year.



Refuse rate of $459 per residential property per year, a modest $14 increase from the FY21 rate.

The pandemic has continued to impact all levels of government, non‐profit organizations, and private businesses, as well
as individuals, families, and the general Rockville community. Several of Rockville’s major revenue sources have been
impacted by the pandemic, including reductions in admissions and amusement tax, hotel tax, interest earnings, and recreation
fees and charges. Other revenue sources such as utility penalties and parking meter revenue will never be recovered.
An important economic factor that directly impacts the City’s budget is property assessments. The three-year phase
in from the most recent reassessment combined with new properties on the City’s tax roll, results in a projected 0.3% increase
in real property tax revenues for fiscal year 2022. Budgeted personal property taxes are expected to remain relatively flat,
consistent with recent trends. These combined factors, bring estimated total real and personal property tax revenue to $44.9
million, an increase of approximately $1,074,000. While this outlook is not as positive as previous years, the City will continue
to maintain reserves at policy levels and closely monitor spending.
REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION
This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the City's finances for all those with an interest in
the City’s finances. Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report or requests for additional financial
information should be addressed to the Chief Financial Officer, 111 Maryland Avenue, City of Rockville, Rockville, Maryland,
20850.
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City of Rockville, Maryland
Statement of Net Position
June 30, 2021

Assets

Cash and cash equiv alents
Inv estments
Property tax receiv able, net
Accounts receiv able, net
Due from other gov ernments
Prepaid assets
Loans receiv able
Other assets
Unbilled assessments receiv able

Net OPEB asset
Capital assets (net of accumulated depreciation):
Land
Construction in progress
Buildings, Improv ements and Infrastructure
Equipment
Purchased capacity
Capital lease receiv able, net
Total Assets
Deferred Outflows of Resources
Deferred outflows from pensions
Deferred charge on adv ance refunding
Total Deferred Outflows of Resources
Total Assets and Deferred Outflows of Resources
Liabilities
Accounts payable
Internal balances

Gov ernmental

Business-type

Activ ities

Activ ities

$

$
$
$
$
$

33,213,728
32,028,022
361,460
900,926
2,872,765
156,000
120,000
575,343
48,597

$

Total

27,742,945
7,619,294
618
-

$

60,956,673
32,028,022
361,460
8,520,220
2,872,765
156,000
120,000
575,961
48,597

3,000,528

-

3,000,528

11,544,482
15,512,344
189,048,706
7,073,288
296,456,189

2,058,940
1,941,109
120,031,342
2,788,733
9,250,911
22,623,885
194,057,777

13,603,422
17,453,453
309,080,048
9,862,021
9,250,911
22,623,885
490,513,966

7,743,682
178,643
7,922,325
304,378,514
3,564,518
(70,637)

$
$
$
$
$

$

2,413,920
2,413,920
196,471,697

$

1,232,818
70,637

$

$
$

7,743,682
2,592,563
10,336,245
500,850,211
4,797,336
-

Accrued liabilities

3,161,900

840,251

4,002,151

Unearned rev enue

6,042,492

-

6,042,492

413,789
1,498,526

91,353
58,249

505,142
1,556,775

4,289,703
4,052,722

795,243
8,887,281

5,084,946
12,940,003

885,006

-

885,006

1,586,602
24,935,831
1,443,957
8,586,767
60,391,176

294,132
100,898,854
113,168,818

1,880,734
125,834,685
1,443,957
8,586,767
173,559,994

Retainages payable
Deposits and other liabilities
Noncurrent Liabilities:
Due within one year:
Compensated absences
Bonds payable and loans payable, net
Claims payable
Due in more than one year:
Compensated absences
Bonds payable and loans payable, net
Claims payable
Net pension liability
Total Liabilities
Deferred Inflows of Resources
Deferred inflows from pensions
Deferred inflows from OPEB
Total Deferred Inflows of Resources
Total Liabilities and Deferred Inflows of Resources
Net Position
Net inv estment in capital assets
Restricted for:
Special activ ities fund programming
Unrestricted
Total Net Position
Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources and Net
Position
See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.

$
$
$
$

14,868,990
5,305,949
20,174,939
80,566,115

$

194,918,299

$
$

$

$
$

113,168,818

$
$
$

14,868,990
5,305,949
20,174,939
193,734,933

$

47,467,611

$

242,385,910

$

10,872,899
18,021,201
223,812,399

$

35,835,268
83,302,879

$

10,872,899
53,856,469
307,115,278

$

304,378,514

$

196,471,697

$

500,850,211
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City of Rockville, Maryland
Statement of Activities
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2021
Net (Expense) Rev enue and
Changes in Net Position
Program Rev enues
Operating

Capital

Charges for

Grants and

Grants and

Gov ernmental

Business-type

Serv ices

Contributions

Contributions

Activ ities

Activ ities

Expenses
Functions / Programs
Primary Gov ernment:
Governmental activities:
General gov ernment
Community dev elopment
Public safety
Public works
Recreation and parks
Interest long-term debt
Total Gov ernmental Activ ities
Business-Type Activities:
W ater
Sewer
Refuse
Parking
Stormwater management
RedGate golf course
Total Business-Type Activ ities
Total primary gov ernment

$

20,536,401
8,030,851
12,372,318
14,201,763
20,028,092
1,042,271
$ 76,211,696

$

387,304
3,060,460
2,250,734
499,453
2,200,987
8,398,938

$

$

9,945,637
10,850,259
5,429,616
1,279,238
4,251,262
101,594
$ 31,857,606

$ 12,240,675
15,647,083
6,247,044
453,070
5,354,261
$ 39,942,133

$

$ 108,069,302

$ 48,341,071

$

1,198,101
571,082
765,768
227,548
2,762,499

$

$

$

-

$

(196,685)
315,001
118,316

$

2,762,499

$

618,090

$

$

199,774
300,000
499,774

General rev enues:
Property taxes
Income taxes
Gas and motor v ehicle taxes
County tax duplication payment
Admissions and amusement taxes
Use of money and property
Other rev enue
Transfers and Contributions
Total general rev enues and transfers
Change in net position
Net Position at beginning of year
Net Position at end of year

Primary Gov ernment

$ (18,950,996)
(4,399,309)
(9,355,816)
(13,502,536)
(17,299,557)
(1,042,271)
$ (64,550,485)

$

$

$

-

$

2,295,038
4,600,139
817,428
(511,167)
1,102,999
(101,594)
8,202,843

$ (64,550,485)

$

8,202,843

$ 44,310,187
16,631,367
2,763,951
2,409,750
312,323
686,635
2,466,693
1,914,270
$ 71,495,176
6,944,691
216,867,708
$223,812,399

$

$

-

$

Total

147,019
16,349
299,361
(1,914,270)
$ (1,451,541)
6,751,302
76,551,577
$ 83,302,879

$ (18,950,996)
(4,399,309)
(9,355,816)
(13,502,536)
(17,299,557)
(1,042,271)
$ (64,550,485)

$

$ (56,347,642)

$

2,295,038
4,600,139
817,428
(511,167)
1,102,999
(101,594)
8,202,843

$ 44,457,206
16,631,367
2,763,951
2,409,750
312,323
702,984
2,766,054
$ 70,043,635
13,695,993
293,419,285
$307,115,278

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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City of Rockville, Maryland
Balance Sheet
Governmental Funds
June 30, 2021
Debt
Assets

General Fund Serv ice Fund

Cash and cash equiv alents
Inv estments
Property taxes receiv able, net
Accounts receiv able, net
Interfund receiv able
Due from other gov ernments
Prepaid assets
Loans receiv able
Other assets, net
Unbilled assessments receiv able
Total Assets

$18,082,939
15,976,516
361,460
607,047
140,079
2,600,862
156,000
120,000
575,239
$38,620,142

$

Liabilities
Accounts payable
Interfund payable
Accrued liabilities
Unearned rev enue
Retainages payable
Deposits and other liabilities
Total Liabilities

$ 2,640,295
3,089,817
6,042,492
4,731
1,498,526
$13,275,861

$

$

$

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Unav ailable rev enue - property taxes
Unav ailable rev enue - special assessments
Total Deferred Inflows of Resources
Total Liabilities and Deferred Inflows of Resources
Fund Balances
Nonspendable:
Inv entory
Loans receiv able
Prepaid assets
Restricted for:
Special rev enue programming
Committed to:
Debt serv ice
W eb Redesign
Assigned for:
Consulting serv ices
Capital outlays
Other purposes
Unassigned:
Total Fund Balance
Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources
and Fund Balance

$

$

361,460
$
361,460
$13,637,321

$
$

$

$

574,844
120,000
156,000

311,174
47
48,597
359,818

Capital

Other

Total

Projects

Gov ernmental

Gov ernmental

Fund

Funds

$ 4,087,446
16,051,506
166,260
57
$20,305,269

$

$

744,017
386,692
$ 1,130,709

$

48,597
48,597
48,597

$

$
$ 1,130,709

$

-

$

$

-

-

$

$

$
$

Funds

10,732,169
127,619
271,903
11,131,691

$ 33,213,728
32,028,022
361,460
900,926
140,079
2,872,765
156,000
120,000
575,343
48,597
$ 70,416,920

180,206
69,442
5,420
22,366
277,434

$

3,564,518
69,442
3,095,237
6,042,492
413,789
1,498,526
$ 14,684,004

277,434

$

-

$

361,460
48,597
$
410,057
$ 15,094,061

574,844
120,000
156,000

-

-

-

10,872,899

10,872,899

270,000

311,221
-

-

-

311,221
270,000

221,252
475,044
295,732
22,869,949
$24,982,821

$

311,221

19,174,560
$19,174,560

$38,620,142

$

359,818

$20,305,269

$

(18,642)
10,854,257

221,252
19,649,604
295,732
22,851,307
$ 55,322,859

$

11,131,691

$ 70,416,920

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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City of Rockville, Maryland
Reconciliation of Total Government Fund Balances to Net Position of
Governmental Activities
June 30, 2021
Amounts reported for gov ernmental activ ities in the Statement of Net
Position are different because:
Total fund balances - gov ernmental funds

$ 55,322,859

Capital assets used in gov ernmental activ ities are not financial resources
and therefore are not reported as assets in gov ernmental funds.
Cost of capital assets
Accumulated depreciation

437,905,659
(214,726,839)

223,178,820

Unav ailable rev enues are not financial resources in the gov ernmental
410,057

funds, therefore the liability is eliminated and total net position is
increased.
The unamortized deferred charge on adv ance refunding represents a long

178,643

term outflow of resources that is not presented in the gov ernmental funds.
The net pension liability and the related deferred outflows and deferred
inflows do not represent current financial resources or uses, and are not
reported in the gov ernmental funds.
Net pension liability
Deferred outflows from pensions
Deferred inflows from pensions

(8,586,767)
7,743,682
(14,868,990)

(15,712,075)

3,000,528
(5,305,949)

(2,305,421)

The net OPEB liability and the related deferred inflows do not represent
current financial resources or uses, and are not reported in the
gov ernmental funds.
Net OPEB asset
Deferred inflows from OPEB
Long-term liabilities are not due and payable in the current period and
therefore are not reported as liabilities in the funds. Long-term liabilities as
of year-end consist of:
Compensated absences
General obligation bonds payable
Accrued interest on the general obligation bonds
Unamortized bond premiums on the general obligation bonds
Claims payable
Total net position - gov ernmental activ ities

5,876,305
26,599,225
66,663
2,389,328
2,328,963

(37,260,484)
$223,812,399

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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City of Rockville, Maryland
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances of
Governmental Funds
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2021
Other

Total

Debt

Capital

Gov ernmental

Gov ernmental

General Fund

Serv ice Fund

Projects Fund

Funds

Funds

$ 44,327,269

$

-

$

$

2,333
2,333

Revenues
Property Taxes
Rev enue from other gov ernments:
Income taxes
Gas and motor v ehicles taxes
County tax duplication payment
Admission and amusement taxes
Grants and other gov ernmental rev enue
Licenses and permits
Charges for serv ices
Use of money and property
Fines and forfeitures
Other rev enues
Total Rev enues

16,631,367
2,763,951
2,409,750
312,323
3,323,102
2,832,775
2,991,142
687,692
948,252
4,369,414
$ 81,597,037

Expenditures
Current operations:
General gov ernment
Community dev elopment
Public safety
Public works
Recreation and parks
Capital outlay
Debt serv ice
Total Expenditures

$ 18,571,836
7,765,345
11,084,019
8,211,625
19,769,237
529,798
$ 65,931,860

$

$ 15,665,177

$ (6,379,663)

$ (9,486,682)

$

(188,208)

$

(14,469,170)
-

$

4,800,000
1,020,000
3,272

$

7,507,000
-

$

165,440
-

$ 12,472,440
(14,469,170)
1,020,000
3,272

Total Other Financing Sources (uses)

$ (14,469,170)

$

5,823,272

$

7,507,000

$

165,440

$

(973,458)

Net change in fund balance

$

$

(556,391)

$

(22,768)

$

(1,362,834)

867,612

21,154,242

10,877,025

56,685,693

$

311,221

$ 19,174,560

$ 10,854,257

$ 55,322,859

Excess (deficiency) of Rev enues ov er
Expenditures

$

6,381,996
6,381,996

$

$

$

466,260
(4,389)
461,871

9,948,553
9,948,553

$

-

$ 44,327,269

$

966,898
12,015
999
1,229,124
168,692
2,377,728

16,631,367
2,763,951
2,409,750
312,323
4,756,260
2,832,775
3,003,157
686,635
2,177,376
4,538,106
$ 84,438,969

100,032
265,506
941,378
191,851
141,309
925,860
2,565,936

$ 18,671,868
8,030,851
12,025,397
8,403,476
19,910,546
11,404,211
6,381,996
$ 84,828,345

$

$

$

(389,376)

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers in
Transfers out
Issuance of refunding bonds
Premium on general obligation bonds

Fund balance at beginning of year
Fund balance at end of year

1,196,007
23,786,814

$ 24,982,821

$ (1,979,682)

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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City of Rockville, Maryland
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances
of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2021
Amounts reported for gov ernmental activ ities in the Statement of Activ ities are different because:
Total net change in fund balances-total gov ernmental funds

$

(1,362,834)

Capital outlays are reported in gov ernmental funds as expenditures. Howev er, in the Statement of
697,354

Activ ities, the cost of those assets is allocated ov er their estimated useful liv es and reported as depreciation
expense. This is the amount by which capital outlays of $11,404,211 exceeded depreciation of $10,706,857.
In the Statement of Activ ities, only the annual amortized loss on adv ance refunding is reported, whereas in
the gov ernmental funds, the entire loss from the adv ance refunding decreases financial resources in the

57,721

year of the adv ance refunding.
In gov ernmental funds, bond proceeds and repayment of bond principal are rev enues and expenditures,
respectiv ely. In the Statement of Net Position these activ ities are adjustments to long term liabilities. Bond

4,206,047

repayments of $5,226,047 during the year exceeded bond proceeds of $1,020,000.
Gov ernmental funds report the effect of premiums and discounts when debt is first issued, but these items

445,435

are amortized in the Statement of Net Position and recognized annually.
Because the unav ailable rev enue will not be collected for sev eral months after the City’s fiscal year end, it
is not considered rev enue in the gov ernmental funds. Unav ailable rev enue decreased in the current fiscal

(17,082)

year.
The net pension liability and the related deferred outflows and deferred inflows relate to funding for future
retiree benefit payments which are not considered current. Changes in the net pension liability, deferred
outflows and deferred inflows are reflected below:
Net pension liability
Deferred outflows from pensions
Deferred inflows from pensions

17,774,387
(5,644,986)
(10,253,154)

1,876,247

The net OPEB liability and the related deferred inflows relate to funding for future retiree benefit payments
which are not considered current. Changes in the net OPEB liability and deferred inflows are reflected
below:
Net OPEB liability
Deferred outflows from OPEB
Deferred inflows from OPEB

1,908,043
(841,195)

1,066,848

Expenses for claims are recognized only when paid using current financial resources in the gov ernmental
fund statements. In the Statement of Activ ities, the expenses are recognized when the City is made aware

(47,084)

of its liability for claims payments due. This claims payable increased in the current fiscal year.
In the Statement of Activ ities, compensated absences are measured by the amounts earned during the
year. In gov ernmental funds, howev er, expenditures are measured by the amount of financial resources

10,298

used (essentially, the amounts actually paid). This fiscal year, v acation and sick leav e earned of $2,318,081
were less than the amounts used of $2,328,379.
In the Statement of Activ ities, interest expense is recognized as interest accrues, regardless of when it is due.
In the gov ernmental funds interest is recognized as an expenditure when it is due and requires the use of

11,741

current financial resources. In fiscal year 2021, accrued interest on long-term debt reported in the
Statement of Activ ities decreased.
Change in net position of gov ernmental activ ities

$

6,944,691

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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City of Rockville, Maryland
Statement of Net Position
Proprietary Funds
June 30, 2021
Business-Type Activ ities - Enterprise Funds

Assets
Current Assets
Cash and cash equiv alents
Accounts receiv able, net
Other receiv ables
Total current assets

RedGate

Total

Water Facility

Sanitary

Refuse

Parking

Stormwater

Golf Course

Business-type

Fund

Sewer Fund

Fund

Fund

Mgmt. Fund

Fund

Activ ities

$ 10,687,086

$

6,965,788

$ 2,203,430

3,117,188
212
$ 13,804,486

4,116,126
178
$ 11,082,092

61,996
64
$ 2,265,490

Noncurrent Assets
Capital Assets:
Land
Utility plant and equipment
Construction in progress
Purchased capacity, long-term
Less-accumulated depreciation
Other Noncurrent Assets:

123,202
95,977,327
1,206,596
(52,412,694)

$

508,660

$ 7,377,981

$

171,583
17
680,260

152,401
147
$ 7,530,529

8,592,955
(6,447,031)

123,015,877
15,279,453
(69,598,677)

70,302
(65,255)

Capital lease, net
Total noncurrent assets
Total Assets

$ 44,894,431
$ 58,698,917

$ 68,696,653
$ 79,778,745

$ 2,145,924
$ 4,411,414

$
$

22,623,885
22,628,932
23,309,192

Deferred Outflows of Resources
Deferred charge on adv ance refunding

$

$

$

-

$

1,116,440

Total Assets and Deferred Outflows of
Resources

$ 59,219,349

$ 80,540,333

$ 4,411,414

$

24,425,632

$

$

$

$

$

1,463,319
12,307
71,529
13,419
1,560,574
4,963
25,569,779
25,574,742
27,135,316

Liabilities
Current Liabilities
Bonds payable, net
Accounts payable
Interfund payable
Accrued liabilities
Compensated absences
Retainages payable
Deposits and other liabilities
Total Current Liabilities

$

520,432

2,899,966
439,762
272,774
258,275
58,249
3,929,026

$

761,588

4,074,724
393,626
199,602
146,773
4,814,725

$

104,039
218,137
166,009
229,728
717,913

$

-

$ 27,742,945

$

-

7,619,294
618
$ 35,362,857

842,697
25,746,255
734,513
(8,430,567)

1,093,041
2,607,389
(2,264,348)

2,058,940
256,010,105
1,941,109
15,279,453
(139,218,572)

$ 18,892,898
$ 26,423,427

$ 1,436,082
$ 1,436,082

22,623,885
$ 158,694,920
$ 194,057,777

$

$

$

15,460

-

2,413,920

$ 26,438,887

$ 1,436,082

$ 196,471,697

$

$

$

$

23,360
70,637
512
94,509

8,887,281
1,232,818
70,637
840,251
795,243
91,353
58,249
$ 11,975,832

54,388
1,168,825
$ 1,223,213
$ 2,082,298

$
$

35,167
35,167
129,676

294,132
100,898,854
$ 101,192,986
$ 113,168,818

$

321,873
168,986
129,825
147,048
91,353
859,085

Noncurrent Liabilities
Compensated absences
Bonds payable, net
Total noncurrent liabilities
Total Liabilities

95,527
30,956,201
$ 31,051,728
$ 34,980,754

54,286
42,766,764
$ 42,821,050
$ 47,635,775

84,968
402,118
$
487,086
$ 1,204,999

$
$

Net Position
Net inv estment in capital assets
Unrestricted
Total net position

$ 23,475,477
763,118
$ 24,238,595

$ 29,575,576
3,328,982
$ 32,904,558

$ 1,639,767
1,566,648
$ 3,206,415

$ (25,911,611)
23,201,927
$ (2,709,684)

$ 17,310,847
7,045,742
$ 24,356,589

$ 1,377,555
(71,149)
$ 1,306,406

$ 47,467,611
35,835,268
$ 83,302,879

Total Liabilities and Net Position

$ 59,219,349

$ 80,540,333

$ 4,411,414

$

$ 26,438,887

$ 1,436,082

$ 196,471,697

24,425,632

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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City of Rockville, Maryland
Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Fund Net Position
Proprietary Funds
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2021
Business-Type Activ ities - Enterprise Funds

Operating Revenues
Charges for Serv ices
Other Rev enues
Total Operating Rev enues

RedGate

Total

Water Facility

Sanitary

Refuse

Parking

Stormwater

Golf Course

Business-type

Fund

Sewer Fund

Fund

Fund

Mgmt. Fund

Fund

Activ ities

$ 12,240,675
250,957
$ 12,491,632

$ 15,647,083
375
$ 15,647,458

$ 6,247,044
14,826
$ 6,261,870

2,488,338
1,880,887
-

2,804,956

2,792,687

Operating Expenses
Treatment and purification
Distribution
Collection and disposal
Customer billing, collection,
operating expenses
Repairs and maintenance
Total Operating Expenses

$

Operating income (loss) before
depreciation
Less - depreciation
Operating Income (loss)
Nonoperating Income (Expenses)
Interest income
Interest expense
Other, net
Total Nonoperating Income

453,070
147,019
600,089

$ 5,354,261
33,203
$ 5,387,464

4,182,162

-

3,134,837

1,289,518

152,860
7,314,772

132,549
$ 6,072,342

597,735
$ 6,069,415

5,176,860

9,575,116

192,455

(3,427,788)
$

$

1,749,072

3,522
(437,218)
(57,859)
(491,555)

(5,024,335)
$ 4,550,781

$

3,501
(316,571)
(74,011)
(387,081)

$
$

$

(466,609)
$

(274,154)

$

2,394
(12,592)
(10,198)

-

$ 39,942,133
446,380
$ 40,388,513

-

-

2,488,338
1,880,887
6,987,118

433,928

4,048,307

-

11,699,277

2,579
436,507

85,631
$ 4,133,938

-

971,354
$ 24,026,974

163,582

1,253,526

-

16,361,539

(9,032)
$

154,550

$

511
(783,669)
(140,030)
(923,188)

$
$

$

(936,192)
$

$

317,334

6,421
49,733
(3,865)
52,289

(100,549)
$

(100,549)

$

(1,045)
(1,045)

(9,964,505)
$

6,397,034

16,349
(1,501,362)
(275,765)
$ (1,760,778)

Income (loss) before capital
1,257,517

contributions and transfers
Capital Grants and Contributions
Transfers
Transfer (to) from Proprietary Funds
Transfer from General Fund
Total Transfers
$
Increase (decrease) in net position

(284,352)

(768,638)

369,623

(101,594)

4,636,256

-

(196,685)

-

315,001

-

-

118,316

306,590
306,590

(306,590)
(306,590)

46,730
46,730

1,950,000
$ 1,950,000

-

-

1,996,730
1,996,730

$

$

(237,622)

1,496,363

$

369,623

$

(101,594)

$

1,564,107

3,660,425

22,674,488

29,244,133

3,444,037

(4,206,047)

23,986,966

1,408,000

76,551,577

$ 24,238,595

$ 32,904,558

$ 3,206,415

$ (2,709,684)

$ 24,356,589

$ 1,306,406

$ 83,302,879

Net position at beginning of year
Net position at end of year

4,163,700

6,751,302

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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City of Rockville, Maryland
Statement of Cash Flows
Proprietary Funds
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2021
Business-Type Activ ities - Enterprise Funds
Total
Water Facility

Sanitary

Refuse

Parking

Stormwater

RedGate Golf

Business-type

Fund

Sewer Fund

Fund

Fund

Mgmt. Fund

Course Fund

Activ ities

$ 11,937,923

$ 14,623,060

$

$

Cash Flows from operating activities:
Cash receiv ed from customers

$

6,246,726

$

565,489

5,410,513

-

$ 38,783,711

Cash payments to suppliers
for goods and serv ices
Cash payments to employees

(3,437,013)

(3,917,671)

(3,254,949)

(149,532)

(1,506,492)

-

(12,265,657)

for serv ices
Net cash prov ided by operating

(3,839,964)

(1,935,155)

(2,804,792)

(280,570)

(2,524,004)

-

(11,384,485)

activ ities

$

4,660,946

$

8,770,234

$

186,985

$

135,387

$

1,380,017

$

-

$ 15,133,569

$

-

$

46,730

$

1,950,000

$

-

$

-

$

Cash Flows from noncapital financing activities:
Transfer in from the General Fund

$

Transfer (to) from Proprietary Funds

306,590

Proceeds from interfund payable

-

Retirement of interfund payable
Net cash prov ided by (used in)
noncapital financing activ ities

(306,590)

-

-

-

-

-

-

(32,006)

1,996,730

-

-

-

24,662

-

-

(3,565,707)
$ (1,544,315)

(1,931,010)

(1,602,691)

$ (1,624,420)

$ (1,909,281)

$

46,730

$

1,917,994

$

-

$

24,662

$

$

-

$

315,001

$

-

$

-

24,662

Cash Flows from capital and related financing activities:
Capital grants and contributions

$

Acquisition and construction

(1,363,661)

of capital assets
Payments to escrow for adv ance

(3,412,078)

-

refunding
Principal paid on general
obligation bond maturities
Deferred loss on adv ance refunding
Interest paid on general
obligation bonds
Proceeds from capital lease

(196,685)

(589,848)

-

(8,954,664)

(18,707,610)

(346,243)

(762,055)

(907,114)

(1,185,264)

-

-

(1,433,385)

-

(90,000)
-

(6,798,972)
-

(22,027)

(19,324)

(813,273)

118,316

-

(857,239)

-

(21,994)

-

-

(1,390,000)

$

(30,021,540)

-

(29,303)

(1,127,622)

(2,635)

(2,959,583)

-

-

-

342,929

-

-

342,929

19,218,921

24,364,960

-

-

581,861

-

44,165,742

Proceeds from issuance of
debt/current refunding
Net cash used in capital and
related financing activ ities

$

7,647,239

$

101,268

$

Cash Flows from investing activities:
Interest on inv estments

$

3,321

$

3,567

$

(701,842)

2,762

$ (1,545,343)

$ (1,757,390)

$

$

$

$

622

7,220

(24,662)

-

$

3,719,270

$

17,492

Net increase (decrease) in
cash and cash equiv alents
Cash and cash equiv alents at

10,687,086

6,965,788

the beginning of year
Cash and cash equiv alents at

-

-

the end of year

$ 10,687,086

$

6,965,788

(465,365)

508,660

2,668,795
$

2,203,430

(370,153)

$

508,660

7,748,134
$

7,377,981

$

-

17,326,016

-

10,416,929

-

$ 27,742,945

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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City of Rockville, Maryland
Statement of Cash Flows (continued)
Proprietary Funds
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2021
Reconciliation of Net Operating Income (Loss) to Net Cash Provided By (Used In) Operating Activities
Business-Type Activ ities - Enterprise Funds
Total

Operating income (loss)

Water Facility

Sanitary

Refuse

Parking

Stormwater

RedGate Golf

Business-type

Fund

Sewer Fund

Fund

Fund

Mgmt. Fund

Course Fund

Activ ities

$

1,749,072

$

4,550,781

$

(274,154)

$

154,550

$

317,334

$

(100,549)

$

6,397,034

$

3,427,788

$

5,024,335

$

466,609

$

9,032

$

936,192

$

100,549

$

9,964,505

Adjustments to reconcile operating
income (loss) to net cash provided
by (used in) operating activities:
Depreciation
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Effect of changes in

(553,958)

accounts receiv able
Effect of changes in

81,642

accounts payable
Effect of changes) in
accrued liabilities
Effect of changes in
compensated absences
Effect of changes in
retainages payable
Effect of changes in
deposits and other liabilities
Total adjustments

(1,024,398)
194,416

(15,144)

(34,600)

23,049

-

9,182

8,330

35,863

-

329,433

(1,842)

5,245

-

1,860

(83)

15,499

-

1,268

46,835

-

44,271

(1,393)

1,963

(2,113)

(39,890)

23,137

2,605

(2,564)

-

-

249

-

-

-

-

-

(1,605,051)

-

249

$

2,911,874

$

4,219,453

$

461,139

$

(19,163)

$

1,062,683

$

100,549

$

8,736,535

$

4,660,946

$

8,770,234

$

186,985

$

135,387

$

1,380,017

$

-

$ 15,133,569

$

122,112

$

-

$

-

$

$

-

$

Net cash prov ided by operating
activ ities

Noncash capital and related financing activ ities:
Purchase of equipment
on account

$

4,674

(35,021)

91,765

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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City of Rockville, Maryland
Statement of Fiduciary Net Position
Fiduciary Fund
June 30, 2021

Pension and OPEB
Trust Funds
Assets
Open End Mutual Funds:
Bonds
Equities
Real estate
Global real assets
Global tactical asset allocation
Money markets
Target Date Fund
Stable Value Fund
Total Assets
Liabilities
Benefits Payable

$

29,530,210
97,471,840
23,902,059
15,443
14,662,678
2,073,771
21,859,853
6,812,445
$ 196,328,299

$

100,405

$

102,905

Administrative expense payable
Total Liabilities

2,500

Net Position
Restricted for pensions
Restricted for OPEB

$ 183,798,517
12,426,877

Total Net Position restricted for plan benefits

$ 196,225,394

Total Liabilities and Net Position

$ 196,328,299

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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City of Rockville, Maryland
Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position
Fiduciary Fund
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2021
Pension and
OPEB
Trust Funds
Additions
Contributions
Employer
Plan Members
Total Contributions

$

Inv estment earnings
Net appreciation in the fair v alue of plan inv estments
Interest and div idends

5,106,864
2,370,810
7,477,674
40,780,661
1,572,419
42,353,080
(561,144)
41,791,936

Total inv estment earnings
Plus inv estment expense refunds
Net inv estment earnings
Total Additions

$

49,269,610

Deductions
Benefits
Administrativ e expense

$

8,495,142
81,414

Total Deductions

$

8,576,556

Net Increase
Net position at beginning of year
Net position at end of year

40,693,054
155,532,340
$ 196,225,394

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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City of Rockville, Maryland
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
June 30, 2021
(1) SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
A. Financial Reporting Entity

The City of Rockville (the "City"), was incorporated in 1860. Its legal authority is derived from Article XI E of the State Constitution
and Article 23A of the Annotated Code of Maryland. The City has an estimated population of 73,400 and a land area of 13.55 square
miles. According to the 2010 census, the City is the third largest city in Maryland. The City has operated under the council-manager
form of government since 1948. The City is a municipal corporation where the City Council is comprised of a mayor and four atlarge council members. Services provided include water, sewer, refuse, parking, streets and stormwater, recreation and parks, police,
planning and zoning, and engineering services. Schools, libraries, social services, police and fire protection are provided by
Montgomery County, Maryland (the “County”).
For financial reporting purposes, the government-wide financial statements include the various departments governed directly by the
Mayor and Council. The City's officials are also responsible for appointing the board of directors of the Rockville Housing Enterprises
(RHE), but the City's accountability does not extend beyond making the appointments, therefore the finances of RHE are not included
in the financial statements. The City provides financial assistance to Rockville Economic Development, Inc. (REDI), but is not
obligated to provide such assistance; therefore, the finances of REDI are not included in the financial statements.
B. Government-wide and Fund Financial Statements

The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities) report information on
all of the nonfiduciary activities of the primary government. Mostly all of the effects of interfund activities have been removed from
these statements. Governmental activities, which normally are supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues, are reported
separately from business-type activities. Business-type activities rely significantly on fees and charges for services.
The Statement of Activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function or segment are offset by program
revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable to a specific function or segment. Program revenues include 1)
charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by a given
function or segment and 2) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular
function or segment. Taxes and other items not included among program revenues are reported as general revenues.
Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds, although the latter are
excluded from the government-wide financial statements. Major individual governmental funds and major individual enterprise funds
are reported in separate columns in the fund financial statements.
C. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation

The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resource measurement focus and the accrual basis of
accounting, as are the proprietary funds and fiduciary fund financial statements. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses
are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Property taxes are recognized as revenue in
the year for which they are levied. Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed
by the provider have been met.
Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resource measurement focus and the modified accrual
basis of accounting. Revenues are considered available when they are deemed collectible within the current period or soon thereafter
to pay the liabilities of the current period. For this purpose, the City considers revenues to be available if they are collected within 60
days of the end of the current fiscal period.
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(1) SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

C. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation (Continued)

Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, under accrual accounting. However, debt service expenditures, as
well as expenditures related to compensated absences, claims and judgments, are recorded only when payment is due. Property taxes,
franchise taxes, licenses, and interest associated with the current fiscal period are all considered to be susceptible to accrual and are
recognized as revenues in the current fiscal period. Only the portion of special assessments receivable due within the current fiscal
period is considered to be susceptible to accrual. All other revenue items are considered to be measurable and available only when
cash is received by the government.
The government reports the following major governmental funds:
The General Fund is the government’s primary operating fund. It accounts for all financial resources of the general
government, except those required to be accounted for in another fund.
The Debt Service Fund accounts for the resources accumulated and payments made for principal and interest on longterm general obligation debt of governmental funds.
The Capital Projects Fund is used to account for financial resources used for the acquisition or construction of major
capital facilities (other than those financed by proprietary funds).
The government reports the following major proprietary funds:
The City operates six major types of enterprise funds: The Water Facility Fund, the Sanitary Sewer Fund, the
Refuse Fund, the Parking Fund, the Stormwater Management Fund, and the RedGate Golf Course
Fund. These funds account for the provision of water and sewer services, recycling and refuse services and the parking
meter program, for residents within the City’s service area. The Refuse Fund and RedGate Golf Course Fund do not meet
the requirements of a major fund; however, management has elected to report these funds as major. The Refuse Fund
accounts for the financial activity associated with the collection and disposal of residential recycling, refuse and yard waste.
The RedGate Golf Course Fund accounts for the long-term debt costs for the City’s golf course facility. Golf operations at
the RedGate property ceased on December 31, 2018.
Additionally, the government reports the following fund types:
The City operates three nonmajor governmental funds: The Special Activities Fund, the Community
Development Block Grant (CDBG) Fund, and the Automated Speed Enforcement Fund. These funds
primarily use donor restricted grants, contributions, and state-earmarked funding to meet specific programmatic needs.
The City’s fiduciary fund includes the Pension and OPEB Trust Funds which accounts for the contributions made by
the City and its employees to finance future pension and post-employment benefit payments.
As a general rule, the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the government-wide financial statements, but interfund
services provided and used are not eliminated in the process of consolidation.
Amounts reported as program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants for goods, services, or privileges provided, 2)
operating grants and contributions, and 3) capital grants and contributions, including special assessments.
Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating revenues and expenses generally
result from providing services, producing goods, and delivering goods in connection with a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing
operations. The principal operating revenues of the Water Facility, Sanitary Sewer, Refuse, and Stormwater Management Funds are
charges to customers for sales and services. The Water Facility and Sanitary Sewer funds also recognize the portion of capital
contribution charges intended to recover the cost of connecting new customers to the system as operating revenue. Operating expenses
for enterprise funds include the cost of sales and services, administrative expenses, and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues
and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses.
When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the City’s policy to first use restricted resources, then
unrestricted resources as they are needed.
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(1) SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

D. Budgetary Basis of Accounting

Annual budgets for governmental and proprietary funds are adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted accounting
principles. The budget for the capital projects fund and capital projects activities in other funds are appropriated on a project-length
basis and serve as a guide for the City’s financial planning.
The appropriated budget is prepared by fund, function, and department. The government’s department heads may make transfers of
appropriations within a fund. Transfers of appropriations between funds require the approval of the Mayor and Council. The legal
level of budgetary control (i.e., the level at which expenditures may not legally exceed appropriations) is the fund level. Appropriations
in all budgeted funds lapse at the end of the fiscal year even if they have related encumbrances. Encumbrances are commitments
related to unperformed (executory) contracts for goods or services (i.e., purchase orders, contracts, and commitments). Encumbrance
accounting is utilized to the extent necessary to assure effective budgetary control and accountability and to facilitate effective cash
planning and control. While all appropriations and encumbrances lapse at year end, valid outstanding encumbrances (those for which
performance under the executory contract is expected in the next year) are reappropriated and become part of the subsequent year’s
budget.
E. Assets, Liabilities, Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources, and Net Position/Fund Balance
1. Deposits and Investments
To facilitate effective management of the City’s resources, substantially all operating cash is combined in one pooled account. Cash
and cash equivalents include cash on hand, demand deposits and pooled cash. Investments held by the City include commercial paper,
U.S. Treasury securities, U.S Agency securities and mutual funds which are all stated at fair value. The Pension and OPEB Trust
Fund assets are separately managed by the City's Retirement Board. The Pension and OPEB Trust Fund investments consist of mutual
funds which are stated at fair value. Short-term pooled investments of one year or less which are included as cash equivalents are
stated at amortized cost plus accrued interest.

For purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows, the proprietary fund type reflects all monies in the City’s cash management pool as
cash equivalents.
Interest income earned on City investments is allocated among the funds each month pro-rata based on the average equity in pooled
cash balances for the previous six months.
2. Property Taxes
Taxes on real property and business personal property are levied on property values as assessed on January 1, billed on July 1, and
payable either by September 30 or in two equal installments on September 30 and December 31. Montgomery County bills and
collects property taxes for the City and remits the cash collections monthly. Property taxes are attached as an enforceable lien on the
underlying properties as of the succeeding June 1 and are, thereafter, sold at public auction if deemed delinquent.

Real and personal property taxes are levied at rates enacted by the Mayor and Council in the annual budget ordinance on the assessed
value as determined by the Maryland State Department of Assessments and Taxation. The rate of levy cannot exceed the constant
yield tax rate furnished by the Maryland State Department of Assessments and Taxation without public hearings.
The real property tax rate was $0.292 per $100 of assessed value and the personal property tax rate was $0.805 per $100 of assessed
value in fiscal year 2021. The City charges taxpayers interest (at the rate of 2/3 of 1 percent per month) and penalty (1 percent per
month) on all overdue taxes.
3. Inventories and Prepaid Items
All City inventories (included in other assets in the governmental fund Balance Sheet) are maintained on a consumption basis of
accounting and are valued at cost on a first-in, first-out basis and consist of either goods held for resale or goods and materials used
in providing services. The classification of fund balance for General Fund inventories is made to reflect the non-spendable nature of
those amounts for appropriation in the General Fund. Certain payments to vendors and contingent grants reflect costs applicable to
future accounting periods and are recorded as prepaid items under the consumption method in both government-wide and fund
financial statements.
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(1) SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
E. Assets, Liabilities, Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources, and Net Position/Fund Balance (Continued)
4. Restricted Net Position
The Special Activities Fund is used to account for programs for which external funding sources impose requirements and restrictions
on the use of funds for a particular purpose.
5. Capital Assets
Capital assets, which include buildings, infrastructure, equipment, furniture and fixtures, vehicles and purchased capacity assets, are
reported in the applicable governmental or business-type activities columns in the government-wide financial statements. Capital
assets are defined by the City as assets with an initial, individual cost of more than $5,000 and an estimated useful life in excess of
three years. Such assets are recorded at historical cost or estimated historical cost if purchased or constructed. Donated capital assets,
donated works of art, and similar assets and capital assets received in a service concession arrangement, are reported at acquisition
value. The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend assets lives are not
capitalized. Assignments of fund balance in the Capital Projects Fund have been made to reflect the authorized capital project
appropriations.

Major outlays for capital assets and improvements are capitalized as projects are constructed. The City early implemented GASB
Statement No. 89, Accounting for Interest Costs Incurred before the End of a Construction Period and therefore does
not capitalize interest. The capitalization threshold for infrastructure items is $25,000. GASB Statement No. 34 requires prospective
reporting of all infrastructure assets acquired after June 30, 2002. It has also required that all infrastructure assets that were acquired
after June 30, 1980 be reported for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2006. The City is in compliance with this requirement and
has capitalized infrastructure assets acquired after June 30, 2002.
Capital assets of the primary government are depreciated over their useful lives using the straight-line method of depreciation in the
government-wide financial statements. Depreciation is charged as an expense against operations and accumulated depreciation is
reported on the respective balance sheet. The following are estimated useful lives:
Description
Buildings
Infrastructure
Equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Automobiles and trucks
Purchased capacity

Lives (Years)
30-50
20-50
3-20
7-10
5-7
50

6. Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources
In addition to assets and liabilities, the Statement of Net Position reports separate sections for deferred outflows and inflows of
resources. Separate financial statement elements represent either a consumption or production of net position that applies to a future
period(s) and so will not be recognized as an outflow or inflow of resources until then. The City has three items that qualify for
reporting in these categories. They are the deferred charge on advance refunding reported in the government-wide and proprietary
fund Statement of Net Position, the unavailable revenue for property taxes and special assessments reported in the Governmental
Fund Balance Sheet, and the deferred outflows and inflows from pension and OPEB activities reported in the government-wide
Statement of Net Position. A deferred charge on an advance refunding results from the difference in the carrying value of refunded
debt and its reacquisition price. Deferred inflows and outflows from pension and OPEB activities reflect changes in assumptions,
differences between actual and expected experience and differences between actual and projected earnings on investments.
7. Compensated Absences
It is the City’s policy to permit employees to accumulate earned but unused annual and sick leave benefits. Annual leave and sick
leave are accrued when incurred and eligible for pay-out in the government-wide and proprietary financial statements. Sick leave is
only eligible for pay-out when an employee is retiring, has elected sick leave pay-out instead of credited service and meets specific
age and length of service requirements. An expenditure for these amounts is reported in governmental funds only if they have matured,
for example, as a result of employee resignations and retirements.
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(1) SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

E. Assets, Liabilities, Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources, and Net Position/Fund Balance (Continued)
8. Long-Term Obligations
In the government-wide financial statements and proprietary fund financial statements, long-term debt and other long-term obligations
are reported as liabilities in the Statement of Net Position. Bond premiums and discounts are deferred and amortized over the life of
the bonds using the effective interest method. Bonds payable are reported net of the applicable bond premium or discount. Bond
issuance costs are reported as expenses in the current period in accordance with GASB Statement No. 65.

In the fund financial statements, the Debt Service Fund recognizes bond premiums and discounts, bond issuance costs, as well as any
charges from advance refundings, in the period incurred. The face amount of debt issued is reported net of any bond
premiums/discounts.
Commitments of fund balance in the Debt Service Fund have been made in accordance with the City’s policy to maintain a minimum
cash balance of 10% of average outstanding principal for future debt service appropriations. The City is not restricted by a legal debt
limit.
9. Interfund Transactions
Activity between funds that are representative of lending/borrowing arrangements at the end of the fiscal year are referred to as “due
to/from other funds” or “interfund receivable/payable”. Any residual balances outstanding between the governmental activities and
business-type activities are reported in the government-wide financial statements as “Internal Balances”.
10. Fund Balance
In the fund financial statements, governmental funds report fund balance using classifications that comprise a hierarchy based on the
extent to which the City is bound to honor constraints on the purpose for which the funds may be spent. The government itself can
establish limitations on the use of resources through either a commitment (committed fund balance) or an assignment (assigned fund
balance). Fund balance is reported in five components - nonspendable, restricted, committed, assigned and unassigned. When multiple
categories of fund balance are available for expenditure, the City will start with the most restricted category and spend those funds
first.

Nonspendable - Portion of net resources that cannot be spent either (a) because of their form or (b) because they must be maintained
intact.
Restricted - Portion of net resources with imposed limitations set by either (a) creditors, grantors, contributors, or the laws and
regulations of other governments or (b) laws through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.
Committed - Portion of net resources with imposed limitations set at the highest level of decision making authority. Such authority
includes ordinances of the Mayor and Council and the City's charter. Formal action at the same level of authority is required to remove
such limitations.
Assigned - Portion of net resources intended for a specific use by the City, as determined by the City Manager, as the designee of the
Mayor and Council pursuant to ordinance 12-13.
Unassigned - Portion of net resources in excess of the nonspendable, restricted, committed and assigned balances. The General Fund
is the only fund that reports a positive unassigned fund balance. In instances where expenditures incurred for a particular purpose
exceed the amounts restricted, committed, or assigned to those purposes, it may be necessary to report a negative unassigned fund
balance in that fund.
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(1) SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
E. Assets, Liabilities, Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources, and Net Position/Fund Balance (Continued)
11. Net Position
Net position represents the difference between assets and deferred outflows of resources and liabilities and deferred inflows of
resources. The net investment in capital assets portion of net position, consists of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation,
reduced by the outstanding balances of any borrowings used for the acquisition, construction, or improvement of those assets,
including any balances from advanced refundings. The portion of net position related to investment in capital assets, is adjusted for
unspent debt proceeds of $18,875,604 attributable to business-type activities. Unspent debt proceeds of $963,178 are attributable to
governmental activities and are reported as assigned in the Capital Projects Fund. Net positions are reported as restricted when there
are limitations imposed on their use either through the enabling legislation or through external restrictions imposed by creditors,
grantors or laws or regulations of other governments. The portion of net position restricted for external restrictions imposed by
grantors is $10,872,899, as noted in the government-wide statement of net position. Restricted resources are used first to fund
appropriations. When an expense is incurred for which both restricted and unrestricted net position are available, the City will first
apply restricted resources.
(2) DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS

A. Cash, Cash Equivalents and Investments

The City maintains a cash and investment pool that is subject to oversight by the Mayor and Council, but is not subject to regulatory
oversight by the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). The City’s cash and investment pool is available for use by all of the
City's funds, except the Fiduciary Funds. The City is restricted by State law to invest only in federally insured banks in the State of
Maryland, federally insured savings and loan associations in the State of Maryland, or in the Maryland Local Government Investment
Pool (MLGIP). The City invests in the MLGIP, a pooled fund money market for municipalities, which is highly efficient and utilizes
a programmed approach to investing. The MLGIP was established under the Annotated Code of Maryland and is rated AAAm by
Standard and Poors, their highest rating for money market funds. MLGIP is a 2a7 like pool, which is not registered with the Securities
and Exchange Commission (SEC), but generally operates in a manner consistent with the SEC’s Rule 2a7 of the Investment Company
Act of 1940 (Rule 2a7). Unit value is computed using the amortized cost method. The City maintains other investments in commercial
paper, U.S. agency securities, U.S. treasury securities and open end mutual funds which are managed by a third party asset manager.
The City’s Pension and OPEB Trust Funds are invested in open end mutual funds, which are subject to oversight by the City’s
Retirement Board. The City’s open end mutual funds include equities, fixed income, real estate, global real assets, global tactical asset
allocation accounts and money market funds. All investments are reported at fair value.
As of July 1, 2015, the City implemented GASB Statement No. 79, Certain External Investment Pools and Pool Participants.
Under this standard, the MLGIP meets the criteria of a qualified external investment pool, thereby allowing the City to report its
investments using the amortized cost method. There are no limitations or restrictions on MLGIP withdrawals. Amounts invested in
external investment pools of $51,088,920 are comprised of securities valued using quoted market prices which are then allocated to
pool participants to maintain a $1.00 per unit value.
As of June 30, 2021, the City had the following cash, cash equivalents and investments included as cash and cash equivalents and
investments in the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Fiduciary Net Position:
Deposits
Maryland Local Government Pool (MLGIP)
Total Cash and Cash Equivalents
US Agency Securities
US Treasury Securities
Open-End Mutual Funds
Total Investments
Total

Primary Government
$
9,867,753
51,088,920
$
60,956,673
$

$
$

11,577,211
20,274,484
176,327
32,028,022
92,984,695

Fiduciary Funds
$
$
$

$
$

196,328,299
196,328,299
196,328,299

Interest Range
0.00%
0.00% - 0.02%

0.16% - 1.51%
0.25% - 1.51%
0.00% - 0.01%
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(2) DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (CONTINUED)

A. Equity in Pooled Cash, Cash Equivalents and Investments (Continued)

Effective July 1, 2015 the City adopted GASB Statement No. 72, Fair Value Measurement and Application. The City
categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by generally accepted accounting principles. The
hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to measure the fair value of the asset. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets
for identical assets; Level 2 inputs are significant other observable inputs; Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable inputs.
The City has the following recurring fair value measurements as of June 30, 2021:
Asset Type
Primary Government
US Agency Securities
US Treasury Securities
Open-End Mutual Funds

Total

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

11,577,211
20,274,484
176,327

176,327

11,577,211
20,274,484
-

-

$ 196,328,299

$ 128,233,352

$ 68,094,947

$

-

$ 228,356,321

$ 128,409,679

$ 99,946,642

$

-

Fiduciary Funds
Open-End Mutual Funds
Total Investments at Fair Market Value







Amounts invested in open-end mutual funds of $128,409,679 are comprised of securities valued using quoted market prices
(Level 1). These funds are required to publish their daily net asset value (NAV) and to transact at that price.
Amounts invested in U.S. agency securities of $11,577,211 are comprised of securities which are priced by industry standard
vendors, using observable inputs such as benchmark yields, reported trades broker/dealer quotes, and issuer spreads (Level
2).
Amounts invested in U.S. treasury securities of $20,274,484 are comprised of securities valued using quoted market prices
of similar, but not identical assets. (Level 2).
Amounts invested in open-end mutual funds of $44,192,888 include investments in domestic fixed income securities which
are priced by industry standard vendors such as Interactive Data Corporation, using observable inputs such as benchmark
yields, reported trades, broker/dealer quotes, and issuer spreads (Level 2).
Amounts invested in open-end mutual funds of $23,902,059 are comprised of real estate investments valued using
observable inputs such as discounted income streams, the current cost of reproducing the real estate, and values indicated
by comparable real estate in the market (Level 2).

Deposits:
Custodial Credit Risk: Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the City’s deposits may not
be returned. Maryland State Law prescribes that local government units, such as the City, must deposit its cash in banks which
transact business in the State of Maryland. Such banks must also secure any deposits exceeding the Federal Depository Insurance
Corporation insurance levels with collateral whose market value is at the least equal to 102% of the deposits. As of June 30, 2021,
the City’s bank balance was $10,259,741, all of which were either covered by federal depository insurance or covered by collateral
held in the pledging banks trust department in the City’s name.
Foreign Currency Risk: Foreign currency risk, also known as exchange rate risk, is the financial risk arising from fluctuations in
the value of a base currency against a foreign currency in which deposits are held. As of June 30, 2021 the City does not maintain
deposits in foreign currencies and is not exposed to foreign currency risk.
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A. Equity in Pooled Cash, Cash Equivalents and Investments (Continued)
Investments:
Credit Risk: The Mayor and Council of Rockville recognize that their authority to invest the public funds of the City derives from
Section 6-222a of the State of Maryland’s Finance and Procurement Article, as well as Article 95, Section 22-22N of the Annotated
Code of Maryland. Authority to invest City funds in compliance and provisions of these State statutes is delegated to the Director of
Finance. All City investments must receive the highest letter and numerical rating from at least one nationally recognized statistical
rating organization, except for obligations which are backed by the full credit of the U.S. Government, obligations of federal agencies,
or an instrument that has been issued in accordance with acts of Congress and unrated. Investments in commercial paper must receive
the highest letter and numerical rating from at least two nationally recognized statistical rating organizations. The Pension and OPEB
Trust funds are invested in open-end pooled mutual funds, which are unrated.

At June 30, 2021 the City and its Fiduciary Funds held cash equivalents and investments which were exposed to credit risk with the
following ratings:
Cash Equivalents and Investments

S&P Rating

Total

Maryland Local Government Pool (MLGIP)
US Agency Securities
US Treasury Securities
Open-End Mutual Funds

AAAm
AA+
AA+
Unrated

$ 51,088,920
11,577,211
20,274,484
196,504,626

Interest Rate Risk: Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an investment.
Interest rate risk is minimized due to the fact that all authorized investments have a maximum allowable maturity of five years from
the date of purchase as stated in section XII of the City's investment policy. The MLGIP pooled money market funds and open-end
mutual funds are highly liquid with no fixed maturity and therefore do not expose the City to interest rate risk. As of June 30, 2021,
the cash equivalents and investments of the City and its Fiduciary Funds had the following maturities:

Cash Equivalents and Investments

Total

<1 year

Maryland Local Government Pool (MLGIP)
US Agency Securities
US Treasury Securities
Open-End Mutual Funds

$ 51,088,920
11,577,211
20,274,484
196,504,626

$ 51,088,920
281,533
2,844,322
196,504,626

Maturity
2-3 years

1-2 years
$

3,227,143
5,505,876
-

$

2,878,964
4,277,168
-

3-4 years
$

3,399,515
3,920,954
-

4-5 years
$

1,790,056
3,726,164
-

Concentration of Credit Risk: Concentration of credit risk is the risk of losses associated with the City's investment in a single
issuer. To reduce these risks the City's investment policy establishes the following limits: U.S. obligations backed by full faith
and credit - 100%; federal agency obligations - 100% total, no more than 35% per federal agency issuer; repurchase agreements 35% total; bankers' acceptances - 35% total; commercial paper - 10% total; money market mutual funds - 100%; Maryland local
government investment pool - 100%.

At June 30, 2021 the City had $20,274,484 of U.S. Treasury securities and $11,577,211 of U.S. Agency securities which exceeded
5% of the City’s total portfolio.
Custodial Credit Risk: Custodial credit risk for investments is the risk that in the event of failure of a depository financial institution
or counterparty to a transaction, the City will not recover the value of deposits, investments or collateral securities that are in the
possession of an outside party. The City is not exposed to custodial credit risk at June 30, 2021.
Foreign Currency Risk: Foreign currency risk, also known as exchange rate risk, is the financial risk arising from fluctuations in
the value of a base currency against a foreign currency in which investments are held. As of June 30, 2021 the City does not maintain
investments denominated in foreign currencies and is not exposed to foreign currency risk.
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B. Receivables

Receivables as of the year ended June 30, 2021 for all of the City’s individual funds were as follows:
Other
Receiv ables

General

Property Taxes Receiv able

$ 1,143,255

Debt

Capital

Gov ernmental

Gov ernmental

Serv ice

Projects

Funds

Activ ities Total

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

1,143,255

Accounts Receiv able

607,047

-

166,260

127,619

900,926

Interfund Receiv able

140,079

-

-

-

140,079

2,600,862

-

-

271,903

2,872,765

Due from Other Gov ernments
Loans Receiv able
RELP One, L.P.
Other Receiv ables

120,000

-

-

-

120,000

395

47

57

-

499

-

48,597

-

-

48,597

4,611,638

48,644

166,317

399,522

5,226,121

-

-

-

Unbilled Assessments Receiv able
Gross Receiv ables
Allowance for Uncollectibles

(781,795)
$ 3,829,843

Net Receiv ables

Receiv ables

Water

Billed / Unbilled Accounts

$

Sewer

$

48,644

Refuse
$

166,317

Parking

61,996

$

-

$

399,522

(781,795)
$

4,444,326

Stormwater

RedGate

Business-type

Management

Golf Course

Activ ities Total

$

$

$

$ 3,124,384

$ 4,128,961

Accounts Receiv able

-

-

-

266,580

152,401
-

-

-

7,467,742
266,580

Due from Other Gov ernments

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Other Receiv ables

212

178

64

17

147

-

618

Gross Receiv ables

3,124,596

4,129,139

62,060

266,597

152,548

-

7,734,940

-

-

Allowance for Uncollectibles
Net Receiv ables

(7,196)
$ 3,117,400

-

(12,835)
$ 4,116,304

$

62,060

(94,997)
$

171,600

$

152,548

$

-

(115,028)
$

7,619,912

Other Receivables includes balances for interest and investment earnings receivable.
The City calculates its allowance for uncollectible accounts using historical collection data and, in certain cases, specific account
analysis. The allowance amounted to $896,823 at June 30, 2021, and is composed of the following:
General Fund property taxes receiv able

$

Enterprise Funds utility fees receiv able

20,031

Enterprise Funds parking citations receiv able
Total allowance for uncollectibles

781,795
94,997

$

896,823
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B. Receivables (Continued)

Governmental funds report deferred inflows in connection with receivables for revenues that are considered to be unavailable to
liquidate liabilities of the current period. Governmental funds also postpone revenue recognition in connection with resources that
have been received, but not yet earned. At the end of the current fiscal year, the various components of deferred inflows and unearned
revenue in the governmental funds were as follows:
Deferred
Special assessments not yet due (Debt Serv ice Fund)

$

Property taxes receiv able (General Fund)
Recreation serv ices not earned (General Fund)
American Rescue Plan Act not earned (General Fund)
Total deferred/unearned rev enue for gov ernmental funds

$

Unearned

48,597

$

-

361,460

-

-

1,232,898

-

4,809,594

410,057

$ 6,042,492

The City has the following loans receivable which are noncurrent assets:
RELP One, L.P. - The loan in the total amount of $120,000 was issued on June 12, 2003 to RELP One, L.P. The loan bears no
interest. The loan is secured by a Second Deed of Trust, Security Agreement and Assignment of Rents dated June 12, 2003. The
maturity date is June 30, 2043. The loan is recorded in the General Fund. The outstanding balance was $120,000 as of June 30, 2021.
C. Prepaid Assets

The City participated with the County by providing a contingent grant award, as an economic development initiative for Choice Hotels
International, Inc., for the purpose of attracting business activity to the City. The grant has performance requirements, when if met,
will initiate the City’s recognition of the grant expenditure. If the performance requirements are not met, the contingent grant will
convert to a loan receivable and bear interest at 3% per annum. The performance period for the contingent grant award of $156,000
to Choice Hotels International, Inc. will conclude in August 2023. The cost of prepaid items is recorded as expenditures/expenses
when consumed rather than when purchased. At June 30, 2021, prepaid assets in the General Fund consisted of $156,000 for the
contingent grant award to Choice Hotels International, Inc.
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D. Capital Assets

Capital asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2021 was as follows:
Beginning

Ending
Increases

Balance
Governmental Activities:
Capital assets, not being depreciated:
Land
Construction in progress
Total capital assets, not being depreciated

$

Capital assets, being depreciated:
Buildings
Improv ements other than buildings
Equipment
Infrastructure
Total capital assets being depreciated

86,470,406
31,063,223
29,462,135
246,487,014
$ 393,482,778

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings
Improv ements other than buildings
Equipment
Infrastructure
Total accumulated depreciation
Total capital assets, being depreciated, net
Gov ernmental activ ities capital assets, net

(27,120,960)
(11,624,406)
(20,897,570)
(146,023,242)
$ (205,666,178)
187,816,600
$ 222,481,466

$

$

$

$

11,544,482
23,120,384
34,664,866

$

Decreases

$

3,269,752
3,269,752

$

1,120,047
326,358
6,688,054
8,134,459

$

(2,315,498)
(1,652,309)
(1,817,635)
(4,921,415)
(10,706,857)
(2,572,398)
697,354

$
$

$

$
$

Transfers

-

(1,646,196)
(1,646,196)

1,646,196
1,646,196
-

$

Balance

$

(10,877,792)
(10,877,792)

$

10,856,028
21,764
10,877,792

86,470,406
43,039,298
28,142,297
253,196,832
$ 410,848,833

10,877,792
-

(29,436,458)
(13,276,715)
(21,069,009)
(150,944,657)
$ (214,726,839)
196,121,994
$ 223,178,820

$
$

$
$

11,544,482
15,512,344
27,056,826

Business-Type Activities:
Capital assets, not being depreciated:
Land
Construction in progress
Total capital assets, not being depreciated

2,058,940
1,764,402

$

3,823,342

-

$

357,037
$

357,037

-

$

$

-

-

$

(180,330)
$

(180,330)

2,058,940
1,941,109

$

4,000,049

Capital assets, being depreciated:
Buildings

4,447,888

-

-

-

4,447,888

232,581,200

5,786,568

-

180,330

238,548,098

Equipment

12,679,275

747,132

Purchased capacity

15,279,453

-

Improv ements other than buildings

Total capital assets being depreciated

$ 264,987,816

$

6,533,700

(412,288)
$

(412,288)

$

-

13,014,119

-

15,279,453

180,330

$ 271,289,558

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings
Improv ements other than buildings
Equipment
Purchased capacity
Total accumulated depreciation
Total capital assets, being depreciated, net
Business-type activ ities capital assets, net

(4,070,541)

(28,928)

-

(109,845,494)

(9,000,908)

-

(10,027,367)

(629,080)

412,288

(5,722,953)
$ (129,666,355)

(305,589)
$

(9,964,505)

$

(3,073,768)

135,321,461
$ 139,144,803

-

$

412,288

$

-

(3,430,805)

$

$

(4,099,469)

(18,773)

(118,865,175)

18,773

(10,225,386)

-

(6,028,542)

-

$ (139,218,572)

180,330

132,070,986

-

$ 136,071,035
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D. Capital Assets (Continued)

Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs of the City as follows:
Gov ernmental Activ ities:
General Gov ernment

$

Public Safety
Public W orks
Recreation and Parks

4,267,103
523,921
5,798,287
117,546

Total depreciation expense - gov ernmental activ ities

$ 10,706,857

Business-Type Activ ities:
W ater

$

Sewer
Refuse
Parking

3,427,788
5,024,335
466,609
9,032

Stormwater Management
RedGate Golf Course
Total depreciation expense - business-type activ ities

$

936,192
100,549
9,964,505

E. Interfund Payables and Transfers

The interfund payables from various funds represent operating advances that are payable to the General Fund within one year. The
interfund payables as of June 30, 2021 consisted of the following:
Interfund Payable
Total
Proprietary Funds:
RedGate Golf Course Fund

70,637

Gov ernmental Funds:
Community Dev elopment Block Grant Fund (CDBG)
Total

69,442
$

140,079

The interfund transfers are used to provide resources from the General Fund to other funds, and occur in the normal course of business.
Interfund transfers for the year ended June 30, 2021 consisted of the following:
Transfers from
General Fund
Debt Serv ice Fund
Capital Projects Fund
Special Activ ities Fund
Refuse Fund
Parking Fund

$

4,800,000
7,507,000
165,440
46,730
1,950,000

Total

$

14,469,170

Purpose
To support repayment of general obligation bonds and loans
To prov ide pay-as-you-go funding for planned capital outlay
To support v arious arts, community assistance and senior programs
To prov ide payment for refuse serv ices used by RHE properties
To support repayment of general obligation bonds

Administrative functions of the City’s water and sewer utility operations are maintained in the Water Fund. During the year ended
June 30, 2021 the Sewer Fund transferred $306,590 to the Water Fund in order to cover their share of operational expenses.
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F. Long-Term Debt
General Obligation Bonds and Loans Payable

General obligation bonds provide funds for the acquisition and construction of major capital assets and are direct city obligations in
which the full faith and credit of the government is pledged. These bonds generally are issued as 10-30 year serial bonds with equal
amounts of principal maturing each year. When preferential interest rates exist, the City will issue refunding bonds to refinance
outstanding general obligation bonds. Loans payable represent direct borrowings due to other government entities in connection with
specific intergovernmental activities and initiatives. These loans are not secured with any collateral and are not subject to any special
terms related to events of default, termination events or escalation clauses. As of June 30, 2021, the City has one unused line of credit
of $553,310 through the Maryland Department of the Environment. General obligation bonds and loans payable which were
outstanding at June 30, 2021 are as follows:

Gov ernmental Activ ities
General Improv ements - Refunding 2013B
General Improv ements - Refunding 2014A
General Improv ements - 2014B
General Improv ements - Refunding 2015A
General Improv ements - 2016A
General Improv ements - Adv ance Refunding 2016B
General Improv ements - 2017A
General Improv ements - 2019A
General Improv ements - Refunding 2020A
General Improv ements - Adv ance Refunding 2020C
Total Gov ernmental Activ ities
Business-Type Activ ities
Loan Payable - State of Maryland
Loan Payable - State of Maryland
Loan Payable - State of Maryland

Year of

Outstanding

Interest Rate

Year of Final

Issuance

Principal

Range

Maturity

3.00 - 4.00%
2.00 - 5.00%
2.00 - 5.00%
4.00 - 5.00%
2.00 - 3.00%
2.00 - 5.00%
4.00%
2.00 - 5.00%
1.90%
1.00 - 1.70%

2023
2024
2025
2025
2036
2028
2037
2039
2031
2025

1.90%
0.00%
1.00%

2023
2025
2031

2013
2014
2014
2015
2016
2016
2017
2019
2020
2020
$

894,371
1,540,192
315,000
2,440,662
825,000
2,704,000
4,325,000
5,765,000
6,795,000
995,000
26,599,225

2002
2005
2010

412,194
290,653
444,790

General Improv ements - 2013A

2013

800,000

3.00 - 4.00%

2034

General Improv ements - Refunding 2013B
General Improv ements - Refunding 2014A

2013
2014

290,629
364,808

3.00 - 4.00%
2.00 - 5.00%

2023
2024

General Improv ements - 2014B

2014

655,000

2.00 - 5.00%

2035

General Improv ements - Refunding 2015A

2015

1,839,338

4.00 - 5.00%

2025

General Improv ements - 2015B

2015

7,415,000

2.00 - 5.00%

2036

General Improv ements - 2016A

2016

3,830,000

2.00 - 3.00%

2036

General Improv ements - Adv ance Refunding 2016B

2016

4,516,000

2.00 - 5.00%

2028

General Improv ements - 2017A

2017

3,805,000

4.00%

2037

General Improv ements - 2019A

2019

7,575,000

2.00 - 5.00%

2039

General Improv ements - Adv ance Refunding 2019B

2019

26,660,000

2.55 - 3.00%

2036

General Improv ements - Refunding 2020A

2020

4,885,000

1.90%

2031

General Improv ements - 2020B

2020

17,725,000

1.00 - 5.00%

2040

General Improv ements - Adv ance Refunding 2020C

2020

22,255,000

1.00 - 1.70%

2035

Total Business-Type Activ ities

$

103,763,412

The City anticipates that all amounts required for payment of interest and principal on business-type activities debt will be provided
from the respective fund's revenues; however, the bonds are further secured by the full faith and credit and unlimited taxing power of
the City.
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F. Long-Term Debt (Continued)

Unamortized bond premiums are reported with outstanding principal for governmental and business-type activities. The long-term
outstanding debt payable consists of the following:

Long-term outstanding debt

Gov ernmental

Business-Type

Activ ities

Activ ities

$

26,599,225

Unamortized bond premiums

$

103,763,412

$

109,786,135

2,389,328

Long-term outstanding debt, net

$

6,022,723

28,988,553

The City’s future payments of long-term debt are as follows:
Gov ernmental Activ ities
Fiscal Year

Bonds

Ending
June 30,

Business-Type Activ ities

Principal

Bonds
Interest

Principal

Loans from Direct Borrowings
Interest

Principal

Interest

2022

3,722,423

893,915

7,977,581

2,942,818

326,891

12,280

2023

3,705,373

766,052

8,014,624

2,628,796

331,271

7,900

2024

3,246,802

635,453

7,863,197

2,375,538

123,741

3,442

2025

2,732,537

532,286

7,752,464

2,139,112

124,252

2,930

2026

1,791,970

434,344

7,088,030

1,914,959

52,105

2,414

2027

1,780,120

370,520

6,999,880

1,708,048

52,626

1,894

2028

1,310,000

306,821

6,720,001

1,499,162

53,152

1,368

2029

1,295,000

266,321

6,314,999

1,303,312

53,683

836

2030

1,285,000

226,104

6,330,000

1,126,572

29,916

300

2031

1,270,000

186,076

6,305,000

954,833

-

-

2032

645,000

146,330

5,880,000

779,810

-

-

2033

645,000

125,894

5,455,000

637,537

-

-

2034

645,000

105,056

5,484,999

506,704

-

-

2035

645,000

83,750

4,795,000

371,818

-

-

2036

645,000

62,375

4,435,000

245,009

-

-

2037

595,000

40,600

1,580,000

122,188

-

-

2038

320,000

20,000

1,345,000

81,738

-

-

2039

320,000

10,000

1,345,000

50,170

-

-

2040
Total

$ 26,599,225

$ 5,211,897

930,000

18,600

$ 102,615,775

$ 21,406,724

$

1,147,637

$

33,364

Note: Principal amounts do not include net unamortized bond premiums of $2,389,328 for governmental activities and $6,022,723
for business-type activities.
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F. Long-Term Debt (Continued)

The City’s future payments of long-term debt for governmental activities are as follows:
Fiscal Year

Total

Ending

Principal and
Principal

June 30,

Interest

Interest

2022

3,722,423

893,915

2023

3,705,373

766,052

4,471,425

2024

3,246,802

635,453

3,882,255

2025

2,732,537

532,286

3,264,823

2026

1,791,970

434,344

2,226,314

2027

1,780,120

370,520

2,150,640

2028

1,310,000

306,821

1,616,821

2029

1,295,000

266,321

1,561,321

2030

1,285,000

226,104

1,511,104

2031

1,270,000

186,076

1,456,076

2032

645,000

146,330

791,330

2033

645,000

125,894

770,894

2034

645,000

105,056

750,056

2035
2036
2037
2038
2039

645,000
645,000
595,000
320,000
320,000

83,750
62,375
40,600
20,000
10,000

728,750
707,375
635,600
340,000
330,000

Total

$

26,599,225

$

5,211,897

$

$

4,616,337

31,811,121

Note: Principal amounts do not include net unamortized bond premiums of $2,389,328 for governmental activities.
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The City’s future payments of long-term debt for business-type activities are as follows:
Business-Type Activ ities
Total
Fiscal Year

Water

Sanitary

Ending

Facility
Principal
Interest
2,654,539
959,916
2,658,406
850,954
2,440,640
758,595
2,429,329
675,317
2,256,233
594,193
2,238,476
520,797
2,214,188
445,898
1,786,459
371,557
1,773,673
317,958
1,739,553
263,785
1,523,515
209,594
1,377,848
171,585
1,368,291
140,375
1,140,000
108,799
1,025,000
80,436
705,000
53,938
620,000
37,388
620,000
24,145
545,000
10,900
$ 31,116,150 $ 6,596,130

Sewer

June 30,
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
2027
2028
2029
2030
2031
2032
2033
2034
2035
2036
2037
2038
2039
2040
Total

Principal
3,780,171
3,767,413
3,617,558
3,473,134
3,116,797
3,086,404
2,785,813
2,753,541
2,731,327
2,690,447
2,436,485
2,107,152
2,091,708
1,570,000
1,275,000
875,000
725,000
725,000
385,000
$ 43,992,950

Interest
1,204,851
1,046,805
934,178
832,377
740,539
657,879
574,141
504,233
434,342
363,313
291,231
237,847
191,414
143,791
103,725
68,250
44,350
26,025
7,700
$ 8,406,991

Refuse
Principal
Interest
95,000
17,494
95,000
12,744
90,000
7,994
95,000
4,394
95,000
2,254
$ 470,000 $ 44,880

Parking
Principal
Interest
1,440,000
759,022
1,490,000
715,822
1,530,000
671,122
1,575,000
625,223
1,620,000
577,972
1,675,000
529,372
1,720,000
479,123
1,775,000
427,522
1,825,000
374,273
1,875,000
327,735
1,920,000
278,985
1,970,000
228,105
2,025,000
174,915
2,085,000
119,228
2,135,000
60,848
$ 26,660,000 $ 6,349,267

Stormwater

RedGate

Principal

Management
Principal
Interest
312,735
12,060
313,235
9,497
308,740
7,091
304,253
4,731
52,105
2,415
52,626
1,894
53,152
1,368
53,682
836
29,916
299
$ 1,480,444 $ 40,191

Golf Course
Principal
Interest
22,027
1,755
21,841
874
$ 43,868 $
2,629

Interest
11,259,570
10,982,591
10,365,918
10,018,758
9,057,508
8,762,448
8,273,683
7,672,830
7,486,788
7,259,833
6,659,810
6,092,537
5,991,703
5,166,818
4,680,009
1,702,188
1,426,738
1,395,170
948,600
$ 125,203,500

Note: Principal amounts do not include net unamortized bond premiums of $6,022,723 for business-type activities.

and
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9.a

(2) DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (CONTINUED)

F. Long-Term Debt (Continued)
Loans Payable

Three loans totaling $8,122,000 were awarded from the State of Maryland to the City between August 1998 and December 2001 to
support the rehabilitation of the City’s Water Treatment Plant. These loans have interest rates ranging from 1.90% to 3.64%. At June
30, 2021 there is one loan outstanding with a balance of $412,194 in the Water Fund.
A non-interest bearing loan for $1,381,600 was awarded to the City from the State of Maryland in September 2005 for the restoration
of Wootton Mill Park Stream. At June 30, 2021 the outstanding loan payable in the Stormwater Management Fund is $290,653.
A loan was awarded to the City for $998,100 from American Recovery and Reinvestment Act (ARRA) Funds through Maryland
Department of the Environment (MDE) in December 2009. This is a revolving loan with a 1.00% interest rate that was awarded to
the City for improvements to Woodley Gardens Park; of which $444,790 remained outstanding in the Stormwater Management Fund
as of June 30, 2021.
Defeasance of Debt

Due to favorable interest rates during fiscal year 2021, the City issued $21,552,588.40 including premium, of Series 2020B general
obligation bonds for the purpose of financing certain capital projects of the City’s Capital Improvement Program. The City also issued
$23,903,331.60 including premium, of Series 2020C advance refunding general obligation bonds, which refunded $5,385,000 in
Series 2011B, $9,555,000 in Series 2013A and $7,485,000 in Series 2014B. The proceeds were used to purchase U.S. government
securities which were deposited in an irrevocable trust with an escrow agent for redemption on future call dates. As a result, the Series
2011B bonds are considered to be defeased, and the liability for those bonds has been removed from the Statement of Net Position.
A portion of the Series 2013A and the Series 2014B bonds are considered to be defeased, and the liability for those bonds have been
removed from the Statement of Net Position.
The new total debt service of $25,737,860.02 represents a total savings of $2,313,893.86 as compared to the prior debt service of
$28,051,753.88. The economic gain (the difference between the present value of the old and new debt service payments) totals
$2,131,951.63. The associated deferred charge on advance refunding is recognized over 12 years in the Water and Sewer Funds and
five years in Debt Service and Stormwater Funds, the term of the new general obligation bonds. The City recognized $114,972 in
deferred charges from the 2020C advance refunding. At June 30, 2021 the remaining deferred charge on advance refunding is
$1,106,396 and $1,770,000 of defeased bonds remain outstanding.
Conduit Debt Obligations

From time to time, the City may issue Economic Revenue Development Bonds to provide financial assistance to non-profit 501(c)3
entities for the acquisition and construction of facilities deemed to be in the public interest. The bonds are secured by the property
being financed and are payable solely from payments received on the underlying mortgage loans. Neither the City, the County, the
State, nor any political subdivision thereof is obligated in any manner for repayment of the bonds. Accordingly, the bonds are not
reported as liabilities in the accompanying financial statements.
As of June 30, 2021, there are Economic Development Revenue Bonds outstanding with National Lutheran Home & Village at
Rockville, Inc. with a principal amount payable of $19,335,000 and with King Farm Presbyterian Retirement Community, Inc. with
a principal amount payable of $155,260,000.
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F. Long-Term Debt (Continued)
Changes in Long-Term Liabilities

The following is a summary of changes in the City’s governmental activities long-term liabilities and business-type activities long
term liabilities for the year ended June 30, 2021:
Balance as of
6/30/20

Additions

Balance as of

Due within

6/30/21

One Year

Reductions

Governmental Activities
General obligation bonds

$

Unamortized bond premiums
Accrued obligations for
compensated absences

30,805,272

$ 1,020,000

2,834,763

3,272

$

(5,226,047)
(448,707)

$

26,599,225
2,389,328

$

3,722,421
330,301

5,886,603

2,318,081

(2,328,379)

5,876,305

4,289,703
885,006

2,281,879

717,800

(670,716)

2,328,963

Net pension liability

26,361,154

14,917,428

(32,691,815)

8,586,767

-

Net OPEB liability/(Asset)

(1,092,485)

936,276

(2,844,319)

(3,000,528)

-

$ 19,912,857

$ (44,209,983)

Additions

Reductions

Claims payable

Gov ernmental activ ities
long-term liabilities

$

67,077,186

Balance as of
Business-Type Activities

6/30/20

$

42,780,060

$

9,227,431

Balance as of

Due within

6/30/21

One Year

General obligation bonds and loans
W ater facility fund

$

Sanitary sewer fund
Refuse fund
Parking fund
Stormwater
management fund
RedGate golf course fund
Unamortized bond premiums
Accrued obligations for
compensated absences

22,513,601

$ 17,557,214

39,537,774

23,162,786

$

(18,707,610)

(8,954,665)

$

31,116,150
43,992,950

$

2,654,539

560,000

-

(90,000)

470,000

95,000

28,050,000

-

(1,390,000)

26,660,000

1,440,000

1,757,682

580,000

(857,238)

1,480,444

312,735

3,780,171

65,895

-

(22,027)

43,868

22,027

4,605,909

2,865,741

(1,448,927)

6,022,723

582,809

1,088,107

567,573

(566,305)

1,089,375

795,243

98,178,968

$ 44,733,314

$ (32,036,772)

Business-type activ ities
long-term liabilities

$

$

110,875,510

$

9,682,524

Not e: T he compensat ed absences, claims payable and liabilities for Pension and OPEB in t he government al act ivit ies have hist orically
been paid from t he General Fund and Aut omat ed Speed Enforcement Fund.

G. Operating Leases

The City leased the Arts and Innovations Center to VisArts under a 20-year lease which began on August 1, 2007 and expires on June
30, 2027. The lease agreement contains options for four additional 5-year periods. The rental income for the months beginning August
1, 2007 through July 1, 2008 were abated and the base rent for that year was allocated over lease years 2009 - 2011. The City began
receiving monthly income for this lease on August 1, 2008. The following schedule provides future lease payments expected under
the operating lease:
Fiscal Year

2022
2023
2024
2025
2026 - 2027
Tot al

Rent Amount
37,815
38,949
40,118
41,321
86,399
$ 244,602

The City received a total rental income of $9,178.35 during fiscal year 2021. The Mayor and Council approved the six-month rent
abatement for the months of January through June 2021, in a total amount of $18,356.70.
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(2) DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (CONTINUED)
H. Capital Leases

Beginning September 1, 2011, the City became the lessor of its Town Center Parking Garages under a fifty-year capital lease which
expires on August 31, 2061. The initial annual fixed minimum rent was $300,000, with annual adjustments based on increases to the
Consumer Price Index. The agreement specifies that the annual fixed minimum rent payable to the City may not be less than the
previous year and contains provisions for revenue sharing. Upon initial measurement, the net carrying value of the parking garages
was less than the estimated future minimum lease payments, resulting in unearned income that will be recognized over the term of
the capital lease. During the current year, the City received $342,929 in proceeds from the capital lease. At June 30, 2021, the unearned
income on the capital lease was $1,430,416 and the lease receivable was $24,054,301. Estimated future minimum lease payments and
unearned income amortization is as follows:
Fiscal Year
2022
2022
2023
2024
2026 - 2061
Total

Lease Amount
347,096
350,196
353,698
357,235
22,646,076
$24,054,301

Unearned Income
35,538
35,538
35,538
35,538
1,288,264
$
1,430,416

Net Amount
311,558
314,658
318,160
321,697
21,357,812
$ 22,623,885

I. Fund Balance and Net Position

The City has classified portions of its governmental fund balance as nonspendable, which reflects the nonspendable form of the assets.
At June 30, 2021 total nonspendable fund balance is $850,844.
At June 30, 2021 the City had a net position deficit in the Parking Fund of $2,709,684. This will continue until the long-term debt
from the construction of the parking garages is repaid.
(3) OTHER INFORMATION
A. Risk Management

The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets; errors and omissions; injuries
to employees; natural disasters; and employee health benefits. The City carries insurance for worker’s compensation, comprehensive
general, automobile and professional liability, fire and theft, and the liability for errors, omissions and other selected areas that require
coverage.
Beginning July 1, 2011, the City became partially self-insured with respect to worker’s compensation. City management believes it
is more economical to manage its risks internally and set aside assets for claim settlements. The City has a Self-Insured Retention
(SIR) of $500,000 per claim with an aggregate retention of $2,200,000 for the policy year. The worker’s compensation claims payable
of $2,328,963 reported at June 30, 2021 includes all claims for which information prior to the issuance of the financial statements
indicates that it was probable that a liability had been incurred and that the loss could be reasonably estimated. Changes in the claims
liability amounts for the current and previous year are as follows:
Current Year
Balance at

Beginning of the

Claims and

Fiscal Year

Changes in

Claim

Liability

Estimates

Payments

Fiscal Year

Fiscal Year
End

2020

$

2,648,809

$

517,715

$

(884,645)

$

2,281,879

2021

$

2,281,879

$

717,800

$

(670,716)

$

2,328,963

The City continues to carry commercial insurance for employee health insurance. Settled claims resulting from these risks have not
exceeded commercial insurance coverage in any of the past three fiscal years. During fiscal year 2021, the Mayor and Council
approved a new vendor for workers’ compensation insurance. Upon leaving the current program with AIG, the City is responsible for
making up the difference between the total estimated outstanding liabilities and the current collateral amount. The City has recognized
the liability in fiscal year 2021.
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(3) OTHER INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
B. Tax Abatements

The City enters into property tax abatement arrangements in the form of agreements with specific entities and special tax credit
programs when authorized by the Mayor and Council. For fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, while maintaining the same tax rate, the
City abated property taxes totaling $77,380, including the following tax abatement agreements that each exceeded 10 percent of the
total amount abated:
- Fireside Park Apartments makes payments in lieu of taxes (PILOT) under a waiver agreement in support of affordable housing
within the City. The abatement amounted to $50,500.
- In support of affordable housing within the City, an agreement with Rockville Housing Enterprise’s subsidiary RELP, exempts
certain properties from property tax. The abatement amounted to $21,500.
C. Commitments and Contingent Liabilities
Washington Suburban Sanitary Commission (WSSC)

The City has an agreement with WSSC that includes shared responsibility for upgrades and enhancements to the Blue Plains Waste
Water Treatment Plant. Through June 30, 2021, the City had paid $83,198,447 as its share of the construction costs of the treatment
facility and the related sewer transmission lines, which were recorded in capital assets. The City’s remaining contribution through
the completion of the project is estimated to be $16,447,521 for treatment capacity. The City intends to issue bonds to fund most of
these costs.
The City has no direct ongoing equity interest in WSSC’s assets and liabilities. Furthermore, the City has no significant influence
over the management of the treatment facilities. Accordingly, the City does not record this contractual arrangement as a joint venture.
In addition to the capacity cost described above, WSSC charges the City a portion of its operating costs for treatment of sewage. The
City accrues an amount for these charges each year based on its best estimate of usage. Adjustments to the accrued charges, which
result from subsequent billings by WSSC, are recorded in the period during which the City receives the final bill.
Litigation

The City is contingently liable with respect to lawsuits and other claims which arise in the ordinary course of its operations. The total
number of pending lawsuits and claims not covered by insurance nor expressly provided in these statements will not have an adverse
impact on the City's financial condition.
Encumbrances

As discussed in Note (1)D, Budgetary Basis of Accounting, encumbrance accounting is utilized to assure effective budgetary control
and accountability and to facilitate effective cash planning and control. At year end, the encumbrances expected to be honored upon
performance by the vendor in the next year were as follows:
Encumbrances
General Fund
Total

$

992,028

$

992,028

The City had commitments for other governmental funds of $308,489 at year end.
ARPA

During fiscal year 2021 the City received $4.8 million (half of a total of $9.6 million) allocation from the American Rescue Plan Act
(ARPA). Mayor and Council discussed and directed staff to hold a public hearing to solicit community feedback on the use of the
funding during the October 4, 2021 meeting. The ARPA funds are unearned until spent.
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(4) RETIREMENT PLANS
A. Retirement Plan Descriptions

Covered police and non-police employees hired before 1986 participate in a single-employer defined benefit pension plan. Nonpolice employees hired on or after 1986 participate in a hybrid pension plan that includes a single-employer defined benefit plan and
a defined contribution plan. All benefitted employees of the City have the option to participate in a deferred compensation plan. The
Retirement Board is composed of a member of the Mayor and Council, the City Manager, three City employees, below assistant
department head level, and two residents with previous business experience, one of whom serves as the chairperson. Each board
member serves a two-year term. The Finance Director is the executive secretary to the board. The Retirement Board makes
recommendations to Mayor and Council, which has the authority to establish and amend the benefit provisions of the pension plans
including contribution requirements of the employees and employer.
The City has implemented GASB Statement No. 67, Financial Reporting for Pension Plans and GASB Statement No. 68,
Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions. These statements replace previously issued requirements for pension plans
administered through trusts.
Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting

The financial statements of the City’s pension plans are prepared using the accrual basis of accounting. Member contributions are
recognized in the period in which contributions are due. City contributions to each plan are recognized when due and the City has
made a formal commitment to provide the contributions. City contributions to the defined benefit pension plan are actuarially
determined. Benefits and refunds are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the terms of each plan. Future payments
of the net pension liability are the primary responsibility of the General Fund, therefore this long-term liability is presented in the
Government-wide Statement of Net Position.
Administration

The Principal Financial Group and Lincoln Financial are record-keepers of the single-employer defined benefit pension plan and the
hybrid pension plan, which were established and are administered by the City. For financial reporting purposes, the Rockville
Employee Retirement System (ROCKERS) includes the Pension and OPEB Trust Funds, a Fiduciary Fund in the City’s financial
statements. No other financial statements are issued related to the ROCKERS.
The ROCKERS includes the pre-1986 single-employer defined benefit pension plan and the hybrid pension plan which includes a
defined benefit plan and a defined contribution plan. The activities of the pre-1986 defined benefit plan are combined with the
activities of the defined benefit component of the hybrid plan for reporting purposes. The defined contribution plan and defined benefit
plan are reported as separate Pension Trust Funds.
Method Used to Value Investments

Plan investments are reported at fair value or estimated fair value. Securities traded on a national or international exchange are valued
at the last reported sales price at the current exchange rates. Real estate assets are reported at fair value utilizing an income approach
to valuation.
B. Defined Benefit Pension Plan
Pre-1986 Plan Benefits and Contributions

This benefit is available to police employees, who participate 100 percent in the defined benefit option regardless of the date of
employment, administrative employees hired prior to April 15, 1986 and union employees hired prior to December 2, 1986. An
employee who retires at age 60 or a police employee with the completion of 25 years of credited service regardless of age is entitled
to an annual retirement benefit, payable monthly for life (120 payments are guaranteed). For union employees, the annual benefit
amount is equal to 1.8 percent of their final average salary, for each year of credited service, for administrative personnel in an amount
equal to 1.8 percent of their final average salary for credited service before April 1, 1996, and 2.0 percent of their final average salary
for credited service after April 1, 1996.
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(4) RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED)

B. Defined Benefit Pension Plan (Continued)

For police personnel, the annual benefit amount is equal to the lesser of (a) (1) 2.0 percent of their final average earnings multiplied
by their years of credited service prior to April 1, 2004, plus (2) 2.25 percent of their final average earnings multiplied by their years
of credited service on or after April 1, 2004, or (b) 67.5 percent of their final average earnings. Final average salary for administrative
personnel and union employees is computed as the average earnings over three consecutive years within the last 10 years of service
which produces the highest average and for police employees the average annual earnings is computed as the average annual earnings
during the final 60 months of employment with the City.
Covered police and pre-1986 non-police employees are required by statute to contribute a certain percent (4.2 percent for union, 5.2
percent for administrative and 8.5 percent for police) of their salaries to the plan. If an employee leaves covered employment or dies
before 10 years of credited service (based upon a graduated vesting schedule of 50 percent after five years, up to 100 percent after 10
years of credited service), accumulated employee contributions plus credited interest thereon at the rate of 6 percent and a portion of
the City's contribution (City contributions are deemed to be 150 percent of the employees contributions plus credited interest) are paid
to the employee or designated beneficiary.
Post-1986 Hybrid Plan Benefits and Contributions

This benefit is available to full-time, permanent, non-police employees hired on or after April 15, 1986 and union employees hired
after December 2, 1986. An employee becomes an eligible retiree after (a) having attained age 60 while employed with the City and
completed at least 10 years of service prior to retirement, (b) taking early retirement occasioned by poor health, having attained age
50 while employed with the City and having completed 10 years of service if hired before July 1 , 2011, or having attained age 58
while employed with the City and having completed 10 years of service if hired on or after July 1, 2011, or (c) taking early retirement
from the City when their age plus service equals or exceeds 85. These employees are also covered by the defined contribution plan
described below. Employees are required to participate from the date of employment. Union employees are covered for an annual
benefit equal to 1.0 percent of average salary and administrative personnel are covered for an annual benefit equal to 1.0 percent
before April 1, 1996, and 1.2 percent on or after April 1, 1996, of average salary (as previously defined) for each year of credited
service.
Administrative personnel are required by statute to contribute 1.0 percent of their salaries to the plan starting April 1, 1996 and union
personnel have no contribution requirement. Employees are fully vested after 10 years of service, regardless of the plan entry age.
Membership

Membership in the defined benefit plan consisted of the following at July 1, 2020, the date of the most recent actuarial valuation:
Retirees and beneficiaries receiv ing benefits
Terminated plan members v ested but not yet receiv ing benefits
Activ e plan members
Total

291
56
507
854
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(4) RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED)

C. Net Pension Liability

The City’s net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2021, and the total pension liability used to calculate the net pension
liability was based on an actuarial valuation date of July 1, 2020. Actuaries utilized update procedures to roll forward the total pension
liability in the July 1, 2020 actuarial valuation to the June 30, 2021 measurement date.
Actuarial Assumptions

The total pension liability was determined using the following actuarial assumptions which were adopted by the City during fiscal
year 2017 and applied to all periods included in the measurement:
Actuarial assumptions
-Actuarial valuation date
-Investment rate of return, including inflation
-Projected salary increases, including inflation
-Includes inflation at
-Cost of living adjustment

July 1, 2020
7.00%
4.75% - 12.50%
2.50%
1.00%

The mortality rates were based on the RP-2014 mortality tables, projected generationally using scale MP-2017.
The actuarial assumptions used in the most recent actuarial valuation were based on the results of an actuarial experience study for
the period April 1, 2011 through July 1, 2015.
The long term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined by evaluating the historical investment, the
selection of a portfolio of multiple asset classes, the use of professional investment managers, and the regular monitoring of investment
performance. Expected future real rates of return are developed for each major asset class and combined to produce the single long
term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and adding
expected inflation. The target allocation and best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class are summarized
in the following table:
Long Term
Asset Class
Domestic Equity
International Equity
Fixed Income
Real Estate
Global Real Assets
Global Tactical Asset Allocation (GTAA)
Total

Target

Expected Real

Allocation
30.0%
20.0%
20.0%
12.5%
7.5%
10.0%

Rate of Return
6.60%
7.00%
0.38%
3.50%
3.55%
3.40%

100.0%

Based on these factors, the long-term real rate of return is expected to be in the range of 4.00% and 5.50%. A rate of 4.50% was used
for the actuarial assumption. When combined with the inflation rate of 2.50%, the investment rate of return is determined to be 7.00%.
For the year ended June 30, 2021, the annual money-weighted rate of return on investments, net of investment expense was 4.50%.
Discount Rate

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.00%. The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount
rate assumed that plan member contributions will be made at the current contribution rate and that City contributions will be made
equal to the actuarially determined contribution. Based on these assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position was projected
to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return
on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine total pension liability.
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C. Net Pension Liability (Continued)
Changes in the Net Pension Liability

Changes in the City’s net pension liability for the year ended June 30, 2021 were as follows:
(A)

(B)

(A - B)

Total Pension

Plan Fiduciary

Net Pension

Liability

Net Position

Liability

$ 129,992,309

$ 103,631,155

$ 26,361,154

Serv ice Cost

2,883,883

-

2,883,883

Interest

8,882,122

-

8,882,122

1,308,132

-

1,308,132

-

-

-

Balances at June 30, 2020
Changes for the year:

Differences between expected and
actual experience
Changes of benefit terms
Changes of assumptions

1,768,127

-

Contributions - employer

-

3,961,789

Contributions - employee

-

849,728

(849,728)

Net inv estment income

-

27,880,298

(27,880,298)

Benefit payments, including refunds

(6,209,717)

of employee contributions
Administrativ e expense

(6,209,717)

-

Net changes
Balances at June 30, 2021

1,768,127
(3,961,789)

-

(75,164)

8,632,547

26,406,934

$ 138,624,856

$ 130,038,089

75,164
(17,774,387)
$ 8,586,767

Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate

The following presents the net pension liability of the City calculated using a discount rate of 7.00%, as well as what the City’s net
pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage point lower (6.00%) or 1-percentage point
higher (8.00%) than the current rate:
1% Decrease

Current Rate

1% Increase

(6.00%)

(7.00%)

(8.00%)

$ 25,777,388

$

8,586,767

$ (5,776,905)

Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources

For the year ended June 30, 2021, the City recognized pension expense of $2,085,542. At June 30, 2021, the City reported deferred
outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions from the following sources:

Differences between expected and
actual experience

Deferred

Deferred

Outflows of

Inflows of

Resources

Resources

$

Changes of assumptions
Net difference between projected
and actual earnings on inv estments
Total

$

3,644,849

$

2,977,597

4,098,833

24,153

-

11,867,240

7,743,682

$ 14,868,990
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(4) RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED)
C. Net Pension Liability (Continued)

Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension
expense as follows:
Year Ended June 30:
2022

$ (1,065,556)

2023

(1,386,506)

2024

(1,851,493)

2025

(3,334,462)

2026
Total

512,709
$ (7,125,308)

D. Defined Contribution Pension Plans

Full-time, permanent non-police employees hired on or after April 15, 1986, are required to participate in this plan from the date of
employment. The plan is administered by Lincoln Financial and allows participant contributions up to a maximum of 5 percent of
earnings. The employee contributions are matched $0.50 by the City for each $1 contributed by the employee. The employee is fully
vested in their employee contributions and investment earnings thereon. The City's contribution for each employee (City's
contributions and investment earnings thereon) is fully vested after three years of credited service. The contributions made in fiscal
year 2021 by plan members totaled $1,521,082 and the City contributed $760,541.
The City provides a supplemental defined contribution plan to charter-appointed employees and non-appointed at-will contract
employees of the City. The plan is administered by Lincoln Financial. The City provides an employer contribution equal to 10% of
base salary, which is vested immediately, as biweekly contributions are made. The contributions made in fiscal year 2021 by the City
totaled $218,913.
E. Deferred Compensation Plan

All employees of the City Government may participate in the deferred compensation plan, organized under the Internal Revenue Code
Section 457, and administered by Lincoln Financial. Under the terms of the plan, participating employees may have a portion of their
salaries withheld, subject to limitations imposed by the Internal Revenue Service, and invested in the plan. All taxes are deferred on
these contributions and related earnings until the participant terminates from the plan. The City is compliant with the Internal Revenue
Code Section 457(b) requiring all assets and income of the plan to be held in trust for the exclusive benefit of participants and their
beneficiaries. Management’s involvement with the plan is limited to transferring amounts withheld from payroll to the Plan record
keeper, in a timely manner. Accordingly, the fair values of the plan assets are not reflected in the City’s financial statements.
(5) OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS
A. Other Post-Employment Benefits Plan Description
Plan Administration

In addition to the pension benefits described in Note (4), the City provides other post-employment health benefits (OPEB) which
include medical, dental and vision coverage. The City established an irrevocable trust for administering the plan assets and paying
health care costs on behalf of the participants. For financial reporting purposes, the OPEB Trust Fund is included as part of the Pension
and OPEB Trust Funds, a Fiduciary Fund in the City’s financial statements. No other financial statements are issued related to the
OPEB Trust Fund.
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(5) OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (CONTINUED)
A. Other Post-Employment Benefits Plan Description (Continued)

The OPEB plan is a single-employer defined benefit plan that is used to provide post-employment benefits other than pensions for all
permanent employees of the City. The Retirement Board has oversight of the ROCKERS, which includes the OPEB plan. The
Retirement Board is composed of a member of the Mayor and Council, the City Manager, three City employees, below assistant
department head level, and two residents with previous business experience, one of whom serves as the chairperson. Each board
member serves a two-year term. The Finance Director is the executive secretary to the board. The Retirement Board makes
recommendations to Mayor and Council, which has the authority to establish and amend the benefit provisions of the OPEB plan,
including contributions.
The City has implemented GASB Statement No. 74, Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefit Plans Other Than
Pensions and GASB Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than
Pensions. These statements replace previously issued requirements for OPEB plans administered through trusts.
Benefits Provided

The OPEB plan authorizes a retiree who elects to stay with the City's group health policy to receive from the City the employer's
share (i.e., the same level of premium support given to current employees) of medical insurance premiums up until age 65. In the
event a retiree establishes residency outside the geographic area served by the City's group health insurance carriers, that person may
purchase coverage and receive reimbursement from the City in an amount not to exceed the prevailing two-person coverage employer
rate granted to current employees.
Membership

At July 1, 2019, the date of the most recent valuation, plan membership was as follows:
Plan
Pre-medicare retirees
Disabled participants

Membership
23
3

Activ e employees

344

Total

370

Contributions and Funding

The Retirement Board establishes the employer contributions to the OPEB plan based on actuarially determined amounts. During
fiscal year 2021 the City directly funded cash of $163,815 for the actuarially determined contribution (ADC) of $163,815. Benefit
expenditures of $244,300 were incurred by the City and were eligible for reimbursement by the trust. Benefit expenses of $244,300
and administrative expenses of $6,250 which were paid by the City, were reimbursed by the trust after June 30, 2021. Future payments
of the net OPEB liability are the primary responsibility of the General Fund, therefore this long-term liability is presented in the
Government-wide Statement of Net Position.
Actuarial valuations for OPEB plans involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumptions about the probability of
events far into the future and actuarially determined amounts are subject to continual revision as results are compared to past
expectations and new estimates are made about the future.
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(5) OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

B.

Net OPEB Asset

The City’s net OPEB asset was measured as of June 30, 2021, and the total OPEB liability was determined by an actuarial valuation
as of July 1, 2019. Actuaries utilized update procedures to roll forward the total OPEB liability in the July 1, 2019 actuarial valuation
to the June 30, 2021 measurement date.
Actuarial Assumptions

The total OPEB liability was determined using the following actuarial assumptions which were adopted by the City during fiscal year
2019 and applied to all periods included in the measurement:
Actuarial assumptions
-Actuarial valuation date
-Investment rate of return, including inflation
-Projected salary increases, including inflation
-Includes inflation at
-Healthcare cost trends:

July 1, 2019
7.00%
2.50%
2.20%
5.40% for 2019, increasing to 6.39% for
2023 then decreasing to an ultimate
rate of 3.84% by 2090

Mortality rates were based on the RP-2014 Total Dataset Mortality Table projected generationally using Scale MP-2017.
The actuarial assumptions used in the July 1, 2019 valuation were based on the results of an actuarial experience study for the period
April 1, 2011 through July 1, 2015. As noted above, the actuarial roll forward procedures to determine the OPEB liability at June 30,
2020 used the most recently adopted assumptions.
The long-term expected rate of return on OPEB plan investments was determined by evaluating the historical investment performance,
the selection of a portfolio of multiple asset classes, the use of professional investment managers, and the regular monitoring of
investment performance. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected
future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. The target allocation and best
estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class are summarized in the following table:
Long Term
Expected Real Rate
Asset Class

Target Allocation

of Return

Global Equity

55.00%

6.52%

Fixed Income

45.00%

0.38%

Total

100.00%

Discount Rate

The discount rate used to measure the total OPEB liability was 7.00%. The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount
rate assumed that City contributions will be made at rates equal to the actuarially determined contribution. Based on these assumptions,
the OPEB plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future OPEB payments for current active
and inactive employees. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of
projected benefit payments to determine total OPEB liability.
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(5) OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

B. Net OPEB Asset (Continued)
Changes in the Net OPEB Liability/(Asset)

Changes in the City’s net OPEB liability (asset) for the year ended June 30, 2021 were as follows:

Balances at June 30, 2020

(A)

(B)

(A - B)

Total OPEB

Plan Fiduciary

Net OPEB

Liability

Net Position

Liability (Asset)

$

9,038,019

$

10,130,504

$

(1,092,485)

Changes for the year:
Serv ice Cost

316,324

-

316,324

Interest

613,702

-

613,702

(297,396)

-

(297,396)

Differences between expected and
actual experience
Changes of assumptions

-

-

Contributions - employer

-

163,815

(163,815)

-

2,383,108

(2,383,108)

Net inv estment income

(244,300)

Benefit payments
Administrativ e expense

(244,300)

-

(6,250)

6,250

-

Net changes

388,330

Balances at June 30, 2021

$

9,426,349

-

2,296,373
$

12,426,877

(1,908,043)
$

(3,000,528)

Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Asset

The following presents the net OPEB asset of the City, as well as what the City’s net OPEB asset would be if it were calculated using
a discount rate that is 1-percentage point lower (6.00%) or 1-percentage-point higher (8.00%) than the current discount rate:
1% Decrease

Current Rate

(6.00%)
Net OPEB Asset

$

2,261,013

1% Increase

(7.00%)
$

3,000,528

(8.00%)
$

3,677,055

The following presents the net OPEB asset of the City, as well as what the City’s net OPEB asset would be if it were calculated using
healthcare cost trend rates that are 1-percentage-point lower (approximately 2.80%) or 1-percentage-point higher (approximately
4.80%) than the current healthcare cost trend rates:
Healthcare Cost

Net OPEB Asset

$

1% Decrease

Trend Rates

(2.80%)

(3.80%)

4,007,803

$

3,008,528

1% Increase
(4.80%)
$

1,822,278
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(5) OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (CONTINUED)
B. Net OPEB Asset (Continued)
OPEB Expense and Deferred Inflows of Resources

For the year ended June 30, 2021, the City recognized OPEB revenue of $903,033. At June 30, 2021 the City reported deferred
inflows of resources from the following sources:

Differences between expected and

Deferred

Deferred

Outflows of

Inflows of

Resources

Resources

$

actual experience
Changes of assumptions

-

$

2,545,877

-

1,208,336

Net difference between projected
-

and actual earnings on inv estments
Total

$

1,551,736

-

$

5,305,949

Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and inflows of resources related to OPEB will be recognized in OPEB expense
as follows:
Year Ended June 30:
2022

$

(1,099,017)

2023

(1,093,890)

2024

(1,120,668)

2025

(1,034,485)

2026

(481,575)

Thereafter
Total

(476,314)
$

(5,305,949)

(6) CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF PENSION AND OPEB TRUST FUNDS

The Pension and OPEB Trust Funds are presented in the statement of Fiduciary Net Position and in the Statement of Changes in
Fiduciary Net Position. The combining statements of the Pension and OPEB Trust Funds are provided below for the year ended June
30, 2021:
Combining Statement of Net Position
Pension and OPEB Trust Funds
Pension Trust Fund

OPEB Trust Fund
Total

Defined

Assets
Open End Mutual Funds:
Bonds
Equities
Real estate
Global real assets
Global tactical asset allocation
Money markets
Target Date Fund
S table Value Fund
Total Assets

Pension and

Defined

Contribution

Total Pension

Benefit Trust

Trust

Trust Fund

$

21,563,074
68,103,915
23,634,651
14,662,678
2,073,771
$ 130,038,089

$

$

$

3,348,719
21,456,560
267,408
15,443
21,859,853
6,812,445
53,760,428

OPEB Trust
OPEB Trust Fund

$ 24,911,793
89,560,475
23,902,059
15,443
14,662,678
2,073,771
21,859,853
6,812,445
$ 183,798,517

$

4,618,417
7,911,365
12,529,782

$

$

-

$
$

100,405
2,500
102,905

Funds

$ 29,530,210
97,471,840
23,902,059
15,443
14,662,678
2,073,771
21,859,853
6,812,445
$ 196,328,299

Liabilities
Benefits Payable
Administrativ e expense payable
Total Liabilities

$

$

-

$

-

Net Position
Restricted for plan benefits

$ 130,038,089

$

53,760,428

$ 183,798,517

$

12,426,877

$ 196,225,394

Total Liabilities and Net Position

$ 130,038,089

$

53,760,428

$ 183,798,517

$

12,529,782

$ 196,328,299

$

$
$

100,405
2,500
102,905
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(6) CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF PENSION AND OPEB TRUST FUNDS (CONTINUED)

City of Rockville, Maryland
Combining Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position
Pension and OPEB Trust Funds
Pension Trust Fund

OPEB Trust Fund
Total
Pension and

Defined

Additions
Contributions
Employer
Plan Members
Total Contributions
Inv estment earnings:
Net appreciation in the fair

Defined

Contribution

Total Pension

Benefit Trust

Trust

Trust Funds

$
$

$
$

981,260
1,521,082
2,502,342

28,322,490

10,288,006

$

41,739
28,364,229
(483,931)
27,880,298
32,691,815

$

1,317,737
11,605,743
(77,213)
11,528,530
14,030,872

$

2,041,125

$

2,041,125

$

11,989,747
41,770,681
53,760,428

v alue of plan inv estments
Interest and div idends
Total inv estment earnings
Less inv estment (expense) refunds
Net inv estment earnings
Total Additions

3,961,789
849,728
4,811,517

$
$

4,943,049
2,370,810
7,313,859

OPEB Trust
Funds

OPEB Trust Fund

$
$

38,610,496

163,815
163,815

$
$

2,170,165

5,106,864
2,370,810
7,477,674
40,780,661

1,359,476
39,969,972
(561,144)
39,408,828
$ 46,722,687

$

212,943
2,383,108
2,383,108
2,546,923

1,572,419
42,353,080
(561,144)
41,791,936
$ 49,269,610

$

8,250,842

$

244,300

$

8,495,142

$

75,164
8,326,006

$

6,250
250,550

$

81,414
8,576,556

$

2,296,373
10,130,504
12,426,877

Deductions
Benefits

$

6,209,717

Administrativ e expense
Total Deductions

$

75,164
6,284,881

Net Increase (Decrease)
Net position at beginning of year
Net position at end of year

26,406,934
103,631,155
$ 130,038,089

38,396,681
145,401,836
$ 183,798,517

40,693,054
155,532,340
$196,225,394

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.

(7) NEW GOVERNMENTAL ACCOUNTING STANDARDS BOARD STANDARDS

The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) has issued several pronouncements that have effective dates that will impact
future fiscal years. Management has not currently determined what, if any, impact implementation of the following statements may
have on the financial statements of the City:


GASB Statement No. 87, Leases is effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2019. This Statement
increases the usefulness of governments’ financial statements by requiring recognition of certain lease assets and liabilities
for leases that previously were classified as operating leases and recognized as inflows of resources or outflows of resources
based on the payment provisions of the contract. GASB Statement No. 95 extended this effective date by 18 months.



GASB Statement No. 90, Majority Equity Interests – an amendment of GASB Statements No. 14 and No. 61 is
effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2018. The requirements of this Statement improves financial
reporting by providing users of financial statements with essential information related to presentation of majority equity
interests in legally separate organizations that previously were reported inconsistently. GASB Statement No. 95 extended
this effective date by 12 months.



GASB Statement No. 91, Conduit Debt Obligations is effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15,
2020. The requirements of this Statement improves financial reporting by establishing consistency in the reporting and
disclosure of conduit debt obligations, clarifying the definition of conduit debt, and establishing standards for the accounting
and financial reporting of additional commitments extended by issuers. GASB Statement No. 95 extended this effective date
by 12 months.
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(7) NEW GOVERNMENTAL ACCOUNTING STANDARDS BOARD STANDARDS (CONTINUED)


GASB Statement No. 92, Omnibus 2020 is effective for reporting periods beginning after June 15, 2020. The
requirements of this Statement will enhance comparability in the application of accounting and financial reporting
requirements and will improve the consistency of authoritative literature. GASB Statement No. 95 extended this effective
date by 12 months.



GASB Statement No. 93, Replacement of Interbank Offered Rates is effective for reporting periods beginning
after June 15, 2020. The requirements of this Statement updates financial reporting to reflect global rate reform and the
planned end of LIBOR in 2021. This statement will maintain the reliability and relevance of reported information as
interbank offered rates are replaced with other reference rates. GASB Statement No. 95 extended this effective date by 12
months.



GASB Statement No. 94, Public-Private and Public-Public Partnerships and Availability Payment
Arrangements is effective for reporting periods beginning after June 15, 2022. The requirements of this Statement will
improve financial reporting, provide more relevant and reliable information for financial statement users and create greater
consistency in practice.



GASB Statement No. 96, Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangements is effective for reporting
periods beginning after June 15, 2022. The requirements of this Statement will improve financial reporting by establishing
a definition for subscription-based information technology arrangements and providing uniform guidance for accounting
and financial reporting for transactions that meet that definition. That definition and uniform guidance will result in greater
consistency in practice.



GASB Statement No. 97, Certain Component Unit Criteria, and Accounting and Financial Reporting for
Internal Revenue Code Section 457 Deferred Compensation Plans—an amendment of GASB
Statements No. 14 and No. 84, and a supersession of GASB Statement No. 32 is effective for reporting periods
beginning after June 15, 2021. The requirements of this Statement will result in more consistent financial reporting of defined
contribution pension plans, defined contribution OPEB plans, and other employee benefit plans, while enhancing the
relevance, consistency, and comparability of (1) the information related to Section 457 plans that meet the definition of a
pension plan and the benefits provided through those plans and (2) investment information for all Section 457 plans.
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City of Rockville, Maryland
Rockville Employee Retirement System – Schedule of Changes in the City’s Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios
Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Unaudited – See Accompanying Independent Auditor’s Report)
2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

2020

2021

Total Pension Liability
Serv ice cost

$ 2,286,185

Interest
Changes of benefit terms
Differences between expected and

Information for plan years

actual experience
Changes of assumptions
Benefit payments including refunds

av ailable

2013 and prior is not

$

$

2,092,506

$

1,980,718

$

2,638,792

$

2,718,028

$

2,883,883

7,847,249

7,996,269

7,944,162

8,391,525

8,882,122

-

-

-

-

-

-

446,900

-

2,296,074

1,730,195

1,308,132

(1,135,056)

$ 3,362,761

Total pension liability - end

2,338,305
7,576,514

(561,939)

-

Total pension liability - beginning

$

7,280,449

(845,894)

-

(4,825,594)

of member contributions
Net change in total pension liability

2,462,254

7,037,226

-

(5,428,204)
$

3,752,560

1,097,364

(4,778,615)
$

4,290,310

(8,463,015)

6,150,798

3,617,949

(5,664,043)

(5,219,512)

$ 11,523,874

$

(87,591)

(48,306)

-

(6,533,123)
$

6,297,599

1,768,127

(6,346,521)
$

6,940,127

(6,209,717)
$

8,632,547

93,912,669

97,275,430

101,027,990

105,318,300

116,842,174

116,754,583

123,052,182

129,992,309

$ 97,275,430

$ 101,027,990

$ 105,318,300

$ 116,842,174

$ 116,754,583

$ 123,052,182

$ 129,992,309

$ 138,624,856

$ 5,218,589

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

Plan Fiduciary Net Position
Contributions - employer
Contributions - member
Net inv estment income
Benefit payments including refunds
of member contributions
Plan administrativ e expenses

Information for plan years
2013 and prior is not
av ailable

Other changes

4,024,603

3,575,462

3,473,255

3,899,592

4,210,698

3,592,613

3,961,789

730,162

740,120

743,813

756,187

783,669

890,199

868,669

849,728

11,520,268

2,236,876

1,240,819

9,378,222

7,287,735

3,396,845

1,663,635

27,880,298

(4,825,594)

(5,428,204)

(4,778,615)

(5,664,043)

(5,219,512)

(6,533,123)

(6,346,521)

(6,209,717)

(18,798)

(27,230)

(35,543)

(31,821)

(30,041)

(108,910)

(46,229)

(75,164)

-

$

745,936

$

7,911,800

$

6,721,443

$

1,855,709

$

(267,833)

-

$ 12,624,627

$

$ 26,406,934

Plan fiduciary net position - beginning
Plan fiduciary net position - end

72,493,308
$ 85,117,935

85,117,935
$ 86,664,100

86,664,100
$ 87,410,036

87,410,036
$ 95,321,836

95,321,836
$ 102,043,279

102,043,279
$ 103,898,988

103,898,988
$ 103,631,155

103,631,155
$ 130,038,089

$ 12,157,495

$ 14,363,890

$ 17,908,264

$ 21,520,338

$ 14,711,304

$ 19,153,194

$ 26,361,154

$

8,586,767

Information for plan years
Plan fiduciary net position as a
percentage of total pension liability
Cov ered payroll
Net pension liability as a percentage of
cov ered payroll

2013 and prior is not
av ailable

87.50%
$ 34,875,678
34.86%

85.78%
$ 35,376,646
40.60%

83.00%
$ 34,922,626
51.28%

81.58%
$ 37,507,188
57.38%

87.40%
$ 36,810,351
39.97%

84.43%
$ 38,763,043
49.41%

79.72%
$ 39,968,358
65.96%

93.81%
$ 42,412,060
20.25%

Note: The above schedules are presented to illustrate the requirement for information covering the last ten fiscal years; however, until a full ten-year trend is complied, information
is only presented for those years for which information is available.
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Net change in plan fiduciary net position

Net pension liability
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2012

2013

Actuarially determined contribution
Contributions made
Contribution deficiency (excess)

2014
$

2015
$

5,218,589

Information for plan years
2013 and prior is not

5,030,754

$

(187,835)

2016

4,024,603

$

4,024,603
$

-

3,575,462

2017

2018

2019

2020

2021

$ 3,473,255

$ 3,899,592

$ 4,210,681

$ 3,592,613

$ 3,961,789

3,575,462
$

-

3,473,255
$

-

3,899,592
$

-

4,210,698
$

(17)

3,592,613
$

-

3,961,789
$

-

av ailable
Cov ered payroll
Contributions as a percentage of cov ered
payroll
Annual money weighted rate of return,

$ 34,875,678
Information for plan years

$ 35,376,646

$ 34,922,626

$ 37,507,188

$ 36,810,351

$ 38,763,043

$ 39,968,358

$ 42,412,060

14.96%

11.38%

10.24%

9.26%

10.59%

10.86%

8.99%

9.34%

16.16%

2.84%

1.62%

11.10%

8.40%

4.53%

1.47%

28.60%

2013 and prior is not
av ailable

net of inv estment expense

Notes to Schedule:
Valuation Date:

Actuarially determined contribution amounts are calculated as of the beginning of the fiscal year (July 1) for the year immediately
preceding the fiscal year. Actuarial reports are performed annually. During fiscal year 2018 actuarial assumptions were updated to
reflect the most recent experience study.

Actuarial Cost Method:

Entry Age Normal

Amortization Method:

Level Percentage of Payroll

Amortization Period:

20 years

Asset Valuation Method:

Gains and losses are spread over five years beginning 4/01/2010. This method is being applied prospectively, so gains and losses
prior to 2010 will continue to be smoothed over four years until fully recognized.

Inflation:

2.50%

Salary Increases:

4.75% - 12.50%, including inflation

Investment Rate of Return:

7.00%

Retirement Age:

Varies by participant age and years of credited service

Mortality:

The mortality rates were based on the RP-2014 mortality tables, projected generationally using scale MP-2017.

Note: The above schedules are presented to illustrate the requirement for information covering the last ten fiscal years; however, until a full ten-year trend is complied,
information is only presented for those years for which information is available.
Note: Actuaries utilized update procedures to roll forward Pension data from the July 1, 2020 valuation to the June 30, 2021 measurement date.
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Rockville Employee Retirement System – Schedule of City Pension Contributions and Investment Returns
Last Ten Fiscal Years
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City of Rockville, Maryland
Other Post-Employment Benefits Plan – Schedule of Changes in the City’s Net OPEB Liability (Asset) and Related Ratios
Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Unaudited – See Accompanying Independent Auditor’s Report)
2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

2020

2021

Total OPEB Liability
Serv ice cost

$

Interest
Changes of benefit terms
Differences between expected and

Information for plan years 2016 and prior is not av ailable

actual experience
Changes of assumptions
Benefit payments

569,070

$

Total OPEB liability - end

405,503

$

340,740

$

316,324

733,193

778,238

613,702

-

-

-

-

-

-

(280,090)

-

(1,459,922)

$ 1,017,258

Total OPEB liability - beginning

$

784,240

(274,540)

Net change in total OPEB liability

506,923

722,728

(339,500)
-

(271,490)
$

(720,339)

(2,577,898)
(637,832)

(229,882)
$

569,314

(297,396)
-

(193,415)
$ (2,290,167)

(244,300)
$

388,330

10,461,953

11,479,211

10,758,872

11,328,186

9,038,019

$ 11,479,211

$ 10,758,872

$ 11,328,186

$ 9,038,019

$ 9,426,349

$

$

$

$

$

Plan Fiduciary Net Position
Contributions - employer
Net inv estment income

Information for plan years 2016 and prior is not av ailable

Benefit payments
Plan administrativ e expenses
Other changes

639,042

695,017

582,804

591,190

529,689

433,121

(274,540)

(271,490)

(229,882)

(193,415)

(244,300)

(5,000)

(22,581)

(14,433)

(23,040)

(6,250)

$

930,635

$

2,383,108

-

-

-

771,610

$ 1,427,963

$ 2,296,373

$

Plan fiduciary net position - beginning
Plan fiduciary net position - end

6,034,822
$ 7,000,296

7,000,296
$ 7,930,931

7,930,931
$ 8,702,541

8,702,541
$ 10,130,504

10,130,504
$ 12,426,877

$ 4,478,915

$ 2,827,941

$ 2,625,645

$ (1,092,485)

$ (3,000,528)

112.09%

131.83%

Information for plan years 2016 and prior is not av ailable
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage
of total OPEB liability
Cov ered payroll
Net OPEB liability / (asset) as a percentage
of cov ered payroll

60.98%
$ 36,993,233
12.11%

73.72%
$ 36,810,351
7.68%

76.82%
$ 38,763,043
6.77%

$ 39,968,358
-2.73%

$ 42,412,060
-7.07%

Note: The above schedules are presented to illustrate the requirement for information covering the last ten fiscal years; however, until a full ten-year trend is complied, information
is only presented for those years for which information is available.
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Net change in plan fiduciary net position

Net OPEB liability / (asset)

965,474

-

1,053,228

163,815

605,972
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2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

Actuarially determined contribution
Contributions made

2017
$

Information for plan years 2016 and prior is not av ailable

658,361
639,042

Contribution deficiency (excess)

$

Cov ered payroll

$ 36,993,233

Contributions as a percentage of cov ered
payroll

Information for plan years 2016 and prior is not av ailable

Annual money weighted rate of return, net of

2018
$

19,319

687,495

2019
$

695,017
$

(7,522)

$ 36,810,351

1.73%

1.89%

9.40%

7.80%

2020

582,804

$

582,804
$

-

$ 38,763,043

inv estment expense

2021

591,190

$

591,190
$

-

$ 39,968,358

163,815
163,815

$

-

$ 42,412,060

1.50%

1.48%

0.39%

5.53%

11.36%

23.30%

Notes to Schedule:
Valuation Date:

Actuarially determined contribution amounts are calculated as of the beginning of the fiscal year (July 1) for the two years
immediately preceding the fiscal year. Actuarial reports are performed biennially.

Actuarial Cost Method:

Projected Unit Credit

Amortization Method:

Level Percentage of Payroll

Amortization Period:

21 years

Asset Valuation Method:

Gains and losses are spread over five years beginning 4/01/2010. This method is being applied prospectively, so gains and losses
prior to 2010 will continue to be smoothed over four years until fully recognized.

Inflation:

2.20%

Healthcare Cost Trend Rates:

5.40% for 2019, increasing to 6.39% for 2023 then decreasing to an ultimate rate of 3.84% by 2090

Salary Increases:

2.50%, including inflation

Investment Rate of Return:

7.00%

Retirement Age:

Varies by participant age and years of credited service

Mortality:

The mortality rates were based on the RP-2014 Total Dataset Mortality Table projected generationally using Scale MP-2017.

Note: The above schedules are presented to illustrate the requirement for information covering the last ten fiscal years; however, until a full ten-year trend is complied,
information is only presented for those years for which information is available.
Note: Actuaries utilized update procedures to roll forward OPEB data from the July 1, 2019 valuation to the June 30, 2021 measurement date.
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City of Rockville, Maryland
Other Post-Employment Benefits Plan – Schedule of City OPEB Contributions and Investment Returns
Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Unaudited – See Accompanying Independent Auditor’s Report)
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9.a

City of Rockville, Maryland
Budgetary Comparison Schedule
General Fund
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2021
Variance from
Budget as
Original Budget

Amended Budget

Amended

Actual

Positiv e/(Negativ e

Revenues
Property Taxes

$

43,816,000

$

43,648,000

$

44,327,269

$

679,269

Rev enue from Other Gov ernments:
Income taxes

14,900,000

16,000,000

16,631,367

631,367

Gas and motor v ehicle taxes

2,107,900

2,500,000

2,763,951

263,951

County tax duplication payment

2,409,750

2,409,750

2,409,750

Admissions and amusement taxes

1,050,000

350,000

312,323

Grants and other gov ernmental rev enue

(37,677)

2,099,780

2,163,211

3,323,102

Licenses and permits

3,411,000

3,411,000

2,832,775

(578,225)

Charges for Serv ices

7,404,860

4,304,687

2,991,142

(1,313,545)
(199,390)

Use of Money and Property
Fines and Forfeitures

423,800

887,082

687,692

1,583,090

983,090

948,252

(34,838)

$

6,343,658
83,000,478

$

4,369,414
81,597,037

$

(1,974,244)
(1,403,441)

$

19,291,509

$

18,595,469

$

Other Rev enues
Total Rev enues

$

5,398,820
84,605,000

Expenditures
Current operations:
General gov ernment

$

18,802,500

Community dev elopment

1,159,891

696,040

6,390,270

6,598,825

7,765,345

Public safety

11,706,120

11,454,479

11,139,508

Public works

8,878,760

9,079,000

8,211,625

867,375

25,266,380

23,448,480

20,219,913

3,228,567

Recreation and parks

(1,166,520)
314,971

Total Expenditures

$

71,044,030

$

69,872,293

$

65,931,860

$

3,940,433

Excess of Rev enues ov er Expenditures

$

13,560,970

$

13,128,185

$

15,665,177

$

2,536,992

$

(4,800,000)
(6,330,000)
(164,240)
(46,730)
(1,250,000)
(12,590,970)

$

(4,800,000)
(7,507,000)
(165,440)
(46,730)
(1,950,000)
(14,469,170)

$

(4,800,000)
(7,507,000)
(165,440)
(46,730)
(1,950,000)
(14,469,170)

$

-

970,000
23,786,814
24,756,814

$

(1,340,985)
23,786,814
22,445,829

$

1,196,007
23,786,814
24,982,821

$

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfer to Debt Serv ice Fund
Transfer to Capital Projects Fund
Transfer to Special Activ ities Fund
Transfer to Refuse Fund
Transfer to Parking Fund
Total Other Financing Uses
Excess (deficiency) of rev enues and other
financing sources (uses) ov er expenditures
Fund balance at beginning of year
Fund balance at end of year

$

$
$

$

$

$

$

$

$

2,536,992
2,536,992
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9.a

City of Rockville, Maryland
Notes to the Required Supplementary Information
June 30, 2021
Stewardship, Compliance, and Accountability
The City follows these procedures in establishing the budgetary data reflected in the financial statements:
 Prior to June 1, the City Manager submits to the Mayor and Council a proposed operating and capital improvements budget for
the fiscal year commencing July 1. The budget includes proposed expenditures and the means of financing them. Public
hearings are then conducted to review the budget.
 Prior to July 1, the budget is legally enacted through passage of an ordinance.
 The budget ordinance becomes effective July 1 and provides spending authority for the operations of the City. The legal control
which the budget ordinance establishes over spending is at the fund level. Each of the General, Non-Major Governmental, Debt
Service and Enterprise Funds have legally adopted annual budgets appropriated at the fund level. The capital budget is adopted
at the fund level but is not adopted as an annual budget.
 The City Manager is authorized to transfer budgeted amounts between departments within any fund; however, any revisions
that alter the total expenditures of any fund must be approved by the Mayor and Council.
 Subsequent to passage of the budget ordinance, the Mayor and Council may approve supplemental appropriations. During FY
2021, such supplemental appropriations for all funds amounted to $1,546,582. Supplemental appropriations in the General Fund
totaled ($1,604,522). Due to pandemic impact, the revenues in General Fund decreased during FY 2021, budget amendments
were passed to reflect the decreased expenditures. Of these appropriations, $500,000 was for General Fund transfer to the Capital
Projects Fund for planned capital improvements of Spray Park, $1,039,000 was to recognize defeased losses from the 2020C
advance refunding principal and amortization and $1,443,713 was to reappropriate funding for prior year encumbrances.

At the end of the fiscal year, unexpended operating budget appropriations of the governmental and enterprise funds lapse. Budgets
for the General, Non-Major Governmental, Debt Service, and Enterprise Funds are adopted on a basis consistent with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Accordingly, all governmental fund budgets are presented on the
modified accrual basis of accounting; the enterprise fund budgets are adopted on the full accrual basis. The budgetary comparison
schedules – original budget, amended budget and actual - General Fund compares actual expenditures on a basis consistent with the
legally adopted budgets as amended. The budgetary comparison schedule allocates capital outlay expenditures to the related
operational units, and will therefore differ in presentation, from the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund
Balances.
Encumbrance accounting, under which purchase orders, contracts, and other commitments for the expenditures of monies are recorded
to reserve that portion of the applicable appropriation, is an extension of formal budgetary control in all governmental funds. The
encumbrances outstanding at June 30, 2021 are reported within fund balance based on the nature of their use and are subject to
reappropriation by Mayor and Council ordinance in the succeeding fiscal year.
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Other Supplementary Information

Major Governmental Funds
Debt Service Fund
The Debt Service Fund accounts for the payment of principal and interest on long term
obligations related to the governmental activities of the City.

and
Nonmajor Governmental Funds
Special Revenue Funds
The Special Revenue Funds account for the proceeds of specific revenue sources to be expended
for specified purposes. The City maintains three Special Revenue funds: the Special Activities,
the Community Development Block Grant, and the Automated Speed Enforcement Funds. The
Special Activities Fund accounts for funds raised for various community activities (i.e. Rockville
Seniors Inc., mansion improvements, etc.). The Community Development Block Grant Fund
accounts for federal grants for housing and community development programs. The Automated
Speed Enforcement Fund accounts for funds received from the speed camera program that are
restricted by State Law for public safety projects.
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9.a

City of Rockville, Maryland
Budgetary Comparison Schedule
Debt Service Fund
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2021
Variance from

Revenues
Assessments
Use of money and property
Total Rev enues

$
$

Original

Budget as

Budget

Amended

31,000
31,000

$

4,308,700
-

$

$

Amended Budget
Actual

31,000
31,000

$

5,347,700
-

$

$

Positiv e/(Negativ e)

2,333
2,333

$

5,226,047
-

$

$

(28,667)
(28,667)

Expenditures
Principal repayments:
General obligation bonds
Loans payable
Interest and issuance costs:
General obligation bonds
Total Expenditures

$

1,100,000
5,408,700

$

1,106,000
6,453,700

$

1,155,949
6,381,996

$

(49,949)
71,704

Excess of Rev enues ov er Expenditures

$

(5,377,700)

$

(6,422,700)

$

(6,379,663)

$

43,037

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfer in from General Fund
Issuance of current refunding bonds

$

4,800,000
-

$

4,800,000
1,023,300

$

4,800,000
1,020,000

$

(3,300)

$

Premium on general obligation bonds
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses)

$

Excess (deficiency) of rev enues and other
financing sources ov er expenditures

$

Fund Balance at beginning of year
Fund Balance at end of year

4,800,000

(577,700)

$

$

(599,400)

$

268,212

867,612
$

289,912

5,823,300

$

3,272
5,823,272

$

(556,391)

$

311,221

867,612

$

121,653
-

3,272
(28)

$

43,009

$

43,009

867,612

-
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9.a

City of Rockville, Maryland
Combining Balance Sheet
Nonmajor Governmental Funds
June 30, 2021
Special Rev enue
Community

Assets
Cash and cash equiv alents
Accounts receiv able, net
Due from other gov ernments
Total Assets
Liabilities and Fund Balance
Liabilities
Accounts payable

Automated

Total

Special

Dev elopment

Speed

Nonmajor

Activ ities

Block Grant

Enforcement

Gov ernmental

Fund

Fund (CDBG)

Fund

Funds

$

$

9,278,870
183,506
9,462,376

$

$

$

88,397
88,397

$

1,453,299
127,619
1,580,918

$

99,470

$

24,610

$

56,126

Interfund payable
Accrued liabilities
Retainages payable
Total Liabilities

$

9,379
108,849

$

69,442
12,987
107,039

$

5,420
61,546

Fund Balance
Restricted for:
Special rev enue programming

$

9,353,527

$

-

$

1,519,372

Unassigned:

-

(18,642)

-

$ 10,732,169
127,619
271,903
$ 11,131,691

$

180,206

$

69,442
5,420
22,366
277,434

$ 10,872,899
(18,642)

Total Fund Balance

$

9,353,527

$

(18,642)

$

1,519,372

$ 10,854,257

Total liabilities and fund balance

$

9,462,376

$

88,397

$

1,580,918

$ 11,131,691

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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9.a

City of Rockville, Maryland
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances
Nonmajor Governmental Funds
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2021
Special Rev enue
Community

Automated

Total

Dev elopment

Speed

Nonmajor

Activ ities

Block Grant

Enforcement

Gov ernmental

Fund

Fund (CDBG)

Fund

Funds

Special

Revenues
Grants and other gov ernmental rev enue
Charges for serv ices
Use of money and property
Fines and forfeitures
Other rev enue
Total Rev enues
Expenditures
General gov ernment
Community dev elopment
Public safety
Public works
Recreation and parks
Capital outlay
Total Expenditures

$

$

$

$

768,399
12,015
153,561
933,975

$

100,032
29,410
191,851
141,309
925,860
1,388,462

$

$

198,499
15,131
213,630

$

$

$

$

236,096
236,096
(22,466)

999
1,229,124
1,230,123

$

$

966,898
12,015
999
1,229,124
168,692
2,377,728

$

$

941,378
941,378

$

288,745

$

(188,208)

$

100,032
265,506
941,378
191,851
141,309
925,860
2,565,936

Excess (deficiency) of Rev enues
ov er Expenditures

$

(454,487)

$

Other Financing Sources
$

165,440

$

-

$

-

$

165,440

Total Financing Sources

Transfer in from General Fund

$

165,440

$

-

$

-

$

165,440

Net change in fund balance
Fund balance at beginning of year

$

(289,047)
9,642,574

$

(22,466)
3,824

$

288,745
1,230,627

$

Fund balance at end of year

$

9,353,527

$

(18,642)

$

1,519,372

$ 10,854,257

(22,768)
10,877,025

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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Budgetary Comparison Schedule
Nonmajor Governmental Funds
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2021
Special

Community Dev elopment

Activ ities Fund

Block Grant Fund (CDBG)

Automated Speed
Enforcement Fund

Variance

Variance

from

from

from

Amended

Amended

Amended

Budget

Budget
Original

Budget as

Budget

Amended

Actual

Variance

Positiv e/

Original

Budget as

(Negativ e)

Budget

Amended

(50,161)

$ 263,000

(359,000)

Budget

Positiv e/

Original

Budget as

Actual

(Negativ e)

Budget

Amended

$ 525,498

$ 198,499

$ (326,999)

-

-

-

Positiv e/
Actual

(Negativ e)

Revenues
Grants and other
gov ernmental rev enue

$

Use of money
and property
Fines and forfeitures
Other*
Total Rev enues
Expenditures
Community serv ices
Total expenditures

785,630

$

359,000

818,560

$

359,000

768,399

$

-

-

$

-

$

-

$

-

-

10,000

10,000

999

$

(9,001)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,448,000

958,000

1,229,124

438,490

439,690

331,016

(108,674)

-

-

15,131

15,131

-

-

-

271,124

$ 1,583,120

$ 1,617,250

$

1,099,415

$ (517,835)

$ 263,000

$ 525,498

$ 213,630

$ (311,868)

$ 1,458,000

$

968,000

$ 1,230,123

$

262,123

$ 1,315,840

$ 1,644,707

$

462,602

$ 1,182,105

$ 263,000

$ 525,498

$ 236,096

$

289,402

$

980,940

$

980,940

$

941,378

$

39,562

$ 1,315,840

$ 1,644,707

$

462,602

$ 1,182,105

$ 263,000

$ 525,498

$ 236,096

$

289,402

$

980,940

$

980,940

$

941,378

$

39,562

$

$

$

636,813

$

$

$

$

$

(22,466)

$

477,060

$

(12,940)

$

301,685

$

(925,860)

$

$

(289,047)

$

-

Excess (deficiency) of
budgeted rev enues
ov er expenditures
Capital outlay**

267,280

(27,457)

664,270

-

-

(22,466)
-

$

288,745

$

-

$

288,745

Net change in fund
balance

(22,466)

*Note: Other revenue for the Special Activities Fund includes a transfer of $165,440 from the General Fund.
**Note: Expenditures in the Special Activities Fund include capital improvement outlays of $925,860. Capital improvements are budgeted separately as multi-year budgets, reflective of the project length. Capital budgets are not
reflected in the budgeted figures above. All spending during the year was within the appropriated limits.
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Proprietary Funds
Enterprise Funds
Budgetary comparison schedules for the Water Facility, Sanitary Sewer, Refuse, Parking,
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City of Rockville, Maryland
Budgetary Comparison Schedule
Enterprise Funds
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2021
Water

Sanitary

Facility Fund

Sewer Fund

Refuse Fund

Variance

Variance

from

from

from

Amended

Amended

Amended

Budget

Budget

Total rev enues

$

Total operating expenses

Original

Budget as

Budget

Amended

14,092,800
8,025,030
6,067,770

$ 5,971,905

Variance

Positiv e/

Original

Budget as

Actual

(Negativ e)

Budget

Amended

Actual

$ 14,092,800

$ 12,491,632

$ (1,601,168)

$ 15,785,130

$ 15,785,130

$ 15,647,458

8,120,895

7,314,772

6,634,360

6,947,712

6,072,342

$ 9,150,770

$ 8,837,418

806,123

Budget

Positiv e/

Original

Budget as

(Negativ e)

Budget

Amended

Actual

$ 6,142,900

$ 6,142,900

$ 6,261,870

6,812,820

7,172,283

6,069,415

1,102,868

192,455

$ 1,221,838

$

(137,672)
875,370

Positiv e/
(Negativ e)
$

118,970

Operating income (loss) before
depreciation and amortization

$

Depreciation
Operating income (loss)

(3,524,100)
$

2,543,670

$

(3,524,100)

5,176,860

$

(3,427,788)

$ 2,447,805

$

$

$

(795,045)
96,312

1,749,072

$

3,522

$

(698,733)

(5,067,000)

$

(5,067,000)

9,575,116

$

(5,024,335)

$ 4,083,770

$ 3,770,418

$

$

$

$

4,550,781

$

3,501

$

737,698

$ (669,920)

$(1,029,383)

42,665

(519,200)

(519,200)

$

(466,609)

52,591

780,363

$ (1,189,120)

$(1,548,583)

$ (274,154)

$ 1,274,429

$

$

$

$

Non-Operating Income (Expenses)
Interest income

$

Interest expense
Other, net

-

-

3,522

(831,900)

(831,900)

(437,218)

394,682

(29,100)

(29,100)

(57,859)

(28,759)

-

-

3,501

(1,258,600)

(1,258,600)

(316,571)

942,029

(10,600)

(10,600)

(74,011)

(63,411)

17,000
(12,900)

17,000
(12,900)

-

2,394
(12,592)

-

(14,606)
308

-

-

income (expense)
Income (loss) before

$

(861,000)

contributions

$

1,682,670

Capital grants and contributions $

-

$

(861,000)

$

(491,555)

$

369,445

$ (1,269,200)

$ (1,269,200)

$

(329,288)

$ 2,814,570

$ 2,501,218

$

$

$

$

$ 1,586,805

$

1,257,517

$

$

$

-

$

-

-

-

-

(387,081)
4,163,700
(196,685)

$

882,119

$

4,100

$

4,100

$

(10,198)

$

(14,298)

$ 1,662,482

$ (1,185,020)

$(1,544,483)

$ (284,352)

$ 1,260,131

$

$

$

$

$

(196,685)

-

-

-

-

Transfers:
Transfer (to) from
Enterprise Funds
Transfer from General Fund
Total transfers

306,590

306,590

306,590

-

-

-

-

-

$

306,590

$

1,989,260

$

306,590

$

306,590

$

$ 1,893,395

$

1,564,107

$

-

(306,590)

(306,590)

$

(306,590)

(306,590)

$

(306,590)

$

(306,590)

$

-

-

-

-

-

-

46,730

46,730

46,730

-

-

$

46,730

$

46,730

$

46,730

$

-

Net increase (decrease)
in net position

(329,288)

$ 2,507,980

$ 2,194,628

$

3,660,425

$ 1,465,797

$(1,138,290)

$(1,497,753)

$ (237,622)

$ 1,260,131
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Budgetary Comparison Schedule
Enterprise Funds (Continued)
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2021
Parking Fund

Stormwater

RedGate

Management Fund

Golf Course Fund
Variance

from

from

from

Amended

Amended

Amended

Total rev enues

$

Total operating expenses

Budget as

Budget

Amended

1,063,850

$

586,250

Actual

564,850

$

586,250

600,089

Positiv e/

Original

Budget as

(Negativ e)

Budget

Amended

$

436,507

Budget

Budget

Budget
Original

Variance

Variance

Actual

35,239

$ 6,000,000

$ 6,000,000

149,743

4,437,030

4,459,676

184,982

$ 1,562,970

$ 1,540,324

$

5,387,464

Positiv e/

Original

Budget as

(Negativ e)

Budget

Amended

$

4,133,938

(612,536)

$

325,738

-

$

-

-

Positiv e/
Actual
$

(Negativ e)
-

-

$

-

-

-

Operating income (loss) before
depreciation and amortization

$

Depreciation
Operating income (loss)

477,600

$

(9,100)
$

(21,400)

$

(9,100)

468,500

$

1,000

$

163,582

$

(9,032)

(30,500)

$

1,000

$

68

154,550

$

511

$

185,050

(1,002,000)

$

(1,002,000)

1,253,526

$

(936,192)

$

560,970

$

538,324

$

$

112,000

$

112,000

$

(286,798)

$

65,808

-

$

-

$

-

(100,600)

(100,600)

(100,549)

$

51

317,334

$

(220,990)

$ (100,600)

$ (100,600)

$ (100,549)

$

6,421

$

(105,579)

$

$

$

$

51

Non-Operating Income (Expenses)
Interest income

$

Interest expense
Other, net

(788,000)

(788,000)

(783,669)

(38,890)

(139,890)

(140,030)

(489)
4,331

(23,250)

(140)

(23,250)

-

-

49,733

72,983

(3,865)

(3,865)

(1,240)

(1,240)

-

(1,045)

-

195

-

-

Total non-operating
income (expense)

$

(825,890)

$

(926,890)

$

(923,188)

$

3,702

$

88,750

$

88,750

$

52,289

$

(36,461)

$

(357,390)

$

(957,390)

$

(768,638)

$

188,752

$

649,720

$

627,074

$

369,623

$

(257,451)

315,000

$

315,000

$

315,001

$

1

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

$

(1,240)

$

(1,240)

$

(1,045)

$

195

Income (loss) before
contributions

Capital grants and contributions $

-

$ (101,840)

$ (101,840)

$ (101,594)

$

246

$

$

$

$

-

-

-

-

Transfers:
Transfer (to) from
-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,250,000

1,950,000

1,950,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

$

1,250,000

$ 1,950,000

$

1,950,000

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

$

1,207,610

$ 1,307,610

$

1,496,363

$

188,753

$

649,720

$

627,074

$

369,623

$

Enterprise Funds
Transfer from General Fund
Total transfers

-

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

246

Net increase (decrease)
in net position

(257,451)

$ (101,840)

$ (101,840)

$ (101,594)
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Other Supplementary Information

Fiduciary Fund
Pension and OPEB Trust Fund
Combining Statement of Fiduciary Net Position and Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net
Position for City’s Pension Trust and OPEB Trust.
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City of Rockville, Maryland
Combining Statement of Fiduciary Net Position
Pension and OPEB Trust Funds
June 30, 2021
Pension Trust Fund

OPEB Trust Fund
Total
Pension and

Defined

Assets
Open End Mutual Funds:
Bonds
Equities
Real estate
Global real assets
Global tactical asset allocation
Money markets
Target Date Fund
Stable Value Fund
Total Assets

Defined

Contribution

Total Pension

Benefit Trust

Trust

Trust Fund

$

$

-

$
$

100,405
2,500
102,905

53,760,428

$ 183,798,517

$

12,426,877

$196,225,394

53,760,428

$ 183,798,517

$

12,529,782

$196,328,299

$

$

-

$
$

-

Net Position
Restricted for plan benefits

$ 130,038,089

$

Total Liabilities and Net Position

$ 130,038,089

$

$

$

Funds

$ 24,911,793
89,560,475
23,902,059
15,443
14,662,678
2,073,771
21,859,853
6,812,445
$ 183,798,517

21,563,074
68,103,915
23,634,651
14,662,678
2,073,771
$ 130,038,089

Liabilities
Benefits Payable
Administrativ e expense payable
Total Liabilities

$

OPEB Trust
OPEB Trust Fund

3,348,719
21,456,560
267,408
15,443
21,859,853
6,812,445
53,760,428

$

$

4,618,417
7,911,365
12,529,782

$ 29,530,210
97,471,840
23,902,059
15,443
14,662,678
2,073,771
21,859,853
6,812,445
$196,328,299

$
$

100,405
2,500
102,905

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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City of Rockville, Maryland
Combining Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position
Pension and OPEB Trust Funds
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2021

Pension Trust Fund

OPEB Trust Fund
Total

Defined

Additions
Contributions
Employer
Plan Members
Total Contributions
Inv estment earnings:
Net appreciation in the fair
v alue of plan inv estments
Interest and div idends
Total inv estment earnings
Less inv estment (expense) refunds
Net inv estment earnings
Total Additions
Deductions
Benefits
Administrativ e expense
Total Deductions
Net Increase (Decrease)
Net position at beginning of year
Net position at end of year

Pension and

Defined

Contribution

Total Pension

Benefit Trust

Trust

Trust Funds

$
$

$

$
$

3,961,789
849,728
4,811,517

$
$

981,260
1,521,082
2,502,342

28,322,490

10,288,006

41,739
28,364,229
(483,931)
27,880,298
32,691,815

1,317,737
11,605,743
(77,213)
11,528,530
14,030,872

6,209,717
75,164
6,284,881

26,406,934
103,631,155
$ 130,038,089

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.

$

$
$

2,041,125
2,041,125

$

11,989,747
41,770,681
53,760,428

$
$

4,943,049
2,370,810
7,313,859

OPEB Trust
OPEB Trust Fund

$
$

38,610,496

$

$

$

$

38,396,681
145,401,836
$ 183,798,517

$
$

2,170,165

1,359,476
39,969,972
(561,144)
39,408,828
$ 46,722,687

8,250,842
75,164
8,326,006

163,815
163,815

Funds

212,943
2,383,108
2,383,108
2,546,923

$

244,300
6,250
250,550

$

2,296,373
10,130,504
12,426,877

5,106,864
2,370,810
7,477,674
40,780,661

1,572,419
42,353,080
(561,144)
41,791,936
$ 49,269,610

$
$

8,495,142
81,414
8,576,556

40,693,054
155,532,340
$ 196,225,394
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Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2021

Section
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Statistical Section
The Statistical Section presents detailed information for the City in the following areas, as a
context for understanding what the information in the Financial Section says about the City's
overall financial health:

REVENUE CAPACITY - Information to help the reader assess the City's most significant local
revenue source, the property tax.
FINANCIAL TRENDS - Information to help the reader understand how the City's financial
performance and well-being have changed over time.
DEBT CAPACITY - Information to help the reader assess the affordability of the City's current
levels of outstanding debt and the City's ability to issue additional debt in the future.
DEMOGRAPHIC AND ECONOMIC INFORMATION - Indicators to help the reader
understand how the environment within which the City's financial activities take place.
OPERATING INFORMATION - Service and infrastructure data to help the reader understand
how the information in the City's Financial report relates to the services the City provides and
the activities it performs.

Many of the tables cover more than two fiscal years and present data from outside accounting
records. Therefore, the Statistical Section is unaudited.
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City of Rockville, Maryland
Financial Trends Information (unaudited)
Net Position by Category Government-Wide, (Governmental and Business-type Activities) - Last Ten Fiscal Years
(accrual basis of accounting)
2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

2020

2021

$ 215,237,694

$ 221,627,345

$ 227,007,883

$ 236,257,929

$ 242,206,193

$ 251,497,341

$ 258,103,935

$ 180,264,476

$ 189,355,879

$ 194,918,299

32,454,676

30,124,255

31,504,391

28,241,472

8,958,785

9,196,988

9,637,846

9,564,641

10,877,025

10,872,899

6,785,231

9,464,633

11,252,856

842,090

20,493,148

18,653,066

18,669,094

20,828,738

16,634,804

18,021,201

$ 254,477,601

$ 261,216,233

$ 269,765,130

$ 265,341,491

$ 271,658,126

$ 279,347,395

$ 286,410,875

$ 210,657,855

$ 216,867,708

$ 223,812,399

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

Governmental Activities
Net inv estment in capital assets
Restricted
Unrestricted
Total Gov ernmental Activ ities Net Position

Business-Type Activities
Net inv estment in capital assets
Restricted

61,807,784
-

Unrestricted
Total Business-Type Activ ities Net Position

-

(7,281,272)
$

54,526,512

59,592,571

-

(3,133,639)
$

56,458,932

69,660,027

-

(10,553,298)
$

59,106,729

73,858,569

-

(12,866,439)
$

60,992,130

80,207,561

-

(16,018,230)
$

64,189,331

82,902,957

-

(13,447,240)
$

69,455,717

84,792,752
(11,587,452)

$

73,205,300

$

47,681,534

45,275,449

47,467,611

-

-

-

24,736,541

31,276,128

35,835,268

72,418,075

$

76,551,577

$

83,302,879

Primary Government
Net inv estment in capital assets
Restricted
Unrestricted
Total Primary Gov ernment Net Position

$ 281,219,916

$ 296,667,910

$ 310,116,498

$ 322,413,754

$ 334,400,298

$ 342,896,687

$ 227,946,010

$ 234,631,328

$ 242,385,910

32,454,676

30,124,255

31,504,391

28,241,472

8,958,785

9,196,988

9,637,846

9,564,641

10,877,025

10,872,899

6,330,994

699,558

(12,024,349)

4,474,918

5,205,826

7,081,642

45,565,279

47,910,932

53,856,469

$ 317,675,165

$ 328,871,859

$ 335,847,457

$ 348,803,112

$ 359,616,175

$ 283,075,930

$ 293,419,285

$ 307,115,278

(496,041)
$ 309,004,113

$ 326,333,621

Note: In fiscal year 2019, the City had restatements of net position that consisted of adjustments to accumulated depreciation on fixed assets and adjustments to
construction in progress as follows: The government-wide net position was restated by ($93,367,113) which is made up of governmental net position restatements of
($85,206,345) and business-type net position restatements of ($8,160,768), which also decrease the reported net investment in capital assets, as observed in the table
above. In addition, changes in the presentation of Parking Fund net position, contribute to the fiscal year 2019 decrease in business-type activities net investment in
capital assets.
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2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

2020

2021

Expenses
Gov ernmental activ ities:
General gov ernment
Community dev elopment block grant
Community dev elopment
Public safety
Public works
Recreation and parks
Interest on long-term debt
Total gov ernmental activ ities expenses
Business-type activ ities:
Water
Sewer
Refuse
Parking
Stormwater management
Golf course
Total business-type activ ities expenses
Total primary gov ernment expenses
Program Revenues
Gov ernmental activ ities:
Charges for serv ices:
General gov ernment
Community dev elopment
Public safety
Public works
Recreation and parks
Operating grants and contributions
Capital grants and contributions
Total gov ernmental activ ities program rev enues
Business type activ ities:
Charges for serv ices:
Water
Sewer
Refuse
Parking
Stormwater management
Golf course
Capital grants and contributions
Total business-type activ ities program rev enues
Total primary gov ernment rev enues

$

$
$

$

$

$

$

$

16,721,358
667,294
4,045,862
10,725,725
7,473,069
20,682,042
1,847,089
62,162,439

$

8,454,296
7,462,498
4,604,586
3,632,123
2,564,028
938,164
27,655,695
89,818,134

$

1,444,313
2,180,079
3,621,924
552,704
5,616,285
2,084,144
2,470,347
17,969,796

9,585,771
7,984,131
5,934,886
1,566,651
2,870,915
463,925
731,284
29,137,563
47,107,359

$

$

$

$

$

$

17,627,789
130,807
6,852,638
11,605,687
7,360,540
19,421,263
1,753,582
64,752,306

$

8,288,461
8,121,144
4,647,799
2,294,266
2,582,736
306,241
26,240,647
90,992,953

$

1,015,524
1,821,386
4,405,923
482,064
5,056,436
1,538,646
1,485,087
15,805,066

$

10,443,600
8,669,101
5,554,293
1,253,296
4,173,905
34,087
1,115,774
31,244,056
47,049,122

$

$

$

$

$

18,029,867
274,100
4,499,173
11,925,500
10,480,582
20,192,932
1,570,515
66,972,669

$

8,781,145
8,851,481
4,374,062
1,856,615
2,931,502
121,087
26,915,892
93,888,561

$

308,228
2,631,132
4,913,037
655,773
5,304,462
1,276,981
1,170,792
16,260,405

10,694,368
9,118,470
5,534,943
1,286,239
4,241,331
2,100
1,109,875
31,987,326
48,247,731

$

$

$

$

$

$

16,056,710
324,341
4,742,679
11,955,154
10,680,119
20,316,220
1,481,177
65,556,400

$

19,939,261
192,372
5,208,701
14,011,145
11,489,202
21,677,656
1,451,990
73,970,327

$

8,786,204
10,761,488
4,482,442
1,826,227
2,963,825
106,119
28,926,305
94,482,705

$

8,954,708
12,465,393
4,273,936
1,783,298
3,176,524
105,439
30,759,298
$ 104,729,625

$

331,004
2,127,341
3,998,962
647,298
5,510,139
1,802,196
458,203
14,875,143

$

11,028,502
9,447,082
5,687,674
1,156,885
4,809,791
100
1,163,751
33,293,785
48,168,928

$

$

$

$

20,613,735
5,464,560
13,078,545
11,903,718
23,193,122
1,388,516
75,642,196

$

9,541,833
10,632,475
4,593,424
1,800,872
3,522,042
104,761
30,195,407
$ 106,052,190

10,196,312
11,507,060
4,655,333
2,004,078
3,734,179
104,090
32,201,052
$ 107,843,248

$

379,871
1,983,953
4,155,894
677,274
5,667,549
1,414,801
1,021,763
15,301,105

$

411,704
2,043,566
4,367,130
208,457
6,124,135
1,842,041
929,414
15,926,447

$

12,150,240
11,041,983
5,799,796
1,108,497
5,120,666
2,523,759
37,744,941
53,046,046

$

12,360,559
12,407,271
6,121,016
857,266
5,781,614
1,683,070
39,210,796
55,137,243

$

$

$

$

22,179,924
5,559,447
13,055,908
11,298,192
22,483,951
1,279,361
75,856,783

$

$

$

$

$

23,393,793
5,595,043
14,225,613
12,709,877
23,804,520
1,271,638
81,000,484

$

9,969,367
11,598,825
4,848,875
1,816,468
3,837,179
103,357
32,174,071
$ 113,174,555

$

573,971
2,153,492
4,531,053
780,999
6,322,356
1,587,580
1,623,758
17,573,209

$

11,779,188
13,283,207
6,294,727
1,004,449
5,693,065
1,589,340
39,643,976
57,217,185

$

$

$

$

652,239
2,507,674
4,213,136
1,066,358
6,291,076
2,200,863
1,645,078
18,576,424

12,280,599
14,212,488
6,193,581
923,056
6,827,996
875,236
41,312,956
59,889,380

25,240,933
7,026,330
13,323,731
13,341,995
23,261,943
1,369,546
83,564,478

$

10,225,304
11,608,010
5,405,423
3,421,832
4,318,925
490,370
35,469,864
$ 119,034,342

$

$

519,634
4,226,994
2,709,657
343,141
4,375,849
3,379,267
1,386,536
16,941,078

$

13,309,595
15,518,514
6,195,480
619,319
5,466,361
597,096
41,706,365
58,647,443

$

$

$

$

$

$

20,536,401
8,030,851
12,372,318
14,201,763
20,028,092
1,042,271
76,211,696

9,945,637
10,850,259
5,429,616
1,279,238
4,251,262
101,594
31,857,606
$ 108,069,302

$

$

387,304
3,060,460
2,250,734
499,453
2,200,987
2,762,499
499,774
11,661,211

12,240,675
15,647,083
6,247,044
453,070
5,354,261
118,316
40,060,449
51,721,660
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City of Rockville, Maryland
Financial Trends Information (unaudited)
Changes in Net Position by Category, Government-Wide, (Governmental and Business-type Activities) – Last Ten Fiscal Years
(accrual basis of accounting)
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City of Rockville, Maryland
Financial Trends Information (unaudited)
Changes in Net Position by Category, Government-Wide, (Governmental and Business-type Activities) – Last Ten Fiscal Years (Continued)
(accrual basis of accounting)
Net (Expense)/Revenue
Governmental activities
Business-type activities
Total primary government net expense
General Revenues and Other Changes in Net Position
Governmental activities:
Property taxes
Income taxes
Gas and motor vehicle taxes
County tax duplications payment
Admissions and amusement taxes
Use of money and property
Other revenue
Transfers

Changes in Net Position
Governmental activities
Business-type activities
Total primary government

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

2020

2021

$ (44,192,643)
1,481,868
$ (42,710,775)

$ (48,947,240)
5,003,409
$ (43,943,831)

$ (50,712,264)
5,071,434
$ (45,640,830)

$ (50,681,257)
4,367,480
$ (46,313,777)

$ (58,669,222)
6,985,643
$ (51,683,579)

$ (59,930,336)
9,015,389
$ (50,914,947)

$ (58,068,987)
7,442,924
$ (50,626,063)

$ (62,424,060)
9,138,885
$ (53,285,175)

$ (66,623,400)
6,236,501
$ (60,386,899)

$ (64,550,485)
8,202,843
$ (56,347,642)

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

35,136,328
10,785,534
765,579
1,894,182
1,056,916
347,043
1,574,422
2,215,630
53,775,634

$

$
$
$

35,845,676
11,757,980
431,902
2,116,671
1,053,387
266,761
2,519,952
2,781,950
56,774,279

(60,328)
9,416
(2,215,630)
(2,266,542)
51,509,092

$

9,582,991
(784,674)
8,798,317

$

$

$

36,057,121
13,023,794
1,601,681
2,116,671
1,036,536
289,824
2,537,174
2,598,360
59,261,161

156,443
7,512
(2,781,950)
(2,617,995)
54,156,284

$

7,827,039
2,385,414
10,212,453

$

$

$

35,774,964
12,438,718
1,663,404
2,116,671
993,387
299,215
2,821,943
2,665,365
58,773,667

172,382
2,341
(2,598,360)
(2,423,637)
56,837,524

$

8,548,897
2,647,797
11,196,694

$

$

$

38,283,902
14,154,731
1,914,024
2,116,671
985,525
384,646
3,016,088
4,130,270
64,985,857

181,081
2,205
(2,665,365)
(2,482,079)
56,291,588

$

8,092,410
1,885,401
9,977,811

$

$

$

40,246,427
13,577,486
1,897,093
2,409,750
1,321,900
456,123
3,409,976
4,300,850
67,619,605

196,481
15,451
129,896
(4,130,270)
(3,788,442)
61,197,415

$

6,316,635
3,197,201
9,513,836

$

$

$

41,278,428
13,634,659
1,960,667
2,409,750
1,350,266
768,464
3,334,811
4,264,970
69,002,015

206,704
42,127
303,016
(4,300,850)
(3,749,003)
63,870,602

$

7,689,269
5,266,386
12,955,655

$

$

$

42,110,434
15,585,645
2,169,474
2,409,750
1,375,116
1,690,421
3,294,275
3,242,270
71,877,385

216,927
91,976
262,726
(4,264,970)
(3,693,341)
65,308,674

$

10,933,028
3,749,583
14,682,611

$

$

$

42,761,718
16,049,228
2,494,082
2,409,750
1,009,777
2,443,669
3,045,759
2,619,270
72,833,253

208,743
151,540
1,116,645
(3,242,270)
(1,765,342)
70,112,043

$

9,453,325
7,373,543
16,826,868

$

$

$

160,762
144,318
211,191
(2,619,270)
(2,102,999)
70,730,254
6,209,853
4,133,502
10,343,355

44,310,187
16,631,367
2,763,951
2,409,750
312,323
686,635
2,466,693
1,914,270
71,495,176

$

$
$
$

147,019
16,349
299,361
(1,914,270)
(1,451,541)
70,043,635
6,944,691
6,751,302
13,695,993
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Total governmental activities
Business-type activities:
Property taxes
Use of money and property
Other revenue
Transfers
Total business-type activities
Total primary government

2012
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City of Rockville, Maryland
Financial Trends Information (unaudited)
Fund Balances, Governmental Funds – Last Ten Fiscal Years
(modified accrual basis of accounting)
2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

2020

2021

General Fund
Nonspendable

$

499,301

$

1,728,224

$

1,712,687

$

1,734,918

$

1,793,249

$

793,744

$

824,326

$

786,524

$

923,482

$

850,844

Restricted

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Committed

-

-

-

-

-

-

428,000

-

100,000

270,000

Assigned
Unassigned
Total General Fund

$

510,752

220,370

342,006

772,345

984,077

739,037

1,385,354

1,015,143

740,985

992,028

9,904,002

13,226,677

15,689,079

19,916,594

21,039,026

19,643,296

19,092,844

22,733,031

22,022,347

22,869,949

10,914,055

$

-

$

15,175,271

$

1,800,000

$

17,743,772

$

1,750,728

$

22,423,857

$

23,816,352

$

21,176,077

$

1,705,709

$

1,705,709

$

1,705,709

$

21,730,524

$

-

$

24,534,698

$

-

$

23,786,814

$

-

$

24,982,821

All Other Governmental Funds
Nonspendable

$

Restricted

32,454,676

30,124,255

31,504,391

28,241,472

8,958,785

9,196,988

9,637,846

9,564,641

10,877,025

10,872,899

Committed

-

-

-

-

180,461

320,328

1,555,317

1,488,780

867,612

311,221

Assigned

-

-

-

-

15,795,046

17,467,665

24,146,176

24,877,332

21,154,242

19,174,560

Unassigned
Total Other Governmental Funds

$

32,454,676

$

31,924,255

$

33,255,119

(4,312)
$

29,942,869

(351,108)
$

26,288,893

(12,988)
$

28,677,702

(113)
$

35,339,226

(19,972)
$

35,910,781

$

32,898,879

(18,642)
$

30,340,038
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City of Rockville, Maryland
Financial Trends Information (unaudited)
Changes in Fund Balances, Governmental Funds – Last Ten Fiscal Years
(modified accrual basis of accounting)
2012
Revenues
Property taxes

$

Assessments
Revenue from other governments:

2013

35,030,305

$

315,123

Community development block grant

2014

35,447,038

$

306,197

2015

36,300,047

$

19,014

36,206,420

2016
$

13,127

2017

38,435,104

$

49,695

40,105,716

2018
$

17,306

2019

41,385,199

$

13,540

2020

42,167,988

$

13,911

2021

42,551,677

$

180

44,327,269
-

667,014

130,811

269,966

320,645

182,678

206,478

145,585

276,545

-

-

10,785,534
765,579

11,757,980
431,902

13,023,794
1,601,681

12,438,718
1,663,404

14,154,731
1,914,024

13,577,486
1,897,093

13,634,659
1,960,667

15,585,645
2,169,474

16,049,228
2,494,082

16,631,367
2,763,951

County tax duplication payment
Admissions and amusement taxes

1,894,182
1,056,916

2,116,671
1,053,387

2,116,671
1,036,536

2,116,671
993,387

2,116,671
985,525

2,409,750
1,321,900

2,409,750
1,350,266

2,409,750
1,375,116

2,409,750
1,009,777

2,409,750
312,323

Grants and other governmental revenue
Licenses and permits

3,131,504
2,809,367

2,394,019
2,510,196

2,016,584
3,179,708

2,215,514
2,604,279

3,796,415
2,919,812

3,726,575
2,927,369

3,831,943
3,085,155

4,942,651
3,464,229

4,293,669
3,594,801

4,756,260
2,832,775

Charges for services
Use of money and property

6,141,471
347,043

5,816,647
266,761

6,184,270
289,824

6,790,786
299,215

6,662,970
384,646

6,792,763
456,123

7,511,352
768,464

7,744,968
1,690,421

5,432,233
2,443,669

3,003,157
686,635

Fines and forfeitures
Other revenues

2,909,735
7,179,576

3,478,145
7,177,050

3,236,025
7,407,613

2,975,888
6,215,424

2,876,907
6,944,972

3,099,446
7,606,955

3,251,514
7,568,233

2,911,702
7,397,901

2,635,485
7,440,081

2,177,376
4,538,106

Income taxes
Gas and motor vehicle taxes

Total revenues

$

73,033,349

$

72,886,804

$

76,681,733

$

74,853,478

$

81,424,150

$

84,144,960

$

86,916,327

$

92,150,301

$

90,354,632

$

84,438,969

Expenditures
Current operations:
General government

$

14,973,284

$

14,391,806

$

14,377,671

$

14,275,094

$

15,686,607

$

16,407,663

$

16,342,618

$

17,814,977

$

18,714,782

$

18,671,868

Community development block grant
Community development

130,807
4,514,388

274,100
4,498,124

324,341
4,741,630

192,372
5,207,652

5,542,514

5,464,560

5,595,043

7,026,330

8,030,851

Public safety
Public works

10,866,513
6,539,154

11,200,748
6,909,193

11,496,594
7,384,086

11,501,814
7,303,804

12,185,400
7,750,002

12,443,786
7,230,606

12,459,492
7,327,415

13,567,548
7,612,913

12,689,749
7,789,950

12,025,397
8,403,476

Recreation and parks
Capital outlay

19,651,278
18,466,555

19,368,267
9,281,250

20,143,088
8,064,997

20,263,690
12,158,974

21,624,308
13,099,398

22,432,984
15,418,428

23,136,161
14,704,558

23,718,127
21,146,123

23,161,217
17,983,725

19,910,546
11,404,211

3,924,556

8,890,639

9,851,039

11,092,586

4,340,170

3,935,601

4,074,204

3,904,994

12,138,488

5,226,047

1,871,444
-

1,780,295
-

1,609,647
78,550

1,474,312
80,936

1,475,550
-

1,298,334
80,294

1,392,498
16,927

1,268,855
53,701

1,438,225
40,222

1,115,727
40,222

Debt service
Principal
Interest
Bond Counsel/Amortization
Total expenditures

$

80,985,212

$

76,467,393

$

77,777,896

$

83,217,181

$

81,561,459

$

Excess (deficiency) revenues over expenditures

$

(7,951,863)

$

(3,580,589)

$

(1,096,163)

$

(8,363,703)

$

(137,309)

$

$

13,457,875
(14,629,075)

$

8,759,226
(9,298,286)

$

12,147,230
(12,936,290)

$

14,610,342
(15,400,137)

$

13,397,890
(14,277,890)

$

84,790,210

$

84,918,433

$

94,682,281

$ 100,982,688

$

84,828,345

(645,250)

$

1,997,894

$

(2,531,980)

$ (10,628,056)

$

(389,376)

17,584,502
(18,344,022)

$

16,849,860
(17,746,590)

$

13,730,460
(14,877,190)

$

$

12,472,440
(14,469,170)

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers in
Transfers out
Payment to refunded bond escrow agent
Issuance of general obligation bonds

-

-

-

3,527,737

-

(5,390,020)
1,114,028

Issuance of refunding bonds
Loan Proceeds

-

5,094,444
2,636,000

5,784,588
-

6,993,596
-

-

5,429,296
-

14,855,250
(16,001,980)

6,114,807

7,054,439

-

-

-

-

8,015,000
-

1,023,272
-

Total other financing sources (uses)

$

(1,171,200)

$

7,191,384

$

4,995,528

$

9,731,538

$

(880,000)

$

393,784

$

5,218,077

$

5,907,709

$

6,868,270

$

(973,458)

Net change in fund balances

$

(9,123,063)

$

3,610,795

$

3,899,365

$

1,367,835

$

(1,017,309)

$

(251,466)

$

7,215,971

$

3,375,729

$

(3,759,786)

$

(1,362,834)

Debt Service as percentage
of non-capital expenditures

9.27%

15.88%

16.44%

17.69%

8.49%

7.54%

7.79%

7.04%

16.36%

8.64%
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667,294
4,025,134
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9.a

City of Rockville, Maryland
Revenue Capacity Information (unaudited)
Assessed and Estimated Actual Value of Taxable Property – Last Ten Fiscal Years
Fiscal
Year
Ended
June 30,
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018
2019

Real
Property
11,330,168,497
11,347,224,618
11,451,738,175
11,536,297,040
12,025,581,009
12,607,868,059
13,115,652,277
13,395,760,564

Personal
Property
426,092,660
398,979,040
409,935,282
418,533,998
422,828,843
468,851,914
450,448,415
423,664,690

Total Taxable
Assessed
Value
11,756,261,157
11,746,203,658
11,861,673,457
11,954,831,038
12,448,409,852
13,076,719,973
13,566,100,692
13,819,425,254

Total
Direct
Tax Rate
0.292
0.292
0.292
0.292
0.292
0.292
0.292
0.292

Estimated
Actual Taxable
Value
11,756,261,157
11,746,203,658
11,861,673,457
11,954,831,038
12,448,409,852
13,076,719,973
13,566,100,692
13,819,425,254

Percentage
Change
-1.5%
-0.1%
1.0%
0.8%
4.1%
5.0%
3.7%
1.9%

2020
2021

13,616,196,177
14,010,077,827

427,152,944
436,757,839

14,043,349,121
14,446,835,666

0.292
0.292

14,043,349,121
14,446,835,666

1.6%
2.9%

Note: Property is assessed at 100% and tax rates are per $100 of assessed value. For fiscal year ends June 30, 2012 to June 30, 2021, real
property and personal property figures are based on the M ontgomery County confirmation and Personal Property Assessment Report. Personal
property is taxed at a rate of 0.805.
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9.a

City of Rockville, Maryland
Revenue Capacity Information (unaudited)
Direct and Overlapping Property Tax Rates – Last Ten Fiscal Years

City

Ov erlapping Rates
Montgomery
State of

Fiscal

Total

Year

Direct

County

Maryland

2012

0.292

0.873

0.112

2013

0.292

0.907

0.112

2014

0.292

0.927

0.112

2015

0.292

0.909

0.112

2016

0.292

0.900

0.112

2017

0.292

0.940

0.112

2018

0.292

0.916

0.112

2019

0.292

0.899

0.112

2020

0.292

0.892

0.112

2021

0.292

0.888

0.112

Note: The City portion of property taxes (FY 2021 direct rate of 0.292) is fully dedicated to operating
expenditures. Property is assessed at 100%.
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9.a

City of Rockville, Maryland
Revenue Capacity Information (unaudited)
Principal Property Tax Payers – Current Year and Nine Years Ago
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2021
Ratio:

Congressional Plaza Assoc LLC
Morguard Fenestra Apts LLC
Street Retail, Inc.
Upper Rock LLC
1800 Rockv ille Residential LLC
King Farm Apartments Ph 2 LLC
JPI/KF Apt Sec 1 LLLP
MEPT Congressional Village LLC
FP Redland Technology Center LP
Duball Rockv ille LLC
Total
Total Assessable Value

Total
$
179,751,397
126,208,599
105,680,202
107,000,000
104,400,000
103,977,603
103,828,414
94,821,699
94,629,599
80,632,497
$ 1,100,930,010

Taxpayer

Assessable Base
Real

Personal

Base to Total

Property

Property

Assessable Base
1.24%
0.87%
0.73%
0.74%
0.72%
0.72%
0.72%
0.66%
0.66%
0.56%
7.62%

$

179,751,397
126,208,599
105,680,202
107,000,000
104,400,000
103,977,603
103,828,414
94,821,699
94,629,599
80,632,497
$ 1,100,930,010

$

-

$

100.00%

$ 14,446,835,666

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2012
Ratio:
Assessable Base
Total
Rockv ille Town Square (CIM Group)
King Farm Presbyterian Retirement

$

163,508,295
123,820,000

$

Taxpayer

Real

Personal

Base to Total

Property

Property

Assessable Base

163,508,295
123,820,000

$

-

1.39%
1.05%

Congressional Plaza Assoc LLC

122,970,199

122,970,199

-

1.05%

King Farm Apartments

115,168,787

114,949,397

219,390

0.98%

Realty Associates

103,953,298

103,953,298

-

0.88%

Boston Prop LTD Partnership

95,923,801

95,923,801

-

0.82%

Congressional Village Assoc LLC

95,630,900

95,475,000

155,900

0.81%

Brandywine Research LLC

83,003,280

82,999,000

4,280

0.71%

Tower-Dawson LLC

74,593,659

74,142,599

451,060

0.63%

Congressional Towers
Total
Total Assessable Value

65,674,859

65,603,199

$ 1,044,247,078

$ 1,043,344,788

$ 11,756,261,157

Source: Tax Assessment and Accounts Receivable Report provided by M ontgomery County, M D.

$

71,660

0.56%

902,290

8.88%
100.00%
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City of Rockville, Maryland
Revenue Capacity Information (unaudited)
Property Tax Levies and Collections – Last Ten Fiscal Years

Fiscal Year
Ended
June 30,
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018
2019
2020
2021

Taxes Lev ied
for the
Fiscal Year
33,366,584
33,240,633
33,405,919
34,174,382
34,644,503
36,693,505
38,193,030
39,115,621
39,759,293
40,679,013

Collected within the
Fiscal Year of the Lev y
Percentage
Amount
of Lev y
33,108,151
99.2%
32,437,136
97.6%
33,291,816
99.6%
33,785,982
98.9%
34,596,817
99.9%
36,531,512
38,097,608
39,044,064
39,657,403
40,633,479

99.6%
99.8%
99.8%
99.7%
99.9%

Collections
in Subsequent
Years
252,852
777,828
95,030
359,086
14,429
51,106
(18,948)
51,374
61,727
-

Total Collections to Date
Percentage
Amount
of Lev y
33,361,003
100.0%
33,214,964
99.9%
33,386,846
99.9%
34,145,068
99.9%
34,611,246
99.9%
36,582,618
38,078,660
39,095,438
39,719,130
40,633,479

99.7%
99.7%
99.9%
99.9%
99.9%

Note: Collections are shown net of adjustments and refunds.
Source: Tax Assessment and Accounts Receivable Report provided by M ontgomery County, M D.
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City of Rockville, Maryland
Debt Capacity Information (unaudited)
Ratios of Outstanding Debt by Type – Last Ten Fiscal Years

Gov ernmental Activ ities
General
Fiscal
Year

Obligation
Bonds

Business-Type Activ ities
General

Loan
Payable

Obligation
Bonds

Loan
Payable

Total

Percentage of

Primary
Gov ernment

Estimated
Personal Income

Per Capita

2012
2013

47,084,744
42,908,541

2,472,665

87,029,809
94,028,283

1,743,220
5,509,868

135,857,773
144,919,357

2.86%
3.16%

2,183
2,305

2014
2015

39,098,908
40,228,422

1,809,332
1,119,999

89,446,092
97,349,903

4,946,130
4,369,475

135,300,462
143,067,799

2.85%
2.72%

2,114
2,158

2016
2017
2018

36,344,961
33,580,117
35,466,495

430,666
241,333
52,000

102,077,045
100,676,067
99,024,440

3,779,524
3,175,889
2,558,165

142,632,196
137,673,406
137,101,100

2.55%
2.34%
2.26%

1,816
1,718
1,678

2019
2020

38,265,910
33,640,035

26,000
-

101,676,922
95,620,635

1,925,939
1,470,226

141,894,771
130,730,896

2.19%
1.96%

1,635
1,418

2021

28,988,553

-

108,638,498

1,147,637

138,774,688

2.32%

1,559

Note: Amounts above include unamortized bond premiums for governmental activities and business-type activities.
Source: Per capita is calculated using population estimates provided internally by the Department of Community Planning and Development
Services.
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City of Rockville, Maryland
Debt Capacity Information (unaudited)
Ratios of General Bonded Debt Outstanding – Last Ten Fiscal Years
Percentage of
General

Actual Taxable

Fiscal

Obligation

Value of

Year

Bonds

Property

2012

134,114,553

1.14%

2,155

2013

136,936,824

1.17%

2,178

2014

128,545,000

1.08%

2,008

Per Capita

2015

137,578,325

1.15%

2,075

2016

138,422,006

1.11%

2,057

2017

134,256,184

1.03%

1,963

2018

134,490,935

0.99%

1,955

2019

139,942,832

1.01%

1,970

2020

129,260,670

0.92%

1,790

2021

137,627,051

0.95%

2,051

Source: Per capita is calculated using population estimates provided internally by the Department of Community Planning and
Development Services.
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City of Rockville, Maryland
Debt Capacity Information (unaudited)
Direct and Overlapping Governmental Activities Debt

City of Rockville
Montgomery County, Maryland

Debt
Outstanding
$
28,988,553
4,368,682,858

Total direct and overlapping debt

$ 4,397,671,411

Estimated
Percentage
Applicable
100.00%
7.28%

Share of
Overlapping
Debt
$ 28,988,553
318,040,112
$ 347,028,665

Notes:
- The City is not restricted by legal debt limit.
- The percentage of overlapping debt applicable is estimated using taxable assessed property values, as reported by the State of M aryland Department of Assessments and
Taxation. Applicable percentages are based on the portion of taxable assessed property located within the City of Rockville, compared to the taxable assessed property of
M ontgomery County. The City is located entirely within the County.
- Debt for M ontgomery County was obtained from M ontgomery County, Department of Finance.
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City of Rockville, Maryland
Demographic and Economic Information (unaudited)
Demographic and Economic Statistics – Last Ten Fiscal Years
Fiscal

Personal Income

Per Capita

Year

(in thousands)

Income

Unemployment
Population

Rate

2012

4,753,622

76,372

62,243

4.91

2013

4,584,639

72,926

62,867

5.02

2014

4,745,927

74,147

64,007

4.30

2015

5,251,490

79,208

66,300

4.40

2016

5,588,457

83,038

67,300

3.70

2017

5,890,410

86,136

68,385

3.40

2018

6,069,137

88,236

68,783

3.10

2019

6,485,891

91,312

71,030

3.76

2020

6,658,654

92,225

72,200

8.20

2021

5,975,359

89,029

67,117

5.61

Notes:
- Population estimates are from City of Rockville Department of Planning and Development Services for years 2012 to
2020 Census. Per capita income is obtained from M ontgomery County.
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City of Rockville, Maryland
Demographic and Economic Information (unaudited)
Principal Employers – Current Year and Nine Years Ago

Fiscal Year 2021

Employer
Montgomery County Gov ernment
Montgomery County Board of Education
U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission
Montgomery College
W estat, Inc.
Northwestern Mutual Life Insurance Co.

Employees

Fiscal Year 2012
Percentage

Percentage

of Total

of Total

City

City

Rank

Employment

Rank

Employment

5,165

1

6.56%

Employees
4,985

1

6.66%

2,500

2

3.18%

2,500

2

3.34%

*

3

*

1,950
1,750
623

4
5
6

2.48%
2.22%
0.79%

2,000
955
*

4
6

2.67%
1.28%
*

*

*

Lockheed Martin Information Systems

565

7

0.72%

2,000

3

2.67%

City of Rockv ille

518

8

0.66%

537

9

0.72%

Choice Hotels International

500

9

0.64%

*

*

Quest Diagnostics Incorporated

500

10

0.64%

*

*

Booz Allen Hamilton

*

*

1,282

5

1.71%

Quest Software

*

*

784

7

1.05%

BAE Systems

*

*

650

8

0.87%

Adv entist Healthcare

*

*

415

10

0.55%

Total
Total Estimated City Employment
Sources: Rockville Economic Development Incorporated.
* Not applicable for the fiscal year presented.

14,071
78,700

17.88%

16,108
74,800

21.53%
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Function/Program

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

2020

2021

General Gov ernment
Mayor and Council
City Manager
City Attorney
Human Resources

3.0

3.0

3.0

3.0

3.0

3.0

3.0

3.0

3.0

3.0

28.0

28.0

25.0

25.0

25.0

32.5

28.0

27.0

27.0

27.0

6.0

6.0

6.0

6.0

6.0

6.0

6.0

6.0

7.0

7.0

10.0

10.0

10.0

10.0

11.0

11.0

11.0

12.0

12.0

12.0

Finance

29.0

29.0

29.0

28.5

29.0

21.5

19.5

18.5

18.5

18.5

Information and technology

17.5

17.5

16.5

16.0

17.0

17.0

18.0

19.0

20.0

20.0

Community dev elopment

40.6

40.6

40.6

41.0

42.0

42.0

42.0

41.0

50.0

47.0

Public Safety

87.0

87.0

89.0

89.5

89.5

88.5

91.5

92.5

85.5

86.5

Public W orks
Recreation and parks

72.7

45.0

45.5

46.0

46.0

46.0

46.0

47.0

47.5

47.5

143.1

142.6

139.9

138.5

136.7

136.7

138.1

139.1

137.1

135.3

W ater

26.0

40.0

39.0

38.6

37.6

37.6

36.7

36.0

36.0

36.0

Sewer

13.8

17.9

17.9

17.9

17.9

17.9

18.6

18.5

17.9

17.9

Refuse collection

33.3

35.8

35.8

34.8

32.8

32.8

33.5

33.5

34.2

37.2

4.0

4.0

4.0

4.0

4.0

4.0

4.0

4.0

4.0

4.0

13.4

20.4

20.4

20.5

20.5

20.5

21.0

21.0

22.9

22.9

527.4

526.8

521.6

519.3

518.0

517.0

516.9

518.1

522.6

521.8

Parking
Stormwater management
Total

- Information was obtained from the Adopted Budget, for the respective years presented.
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2012
Function/Program
Police
Vehicles
Refuse collection
Collection trucks
Other public works
Streets (miles)
Street lights
Sidewalks (miles)
Recreation and Parks
Acreage
Playgrounds
Athletic Courts
Community centers
W ater
W ater mains (miles)
Fire hydrants
Storage capacity
(millions of gallons)
Sewer
Sanitary sewers (miles)
Storm sewers (miles)

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

2020

2021

69

69

71

71

71

71

71

71

71

72

16

16

17

17

17

17

17

17

17

17

156.42
3,069
255.97

156.50
3,069
255.97

156.00
3,069
256.87

155.37
3,071
257.79

155.37
3,071
258.01

156.05
3,170
258.74

156.43
3,170
259.14

156.87
3,170
259.99

156.87
3,171
260.46

157
3,171
261

1,062
50
96
6

1,062
50
96
6

1,062
50
96
6

1,062
50
96
6

1,105
50
96
6

1,074
50
95
6

1,089
50
95
6

1,089
50
95
6

1,058
48
128
6

1,058
48
132
6

175.10
1,380
12.1

175.10
1,380
12.1

175.10
1,384
12.1

174.00
1,403
12.1

174.33
1,403
12.1

174.33
1,407
12.1

173.59
1,420
12.1

174.14
1,425
12.1

174.35
1,429
12.1

176
1,452
12

147.23
101.58

147.21
102.31

148.00
102.31

148.00
103.00

148.00
103.00

Note:
- In FY 2017, streetlight reporting was updated to include 99 lights that were omitted in previous years.

148.00
103.00

148.00
103.00

148.00
103.00

149.37
103.00

148
98
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2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

2020

2021

Function/Program
General Gov ernment
Building permits issued
Estimated Cost of Construction

757

774

813

861

811

815

840

857

704

944

$ 146,409,627

$ 163,990,730

$ 236,735,536

$ 94,420,016

$ 186,501,628

$ 167,368,076

$ 210,679,924

$ 281,563,786

$ 246,413,441

73,348,802

Police
Physical arrests
Traffic v iolations*

1,400

1,085

1,157

1,055

902

938

846

953

746

474

20,638

15,063

16,469

16,234

13,397

16,227

13,582

15,910

16,832

15,397

10,829

10,886

9,767

11,639

9,927

9,766

9,915

9,908

10,258

11,195

6,072

6,229

4,694

5,309

4,402

3,677

3,788

4,196

4,209

4,255

5,509

5,393

5,398

5,358

5,283

4,993

4,825

4,744

4,770

4,937

33,518

33,494

33,297

32,081

31,503

34,307

32,822

33,571

26,218

6,702

12,650

12,688

12,517

12,694

12,678

12,663

12,668

12,667

12,682

12,811

4.882

4.708

4.562

4.561

4.742

4.518

4.184

4.267

4.379

4.277

6.391

6.292

6.069

5.948

5.797

5.628

5.595

7.240

6.453

6.391

Refuse collection
Refuse (Disposed)
(tons per year)
Yard W aste
(composted/Mulched)
(tons per year)
Recyclables collected
(tons per year)
Recreation and Parks
Program enrollments

Number of Accounts
Av erage daily water Production
(millions of gallons)
Sewer
Av g. daily sewer treatment
(millions of gallons)

Note:
- Information was obtained from various City departments.
*Traffic violations do not include speed camera or redlight camera citations. The E-Tix system was implemented during FY12. In FY13 the traffic unit was disbanded, causing reduced traffic citations.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS
Honorable Mayor, Members of the City Council and City Manager
City of Rockville, Maryland
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental
activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information
of City of Rockville, Maryland, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2021, and the related notes to the
financial statements, which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements, and have issued
our report thereon dated October 29, 2021.
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City's internal
control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial
statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal
control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control.
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of the City’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a
timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged
with governance.
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material
weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.

CLA is an independent member of Nexia International, a leading, global network of independent
accounting and consulting firms. See nexia.com/member-firm-disclaimer for details.
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Compliance and Other Matters
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City's financial statements are free from
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations,
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on
the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not
an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests
disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under
Government Auditing Standards.
Purpose of this Report
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the
City’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the City’s internal control and
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

CliftonLarsonAllen LLP
Baltimore, Maryland
October 29, 2021
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To the Honorable Mayor, Member of the City Council and City Manager
City of Rockville, Maryland
We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities,
each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of City of Rockville, Maryland (the City)
as of and for the year ended June 30, 2021, and have issued our report thereon dated October 29,
2021. We have previously communicated to you information about our responsibilities under auditing
standards generally accepted in the United States of America and Government Auditing Standards, as
well as certain information related to the planned scope and timing of our audit. Professional standards
also require that we communicate to you the following information related to our audit.
Significant audit findings
Qualitative aspects of accounting practices
Accounting policies
Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies. The significant
accounting policies used by the City are described in Note 1 to the financial statements.
No new accounting policies were adopted and the application of existing policies was not changed
during 2021.
We noted no transactions entered into by the City during the year for which there is a lack of
authoritative guidance or consensus. All significant transactions have been recognized in the financial
statements in the proper period.
Accounting estimates
Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are
based on management’s knowledge and experience about past and current events and assumptions
about future events. Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their
significance to the financial statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting them
may differ significantly from those expected. The most sensitive estimates affecting the financial
statements were:


Management’s estimate of the depreciable lives of the capital assets is based on the
implementation guide for GASB Statement No. 34 published by the Governmental Accounting
Standards Board. We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop the
depreciable lives for capital assets in determining that it is reasonable in relation to the financial
statements taken as a whole.



Management’s estimate of the pension and other post-employment benefits (OPEB) is based on
computations performed by outside specialist, including actuarial computations and
assumptions that were relied upon to determine the Schedule of Funding Progress, Net Pension
Liability and Net OPEB Asset. We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop
the pension and other post-employment benefits (OPEB) in determining that it is reasonable in
relation to the financial statements taken as a whole.
CLA is an independent member of Nexia International, a leading, global network of independent
accounting and consulting firms. See nexia.com/member-firm-disclaimer for details.
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The Honorable Mayor, Members of the City Council and City Manager
City of Rockville, Maryland
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Management’s estimate of the claims liability incurred but not reported claims is based on
computations performed by outside specialist, including actuarial computations that were relied
upon to establish the amounts of claims liabilities under self-insurance programs. We evaluated
the key factors and assumptions used to develop the claims liabilities in determining that it is
reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole.

Financial statement disclosures
Certain financial statement disclosures are particularly sensitive because of their significance to
financial statement users. There were no particularly sensitive financial statement disclosures.
The financial statement disclosures are neutral, consistent, and clear.
Difficulties encountered in performing the audit
We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management in performing and completing our
audit.
Uncorrected misstatements
Professional standards require us to accumulate all misstatements identified during the audit, other
than those that are clearly trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate level of management.
Management did not identify and we did not notify them of any uncorrected financial statement
misstatements.
Corrected misstatements
Management did not identify and we did not notify them of any financial statement misstatements
detected as a result of audit procedures.
Disagreements with management
For purposes of this letter, a disagreement with management is a financial accounting, reporting, or
auditing matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that could be significant to the financial
statements or the auditors’ report. No such disagreements arose during our audit.
Management representations
We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the attached
management representation letter dated October 29, 2021.
Management consultations with other independent accountants
In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and
accounting matters, similar to obtaining a “second opinion” on certain situations. If a consultation
involves application of an accounting principle to the City’s financial statements or a determination of
the type of auditors’ opinion that may be expressed on those statements, our professional standards
require the consulting accountant to check with us to determine that the consultant has all the relevant
facts. To our knowledge, there were no such consultations with other accountants.
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Significant issues discussed with management prior to engagement
We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and
auditing standards, with management each year prior to engagement as the City’s auditors. However,
these discussions occurred in the normal course of our professional relationship and our responses
were not a condition to our engagement.
Other audit findings or issues
We have provided a separate letter to you dated October 29, 2021, communicating internal control
related matters identified during the audit.
Other information in documents containing audited financial statements
With respect to the required supplementary information (RSI) accompanying the financial statements,
we made certain inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the RSI, including whether
the RSI has been measured and presented in accordance with prescribed guidelines, whether the
methods of measurement and preparation have been changed from the prior period and the reasons
for any such changes, and whether there were any significant assumptions or interpretations underlying
the measurement or presentation of the RSI. We compared the RSI for consistency with management’s
responses to the foregoing inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge obtained
during the audit of the basic financial statements. Because these limited procedures do not provide
sufficient evidence, we did not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the RSI.
With respect to the Combining and Individual Fund Statements and Schedules and Budgetary
Comparison Schedules – Proprietary Funds (collectively, the supplementary information)
accompanying the financial statements, on which we were engaged to report in relation to the financial
statements as a whole, we made certain inquiries of management and evaluated the form, content, and
methods of preparing the information to determine that the information complies with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America, the method of preparing it has not
changed from the prior period or the reasons for such changes, and the information is appropriate and
complete in relation to our audit of the financial statements. We compared and reconciled the
supplementary information to the underlying accounting records used to prepare the financial
statements or to the financial statements themselves. We have issued our report thereon dated
October 29, 2021.
The Introductory and Statistical Sections accompanying the financial statements, which is the
responsibility of management, was prepared for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required
part of the financial statements. Such information was not subjected to the auditing procedures applied
in the audit of the financial statements, and, accordingly, we did not express an opinion or provide any
assurance on it.
Other information is being included in documents containing the audited financial statements and the
auditors’ report thereon. Our responsibility for such other information does not extend beyond the
financial information identified in our auditors’ report. We have no responsibility for determining whether
such other information is properly stated and do not have an obligation to perform any procedures to
corroborate other information contained in such documents. As required by professional standards, we
read the Introductory and Statistical Sections (the other information) in order to identify material
inconsistencies between the audited financial statements and the other information. We did not identify
any material inconsistencies between the other information and the audited financial statements.
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This communication is intended solely for the information and use of the Honorable Mayor, Member of
City Council, City Manager and management of City of Rockville, Maryland and is not intended to be,
and should not be, used by anyone other than these specified parties.

CliftonLarsonAllen LLP
Baltimore, Maryland
October 29, 2021
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CliftonLarsonAllen LLP
CLAconnect.com

The Honorable Mayor, Members of the City Council and City Manager
City of Rockville, Maryland
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements of City of Rockville, Maryland (the City)
as of and for the year ended June 30, 2021, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted
in the United States of America, we considered the City’s internal control over financial reporting
(internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for
the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion
on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control.
However, during our audit we became aware of a matter that is an opportunity to strengthen your
internal control and improve the efficiency of your operations. Our comment and suggestion regarding
that matter is summarized below. We previously provided a written communication dated October 29,
2021 on the City’s internal control. This letter does not affect our report on the financial statements
dated October 29, 2021, nor our internal control communication dated October 29, 2021.
Information Technology
Five computer servers are running on outdated operating systems that the software vendor no longer
supports. When an operating system reaches the “end of life,” it is likely that the vendor no longer
issues patches for security vulnerabilities. We recommend that all operating systems be updated and
patched to the latest version supported by the vendor.
Management’s Response
We were provided a list of five servers which were running outdated operating systems. Of the 5
servers, four have been decommissioned. One of them is a Windows 7 VM which is used for compiling
and applying patches to the Financial System. This VM PC is running 3rd party software components
which are not compatible with Windows 8 or higher. Any patches that are compiled on a higher OS and
3rd party components will not be compatible with the current version of the financial system.
The PC however is receiving important security updates from Microsoft through extended support. The
PC remains shutdown and it only powered on when a patch is applied. The City is looking into
upgrading the Financial System in the next couple of years.
We will review the status of this comment during our next audit engagement. We have already
discussed this comment and suggestion with various City personnel, and we will be pleased to discuss
it in further detail at your convenience, to perform any additional study of this matter, or to assist you in
implementing the recommendation.

CLA is an independent member of Nexia International, a leading, global network of independent
accounting and consulting firms. See nexia.com/member-firm-disclaimer for details.
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City of Rockville, Maryland
Page 2

This communication is intended solely for the information and use of management, the Honorable
Mayor, Members of the City Council, the City Manager, and others within the City, and is not intended
to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these specified parties.

CliftonLarsonAllen LLP
Baltimore, Maryland
October 29, 2021
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL
REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH
GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

Honorable Mayor, Members of the City Council, and City Manager
City of Rockville, Maryland

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental
activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information
of the City of Rockville, Maryland (the City), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2021, and the related
notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City
l statements and
have issued our report thereon dated October 29, 2021.
Internal Control over Financial Reporting
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City s internal
control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial
statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City internal
control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of the City
or detected and corrected on a
timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged
with governance.
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material
weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.

CLA is an independent member of Nexia International, a leading, global network of independent
accounting and consulting firms. See nexia.com/member-firm-disclaimer for details.
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Compliance and Other Matters
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City
free from
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations,
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on
the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not
an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests
disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under
Government Auditing Standards.
Purpose of this Report
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the
City
iance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards
s internal control and
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

CliftonLarsonAllen LLP
Baltimore, Maryland
October 29, 2021
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH MAJOR FEDERAL
PROGRAM, REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE AND REPORT
ON THE SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS REQUIRED
BY THE UNIFORM GUIDANCE

Honorable Mayor, Members of City Council, and City Manager
City of Rockville, Maryland

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program
We have audited the City of Rockville, Maryland
ity) compliance with the types of compliance
requirements described in the OMB Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and material
effect on each of the City
federal programs for the year ended June 30, 2021. The City
r
federal programs
lts section of the accompanying
schedule of findings and questioned costs.

Management is responsible for compliance with federal statutes, regulations, and terms and conditions
of its federal awards applicable to its federal programs.

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of the City
deral programs
based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above. We conducted our audit
of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards,
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code
of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit
Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Those standards and the Uniform Guidance
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
noncompliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct
and material effect on a major federal program occurred. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence about the City
other procedures
as we considered necessary in the circumstances.
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each major
federal program. However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of the City compliance.

CLA is an independent member of Nexia International, a leading, global network of independent
accounting and consulting firms. See nexia.com/member-firm-disclaimer for details.
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Opinion on Each Major Federal Program
In our opinion, the City complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance requirements
referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal programs for
the year ended June 30, 2021.
Report on Internal Control Over Compliance
Management of the City is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over
compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above. In planning and performing
our audit of compliance, we considered the City
e types of
requirements that could have a direct and material effect on each major federal program to determine
the auditing procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on compliance for each major federal program and to test and report on internal control over
compliance in accordance with Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of internal control over compliance. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the
effectiveness of the City
A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their
assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance
requirement of a federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over
compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such
that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement
of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant
deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in
internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less
severe than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit
attention by those charged with governance.
Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over
compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. We did not identify any
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses. However,
material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.
The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our
testing of internal control over compliance and the result of that testing based on the requirements of
the Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.
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Report on Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards Required by the Uniform Guidance
We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, business-type activities, each
major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City as of and for the year ended
June 30, 2021, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City
basic financial statements. We issued our report thereon dated October 29, 2021, which contained
unmodified opinions on those financial statements. Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming
opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise the basic financial statements. The
accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards is presented for purposes of additional
analysis as required by the Uniform Guidance and is not a required part of the basic financial
statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements.
The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial
statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements
or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the schedule of
expenditures of federal awards is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial
statements as a whole.

CliftonLarsonAllen LLP
Baltimore, Maryland
November 22, 2021

Attachment 9.e: Attachment E_FY21 Report on Single Audit [Revision 1] (3971 : Fiscal Year 2021 Audited Annual Comprehensive Financial

Honorable Mayor, Members of the City Council, and City Manager
City of Rockville, Maryland

(5)

Packet Pg. 172

CITY OF ROCKVILLE, MARYLAND
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
JUNE 30, 2021
CFDA

Pass-through
Entity Identifying

Passed
through to

Federal

Number

Number

Subrecipients

Expenditures

93.045

None

Federal Grantor/Pass-Through Grantor/
Program or Cluster Title/ Grant Name
Department of Health and Human Services
Administered Through Montgomery County:
Senior Nutrition Grant
Total Aging Cluster

$

-

$

Total Department of Health and Human Services

6,591
6,591
6,591

Department of Housing and Urban Development
Administered Through Montgomery County:
Community Development Block Grant - Year 45
Total CDBG - Entitlement Grant Cluster

14.218

1108455

-

236,096
236,096

Total Department of Housing and Urban Development

236,096

Department of Justice
Bulletproof Vest Partnership - 2017
Total Department of Justice
Department of Treasury
Administered Through Montgomery County:
Coronavirus Relief Fund
Total Department of Treasury
Department of Transportation
Administered Through Maryland State Highway Administration:
Motor Carrier Safety Grant
Motor Carrier Safety Grant
Total Motor Carrier Safety Grant
Intermodal Access Grant - Baltimore Road Project
Total Highway Planning and Construction Cluster
Administered Through Maryland Highway Safety Office:
Law Enforcement Highway Safety Grant
Law Enforcement Highway Safety Grant
Total Highway Safety Cluster

16.607

2017-BUBX17085848

-

7,055
7,055

21.019

None

-

51,913
51,913

20.218
20.218

AX077A9C
AX077A9F

-

13,619
9,685
23,304

20.205

MO446ZM1

-

364,447
364,447

20.600
20.616

21-190 / 21-191
20-199 / 21-189

-

3,833
5,685
9,518

Total Department of Transportation

397,269

Federal Emergency Management Agency
Administered through Maryland Emergency Management Agency
Coronavirus Relief Fund
Total Federal Emergency Management Agency
Office of Child Care
Administered Through Maryland State Department of Education:
Child Care Pandemic Relief Grant
Total Office of Child Care
Department of Homeland Security
Administered Through Montgomery County:
State Homeland Security Grant
Total Department of Homeland Security
Total Federal Awards

97.036

None

-

229,105
229,105

93.575

2001MDCCC5

-

16,600
16,600

97.067

None

-

15,028
15,028
$

959,657

Attachment 9.e: Attachment E_FY21 Report on Single Audit [Revision 1] (3971 : Fiscal Year 2021 Audited Annual Comprehensive Financial

9.e

See accompanying Notes to Schedule of Federal Awards.
(6)

Packet Pg. 173

CITY OF ROCKVILLE, MARYLAND
NOTES TO SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
JUNE 30, 2021

NOTE 1

SINGLE AUDIT REPORTING ENTITY
The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards (SEFA) presents the
expenditures of all federal award programs of City of Rockville, Maryland (the City) for the
year ended June 30, 2021.

NOTE 2

BASIS OF ACCOUNTING
The accompanying SEFA has been prepared using the modified accrual basis of accounting
as fully described in the Summary of Significant Accounting Policies accompanying the City
basic financial statements. The information in this schedule is presented in accordance with
the requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative
Requirements, Cost Principals and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform
Guidance), with the exception of CFDA 21.019, which follows the criteria determined by the
Department of Treasury for allowability of costs. Therefore, some amounts presented in this
schedule may differ from amounts presented in, or used in, the preparation of the basic
financial statements.

NOTE 3

RECONCILIATION TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Amounts reported in the accompanying SEFA agree with amounts reported on the C
financial statements and the related federal financial reports submitted by the City.

NOTE 4

INDIRECT COST RATE
The City has not elected to use the 10 percent de minimis indirect cost rate allowed under
Uniform Guidance.
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CITY OF ROCKVILLE, MARYLAND
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS
JUNE 30, 2021

Section I

Summary of Independent Au

Financial Statements
Type of auditors report issued: Unmodified
Internal control over financial reporting:
Material weakness(es) identified?
Significant deficiency(ies) identified that are not
considered to be material weaknesses?
Noncompliance material to financial statements noted?

___ yes

X

no

___ yes
___ yes

X
X

none reported
no

___ yes

X

no

___ yes

X

none reported

Federal Grant Awards
Internal control over major programs:
Material weakness(es) identified?
Significant deficiency(ies) identified that are not
considered to be material weakness(es)?

Type of auditors report issued on compliance for major programs: Unmodified
Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be reported in
accordance with 2 CFR 200.516(a)?
___ yes

X

no

Identification of major programs:
CFDA Number(s)
14.218
97.036

Name of Federal Program or Cluster
Community Development Block Grant
FEMA Coronavirus Relief Funds

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between type A and type B programs: $750,000
Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee?

___ yes

X

no
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CITY OF ROCKVILLE, MARYLAND
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS (CONTINUED)
JUNE 30, 2021

Section II

Financial Statement Findings

None

Section III

Findings and Questioned Costs for Federal Grant Programs

None
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Mayor & Council Meeting Date: December 20, 2021
Agenda Item Type: Adoption
Department: PDS - Development Review
Responsible Staff: Nelson Ortiz

Subject
Adoption of Resolution to Approve, with Conditions, Project Plan Application PJT2020-00012, to
Allow Up to 350 Multifamily Units Instead of Office Development on an Undeveloped Property
Within the Fallsgrove Comprehensive Planned Development (CPD) at 1800 Research Boulevard;
Key West Center Fallsgrove LLC, Applicants

Recommendation
Recommend adoption of the proposed Resolution.

Overview
Case:

Key West Center at Fallsgrove – Project Plan PJT2020-00012

Location:

Parcel 37, Grassland ETC Subdivision
1800 Research Boulevard

Staff:

Nelson Ortiz, Principal Planner
Planning and Development Services
240.314.8227
nortiz@rockvillemd.gov
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Applicant:
Filing Date:

Key West Fallsgrove, LLC c/o Lerner Enterprises
February 5, 2020

Discussion
Updates since the Discussion and Instruction Hearing
At the December 6, 2021 Discussion and Instruction Hearing, Mayor and Council directed staff
to strike condition #3 and to include the applicant’s proposed condition #13, as modified below.
Staff has drafted the attached Resolution and made updates to the recommended conditions as
outlined below.
Conditions
Planning and Zoning
1. The Project must be designed in a manner consistent with the development standards
located within the tables on the Concept Site Development Plan, dated January 10, 2020, all
associated exhibits, and generally consistent with the graphic conceptual representation
shown on that same plan drawing.
2. The existing office use designated for the Property shall remain as a valid approval until
such time that the first building permit is issued for the development of the proposed
residential use on the Property.
Department of Public Works
3. Prior to Level 2 Site Plan approval, the Applicant must identify all existing encumbrances on
the property and, prior to DPW permit issuance, revise all necessary deeds, easements,
agreements, dedications, covenants, and declarations to conform with the Project Plan and
Site Plan approvals, as determined by DPW.
4. A Pre-App SWM Concept must be approved prior to submission of the Level 2 Site Plan and
Development SWM Concept. The development’s Stormwater Management Concept must
be approved prior to Level 2 Site Plan approval.
5. A Safe Conveyance Study must be approved prior to Site Plan approval. The Pre-App SWM
Approval letter will establish the study points of the safe conveyance analysis. However, this
analysis may be concurrent with the Development SWM Concept.
6. A Water & Sewer Authorization must be approved prior to Level 2 Site Plan approval. The
application must demonstrate the proposed change in use from approved office to
residential. If the plan results in a net reduction in Average Wastewater Flow, or results in
an increase less than 10,000 gallons per day (gpd), no further review will be required and a
positive finding can be provided for the Adequate Public Facilities Ordinance.
7. A Preliminary Sediment Control Plan must be approved prior to site plan approval.
Traffic and Transportation
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8. In accordance with the approved Rockville Bikeway Master Plan, the Applicant must
construct a buffered 10-foot-wide shared use path along the entire Property frontage on
Research Boulevard.
Forestry
9. All requirements of the Forest and Tree Preservation Ordinance and related forestry
guidelines must be met at the time of Level 2 Site Plan approval.

Public Art
10. An application pursuant to the publicly-accessible art in private development ordinance
must be approved prior to building permit issuance, and the fulfillment of the ordinance
prior to the occupancy permit.
Fire Marshal
11. At the time of site plan application submittal, the applicant must provide: (1) a fire
protection site plan; (2) a turning template for parking lot drive lanes; (3) dimensions,
roadway widths, and parking lot driveway widths; (4) location of all new or existing fire
department hydrants with dimensions of distances proposed to/from the building(s); (5)
proposed location of fire department connection (FDC); and (6) proposed location for fire
department access box (knox-box).
MPDUs
12. The Applicant will provide either i) the minimum percentage (15%) of MPDUs adopted by
the Mayor and Council for new residential projects in the City of Rockville pursuant to the
pending draft Ordinance to amend the MPDU law introduced on November 8, 2021; or (ii) if
such pending draft Ordinance is not adopted by June 30, 2022, such MPDUs as are currently
required for new residential projects in the City of Rockville.
Analysis
The Mayor and Council were not in favor of requiring a commercial / retail component on-site,
citing unknown market conditions at the time of occupancy. Instead, they recommended that
the Applicant provide other creative use alternatives on this site. The Mayor and Council were
supportive of the MPDU condition, with the language as recommended by staff, as the 15%
MPDU requirement helps to address the shortage of affordable housing in the City of Rockville.

Background
The following project background and details were previously provided in the Public Hearing
and Discussion and Instruction reports with additions related to the feedback at those
meetings.
Pursuant to Zoning Ordinance Section 25.14.07 Planned Development Zones, FG Office Group,
LLC (a Lerner Enterprises affiliate), the “Applicant” is seeking approval from the Mayor and
Council to amend the Fallsgrove Comprehensive Planned Development (“CPD”) Governing
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Documents for a change of use – from office R&D to multi-family residential use – for a portion
of the Fallsgrove development located at 1800 Research Boulevard, at the southwest corner of
the intersection of Research Boulevard and West Gude Drive.
As background, among other features, the Fallsgrove CPD was authorized for the construction
of up to 1,530 dwelling units, 150,000 square feet of neighborhood commercial/retail space,
and 950,000 square feet of office/R&D space. Of the 950,000 square feet, general office space
was capped at 425,000 square feet, with building heights of no more than 125 feet. For
residential multi-family developments, dwelling units were limited to between 612 and 765
units, with building heights of no more than 65 feet.
The subject site is currently designated for up to 210,981 square feet of new office
development, pursuant to the reconfiguration of uses approved via an amendment to the CPD
approved by Resolution No. 21-05. A site plan for an eight-story office building was previously
approved twice by the Planning Commission for this location. However, no construction
commenced, and the site plan approvals expired.
The Applicant seeks to amend the CPD as it applies to the subject property as follows:
•
•
•

Allow a residential development on the site in lieu of the designated office use;
Permit up to 350 multi-family residential units, which will exceed both the total amount of
residential units, as well as the maximum number of multi-family dwelling units permitted
within Fallsgrove; and
Exceed the height limitation for residential multi-family buildings with a proposed building
height of 76 feet.

No other changes to the CPD are proposed.
Project Details
The Applicant proposes a multi-family residential building of 365,000 gross square feet to
accommodate up to 350 dwelling units (“Project”). The building will rise five stories above a
parking podium to a height of 76 feet. The floorplan is organized in a manner that frames two
outdoor courtyards. The western courtyard features a pool above a 2-level parking deck. The
ground level eastern courtyard fronting Research Boulevard includes a patio, picnic area,
passive recreational spaces, and green space. A proposed playground is located on the
building’s south side. Nearly 47% (142,668 square feet) of the subject property would remain as
open space, of which 19% (59,540.5 square feet) would function as public use space. Much of
the public use space is concentrated on the northern end of the property in an approximately
19,000 square foot pocket park. A shared use path lines the Property’s Research Boulevard
frontage.
As this is the Project Plan phase, the design of the building is still conceptual. However,
proposed renderings show façade materials which include brick veneer, metal and cement
panels, and glass. The applicant describes it as “mediat[ing] between the highly-glazed and
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contemporary office buildings in the immediate context of Research Boulevard and the NeoTraditional design principles of Fallsgrove.”
Two entrances would provide access from Research Boulevard, aligning with corresponding
entrances located across the street. A total of 525 vehicle parking spaces, divided between
surface parking spaces to the north and west of the building and garage spaces, would be
provided. Garage entrances would be located on the southern and western ends of the
building. One hundred and seventeen long-term bicycle parking spaces would be provided
inside the garage and 7 short-term spaces would be placed near the southern building
entrance. A new bus shelter would replace the existing bus stop along Research Boulevard.
Rationale for Change of Use
The Applicant’s Statement of Justification (“Statement”) indicates that the change to residential
use is driven by the limited marketability of office space. According to the Statement, the
proposal reflects “unsuccessful efforts to market the Property for office use for more than a
decade due to the lack of market interest, coupled with the challenges the Applicant has had in
leasing their two office buildings in Fallsgrove proper, are the driving forces behind the subject
Project Plan Amendment.” An inability to secure interest in the property, the high vacancy rates
for two area office buildings (14955 and 14995 Shady Grove Road), as well as a market study
prepared by Avison Young, a commercial real estate firm, were referenced as evidence of the
challenging office market.
Additionally, the applicant noted that Fallsgrove has already achieved much of the mixed-use
vision for the area. Fallsgrove has been improved with a variety of uses, including
approximately 1,411 residences, 275,000 square feet of office, and 125,000 square feet of retail
and two hotels. Two sites north of Gude Drive and east of West Montgomery Avenue, which
are also designated for Office / Research and Development (R&D), remain undeveloped. As
such, the change of commercial to residential should not detract from the mixed-use
aspirations for Fallsgrove.
Although residential use is now proposed, the Applicant has asked to retain the ability to
construct an office development, should market conditions prove more favorable. Staff is
supportive of this flexibility – allowing the Applicant to retain the office designation – until such
time as a building permit is issued for the proposed residential use.
Site Description
The vacant site is 7.03 acres (306,227 square feet) and is a component of the larger 254-acre
Fallsgrove development. It is zoned PD-FG (Planned Development – Fallsgrove), with the
assigned equivalent zone of MXE (Mixed-Use Employment). It is located to the southwest of the
Research Boulevard and West Gude Drive intersection. To the site’s immediate north (across
West Gude Drive) and to the west is City-owned forested open space, to the south is the
Westat office complex, and to the east of the site (across Research Boulevard) are various office
buildings. The site is located on the eastern edge of Fallsgrove, separated from the center of
Fallsgrove mixed-use development by West Montgomery Avenue.
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Mayor and Council History
The original approval for the existing Fallsgrove Planned Development was approved on
February 22, 2000 under Resolution No. 1-00.
An amendment to the original Fallsgrove Planned Development was approved on August 1,
2005 under Resolution No. 21-05.
Mayor and Council held an informational briefing on June 22, 2020.
On November 1, 2021, Mayor and Council held the first advertised public hearing. Members of
the public had an opportunity to submit written testimony and speak before the Mayor and
Council. Four members of the public submitted written testimony (see attachment) to express
support for the project and one citizen spoke in favor of the proposed multi-family
development, and more generally, of housing in the City of Rockville. Councilmembers made
general statements and forwarded questions to staff related to the project proposal in
anticipation of the discussion and instruction hearing scheduled for December 6, 2021.
The Mayor and Council held the Discussion and Instruction Hearing on this Project Plan
proposal on December 6, 2021. The Mayor and Council provided direction and instructed staff
to conditionally approve the development proposal and prepare a Resolution for the Mayor
and Council to consider at this meeting. The Resolution has been attached to this report.

Public Notification and Engagement
Notification of the Mayor & Council Public Hearing was made consistent with City Code
requirements. In addition, in accordance with Section 25.05.03.c and 25.07.03.c of the Zoning
Ordinance, written notice of the Planning Commission public review of the Project Plan
Application PJT2020-00012 was sent to nearby property owners. The Applicant affirmed, via
submission of required affidavits, that both written and electronic public notification was
provided for all area and public meetings on the subject Project Plan application. Staff has
received no correspondence from the public regarding this proposal.
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Pre-Application Area Meeting was held on July 29, 2019
Post-Application Area Meeting was held on March 8, 2020
Planning Commission Informational Briefing was held on April 8, 2020
Mayor and Council Informational Briefing was held on June 22, 2020
Planning Commission meeting on the project plan was held on April 14, 2021
Mayor and Council Public Hearing was held on November 1, 2021
Mayor and Council Discussion and Instruction Hearing was held on December 6, 2021

Planning Commission / Mayor and Council Briefings
At two separate meetings, on April 8, 2020, and June 22, 2020, the Applicant presented the
proposed project to the Planning Commission and Mayor and Council, respectively. At these
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briefing sessions, the Planning Commission and Mayor and Council offered suggestions
concerning the Plan design and asked questions related to the location and utilization of the
open and public use spaces, building design, unit sizes, proximity to bus stop, and bikeway path
along Research Blvd., to name a few. Both the Planning Commission and the Mayor and Council
were generally supportive of the application and expressed no significant concerns with the
proposal.

Boards and Commissions Review
Staff recommended to the Planning Commission that the project include a commercial or retail
component on-site to advance the Comprehensive Plan’s objectives of increasing walkability in
areas around the city by encouraging developments rich with amenity and gathering spaces to
which the public could easily walk. In addition, the 2017 Urban Land Institute’s Technical
Advisory Panel had recommended that amenities such as retail in this area should be
considered.
The Planning Commission reviewed the application at its meeting of April 14, 2021 and
recommended approval of the application, subject to the conditions in the staff report, except
for condition number three (3) related to the inclusion of a commercial or retail component.
The Planning Commission questioned whether a small, singular retail space could thrive
without the presence and synergy of other retail spaces. Furthermore, the Planning
Commission believed the retail could potentially be underserved by the residents of the
proposed residential development, and in turn pose hardship on the Applicant to retain a
successful tenant.
The Planning Commission further recommended that the Applicant introduce food trucks, popup shops, or other creative alternatives to satisfy the Comprehensive Plan’s vision for this
location.

Next Steps
If the Mayor and Council approve the proposed Resolution, the Project Plan application is
approved, and the Applicant may proceed with the Level 2 Site Plan phase of the development
review process.

Attachments
Attachment 10.a:
Attachment 10.b:
Attachment 10.c:
Attachment 10.d:
Attachment 10.e:

PJT2020-00012 Key West at Fallsgrove Resolution-Final DRAFT
Resolution Attachments
(PDF)
Aerial Map
(PDF)
Zoning Map (PDF)
Concept Site Plan
(PDF)

(PDF)
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Attachment 10.f:
Attachment 10.g:
Attachment 10.h:
Attachment 10.i:
Attachment 10.j:

Landscape Plan
(PDF)
Project Plan Application
(PDF)
Concept Building Elevations and Floor Plans (PDF)
Applicant Statement of Justification (PDF)
Written Testimony (PDF)
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Resolution No. ____

RESOLUTION:

To approve, with conditions, Project
Plan Application PJT2020-00012

WHEREAS, under Chapter 25 of the Rockville City Code, the Mayor and Council of
Rockville (“Mayor and Council”) is authorized to review project plan applications; and
WHEREAS, on February 5, 2020, the Applicant, Key West Fallsgrove, LLC c/o Lerner
Enterprises (“Applicant”), filed Project Plan Application PJT2020-00012 (“Project Plan
Application” or “Application”), pursuant to Section 25.07.07 of the Zoning Ordinance, to amend the
Planned Development to allow a residential development in lieu of the designated office use, with up to 350 multifamily residential units, of which 15% are expected to be Moderately Priced Dwelling Units per condition 12,
and a maximum building height of 76 feet (the “Project”), on approximately 7.03 acres of property
located at 1800 Research Boulevard (the “Property”); and
WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 25.07.05 of the Zoning Ordinance, the applicant met all
notice requirements and conducted two public area meetings: a pre-application area meeting held
during the pre-application process on July 29, 2019, and a post-application area meeting held on
March 8, 2020, following submittal of the Application; and
WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 25.07.07 of the Zoning Ordinance, the Planning
Commission and the Mayor and Council received briefings on the Application on April 8, 2020
and June 22, 2020, respectively; and
WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 25.07.07 of the Zoning Ordinance, the Planning
Commission, at its April 14, 2021 meeting, reviewed the Application, and after considering the
information presented and testimony provided, voted to recommend that the Mayor and Council
approve the Application subject to the forthcoming conditions, with the exception of condition
number three (3) related to the inclusion of a commercial or retail component; and
WHEREAS, pursuant to Sections 25.05.03, 25.07.03, and 25.07.07 of the Zoning
Ordinance, the Mayor and Council held a duly noticed public hearing on the Application on
November 1, 2021, at which the Mayor and Council heard testimony and received evidence on the
Application; and
WHEREAS, on December 6, 2021, the Mayor and Council held a public meeting on the
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Application, at which the Mayor and Council discussed the proposed application and provided
instructions to staff on next steps; and
WHEREAS, on December 20, 2021, the Mayor and Council held a public meeting on the
Application, at which the Mayor and Council voted to approve the Application subject to certain
conditions.
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Mayor and Council approves Project
Plan No. PJT2020-00012, to allow a residential development on the Property in lieu of the designated office
use, with up to 350 multi-family residential units, of which 15% are expected to be Moderately Priced Dwelling
Units per condition 12, and a maximum building height of 76, or, alternatively, no more than 213,000
square feet of office development on the Property, subject to the following conditions:
1. The Project must be designed in a manner consistent with the development standards located
within the tables on the Concept Site Development Plan, dated January 10, 2020, all
associated exhibits, and generally consistent with the graphic conceptual representation
shown on that same plan drawing.
2. The existing office use designated for the Property shall remain as a valid approval until
such time that the first building permit is issued for the development of the proposed
residential use on the Property.
3. Prior to Level 2 Site Plan approval, the Applicant must identify all existing encumbrances
on the property and, prior to DPW permit issuance, revise all necessary deeds, easements,
agreements, dedications, covenants, and declarations to conform with the Project Plan and
Site Plan approvals, as determined by DPW.
4. A Pre-App SWM Concept must be approved prior to submission of the Level 2 Site Plan
and Development SWM Concept. The development’s Stormwater Management Concept
must be approved prior to Level 2 Site Plan approval.
5. A Safe Conveyance Study must be approved prior to Site Plan approval. The Pre -App SWM
Approval letter will establish the study points of the safe conveyance analysis. However,
this analysis may be concurrent with the Development SWM Concept.
6. A Water & Sewer Authorization must be approved prior to Level 2 Site Plan approval. The
application must demonstrate the proposed change in use from approved office to
residential. If the plan results in a net reduction in Average Wastewater Flow, or results in
an increase less than 10,000 gallons per day (gpd), no further review will be required and a
positive finding can be provided for the Adequate Public Facilities Ordinance.
7. A Preliminary Sediment Control Plan must be approved prior to site plan approval.
8. In accordance with the approved Rockville Bikeway Master Plan, the Applicant must
construct a buffered 10-foot-wide shared use path along the entire Property frontage on
2
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Research Boulevard.
9. All requirements of the Forest and Tree Preservation Ordinance and related forestry
guidelines must be met at the time of Level 2 Site Plan approval.
10. An application pursuant to the publicly-accessible art in private development ordinance must
be approved prior to building permit issuance and the fulfillment of the ordinance prior to
the occupancy permit.
11. At the time of site plan application submittal, the applicant must provide: (1) a fire protection
site plan; (2) a turning template for parking lot drive lanes; (3) dimensions, roadway widths,
and parking lot driveway widths; (4) location of all new or existing fire department hydrants
with dimensions of distances proposed to/from the building(s); (5) proposed location of fire
department connection (FDC); and (6) proposed location for fire department access box
(knox-box).
12. The Applicant will provide either i) the percentage (15%) of MPDUs adopted by the Mayor
and Council for new residential projects in the City of Rockville pursuant to the pending
draft Ordinance to amend the MPDU law introduced on November 8, 2021 ; or (ii) if such
pending draft Ordinance is not adopted by November 1, 2022, such MPDUs as currently
required for new residential projects in the City of Rockville.
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT for the purposes of this Resolution, the approved
Project Plan means this Resolution and the exhibits to this Resolution listed below and attached
hereto, including notations, references, descriptions, and writings on the Exhibits , except as
modified by the above conditions of approval:
1. Exhibit A: Project Plan dated January 10, 2020;
2. Exhibit B: Concept Building Elevations and Floor Plans;
3. Exhibit C: Fallsgrove Concept Plan, Resolution 1-00
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT, having considered the recommendations and
findings of its Staff as presented at the public meetings on this Application and as set forth in the
Staff Reports on the Application presented to the Mayor and Council at its November 1, 2021,
December 6, 2021 and December 20, 2021 meetings, which the Mayor and Council hereby adopt
and incorporate by reference, except as modified herein, and upon consideration of the entire
administrative record, the Mayor and Council, pursuant to Section 25.07.01.b.2 of the Zoning
Ordinance, finds and determines, with the above conditions of approval, that:
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1. The Application does not adversely affect the health or safety of persons residing or
working in the neighborhood of the proposed project.
The Application, and particularly the shift from office to residential use on the Property, will
not be detrimental to the health and safety of persons working or living in the neighborhood of the
Property. As described by City staff, the change would, in fact, decrease potential traffic impact
on the road infrastructure in this area, and add a number of public amenities, including a new
pocket park along the northern end of the property easily accessible from the Millennium Trail and
shared use path along the Research Boulevard frontage for the use and enjoyment of the public,
and two courtyards and a children’s playground for use by the residents of the development. These
improvements will improve both pedestrian safety and access to public amenities for persons
residing or working in the neighborhood of the proposed project.
2. The Application is not in conflict with the Plan;
Given the recommendations from the Rockville 2040 Comprehensive Plan, a residential use
would not be in conflict with the Plan. The Project is consistent with the Land Use Policy Map, the
Zoning Recommendations, and the Urban Design Recommendations in the 2040 plan. The Project
will contribute toward a pedestrian-oriented, urban-scale streetscape. It orients primary building
facades and front doors toward the street and public open space. The Project will include ground
enhanced pedestrian areas and amenities, attractive landscaping, and bicycle infrastructure,
consistent with the Plan.
3. The Application will not overburden existing and programmed public facilities as set forth

in Article 20 of the Zoning Ordinance and as provided in the adopted Adequate Public
Facilities Standards;
As required per Section 25.20.03.a.3. of the Ordinance, the Application is subject to a
determination of adequate public facilities compliance for the proposed changes. The proposal is
compliant with all requirements of the Adequate Public Facilities Ordinance (APFO) in that the
Applicant has adequate means to obtain sewer and water service to the site and meets the
transportation and school capacity requirements of the Adequate Public Facilities Standards
(APFS).
Based on City staff’s analysis under the City’s Comprehensive Transportation Review
guidelines, the Project will not have a detrimental impact on the existing and planned
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transportation network. Based on the trip generation comparison, the change from office
development to residential development will result in the generation of fewer than 30 new peak
hour vehicle trips. Further, the proposed residential development of 350 multi-family dwelling
units, or the 213,000 SF of approved office space development, whichever is constructed, will be
served adequately by the existing roadways and public transit services, and by the existing and
proposed pedestrian and bicycle facilities.
Water and Sewer Authorization approval from the Department of Public Works (DPW) for
connection to the City’s water and sanitary sewer systems will be provided at the Site Plan approval
stage. The Water and Sewer Authorization letter will identify capacity constraints and lists projectspecific conditions of approval. The Applicant will construct a netwo rk of water and sanitary sewer
infrastructure to serve the development and may be required to construct off-site improvements to
mitigate the capacity deficiencies created as a result of increased demand generated by the
development.
Stormwater Management (SWM) for this project will be provided for all new and replaced
impervious area as required by Chapter 19 of the Rockville City Code. On -site SWM is being
provided by the applicant through the construction of Environmental Site Design (ESD) measures,
including micro-bioretention facilities. The Applicant is providing 100% of the required
environmental site design volume (ESDv). If necessary, the safe conveyance of storm drainage
will be analyzed by the Applicant and provided through the mitigation of storm drain capacity
deficiencies.
The Property is served by the Richard Montgomery Cluster Area schools (Ritchie Park
Elementary, Julius West Middle School, and Richmond Montgomery High School). Using the
Montgomery County Student Generation Rates, FY2022-2023, the proposed 350-unit proposal
will generate the following number of students: 18 students at the elementary school grade level,
8 students at the middle school level, and 11 students at the high school level. The current school
standards of the APFS utilize a seat deficit and capacity percentage calculation to determine
adequacy. The permitted capacity level is 120% and no more than a 110-seat capacity deficit in
elementary and 180-seat capacity deficit in middle. The Application meets these standards for the
elementary and middle schools. At the high school level, Richard Montgomery HS is projected to
be below 120 percent of the projected program capacity in the City’s school test year (the 202627 school year) due to the additional capacity provided by the new high school at Crown. The new
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high school is an approved project in the Montgomery County Public Schools FY22 Educational
Master Plan and Capital Improvements Program, with capacity becoming available in the Fall of
2026.
4. The Application does not constitute a violation of any provision of the Zoning Ordinance
or other applicable law; or
The Application complies with all provisions of the Zoning Ordinance in that a detailed
concept plan has been submitted with associated tables and graphics that wou ld act as the
development regulations for the area at the time the site plan is submitted for review and approval.
Parking, lighting, building height, open space, public use space, and landscaping for the
Application are all in accord with the City's requirements, as illustrated by the attached plans.
The Application is in keeping with the recommended design guidelines in Sections 25.13.06
and 25.13.07.c. The building’s massing and design are aesthetic and visually interesting. The
architectural styling extends to all sides of the building and the building features projecting
elements, framed courtyards in the front and rear of the building, and a mix of materials that
include glass, brick veneer, and metal and cementitious panels. The Project engages well with the
surrounding community. In addition to including structured parking, surface parking would be
located to the side and rear of the building and would be screened with landscaping. Structured
parking facades would complement the general building appearance. Along Research Boulevard,
the building would engage the street in sections that would break up the massing. The Project
would provide convenient access into the site through two driveways along Research Boulevard.
A shared use path along Research Boulevard, connections to the Carl Henn Millennial Trail,
sidewalks, and an enhanced bus stop would support pedestrian and bicyclist movement. Loading
docks, utility services, transformers and trash areas would be located along the south and west
sides of the building, obscured from Research Boulevard.
There is no forest conservation requirement for this Project since the forest conservation
requirement was met with the overall Fallsgrove development. Instead, a tree save plan showing
tree replacements has been submitted and approved.
Per the letter submitted on November 18, 2021, the Applicant proposes a condition to
provide 15% MPDUs should the draft ordinance be adopted by Mayor and Council by June 30,
2022. If not, the Applicant will meet the current requirement of providing 12.5% MPDUs on-site.
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The proposed distribution of all MPDUs will be determined at the site plan review phase of the
project, and the MPDUs shall be evenly distributed throughout the project.
5. The Application does not adversely affect the natural resources or environment of the City
or surrounding areas.
The Project will not adversely affect the natural resources or environment. The Project will
provide on-site stormwater management, and the forest conservation requirements under City Code
Section 10.5-22 would be satisfied. No impacts are expected to the adjacent stream valley and forest
conservation easement.

***********************
I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct copy
of a Resolution adopted by the Mayor and Council at its meeting of
December 20, 2021.
Sara Taylor-Ferrell
City Clerk/Director of Council Operations
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JUSTIFICATION STATEMENT
FG Office Group, LLC
Parcel 37, Grassland ETC Subdivision
Fallsgrove Planned Development
Comprehensive Planned Development Concept Plan Application CPD99-0004
PROJECT PLAN AMENDMENT APPLICATION
JANUARY 10, 2020
Updated February 17, 2021

On behalf of FG Office Group, LLC (a Lerner Enterprises affiliate) (the “Applicant”) the
attached application proposes to amend the current Comprehensive Planned Development
Concept Plan Application CPD99-0004 (“CPD”) (Resolution No. 1-00) pursuant to a Project
Plan Amendment, for the property known as Parcel 37, Grassland ETC Subdivision, at the
southwest corner of West Gude Drive and Research Boulevard (with no designated address) (the
“Property”).
The Project Plan Amendment seeks approval to develop the Property to
accommodate up to 350 residential units (the “Project”). As part of this application, the
Applicant requests that the current commercial office designation be retained, in the remote
chance that there is a future resurgence of the commercial office market.

I.

PROPERTY DESCRPTION, ZONING AND BACKGROUND

The Property consists of 7.03 acres (306,227 square feet) and is part of the 254 acre
Fallsgrove development that involved the comprehensive redevelopment of the Thomas Farm.
The Property is zoned PD-FG (planned development, Fallsgrove) and was designated for
210,981 square feet of office development, pursuant to an amendment to the CPD (Resolution
No. 21-05). As discussed in greater detail below, the Applicant has determined that the
commercial real estate office market cannot support an office building at this location and thus
has decided to pursue approval to accommodate residential development on the Property. The
Property’s assigned “equivalent zoning” is MXE (mixed use employment). Pursuant to Zoning
Ordinance Section 25.14.07, Project Plan Amendment approval by the Mayor and Council is
required in order to amend the Fallsgrove Planned Development Governing Documents to
accommodate the requested residential development on the Property. As discussed below, the
proposed residential development is consistent with the development standards of the MXE
Zone.

3475437.6
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The Property is located immediately to the east of the City owned forested open space, to
the north of the Westat office complex, to the west across Research Boulevard from various
office buildings and to the south across West Gude Drive from City owned open space.

II.

PROPOSED PLAN
A.

Architecture

The Applicant is proposing the development of a multi-family building with up to 350
units (365,000 gross square feet). The building will be five stories provided over podium
parking with a maximum height of 76 feet. Approximately 525 parking spaces will be provide
with approximately 309 garage spaces and approximately 141 surface parking spaces.
Two
substantial amenity spaces will be provided within the courtyards of the building. The open
space facing west will include a pool and the courtyard facing east will be improved with a patio,
picnic area, passive recreational spaces and green space. The Project will provide moderately
priced dwelling units in accordance with the Zoning Ordinance requirements.
The building footprint is made up of a series of bars organized around two distinct
outdoor courtyards, with primary frontage along Research Boulevard. Proposed façade materials
will include a combination of brick veneer, metal panel, cementitious panel, and glass. The
building’s design frames the street in an effective manner, without concentrating all of the
density along the Research Boulevard frontage of the building. In this way, the building
delineates the open space provided along the frontage of the Property, including the shared use
path, while maintaining an open feeling.
The building architecture seeks to be human-scaled, contextual, walkable, and integrated
with the landscape, both within and surrounding the site. Multiple building entry points promote
walkability throughout the site and connection to the adjacent trail network. The architectural
style mediates between the highly glazed and contemporary office buildings in the immediate
context of Research Boulevard and the Neo-Traditional design principals of Fallsgrove. The
architecture employs many of the strategies of traditional design, such as special attention to the
detailing and materiality of the building base, a clear delineation between the base and top, and a
strong rhythm of window organization and patterning.
The Project is proposing a maximum height of 76 feet, less than the 120 foot height limit
permitted in the MXE Zone. In accordance with the provisions of the Rockville Zoning Code,
the Project Plan seeks to amend the maximum residential height development standard as it
relates to the Property only, from the stated 65 feet in the Preliminary Development Plan to the
proposed 76 feet. The surrounding area of the Property is distinguishable from Fallsgrove proper
that was densely constructed in a neo-traditional manner. Given the proximity of the multi-
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family buildings in the Fallsgrove development to the townhouses and single-family homes, a 65
foot maximum height for residential uses was deemed appropriate. In contrast, the Property is
surrounded by either open space or commercial uses where a maximum height of 120 feet is
permitted and where the proposed height of 76 feet is wholly compatible. Notably, the
Fallsgrove New Construction Design Guidelines and Standards’ (the “Standards”) residential
height limits are not applicable to the Property. The Standards included a maximum height of 65
feet for all residential areas so designated at the time the Guidelines were adopted. At the time
the Guidelines were adopted, the Property was not a residential area. It was designated
commercial where the Guidelines permitted the maximum height permitted by the underlying
zone – in this case, 120 feet.
B.

Parking and Access

The main entrance to the building will be along the northern façade so that visitors may
easily be dropped off, with an adjacent surface parking area for visitor and future resident
parking. The two vehicular access points to the Property will be located to align with the
existing curb-cuts on the opposite side of Research Boulevard. A driveway loop connecting the
two vehicular entry points and wrapping behind the building will be provided which provides for
required fire access. This driveway is lined with parking spaces that will be concealed from the
public street, given the building location and the forested City-owned open space to the west of
the Property. The operational components of the building (i.e., the loading docks, utility
services, transformers and trash areas) will be located along the south and west-sides of the
building, and screened from view.
To further promote the use of public transportation, the Applicant will install a
standardized city bus shelter in place of the bus stop located along the Research Boulevard
frontage of the Property.
C.

Public Open Space

In accordance with the Zoning Ordinance requirements, a minimum of 20 percent of the
Property will be open space, of which 5 percent will be public open space. More specifically, the
Project will provide 142,668 square feet of open space (46.6 percent) and 59,540.5 square feet of
public open space (19 percent). The public open space will be located in the northern portion of
the Property where an approximate 19,000 square foot pocket park improved with pathways and
pedestrian-scale plantings is located. In addition, public open space will also be located along a
portion of the Property’s Research Boulevard frontage, where the shared use path is located
partially on the property and partially within the right of way.
In addition, the Project will include a playground along the southern end of the building
that will be accessed from a sidewalk leading to the north and south around the building to the
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multiple access points. The details of the playground will be provided at the time of Site Plan.

III.

JUSTIFICATION FOR EXCLUSIVELY RESIDENTIAL USE

Fallsgrove is a thriving, integrated mixed-use community and comprised of
approximately 1,500 residences, approximately 275,000 square feet of office, almost 600,000
square feet of retail and a hotel. These integrated uses are all located within the land area
bounded by Shady Grove Road to the west, Montgomery Avenue to the north and east and
Darnestown Road to the south. Outside of this area there are three “satellite” sites – the Property
and two sites north of Gude Drive and east of West Montgomery Avenue, all of which are
designated for office/research and development and remain vacant. Given the existing mixed use
nature of Fallsgrove, the request for a Project Plan Amendment to accommodate residential on
the Property, in no way compromises the overall mixed use environment.
The Applicant’s request for the residential designation is to allow for a viable use to be
developed on the Property. Ideally, if there were a sustainable office market, the Applicant
would develop the Property for an office use. It is for this reason, that, in the remote event the
office market were to rebound, the Applicant requests the preservation of the office designation
until the Applicant files an application for building permit for the residential use. The
Applicant’s unsuccessful efforts to market the Property for office use for more than a decade due
to the lack of market interest, coupled with the challenges the Applicant has had in leasing their
two office buildings in Fallsgrove proper, are the driving forces behind the subject Project Plan
Amendment. More specifically, the relatively new (completed in 2014) Fallsgrove office
building along Shady Grove Road (14995 Shady Grove Road) has a 63 percent vacancy rate
while the office building located at 14955, that was constructed in 2002, has a vacancy rate of 28
percent. Notably, the Applicant has actively tried to lease the space in these two buildings since
before the buildings were even completed.
In connection with the Project Plan Amendment, the Applicant consulted with Avison
Young, a commercial real estate firm, to assess the viability of the office market in the vicinity of
the Property. The Avison Young reports confirmed that the office market overall in
Montgomery County is not strong; Avison Young’s Montgomery County Office Overview for
December 31, 2018 showed a 15% vacancy rate, while the Montgomery County Office
Overview for September 30, 2019 shows a 14.6% vacancy rate with a negative net absorption,
meaning that the market is essentially flat. The office market for the I-270 Corridor was
comparable to the County’s with the I-270 Corridor Office Overview for December 31, 2018
indicating a vacancy rate of 15.8% and for September 30, 2019, a vacancy rate of 15.2%.
Avison Young noted that the statistics substantiate that the office market is flat and that landlords
along the I-270 are having to upgrade their buildings to retain any existing tenants. While the
vacancy rates for the County and the I-270 corridor were somewhat anemic, what was most
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striking for the Applicant was the vacancy rates in close proximity to the Property. For the
period ending June 2019, the overall vacancy rate for commercial buildings along Research
Boulevard, Shady Grove Road and King Farm is 32.47 percent.
It would be one thing if the vacancy rates cited above were an aberration from the
historical trends, but unfortunately, they are reflective of the state of the office market for over
the past decade outside major urban areas and the central business districts. Given this decade
long historical trend and the fact that there is nothing to indicate a change in market, the
Applicant determined that the only fiscally prudent option available was to pursue the Project
Plan Amendment that will accommodate residential development on the Property.
As it relates to a limited amount of ground floor retail, after evaluating the market, the
Applicant has determined that the location of the Property is not appropriate for even a limited
amount of ground floor retail. First, the overall retail market is struggling significantly, with
vacancy signs readily apparent in areas designated for retail, such as Town Center, Twinbrook
Commons and Rockville Pike. It is highly questionable whether there will ever be a market for a
limited amount of retail on the Property and given this, the Applicant is concerned that having to
design a building to accommodate a limited amount of future retail space will only compromise
the design and functionality of the building. In addition, Fallsgrove Village Center, with more
than 200,000 square feet of retail space is less than one-half mile to the west of the Property,
further diminishing the need for retail space at the Property. While the Applicant appreciates
the concept of ground floor retail and believes it can be an important component in certain
developments, they do not believe that it has a place at this project.

IV.

COMPLIANCE WITH COMPREHENSIVE PLAN
A.

City of Rockville November 12, 2002 Comprehensive Master Plan

The November 12, 2002 Approved and Adopted City of Rockville Comprehensive
Master Plan (the “Master Plan”) locates the Property within Planning Area 15, Research/
Piccard/King Farm/Fallsgrove Neighborhood. The Master Plan recognizes the overall mixed
use nature of Fallsgrove and at the same time notes that the Fallsgrove Concept Plan designated
the Property for office development.
The Master Plan provides that the Fallsgrove development is intended to reduce
automobile traffic by providing a mixture of complementary land uses within walking distance
of each other. The Master Plan further provides that access to transit will be necessary to reduce
vehicular trips. The Project will be the only residential project within a reasonable walking
distance of the more than 3 million square feet of office development located along Research
Boulevard. Development of a residential building at this location helps to create a mixed use
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corridor in this area. In regard to access to transit, the Property is conveniently served by three
Ride-on bus lines: the 54 (Rockville Station to Lakeforest Transit Station); 63 (Rockville Station
and Shady Grove Station); and 66 (Shady Grove Station and Traville Transit Center), thus
promoting the Master Plan recommendation of developing in areas with easy access to transit.
The Project will further a number of the Master Plan’s overall goals and objectives,
including the following:
•
•
•

•
•
•

B.

Encourage multi-family housing in mixed-use areas of development (page 10-1)
Create a balance between different housing types (page 10-1)
Promote policies and practices that are non-discriminatory in the rental housing
stock and that preserve neighborhoods, recognize historical significance,
encourage affordable and accessible housing and consider the impact of land use
(page 10-1)
Continue to support the MPDU program (page 10-9)
Minimize the impact on the natural environment (page 4-32)
Implement Rockville’s Bicycle Master Plan to provide recreational and commuter
opportunities (11-1)
Draft 2040 Comprehensive Plan

The 2040 Comprehensive Plan (Vision 2040) is still in draft form, with the Elements
volume (i.e. Part 1) having been made available to the public for comment. The
recommendations for the individual Planning Areas has not, as of the date of submission of this
Project Plan Amendment, been made available to the public. Although the Vision 2040 Plan is a
draft not yet adopted by the City, we nonetheless address it herein. Perhaps most importantly, is
the Vision 2040s recognition that the population of Rockville alone is expected to grow by
almost 20,000 people between 2020 and 2040. To this end, the Vision 2040 Plan recommends
allowing more diversification in the land use pattern to meet the increasing need for residences in
Rockville.
The Vision 2040 Plan’s Land Use Policy Map designates the Property as ORRM, Office
Residential Retail Mix. As the Vision 2040 Plan provides, the mixed use categories are intended
to be “inclusive and flexible.” The ORRM designation is described as “the most flexible
category allowing property owners a wide choice in mixing office, retail and residential uses.”
The draft Plan provides that retail frontage may be required where mapped. The draft Land Use
Policy Map designates portions of the West Gude Drive and Research Boulevard frontages as
retail. The Applicant is very concerned about this designation for the following reasons:
1.
As the Project Plan Amendment indicates, a 50 foot wide easement to
accommodate the Transcontinental Gas pipeline runs across the northern portion of the Property,
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precluding any development over the pipeline easement. As a result, it is not possible to provide
retail uses (let alone any other type of use) along the West Gude Drive frontage.
2.
Even in the best locations (e.g. Rockville Pike or downtown Bethesda)
accommodating viable sustainable retail uses has become increasingly difficult in the age of
internet retail. As discussed above, this challenge is only exacerbated in “one off” areas such as
the Property that lack a critical mass of other retail and, have limited foot traffic. Where retail is
viable, developers will most always opt to provide it. However, in questionable locations, the
requirement to provide retail often results in vacant ground floor space, which is detrimental to
the Project as well as the surrounding area.
The Applicant testified before the Planning Commission in connection with the
Commission’s review of the Planning Areas that requiring retail use in this location is not
appropriate and intends to testify similarly before the Mayor and Council during its review of the
overall Vision 2040 Plan. Importantly, the ORRM designation does not mandate mixed use, but
instead
provides
for
the
ability
to
provide
a
mix
of
uses.

V.

COMPLIANCE WITH MXE DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS

The project complies with the development standards set forth in Section 25.13.05, as
described below.
A.

Subsection 25.13.05b(1)

The Project complies with the applicable development standards for the MXE Zone set
forth in Section 25.13.05.b:
Required/Permitted

Proposed

Maximum Height (in feet)

120'

76’

Total Open Area Required

20%

20%

Public Use Space Required
w/in Open Area

5%

5%

Minimum width at frontline

10’

10’

Setbacks Abutting Public
Right-of-Way

None, 10’ min. if provided

25’ from Research Blvd.*
350 ’from W. Gude Drive *
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Required/Permitted

Proposed

Side Setback Abutting
Residential

25' or 1/2 height of building,
whichever is greater

N/A

Side Setback Abutting NonResidential Land

None; 10' min. if provided

199’ on south side *

Rear Setback Abutting
Residential

25' or 1/2 height of building,
whichever is greater

N/A

Rear Setback Abutting NonResidential Land

None; 10' min. if provided

37’ *

* Subject to change at Site Plan
B.

Subsection 25.13.05c – Other Standards and Requirements for New Development

Summary of Applicable Requirements

Proposed

MPDUs – Residential development must
comply with MPDU requirements

Project will comply with the MPDU
requirement of City Code Section 13.5

Public Use Space – must be provided
consistent with Section 25.17.01

Public Use Space consistent with Section
25.17.01 will be provided.

C.

Subsection 25.13.06 - Additional Design Guidelines
1.

Architectural and Visual Character for all Zones

The Project’s design provides visual interest. The building concept includes three eastwest oriented residential bars, each anchored by a corner element. The east-west bars are tied
together by the residential “connectors” running north-south. The result is a diffusion of the
building mass, with generous courtyards in both the front and back of the building. The majority
of each façade is glass with other building materials including brick veneer and metal and
cementitious panels, consistent with the design guidelines. The entry way of the building along
its northern façade will be improved with a porte cochère.
All mechanical equipment will be screened and there will be no prohibited items facing
the street.
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2.

Site Design and Relationship to Surrounding Community Façade and

exterior walls.
Access to the Property will be provided from two driveways on Research Boulevard that
are aligned with the entrances across the street. The entrance locations will provide for
convenient access to both the structured and surface parking. Generous landscaping will be
provided around the surface parking area to screen the parking from Research Boulevard.
The Project includes the construction of a shared use path along the Research Boulevard
frontage of the Property that ties into the Carl Henn Millennial Trail along the West Gude Drive
frontage of the Property and a sidewalk to the south.
D.

Subsection 25.13.07.c – Special Design Regulations for MXE Zone

1.
Building location – The Comprehensive Plan does not recommend a
building location. The building is located 25 feet from the front Property line along Research
Boulevard.
2.
Uses by Floor – The building is devoted exclusively to residential use.
The ground floor will contain a lobby, and residential amenities.
3.
Façade – The building is 70’-85’ feet tall along the front line. The first
floor as it meets the grade is composed of durable brick masonry in a variety of colors to add
interest and scale for the pedestrian. The footprint of the building also varies to break up the
massing and reinforce the architectural tower elements facing the street. Brick coursing details
will also be added for an additional layer of human scaled detail.
4.
Sidewalks – The sidewalk/shared use path will comply with Section
25.17.05 and will provide a seven-foot wide planting area, a ten-foot wide shared use path and a
one-foot wide amenity/safety area.
5.
Parking – Parking will be provide in accordance with Article 16 of the
Zoning Ordinance and will be relocated along the side or rear. The majority of the parking will
be located in structured parking.

VI.

ADEQUATE PUBLIC FACILITIES

The Applicant's analysis indicates that there are adequate public facilities with respect to
transportation, schools, fire and rescue, and water and sewer to accommodate the proposed
Project.
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The Project is located in the Richard Montgomery High School cluster and the Julius
West Middle School and Ritchie Park Elementary School districts. Based on 350 residential
units, the Project is projected to generate 10 High School students, 8 middle school students and
18 elementary school students. Based on the City’s APF Supplemental School Data for FY
2021-2026, there is adequate capacity at the elementary and middle schools but the capacity at
Richard Montgomery High School is 126.2%, thus placing the development in a moratorium
area. Accordingly, the Applicant requests conditional approval of the Project Plan pursuant to
Zoning Code Section 25.20.02.d. It is noted that at the outset of the project and through the
Planning Commission and Mayor and Council’s initial review of the Project Plan in April and
June of 2020 respectively, there was sufficient capacity at the High School level.
In terms of transportation, the previously approved development for general office was
projected to generate 227 AM trips and 234 PM trips. The proposed residential use will generate
significantly less trips, with 117 AM trips and 147 PM trips. An on-site transportation analysis
is submitted as part of the Project Plan application.
The traffic mitigation improvements required by in CPD99-0004 were constructed many
years ago in connection with the Fallsgrove buildout.

VII.

COMMUNITY OUTREACH

The Applicant held a Pre-Application Meeting (“PAM”) on July 29, 2019. Only one
couple attended the meeting. The Applicant held a Post-Application meeting on March 9, 2020
and no one attended that meeting.
Details of both meetings were submitted in connection with
the subject Project Plan application.

VIII. PDP/PROJECT PLAN STANDARDS
In accordance with Zoning Ordinance Section 25.14.07.d.4.e.2, any amendments to a
Planned Development Governing Documents requires the approval of a Project Plan
Amendment.
The Project satisfies the required findings for Project Plans set forth in Section 25.07.01,
as follows:
The Project will not:
(a)

Adversely affect the health or safety of persons residing or working in the
neighborhood of the proposed use.
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The Project will introduce a residential building into an area that is almost exclusively
developed with office buildings, introducing the concept of “live where you work” to this area of
Rockville. The building will not adversely affect the employees in the neighborhood of the
Project.
(b)

Be in conflict with the Plan.

As discussed in Section IV the Project complies with the approved City Comprehensive
Plan.
(c)

Overburden existing and programmed public facilities as set forth in Article 20 of
this Chapter and as provided in the adopted Adequate Public Facilities
Standards.

As found in the original PDP, water and sewer service are available and sufficient. The
Applicant is seeking conditional approval of the Project Plan, subject to sufficient school
capacity being available to accommodate the project. As noted above, the proposed residential
use generates significantly less traffic than the previously approved office use on the Property.
(d)

Constitute a violation of any provision of this Code or other applicable law.

The Project will comply with all applicable provisions of the Zoning Ordinance and all
other applicable laws.
(e)

Adversely affect the natural resources or environment of the City or surrounding
areas.

The Project will in no way adversely affect the natural resources or environment. The
Project will be providing on-site stormwater management including micro bio-retention areas
and planters. The overall forest conservation requirements for Fallsgrove, and hence the forest
conservation requirements for the Property, have been met and include 5,762.8 square feet of
forest conservation easement located in the southern portion of the Property.

IX.

CONCLUSION

The Project Plan Amendment provides the opportunity to develop the longstanding
vacant parcel into viable and desirable residential uses that address the growing population in
Rockville. The residential uses in this location help to create a mixed use corridor along that
portion of Research Boulevard between West Montgomery Avenue to the south and West Gude
Drive to the north. As discussed herein, the Project meets the requirements of the Project Plan
Amendment, and we respectfully request support for this application.
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Mayor & Council Meeting Date: December 20, 2021
Agenda Item Type: Authorization
Department: Housing and Community Development
Responsible Staff: Asmara Habte

Subject
Approval of 1) a PILOT Agreement for 29 Scattered Site Units to be Owned by an RHE Entity,
RHE Properties, Inc., and Adoption of a Resolution to (I) Authorize and Approve the Disposition
of Certain Real Property by Rockville Housing Enterprises, (Ii) Authorize the Acceptance of an
Annual Payment in Lieu of Regularly Assessed Property Taxes from RHE Properties, Inc. for
Thirty-Three (33) Scattered Site Single-Family Housing Units Located in the City of Rockville, and
(Iii) Retroactively Authorize and Approve the Establishment of RHE Properties, Inc.

Recommendation
Staff recommends that the Mayor and Council adopt the resolution and authorize the City
Manager to execute the PILOT Agreement.

Discussion
Executive Summary
In 2019, the Rockville Housing Enterprises applied to the U.S. Department of Housing and
Urban Development (HUD) to convert 29 Public Housing subsidized scattered-site units to
Project-Based Voucher (PBV) subsidized units. The U.S. Department of Housing and Urban
Development (HUD) is actively encouraging Public Housing Authorities to transfer real estate
portfolios currently funded under the Public Housing Program (Section 9) to the Project-Based
Voucher Program (Section 8) due to the systematic defunding of the Public Housing Program.
The repositioning will enable RHE to benefit from increased operating subsidy funding from
HUD, which will enhance the long-term stability of the portfolio and enhance RHE's ability to
manage and maintain the units effectively.
Per the Articles of Organization and the Amended and Restated Cooperation Agreement
between RHE and the City, the 29 units are exempt from City of Rockville real estate taxes. RHE
is seeking to maintain the tax exemption for the 29 units post-conversion. Attached is a PILOT
agreement (Attachment A) for execution by the City Manager upon Mayor and Council
authorization. The PILOT payment would amount to $1/annum.
In addition to the PILOT agreement, attached is a resolution (Attachment B) that will (i)
authorize and approve the disposition of certain real property by Rockville Housing Enterprises,
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(ii) authorize the acceptance of an annual payment in lieu of regularly-assessed property taxes
from RHE Properties, Inc. for thirty-three (33) scattered site single-family housing units located
in the City of Rockville, and (iii) retroactively authorize and approve the establishment of RHE
Properties, Inc., a nonprofit housing corporation.
Background
Organizational Structure
Rockville Housing Enterprises (RHE), a public body duly created and organized as a public
housing authority in accordance with the laws of the State of Maryland is the current owner of
twenty-nine (29) scattered site single-family public housing units scattered throughout the City
of Rockville. RHE seeks to dispose of these units to an affiliate entity, RHE Properties, Inc.,
whereby the units will convert to the Project-Based Voucher program.
Pursuant to a proposed negotiated sale, RHE is planning to dispose of and convey (i) the 29 RHE
Scattered Site Public Housing Units, and (ii) 4.97 acres of underlying land to RHE Properties, Inc.
to, among other reasons, facilitate the conversion of the 29 RHE Scattered Site Public Housing
Units from United States Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) subsidized
public housing units to HUD subsidized project-based voucher units.
RHE Properties, Inc., a not-for-profit Maryland nonstock membership corporation, was
established by RHE pursuant to those certain Articles of Incorporation, dated October 4, 2010,
as amended, in order to, among other things, acquire, operate, own, lease, repair or manage
real property in the City of Rockville to enhance the supply of affordable housing in support of
the purpose and powers of RHE. RHE Properties, Inc. is the current owner of four (4) scattered
site single-family housing units located throughout the city.
On August 10, 2021, RHE received HUD approval, subject to certain conditions, to dispose of
the RHE Scattered Site Public Housing Units. RHE also received HUD approval for the disposition
of underlying land at David Scull Courts.
Pursuant to that certain Amended and Restated Cooperation Agreement, dated March 29,
2000, by and between the City and RHE, the City agreed to not “levy or impose any real or
personal property taxes or special assessments” upon RHE with respect to the RHE Scattered
Site Public Housing Units, and RHE agreed to make annual payments to the City “in lieu of such
taxes and special assessments”.
In order to establish general stability and predictability for its real property tax exposure, the
Owner is requesting that the City agree to not levy or impose real property taxes upon the
Owner with respect to the RHE Properties Scattered Site Residential Units and the RHE
Scattered Site Public Housing Units, and instead permit the Owner to pay a negotiated amount
to the City in lieu of the applicable City of Rockville real property tax on the Scattered Site
Project Residential Units in the form of Payment In-Lieu of Taxes (PILOT). Staff recommends a
PILOT amount of one dollar ($1) per annum.

Packet Pg. 281

11

Project-Based Voucher Program
The Project-Based Voucher Program (PBV) enables public housing authorities (PHAs) to
leverage private debt and equity for large-scale capital repairs and redevelopment of public
housing developments. Unlike a private, multifamily property owner, a PHA cannot currently
take out a mortgage on a public housing property it owns and operates. PHAs are generally
limited to using annual Capital Fund Program grants from HUD or other federal funding, like
Community Development Block Grant (CDBG), to make capital repairs to units. Annual
appropriations through the Public Housing Capital Fund are routinely underfunded, and public
housing capital needs across the country have a backlog of billions of dollars 1. Like other PHAs
throughout the country, RHE continues to experience a reduction in its Capital Fund subsidy.
Under PBV, the subsidy for the units changes from Section 9 of the Housing Act of 1937 under
which the Public Housing Program is funded to Section 8 of the Housing Act of 1937 under
which the Housing Choice Voucher Program is funded. The units will continue to receive
subsidies after conversion, and no residents would have to vacate or relocate from their current
unit. The residents' monthly rent payments and the HUD subsidy will be combined to cover the
operating and maintenance expenses.
A long-term, renewable contract between HUD and RHE effectuates the conversion and subsidy
for 20 years. Participating in PBV has several benefits, including:
•
•
•

•

Project-based subsidy provides a more stable funding stream in the long-term that is
less susceptible to cuts in federal public housing operating appropriations;
Unlike public housing subsidy, the Project-Based Section 8 subsidy is adequate to allow
for an annual contribution to capital reserves for future repairs.
RHE can collect fees from the project's operation to support administrative, asset
management, and property management activities for the property and other public
housing assets;
The affordability of the units will not change for residents, who will pay 30 percent of
their adjusted income towards rent.

In August 2021, RHE received final approval from HUD to convert RHE's 29 Public Housing
Scattered Site units to Project-Based Voucher units. HUD's pre-approval of RHE's application is
based on HUD's view that the plan is financially viable, which is dependent on the continuation
of the Montgomery County and City of Rockville PILOT.
The 29 scattered-site units are currently covered under the original tax exemption arrangement
covering RHE's public housing units. The tax exemption arrangement has existed since 1954.
Resident Impact

1

https://www.hud.gov/sites/documents/PH_CAPITAL_NEEDS.PDF.
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The current residents of the 29 Scattered Site Public Housing units will continue to be served
under the Project-Based Voucher Program.
All new tenants admitted to Scattered Site Development under the project-based voucher
program must meet the voucher program income requirements. Like the Public Housing
Program, the Voucher Program requires that 75% of all new participants must be extremely
low-income, having incomes below 30% of the Area Median Income (AMI). The remaining 25%
of new participants must be low-income, having incomes below 80% of the AMI. These units
will also be covered under a HUD-required restrictive covenant, ensuring the units remain
available to and affordable for extremely low to low-income residents in the future.

Implementation
Part of the conversion implementation is the transfer of the subject units from the current
owner, Rockville Housing Enterprises, to its wholly-owned affiliate, RHE Properties, Inc. RHE
Properties, Inc., will own and manage the 29 units under the Project-Based Voucher Program.
RHE Properties Inc. currently owns and manages four (4) MPDU units. RHE presently has a
PILOT agreement with Montgomery County for the four (4) MPDU units the entity holds.
Similarly, the 29 scattered-site units as public housing units are currently covered under a
County PILOT agreement, while the units are exempt from City real estate taxes. The County
has amended its PILOT agreement to transfer the PILOT agreement to the new owner, RHE
Properties, Inc.

Mayor and Council History
The Mayor and Council discussed this matter in August 2020. The Mayor and Council wrote a
letter to HUD to support RHE's application to convert 29 Public Housing subsidized scatteredsite units to Project-Based Voucher subsidized units. The letter also spoke to the continued tax
exemption of the 29 units post-conversion.
The Mayor and Council liaison, Councilmember Monique Ashton, has attended the RHE Board
of Commissioners meetings where this matter was discussed.

Fiscal Impact
There are currently no property taxes being collected on these properties. Based on the July
2021 assessed values and the City’s current tax rate, these properties would otherwise
generate $26,900 collectively in property tax revenues.

Next Steps
Staff recommends that the Mayor and Council adopt the resolution and authorize the City
Manager to execute the PILOT Agreement.

Attachments
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Attachment 11.a:
Attachment 11.b:

Att. A_CITY OF ROCKVILLE_PILOT
Att.B_Resolution_RHE Properties

(PDF)
(PDF)
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CITY OF ROCKVILLE, MARYLAND
PAYMENT IN-LIEU-OF-TAXES (PILOT)
AGREEMENT
This PAYMENT-IN-LIEU-OF-TAXES AGREEMENT (this “PILOT Agreement”) is
entered into as of this ___ day of ________ 202__ (the “Effective Date”), by and between the
MAYOR AND COUNCIL OF ROCKVILLE, a Maryland municipal corporation (the “City”)
and RHE PROPERTIES, INC., a Maryland nonstock membership corporation (the “Owner”).
Individually, the City and the Owner may each be referred to hereinafter as the “Party,” or
collectively as the “Parties.”
RECITALS
A.

WHEREAS, the Owner is a nonprofit housing corporation as defined in the Annotated
Code of Maryland, Housing and Community Development Article, Section 12-104(c)(1);
and

B.

WHEREAS, in 2012 and 2013, the Owner acquired four (4) scattered site single-family
housing units located in the City of Rockville, Maryland, as more particularly described in
Exhibit A (the “RHE Properties Scattered Site Residential Units”); and

C.

WHEREAS, Rockville Housing Enterprises, a public body corporate and politic duly
created and organized as a public housing authority in accordance with the laws of the State
of Maryland (“RHE”), is the owner of twenty-nine (29) scattered site single-family public
housing units located in the City of Rockville, Maryland, as more particularly described in
Exhibit B (the “RHE Scattered Site Public Housing Units”); and

D.

WHEREAS, pursuant to that certain Amended and Restated Cooperation Agreement,
dated March 29, 2000, by and between the City and RHE (the “Cooperation Agreement”),
the City agreed to not “levy or impose any real or personal property taxes or special
assessments” upon RHE with respect to the RHE Scattered Site Public Housing Units, and
RHE agreed to make annual payments to the City “in lieu of such taxes and special
assessments” in an amount equal to ten percent (10%) of the “total of all charges to all
tenants” of the RHE Scattered Site Public Housing Units for dwelling rents, less the cost
to RHE of all dwelling utilities; and

E.

WHEREAS, on August 10, 2021, RHE received approval, subject to certain conditions,
from the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development (“HUD”) to
dispose of the RHE Scattered Site Public Housing Units; and

F.

WHEREAS, as of the date hereof, pursuant to a negotiated sale at less than fair market
value, RHE disposed of and conveyed the RHE Scattered Site Public Housing Units to the
Owner in order to facilitate the conversion of the RHE Scattered Site Public Housing Units
from HUD subsidized public housing units to HUD subsidized project-based voucher
units; and

Attachment 11.a: Att. A_CITY OF ROCKVILLE_PILOT (3944 : PILOT & Res.For RHE’s 29 Scattered Site Units Post Project-Based Voucher -

11.a

Packet Pg. 285

G.

WHEREAS, in order to establish general stability and predictability for its real property
tax exposure, the Owner is requesting that the City agree to not levy or impose real property
taxes upon the Owner with respect to the RHE Properties Scattered Site Residential Units
and the RHE Scattered Site Public Housing Units (together, the “Scattered Site Project
Residential Units”), and instead permit the Owner to pay a negotiated amount to the City
in lieu of the applicable City of Rockville real property tax on the Scattered Site Project
Residential Units; and

H.

WHEREAS, the Annotated Code of Maryland, Tax-Property Article, Section 7506.1(a)(2) provides in pertinent part that real property may be exempt from a municipal
corporation’s property tax if:
(i)

the real property is owned by an entity engaged in operating housing
structures or projects;

(ii)

the real property is used for a housing structure or project that is constructed
or substantially rehabilitated under a federal, State or local government
program that:
1. funds construction or insures its financing in whole or in part; OR
2. provides interest subsidy, rent subsidy, or rent supplements;

(iii)

the owner and the municipal corporation agree that the owner shall pay a
negotiated amount in lieu of the applicable municipal corporation property
tax; AND

(iv)

the owner of the real property
1. agrees to continue to maintain the real property as rental housing for
lower income persons under the requirements of the government
programs described in paragraph (ii)(2) above; and
2. agrees to renew any annual contributions contract or other
agreement for rental subsidy or supplement.

I.

WHEREAS, (i) the Owner is engaged in operating the Scattered Site Project Residential
Units, (ii) pursuant to a letter dated November 29, 2021 from HUD, HUD has agreed to
provide certain project-based rent vouchers for the Scattered Site Project Residential Units,
(iii) the Owner and the City agree, pursuant to the terms of this PILOT Agreement, that the
Owner will make negotiated payments in lieu of the otherwise full amount of City real
property taxes that would be imposed upon the Scattered Site Project Residential Units,
and (iv) the Owner has agreed to continue to maintain the Scattered Site Project Residential
Units as rental housing for lower income persons under the requirements of HUD, and has
agreed to renew any annual contributions contract or other agreement for rental subsidy or
supplement; and

J.

WHEREAS, the City shall only enter into this PILOT Agreement and accept payment for
a reduced sum of money in lieu of the City of Rockville real property taxes, provided that
the Owner at all times conducts its operations in accordance with the requirements of this
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PILOT Agreement and the requirements of Annotated Code of Maryland, Tax-Property
Article, Section 7-506.1.
NOW, THEREFORE, IN CONSIDERATION of the foregoing and the covenants and
agreements of the Parties hereto, as are hereinafter set forth, and pursuant to the authority granted
by the Annotated Code of Maryland, Tax-Property Article, Section 7-506.1, the Parties hereby
agree as follows:
AGREEMENT
1.
Incorporation of Recitals. The foregoing recitals above are an integral part of this
PILOT Agreement and set forth the intentions of the Parties and the premises on which the Parties
have decided to enter into this PILOT Agreement. Accordingly, the foregoing recitals above are
fully incorporated into this PILOT Agreement by this reference as it fully set forth herein.
2.
Term. Subject to Owner’s obligations and covenants hereunder, this PILOT
Agreement shall have a term that expires on July 1, 2052, unless this PILOT Agreement is earlier
terminated pursuant to the terms hereunder (the “Term”). The Term may not extend beyond the
effective date of a repeal or amendment of the applicable enabling payment in lieu of taxes
(“PILOT”) provisions of the Annotated Code of Maryland unless such legislation provides a
grandfather provision for those PILOT agreements already in existence prior to the effective date
of the repeal or amendment.
3.

Payment In Lieu of Taxes.
(a)

Required PILOT Payment.

(i)
Beginning July 1, 2022 (fiscal year 2023 for the City), and for each
fiscal year thereafter during the Term of this PILOT Agreement, all City of Rockville real property
taxes for the Scattered Site Project Residential Units shall be abated and the Owner shall pay to
the City in lieu of such real property taxes an annual amount equal to One and 00/100 Dollar
($1.00) per year in lieu of an annual property tax payment from RHE Properties, Inc. on the
assessed value of the Scattered Site Project Residential Units during such fiscal year for which
real property taxes would have been paid to the City if the Scattered Site Project Residential Units
were not exempt from taxation (the “Required PILOT Payment”). For fiscal year 2022, the
Owner shall pay to the City (i) the normal property taxes that are imposed on the RHE Properties
Scattered Site Residential Units, and (ii) the PILOT payment RHE would have paid to the City
pursuant to the Cooperation Agreement for the RHE Scattered Site Public Housing Units in lieu
of the normally required property taxes.
(ii)
Commencing on or before June 1, 2023, following delivery of the
Owner’s Annual Audited Financial Statements pursuant to subsection 3(b) below, the Owner shall
pay to the City the Required PILOT Payment. Thereafter, following delivery of the Owner’s
Annual Audited Financial Statements pursuant to subsection 3(b) below, but no later than June 1st
of each subsequent year during the Term, the Owner shall pay to the City the Required PILOT
Payment.
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(iii)
All Required PILOT Payments made by the Owner under this
PILOT Agreement shall be made without set-off or counterclaim and shall be made on or before
the due date thereof in U.S. dollars to the City at:
City of Rockville
Department of Finance
111 Maryland Avenue, 3rd Floor
Rockville, Maryland 20850
Attention: Asmara Habte, Director of Department of Housing and
Community Development
(iv)
No Required PILOT Payment for any year shall be made to the City
in excess of the amount of the real property taxes which would have been paid to the City for such
year if the Scattered Site Project Residential Units were not exempt from taxation.
(b)
Annual Audited Financial Statements. On or prior to May 1st of each year
during the Term, unless the City Manager or his authorized designee agrees in writing to an
alternative due date for a particular year, the Owner shall provide the City Manager or his
authorized designees with the Annual Audited Financial Statements. For purposes of this PILOT
Agreement, and in order to avoid any confusion, “Annual Audited Financial Statements” means
for each preceding fiscal year, the Owner’s audited financial statements, prepared in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, certified by a reputable independent firm of
certified public accountants.
(c)
Books and Records. The Owner shall keep and maintain at its principal
place of business full, materially complete and appropriate books, records and accounts relating to
the Scatted Site Project Residential Units, including all such books, records and accounts necessary
or prudent to evidence and substantiate in full detail the calculation of the Required PILOT
Payments. All such books, records, and accounts shall be open to and available for inspection by
the City Manager or his authorized designees, or other authorized representatives, at reasonable
intervals during normal business hours after first providing reasonable prior notice to the Owner.
(d)
City Audits. The receipt by the City Manager or his authorized designees
of Annual Audited Financial Statements pursuant to subsection 3(b) above for any period shall not
bind the City as to the correctness of such Annual Audited Financial Statements. Within seven (7)
years after the receipt of any such Annual Audited Financial Statements, the City or any designated
agent or employee of the City at any time and upon forty-eight (48) hours advance notice shall be
entitled to audit all books, records, and accounts. Such audit shall be conducted during normal
business hours at the principal place of business of the Owner and other places where the applicable
records are kept.
(e)
Other City Taxes and Charges. Nothing in this PILOT Agreement shall be
construed to apply to any other City taxes or charges, including but not limited to, applicable sewer
and water charges that the Owner is or may in the future be required to pay to the City. The
Required PILOT Payment provided for herein shall not affect any other applicable municipal or
state tax or charge of any kind unrelated to real property taxes, for which the Owner shall continue
to be responsible.
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4.
Owner Covenants. As a material inducement for the City’s willingness to enter
into this PILOT Agreement, and in consideration of the City agreeing to abate payment of the
Owner’s real property taxes for the Scattered Site Project Residential Units, the Owner hereby
covenants and agrees for itself, its successors and permitted assigns, to comply with each
restriction and covenant set forth below throughout the Term of this PILOT Agreement.
(a)
Operation of the Scattered Site Project Residential Units. Owner covenants
and agrees to operate the Scattered Site Project Residential Units as rental housing that is
affordable to:
(i)
Households whose annual gross income does not exceed thirty
percent (30%) of the median income for the Washington-Arlington-Alexandria, DC-VA-MD
metropolitan area (the “AMI”), adjusted for actual household size, as published from time to time
by HUD, and
(ii)
Households whose annual gross income does not exceed eighty
percent (80%) of AMI, adjusted for actual household size, as published from time to time by HUD.
(b)

Intentionally Omitted.

(c)

Intentionally Omitted.

(d)
Property Condition. Owner covenants and agrees that the Owner shall
comply with all applicable property standards, including but not limited to Chapter 5 (Building
and Building Regulations) of the City Code, necessary to permit continued occupancy of the
Scattered Site Project Residential Units, and shall perform or cause to be performed normal and
routine maintenance and repair of the Scattered Site Project Residential Units and make each of
the Scattered Site Project Residential Units habitable and available for occupancy by tenants to
provide housing that is safe and sanitary.
5.
Termination. This PILOT Agreement may be terminated by the City for one, some
or all of the Scattered Site Project Residential Units as of June 30th of any tax year, upon fifteen
days’ written notice to the Owner, upon the happening of any of the following events:
(a)
The City is no longer authorized to extend to the Owner the benefits of this
PILOT Agreement due to a repeal or substantial amendment of the applicable sections of the
Annotated Code of Maryland.
(b)
The Owner no longer qualifies for a PILOT agreement under the
requirements of the Annotated Code of Maryland, Tax-Property Article, Section 7-506.1.
(c)
The Owner fails to make a Required PILOT Payment and provide the
Audited Financial Statements, including the schedule that calculates the Required PILOT
Payment, when due pursuant to this PILOT Agreement.
(d)
The Owner fails to duly perform, comply with, or observe any of the
conditions, terms, or covenants of this PILOT Agreement.
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(e)
Any information contained in any financial statement, schedule, report or
any other document delivered by Owner to the City Manager or his authorized designees in
connection with the Required PILOT Payment proves at any time not to be in all material respects
true and accurate, or Owner fails to state any material fact or any fact necessary to make such
information not misleading, or any representation or warranty contained in this PILOT Agreement
proves at any time to be incorrect or misleading in any material respect either on the date when
made or on the date when reaffirmed pursuant to the terms of this PILOT Agreement.
(f)
The Owner fails to manage and operate the Scattered Site Project
Residential Units in a prudent or businesslike manner in accordance with industry standards for
similar affordable residential projects.
(g)
Subject to Owner’s right to contest, Owner fails to pay any other City taxes
or charges, including but not limited to, applicable sewer and water charges.
6.
Representations and Warranties. As a material inducement to the City’s entry
into this PILOT Agreement, the Owner hereby (i) makes the following representations and
warranties to the City, as of the Effective Date, (ii) covenants that until the expiration or earlier
termination of this PILOT Agreement, upon learning of any fact or condition which would cause
any of the warranties and representations in this PILOT Agreement not to be true, Owner shall
immediately give written notice of such fact or condition to the City, (iii) acknowledges that the
City shall rely upon Owner’s representations made herein notwithstanding any investigation made
by or on behalf of the City, and (iv) agrees that such representations and warranties shall survive
termination of this PILOT Agreement:
(a)
Organization. Owner is a duly organized and validly existing nonstock
membership corporation and is in good standing under the laws of the State of Maryland and has
the power and authority to own the Scattered Site Project Residential Units and carry on its
business in the State of Maryland.
(b)
Authority of the Owner. Owner has full power and authority to execute and
deliver this PILOT Agreement and to execute and deliver all other documents or instruments
executed and delivered, or to be executed and delivered, pursuant to this PILOT Agreement, and
to perform and observe the terms and provisions of all of the above.
(c)
Authority of Persons Executing Documents. This PILOT Agreement and
all other documents or instruments executed and delivered or to be executed and delivered pursuant
to this PILOT Agreement have been (to the extent scheduled to be delivered as of the date hereof)
or will be (to the extent scheduled to be delivered subsequent to the date hereof) executed and
delivered by persons who are duly authorized to execute and deliver the same for and on behalf of
Owner, and all actions required under Owner’s organizational documents and applicable
governing law for the authorization, execution, delivery and performance of this PILOT
Agreement and all other documents or instruments executed and delivered, or to be executed and
delivered, pursuant to this PILOT Agreement, have been or will be duly taken prior to delivery of
each document or instrument.
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(d)
Valid Binding Agreements. This PILOT Agreement and all other
documents or instruments which have been executed and delivered pursuant to or in connection
with this PILOT Agreement constitute or, if not yet executed or delivered, will when so executed
and delivered constitute, legal, valid and binding obligations of Owner enforceable against it in
accordance with their respective terms, subject to laws affecting creditors rights and principles of
equity.
(e)
No Breach of Law or Agreement. Neither the execution nor delivery of this
PILOT Agreement or any other documents or instruments executed and delivered, or to be
executed or delivered, pursuant to this PILOT Agreement, nor the performance of any provision,
condition, covenant or other term hereof or thereof, will conflict with or result in a breach of any
statute, rule or regulation, or any judgment, decree or order of any court, board, commission or
agency whatsoever binding on Owner, or any provision of the organizational documents of Owner,
or will materially conflict with or constitute a material breach of or a material default under any
agreement to which Owner is a party, or will result in the creation or imposition of any lien upon
assets or property of Owner.
(f)
Compliance with Laws; Consents and Approvals. The Owner shall comply
with all applicable laws, ordinances, rules and regulations of the federal government, the State of
Maryland, Montgomery County, Maryland, and the City, and shall comply with all applicable
directions, rules and regulations of the fire marshal, health officers, building inspectors and other
officers of any such government or agency.
(g)
Tax Liability. Owner has filed all required federal, state, county and
municipal tax returns and has paid all taxes and assessments owed and payable, and Owner has no
knowledge of any basis for any additional payment with respect to any such taxes and assessments.
(h)
Permits. All permits, consents, permissions and licenses required by any
federal, state or local government or agency to which the Owner or the Scattered Site Project
Residential Units is subject, which may be necessary in relation to this PILOT Agreement or the
acquisition, repair, construction, operation or ownership of the Scattered Site Project Residential
Units, have been, or will be, obtained and none of such consents, permissions and licenses are
subject to appeal or to conditions which have not been met.
7.

Miscellaneous Provisions.

(a)
Notices, Demands, and Communications Between the Parties. Formal
notices, demands, and communications between the Owner and the City shall be given either by
(i) personal service, (ii) delivery by reputable document delivery service such as Federal Express
that provides a receipt showing date and time of delivery, (iii) mailing utilizing a certified or first
class mail postage prepaid service of the United States Postal Service that provides a receipt
showing date and time of delivery, or (iv) delivery by facsimile or electronic mail (email) with
transmittal confirmation and confirmation of delivery, addressed to:
To the City:

City of Rockville
111 Maryland Avenue
Rockville, Maryland 20850
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Attention: Robert DiSpirito, City Manager
Email: RDispirito@rockvillemd.gov
Telephone: (240) 314-8102
With a Copy to:

Robert E. Dawson, Corporate Counsel
Email: RDawson@rockvillemd.gov
Telephone: (240) 314-8150
Asmara G. Habte
Director, Department of Housing & Community Development
Email: AHabte@rockvillemd.gov
Telephone: (240) 314-8203
Stacey M. Webster
Chief Financial Officer, Director of Finance
Email: SWebster@rockvillemd.gov
Telephone: (240) 314-8407

To the Owner:

With a Copy to:

RHE Properties, Inc.
1300 Piccard Drive, Suite 203
Rockville, Maryland 20850
Attention: Jessica Anderson, Secretary
Email: janderson@rockvillehe.org
Telephone: (301) 424-6265
Reno & Cavanaugh PLLC
10175 Little Patuxent Parkway, Suite 900
Columbia, Maryland 21044
Attention: Vonda J. Orders, Esq.
Email: VOrders@renocavanaugh.com
Telephone: (202) 349-2458

Notices personally delivered or delivered by document delivery service
shall be deemed effective upon receipt. Notices mailed shall be deemed effective on the second
business day following deposit in the United States mail. Notices delivered by facsimile or email
shall be deemed effective the next business day, not less than 24 hours, following the date of
transmittal and confirmation of delivery to the intended recipient. Such written notices, demands,
and communications shall be sent in the same manner to such other addresses as any Party may
from time to time designate in writing.
(b)
Interpretation. The terms of this PILOT Agreement shall be construed in
accordance with the meaning of the language used and shall not be construed for or against any
Party by reason of the authorship of this PILOT Agreement or any other rule of construction which
might otherwise apply. The Section headings are for purposes of convenience only and shall not
be construed to limit or extend the meaning of this PILOT Agreement.
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(c)
No Third-Party Beneficiaries. No provision of this Agreement shall be
construed to confer any rights upon any person or entity who is not a Party hereto, whether a thirdparty beneficiary or otherwise.
(d)
Governing Law. This PILOT Agreement shall be construed in accordance
with and governed by the laws of the State of Maryland. The exclusive venue for litigation shall
be Montgomery County. If the Parties are not able to resolve disputes directly with each other,
the Parties may, prior to litigation, attempt to resolve any disputes that arise out of this PILOT
Agreement through mediation before a mutually acceptable mediator.
(e)
Entire Agreement, Waivers and Amendments. This PILOT Agreement
integrates all of the terms and conditions mentioned herein, or incidental hereto, and supersedes
all negotiations and previous agreements between the Parties with respect to any PILOT payments.
All waivers of the provisions of this PILOT Agreement must be in writing and signed by the
appropriate authorities of the Party to be charged, and all amendments and modifications hereto
must be in writing and signed by the appropriate authorities of the Parties.
(f)
Language Construction. The language of each and all paragraphs, terms
and/or provisions of this PILOT Agreement, shall in all cases and for any and all purposes, and in
any way and all circumstances whatsoever, be construed as a whole, according to its fair meaning,
and not for or against any Party and with no regard whatsoever to the identity or status of any
person or persons who drafted all or any portion of this PILOT Agreement.
(g)
Exhibits. The following Exhibits are attached to this PILOT Agreement and
are fully incorporated into this PILOT Agreement by this reference as if fully set forth herein.
Exhibit A
Exhibit B

RHE Properties Scattered Site Residential Units
RHE Scattered Site Public Housing Units

(h)
Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of
which shall be deemed to be an original, and such counterparts shall constitute one and the same
instrument.
[Signatures and acknowledgments appear on the following pages]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Mayor and Council of Rockville and RHE Properties,
Inc. have each executed, or caused to be duly executed, this PILOT Agreement under seal in
duplicate, in the name and behalf of each of them (acting individually or by their respective officers
or appropriate legal representatives, as the case may be, thereunto duly authorized) as of the day
and year first written above.
CITY OF ROCKVILLE
Approved as to form:

THE MAYOR AND COUNCIL OF
ROCKVILLE, a Maryland municipal corporation

__________________________________
Robert E. Dawson, Corporate Counsel
By: ______________________________
Robert DiSpirito, City Manager
ACKNOWLEDGMENT
STATE OF MARYLAND
COUNTY OF MONTGOMERY
On this the ___ day of December 2021, before me, personally appeared Robert DiSpirito, who
acknowledged himself to be the Rockville City Manager in the above instrument, and that he, as
Rockville City Manager, being authorized so to do, executed the foregoing instrument for the
purposes therein contained, by signing the name of the Mayor and Council of Rockville, a
Maryland municipal corporation by himself as the Rockville City Manager.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I hereunto set my hand and official seal.

_______________________________________________
NOTARY PUBLIC
My Commission Expires: __________________________
Serial Number: __________________________________
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OWNER
RHE PROPERTIES, INC., a Maryland nonstock
membership corporation

By: ______________________________
[Insert Name and Title]
ACKNOWLEDGMENT
STATE OF MARYLAND
COUNTY OF MONTGOMERY
On this the ___ day of December 2021, before me, personally appeared _________________, who
acknowledged [him/her]self to be the _________________ in the above instrument, and that
[she/he], as _________________, being authorized so to do, executed the foregoing instrument
for the purposes therein contained, by signing the name of RHE Properties, Inc., a Maryland
nonstock membership corporation by [him/her] as the _________________.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I hereunto set my hand and official seal.

_______________________________________________
NOTARY PUBLIC
My Commission Expires: __________________________
Serial Number: __________________________________
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Exhibit A
RHE Properties, Inc.
Scattered Site Residential Units

Address
343-B Fallsgrove Dr.
219-B Jay Dr.
229-H Cork Tree Ln.
722-G Garden View
TOTAL

Year RHE
Properties
Acquired
Property
2012
2012
2013
2013

RHE
Properties
Acquisition
Price
$122,199
$0
$113,223
$0

Phased-In
Assessment as
of July 1, 2021
$130,000
$130,000
$135,000
$135,000
$530,000

Property
Tax Due
For FY
2022
$379.60
$379.60
$394.20
$394.20
$1,548

PILOT Paid In
Lieu of Property
Due for FY 2022
$0
$0
$0
$0
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Resolution No. ____

RESOLUTION:

To (i) authorize and approve the
disposition of certain real property by
Rockville Housing Enterprises, (ii)
retroactively authorize and approve
the establishment of RHE Properties,
Inc., a nonprofit housing corporation,
by Rockville Housing Enterprises,
and (iii) authorize the acceptance of
an annual payment in lieu of regularly
assessed property taxes from RHE
Properties, Inc. for thirty-three (33)
scattered site single-family housing
units located in the City of Rockville.

RECITALS
WHEREAS, Rockville Housing Enterprises (“RHE”), the successor entity to the Housing
Authority of the City of Rockville, was established pursuant to those certain Articles of
Organization approved by the Secretary of State of Maryland on March 29, 2000 (the “RHE
Articles of Organization”); and
WHEREAS, RHE is the current owner of, among other properties, twenty-nine (29)
scattered site single-family public housing units located on 4.97 acres of underlying land in the
City of Rockville, Maryland (the “29 RHE Scattered Site Public Housing Units”), as more
particularly described in Exhibit A; and
WHEREAS, RHE Properties, Inc., a not-for-profit Maryland nonstock membership
corporation, was established by RHE pursuant to those certain Articles of Incorporation, dated
October 4, 2010, as amended, in order to, among other things, acquire, operate, own, lease, repair
or manage real property in the City of Rockville, Maryland to enhance the supply of affordable
housing in support of the purpose and powers of RHE; and
WHEREAS, RHE Properties, Inc. is the current owner of four (4) scattered site singlefamily housing units located in the City of Rockville, Maryland (the “4 RHE Properties Scattered
Site Residential Units”), as more particularly described in Exhibit B; and
WHEREAS, pursuant to a proposed negotiated sale, RHE is planning to dispose of and
convey the 29 RHE Scattered Site Public Housing Units to RHE Properties, Inc. in order to, among
other reasons, facilitate the conversion of the 29 RHE Scattered Site Public Housing Units from
United States Department of Housing and Urban Development (“HUD”) subsidized public
housing units to HUD subsidized project-based voucher units; and
WHEREAS, pursuant the RHE Articles of Organization and that certain Amended and
Restated Cooperation Agreement, dated March 29, 2000, by and between the City and RHE (the
“Cooperation Agreement”), RHE is required to obtain the prior approval of the Mayor and
Council before disposing of any real property and establishing a not-for-profit corporation; and
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WHEREAS, in order to help facilitate RHE’s desire to convert the 29 RHE Scattered Site
Public Housing Units from HUD subsidized public housing units to HUD subsidized project-based
voucher units, the City Manager and his staff is recommending that the Mayor and Council (i)
authorize and approve RHE’s disposition and conveyance of the 29 RHE Scattered Site Public
Housing Units to RHE Properties, Inc., and (ii) retroactively authorize and approve RHE’s
establishment of RHE Properties, Inc., a nonprofit housing corporation, as required by the RHE
Articles of Organization and the Cooperation Agreement; and
WHEREAS, in order to help ensure that the 29 RHE Scattered Site Public Housing Units
and the 4 RHE Properties Scattered Site Residential Units will continue to be operated as
affordable housing for extremely low- and low-income households for not less than 30 years, RHE
Properties, Inc. is requesting that Mayor and Council agree to not levy or impose real property
taxes on (i) the 29 RHE Scattered Site Public Housing Units (once acquired by RHE Properties,
Inc.), and (ii) the 4 RHE Properties Scattered Site Residential Units, and instead enter into a
Payment In Lieu of Taxes (PILOT) Agreement that will permit RHE Properties, Inc. to pay a
negotiated amount to the City in lieu of the applicable City of Rockville real property tax on the
scattered-site units; and
WHEREAS, Section 7-506.1, Tax-Property Article, of the Annotated Code of Maryland
allows the Mayor and Council to enter into a PILOT agreement with RHE Properties, Inc. for the
payment of a negotiated amount in lieu of the payment of required City of Rockville real property
taxes; and
WHEREAS, the City Manager and his staff is recommending that the Mayor and Council
enter into a PILOT agreement with RHE Properties (the “PILOT Agreement”), and, pursuant to
the terms of the PILOT Agreement, authorize the acceptance of an annual PILOT payment from
RHE Properties, Inc. equal to One and 00/100 Dollar ($1.00) per year in lieu of an annual property
tax payment from RHE Properties, Inc. on the assessed value of the 29 RHE Scattered Site Public
Housing Units and the assessed value of the 4 RHE Properties Scattered Site Residential Units
during such fiscal year for which real property taxes would have been paid to the City.
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR AND COUNCIL OF
ROCKVILLE, MARYLAND, as follows:
1.
Pursuant to the authority granted Mayor and Council by the RHE Articles of
Organization and the Cooperation Agreement, Mayor and Council:
a. Authorizes and approves RHE’s disposition and conveyance of the 29 RHE
Scattered Site Public Housing Units to RHE Properties, Inc., and
b. Retroactively authorizes and approves RHE’s establishment of RHE Properties,
Inc., a nonprofit housing corporation
2.
Mayor and Council has determined that, pursuant to the Annotated Code of
Maryland, Tax-Property Article, Section 7-506.1, the 29 RHE Scattered Site Public Housing Units
and the 4 RHE Properties Scattered Site Residential Units shall not be subject to the otherwise due
full amount of City of Rockville real property taxes if RHE Properties, Inc. enters into and
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thereafter complies with all provisions of the PILOT Agreement, a substantially final draft of
which is attached hereto as Exhibit C, and incorporated herein by reference.
3.
The City Manager of Rockville, Maryland is authorized and empowered to execute
the PILOT Agreement, and any and all documents required in connection therewith, subject to
approval as to final form by the Corporate Counsel.
***************
I hereby certify that the foregoing is a true and correct copy of a
Resolution adopted by the Mayor and Council of Rockville as its
meeting of December 20, 2021.

_____________________________
Sara Taylor-Ferrell, City Clerk and
Director of Council Operations
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EXHIBIT A
29 RHE Scattered Site Public Housing Units
1.

Part of Lots Twenty-Three (23) and Twenty-Four (24) in Block Lettered "O" in the subdivision known as "CROYDON
PARK" recorded in Plat Book 3, Plat 272 among the Land Records of Montgomery County, Maryland. SAVING AND
EXCEPTING all that part thereof recorded in a certain deed to the Mayor and City Council of Rockville dated
January 15, 1978 and recorded in Liber 4329 at folio 769 for Seven Hundred Forty-Two (742) square feet of land
more or less.
Property Address: 202 N. Horners Lane
Rockville, Maryland 20850
Tax I.D.

2.

04-015997882.

Lot numbered Twenty-Five (25) in Block Numbered Ten (10), as shown on a plat of subdivision known as
"MARYVALE", recorded among the Land Records of Montgomery County, Maryland at Plat Book 44 at Page 3322.
Property Address: 501 Pinewood Road
Rockville, Maryland 20850
Tax I.D.

3.

04-001845073.

Lot Numbered Seven (7) in Block Numbered Ten (10) in a subdivision known as "MARYVALE" as set forth in Plat
Book 44 on Plat 3322, one of the Land Records of Montgomery County, Maryland.
Property Address: 512 Woodston Road
Rockville, Maryland 20850
Tax I.D.

4.

04-001842234.

Lots Numbered Nine (9) and Ten (10) in Block Numbered Five (5) in the subdivision known as "ROCKVILLE PARK"
as per plat thereof duly recorded among the Land Records for said Montgomery County, Maryland in Plat Book A at
Plat 53.
Property Address: 726 Grandin Avenue
Rockville, Maryland 20850
Tax I.D.

5.

04-002062635.

Lot Numbered Seventeen (17) in Block Numbered Five (5) in the subdivision known as "WEST END PARK" as per
plat recorded in Plat Book 52 at Plat 4116 among the Land Records of Montgomery County, Maryland.
Property Address: 330 Beall Avenue
Rockville, Maryland 20850
Tax I.D.

6.

Lot Numbered Sixteen (16), in Block Lettered "D", in the subdivision known as "WARREN'S SECOND ADDITION
TO ROCKCREST" as per plat thereof duly recorded among the Land Records of Montgomery County, Maryland, in
Plat Book 42 at Plat 3056.
Property Address: 1620 Burris Road
Rockville, Maryland 20850
Tax I.D.

7.

04-002286706.

04-00192041

Lot numbered Four (4) in Block numbered Three (3) in the subdivision known as "MARYVALE" as per plat thereof
recorded in Plat Book 41 at Plat 2943 among the Land Records of Montgomery County, Maryland.
Property Address: 506 Crabb Avenue
Rockville, Maryland 20850
Tax I.D.

8.

04-00184633

Lot numbered Five (5) in Block numbered Five (5) in a subdivision known as "MARYVALE", as per plat thereof duly
recorded among the Land Records of Montgomery County, Maryland in Plat Book 42 at Plat 3100.
Property Address: 609 Crabb Avenue
Rockville, Maryland 20850
Tax I.D.

9.

04-1843143.

Lot numbered Seven (7) in Block numbered Two (2) in the subdivision known as "LINCOLN PARK", in Montgomery
County, Maryland, as per plat thereof recorded in Plat Book B at Plat 13, one of the Land Records of said Montgomery
County, Maryland
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Property Address: 328 Lincoln Avenue
Rockville, Maryland 20850
Tax I.D.

04-1785284.

10. Lot numbered Twenty-two (22) in Block lettered 'C' in the subdivision known as "H.L. ENGLANDS 2ND ADDITION
TO ROCKVILLE", as per plat recorded in Plat Book 4 at Plat 341 among the Land Records of Montgomery County,
Maryland.
Property Address: 339 Howard Avenue
Rockville, Maryland 20850
Tax I.D.

04-148925.

11. Lot numbered Seven (7) in Block numbered Eleven (11) in the subdivision known as "MARYVALE", as per plat
thereof recorded among the Land Records of Montgomery County, Maryland in Plat Book 45 at Plat 3391.
Property Address: 512 Pinewood Road
Rockville, Maryland 20850
Tax I.D.

04-1846886.

12. Lot numbered Twenty-one (21) in Block One (1) in the subdivision known as "MARYVALE", as per plat thereof
recorded in Plat Book 45, at Plat 3431 among the Land Records of Montgomery County, Maryland.
Property Address: 618 Burgundy Drive
Rockville, Maryland 20850
Tax I.D.

04-184303

13. Lot numbered Thirty-two (32) in Block numbered Seven (7) in the subdivision known as "MARYVALE", as per plat
thereof recorded in Plat Book 45 at Plat 3431 one of the Land Records of Montgomery County, Maryland.
Property Address: 608 Longwood Drive
Rockville, Maryland 20850
Tax I.D.

04-1827608.

14. Lot numbered Two (2) in Block numbered Nine (9), in a subdivision known as "H.L. ENGLAND'S SECOND
ADDITION TO LINCOLN PARK" duly recorded among the Land Records of Montgomery County, Maryland in Plat
Book 4 at Plat 342.
Property Address: 615 N. Stonestreet Avenue
Rockville, Maryland 20850
Tax I.D.

04-001801569.

15. Lot numbered Two (2) in Block numbered Five (5) in the subdivision known as "H.L. ENGLAND'S 2ND ADDITION
TO LINCOLN PARK", as per plat thereof recorded in Plat Book 4 at Plat 342 one of the Land Records for
Montgomery County, Maryland.
Property Address: 914 N. Stonestreet Avenue
Rockville, Maryland 20850
Tax I.D.

04-18078310.

16. Lot numbered Twenty-two (22) in Block lettered "B" in the subdivision known as "DENNIS C. SIMMONS
ADDITION TO ROCKVILLE" as per plat thereof duly recorded in Plat Book 37 at Plat N. 2530 among the Land
Records of Montgomery County, Maryland.
Property Address: 205 North Van Buren Street
Rockville, Maryland 20850
Tax I.D.

04-14676211.

17. Lot numbered Fifteen (15) in Block numbered Fifteen (15) in the subdivision known as "BEALLS SUBDIVISION
ROCKVILLE", as per plat thereof duly recorded among the Land Records of Montgomery County, Maryland in Plat
Book 17 at Plat 1054.
Property Address: 226 N. Van Buren Street
Rockville, Maryland 20850
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Tax I.D.

04-159252

18. Lot numbered Twenty-seven (27) in the subdivision of original Lot 26 of Nathan Bickford's Subdivision of Lots 2 and
3 of the subdivision of "SAMUEL MARTIN'S ESTATE", as per plat thereof recorded in Plat Book "B", Plat 42 one of
the Land Records of Montgomery County, Maryland; and described as follows: BEGINNING for the same at a stake
on the east side of roadway 30 feet wide and at the end of 246.86 feet measured along said roadway from its
intersection with the north side of Martin's land and running thence with said east side of said roadway North 14
degrees 04 minutes East 46.83 feet; then across original Lot No. 26, South 61 degrees 38 minutes East 142 feet to the
east line of said Lot 26 and then with said line South 11 degrees 4 minutes West 47.53 feet; then leaving said
line North 61 degrees 35 minutes West 144.13 feet to the beginning, containing 6491.2 square feet of land,
excepting however that part thereof described in and conveyed by deed dated October 18, 1966 recorded in
Liber 3589 at folio 268 from J. Russell Mills and wife to Mayor and Council of Rockville for widening of Bickford
Avenue, said part containing 475.3 square feet, said widening being also shown on Plat Book 66, Plat No. 6024.
Property Address: 507 Bickford Avenue
Rockville, Maryland
Tax I.D.

04-152331

19. Lot numbered Twenty six (26) in the subdivision of original Lot 26 of Nathan Bickford's Subdivision of Lots 2 and 3 of
the subdivision of "SAMUEL MARTIN'S ESTATE" as per plat thereof recorded in Plat Book "B" in Plat 42, one of
the Land Records of Montgomery County, Maryland; and described as follows: BEGINNING for the same at a nail in
the root of a maple tree of the Northwest corner of said original lot S. 61 degrees 41 minutes East 139.7 feet; then with
the last line of said lot S. 11 degrees 04 minutes West 47.53 feet; then leaving said line and running across said Lot
North 61 degrees 38 minutes West 142 feet to the West line of said lot and East side of a roadway 30 feet wide, then
bounding on said line and said roadway North 14 degrees 04 minutes East 46.83 feet to the place of beginning,
containing 6392.3 square feet of land, excepting however that part thereof described in and conveyed by deed dated
October 18, 1966 recorded in Liber 3509 folio 268 from J. Russell Mills and wife to the Mayor and Council of
Rockville for the widening of Bickford Avenue, said part containing 475.3 square feet. Said widening being also shown
on Plat Book 66 Plat No. 6024.
Property Address: 509 Bickford Avenue
Rockville, Maryland 20850
Tax I.D.

04-152320.

20. Beginning for the same at a rebar set on the common dividing line of Lot 9 and 10, Block 10 of "BEALL'S
SUBDIVISION OF PART OF ROCKVILLE" as recorded among the Land Records of Montgomery County,
Maryland in Plat Book 1 at Plat 10. Said rebar line being the south right of way line of North Street established on
street dedication plat of North Street and N. Van Buren Street as recorded in Plat Book 64 at Plat 5644. Thence running
with said South right of way line of North Street South 83 degrees 46 minutes East 50 feet to a rebar set on the common
dividing line of Lots 10 and 11. Thence with said dividing line South 6 degrees 24 minutes West 90 feet to a rebar set.
Thence to cross and include part of Lot 10 North 83 degrees 46 minutes West 50 feet to a rebar set on the dividing line
of Lots 9 and 10. Thence with said dividing line North 6 degrees 24 minutes East 90 feet to the point of beginning.
Containing 4500 square feet of land more or less.
Property Address: 102 North Street
Rockville, Maryland 20850
Tax I.D.

04-158680

21. Lot numbered Thirty four (34) in Block lettered "B" in the subdivision known as "PARTS OF BLOCKS A AND B
LYNFIELD" as per plat recorded in Plat Book 43, at Plat 3232 among the Land Records of Montgomery
County, Maryland.
Property Address: 609 West Lynfield Drive
Rockville, Maryland 20850
Tax I.D.

04-00181630.

22. Lot numbered Eleven (11) in Block numbered Sixty-one (61) in the subdivision known as "GEERAERT'S ADDITION
TO TWIN-BROOK" as per plat thereof recorded in Plat Book 44 at Plat 3292 among the Land Records of Montgomery
County Maryland.
Property Address: 1309 Gladstone Drive
Rockville, Maryland 20851
Tax I.D.

04-216557.
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23. Lot numbered Ten (10) in Block numbered Fifty-two (52) in the subdivision known as "GEERAERT'S ADDITION TO
TWIN-BROOK", as per plat recorded in Plat Book 42 at Plat 3042 among the Land Records of Montgomery County,
Maryland.
Property Address: 1807 McAuliffe Drive
Rockville, Maryland 20851
Tax I.D.

04-217494.

24. Lot numbered Seventeen (17) in Block lettered "N" in the subdivision known as "WARREN'S SECOND ADDITION
TO ROCKCREST" as per plat thereof recorded among the Land Records of Montgomery County, Maryland in Plat
Book 44 at Plat 3321.
Property Address: 1633 Lewis Avenue
Rockville, Maryland 20851
Tax I.D.

04-195476.

25. Lot numbered Twenty-six (26) in Block numbered Seven (7) in the subdivision known as "WARREN'S ADDITION
TO ROCKCREST", as per plat thereof recorded in Plat Book 37 at Plat 2534 among the Land Records of Montgomery
County, Maryland.
Property Address: 1305 Clagett Drive
Rockville, Maryland 20850
Tax I.D.

04-198195.

26. Lot numbered Eleven (11) in Block lettered "I" in the subdivision known as "WARREN'S 2ND ADDITION TO
ROCKCREST", as per plat recorded in Plat Book 43 at Plat 3188 among the Land Records of Montgomery County,
Maryland.
Property Address: 1208 Parrish Drive
Rockville, Maryland 20851
Tax I.D.

04-191412

27. Lot numbered Thirty-nine (39) in Block lettered "Eye" in the subdivision known as "WARREN'S 2ND ADDITION TO
ROCKCREST", as per plat thereof recorded in Plat Book 43, Plat 3188 among the Land Records of Montgomery
County, Maryland.
Property Address: 1211 Highwood Road
Rockville, Maryland 20850
Tax I.D.

04-192360.

28. Lot numbered Fourteen (14) in Block numbered Twelve (12) of the subdivision of land in Montgomery County,
Maryland, which is known as and called "WARREN'S ADDITION TO ROCKCREST", according to a plat thereof
which is duly recorded among the Land Records for said Montgomery County, Maryland In Plat Book 38, Plat 2634.
Property Address: 1106 Broadwood Drive
Rockville, Maryland 20851
Tax I.D.

04-191104.

29. Lot numbered Three (3) in Block lettered "F" in the subdivision known as "PART OF SECTION TWO AND A
RESUBDIVISION OF SECTION ONE, TWIN-BROOK", as per plat recorded in Plat Book 35 at Plat 2367 one of the
Land Records for Montgomery County, Maryland.
Property Address: 13303 Midway Avenue
Rockville, Maryland 20851
Tax I.D.

04-213678
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1.

Condominium Unit numbered 44, in a condominium regime known as “Phase 3, FALLSGROVE CONDOMINIUM,”
as established by and shown on Condominium Plats recorded at Condominium Plats numbered 8154 through and
including 8157, and by Declaration of Condominium of Fallsgrove Condominium recorded in Liber 20900 at folio 536,
as the same may be amended or supplemented, all as recorded among the Land Records of Montgomery County,
Maryland. Together with the Unit’s undivided percentage interest in the common elements. (NOTE: Prior Deeds
erroneously refer to Unit 44 as being in Phase 1 of Fallsgrove Condominium, and also recite incorrect plat references
and Condominium Declaration reference.)
SUBJECT TO MODERATELY PRICED DWELLING UNIT COVENANTS RECORDED AMONG THE LAND
RECORDS OF MONTGOMERY COUNTY, MARYLAND, IN LIBER 21190 AT FOLIO 134.
Property Address: 343-B Fallsgrove Drive
Rockville, Maryland 20851
Tax I.D.

2.

04-03375551

Condominium Unit numbered 104, in a condominium regime known as “Phase 6, FALLSGROVE CONDOMINIUM,”
as established by and shown on Condominium Plats recorded at Condominium Plats numbered 8154 through and
including 8157; AND Condominium Plats 8187 through and including 8190; and Condominium Plats 8206 through and
including 8209; and Condominium Plats 8227 through and including 8230; and Condominium Plats 8252 through and
including 82550; and by Declaration of Condominium and By-Laws recorded in Liber 20900 at folio 536 (erroneously
referenced as Liber 17906 at folio 286 in prior Deeds), and by Supplementary Declaration recorded in Liber 21094 at
folio 432, and by Supplementary Declaration recorded in Liber 21424 at folio 665; and by Supplementary Declaration
recorded in Liber 21845 at folio 298; and by Supplementary Declaration recorded in Liber 21935 at folio 26; and as may
be further amended or supplemented, all as recorded among the Land Records of Montgomery County, Maryland.
Together with its undivided percentage interest in the common elements.
SUBJECT TO MODERATELY PRICED DWELLING UNIT COVENANTS RECORDED AMONG THE LAND
RECORDS OF MONTGOMERY COUNTY, MARYLAND, IN LIBER 21190 AT FOLIO 134.
Property Address: 219-B Jay Drive
Rockville, Maryland 20851
Tax I.D.

3.

04-03387104

Condominium Unit lettered “H”, Phase 1, Building 3-C, in a Condominium styled “KING FARM III CONDOMINIUM,”
as per plat thereof recorded at Condominium Plat Nos. 8257 through and including 8260, among the Land Records of
Montgomery County, Maryland, as from time to time amended or supplemented; said Unit being a part of the land and
premises subjected to a Condominium Regime by a certain Declaration of Condominium dated October 10, 2002, and
recorded October 10, 2002, in Liber 21957 at folio 367, among the aforesaid Land Records, as from time to time amended,
together with an undivided interest in the common elements.
SUBJECT TO MODERATELY PRICED DWELLING UNIT COVENANTS RECORDED AMONG THE LAND
RECORDS OF MONTGOMERY COUNTY, MARYLAND, IN LIBER 21760 AT FOLIO 734.
Property Address: 229-H Cork Tree Lane
Rockville, Maryland 20851
Tax I.D.

4.

04-03387228

Condominium Unit lettered “G”, Phase 5, Building 5-B, in a Condominium styled “KING FARM V
CONDOMINIUM,” as per plat thereof recorded at Condominium Plat Nos. 8495 et seq., among the Land Records of
Montgomery County, Maryland, as from time to time amended or supplemented; said Unit being a part of the land and
premises subjected to a Condominium Regime by a certain Declaration of Condominium dated July 25, 2003, and
recorded July 28, 2003, in Liber 24166 at folio 11, among the aforesaid Land Records, as from time to time amended,
together with an undivided interest in the common elements.
Property Address: 722-G Garden View
Rockville, Maryland 20851
Tax I.D.

04-03437186
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Mayor & Council Meeting Date: December 20, 2021
Agenda Item Type: Discussion and Instructions
Department: PDS - Zoning Review & Other
Responsible Staff: Jim Wasilak

Subject
Discussion and Instruction to Staff for Zoning Text Amendment TXT2020-00256, to Amend
Section 25.21.21 of the Zoning Ordinance to Establish Tree Planting Requirements for New
Residential Lots Containing Townhouses, Duplexes and Other Attached Units (FAST Initiative);
Mayor and Council of Rockville, Applicant

Recommendation
Review the proposed text amendments, the Planning Commission's recommendation, and
direct staff on the zoning text amendment.

Discussion
The proposed Zoning Text Amendment is a result of an internal review of recent development
applications that contain townhouse units, as well as a lack of clarity related to existing
requirements for tree planting on residential lots. The current Zoning Ordinance requirement in
Section 25.21.21, Tree Planting, requires that the subdivider plant a minimum of one tree in the
front yard and two trees in the rear yard of every residential lot. The code section does not
distinguish among types of residential lots. Thus, this section has been applied to single unit
detached, semi-detached, as well as attached (townhouse) lots as part of the subdivision
approval process. In short, there is currently not an established and equitable trees-per-lot
planting requirement for these types of units.
In practice, new lots containing single unit detached dwellings can easily accommodate this
requirement, while it is difficult for townhouse lots to accommodate the required trees, as
most townhouse lots are not large enough to support three trees and the space required for
them to thrive along with the townhouse unit. In addition, most townhouse lots do not have
enough space for large trees to mature without interfering with the residence itself, adjacent
street trees, or required infrastructure, potentially leading to severe pruning of limbs and in
some cases, removal. As an alternative, developments containing townhouse lots have
historically requested and been granted waivers of this planting requirement at the time of
subdivision.
Note that waivers of requirements of the subdivision regulations (Article 21 of the Zoning
Ordinance) are granted if the Planning Commission finds that undue hardship will result from
strict compliance with the requirement, such that the public health, safety, aesthetics, and
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general welfare will be protected, and the waiver will not be contrary to the intent and purpose
of the Plan and the Zoning Ordinance. One of the main hardships is the requirement of
townhome developments to be required to plant three trees per lot, given the lack of planting
area and the inability of these trees to thrive in the long run. Staff has developed and
recommends alternatives that establish a trees-per-lot standards for attached housing, and
create an equitable standard so that the requirement is reasonable, may be met, and not
require a waiver that can be difficult to justify under the required criteria.
Zoning Ordinance – Promoting Equity Across Housing Types
Effective zoning requirements attempt to create equity for associated parties across various
housing types. Staff finds that by having a one-size-fits-all standard (see image below) that
doesn’t recognize and accommodate key differences between various lot types, certain types of
housing are more greatly impacted. Housing units such as duplexes, multiplexes, townhomes,
and courtyard buildings are examples of “missing middle” housing which can be impacted.
These types of housing units are typically on small lots with limited area for planting trees.
Increasing our stock of missing middle housing in Rockville would allow for more families of
different income levels to have additional opportunities for stable and conveniently located
housing options. Staff believes it is important to look at zoning regulations that may lead to
discouraging these types of housing. The requirement of three trees per lot for townhomes,
duplexes, and similar type housing is an example. By amending the current lot tree requirement
to take into consideration various lot types and applying a consistent standard, the City will
further promote equitable outcomes for various types of housing.
The graphic below was created using the average size (1,385-sf) of townhouse lots in the city
through the last 10 years, in contrast to the minimum detached lot size (6,000-sf) in the densest
zoning district (R-60). As depicted in the graphic, on average, four (4) townhouse lots fit within
a single unit detached lot in the R-60 zoning district. Therefore, applying the same standard to
all lots results in a greater impact to townhouse lots. Planting twelve (12) trees in a 6,000-sf
space is not practical and is not currently required on a single family detached lot. Staff
believes we should encourage other types of housing by establishing a reasonable and
equitable standard for attached housing, and eliminate a costly and potentially unnecessary
waiver process that is typically always approved.
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History of Tree Requirements on Residential Lots in the City of Rockville
The requirement for tree planting on residential lots has been in the Zoning Ordinance since at
least 1980. At the time, the intent of the requirement was to provide tree canopy within newly
developed residential neighborhoods, which were in addition to the requirements for street
tree planting (one tree per 40 feet of lot frontage). This requirement was a significant driver for
tree canopy at the time. Note that the tree planting is required for newly-created lots, but
there is no requirement that the trees be retained.
The requirements of the Forest and Tree Preservation Ordinance (FTPO) became effective upon
adoption in 1992, which significantly added to the forestry requirements of residential
subdivisions, and other new developments, by requiring features such as forest conservation,
significant tree replacement, and minimum tree cover. In short, the FTPO requirements
adequately address the City’s goal to increase its 50% tree canopy area, and ultimately requires
a significant number of trees to be planted throughout the project above what is required for
each residential lot. On redevelopment and infill sites, limited space exists for planting more
trees above those needed to meet FTPO requirements.

Other Jurisdictions
Staff surveyed other local jurisdictions for a similar requirement for townhouse lots, including
Montgomery, Howard, Anne Arundel, Frederick and Prince George’s counties, the cities of
Annapolis, Frederick, Gaithersburg, and Laurel in Maryland, as well as Arlington, Fairfax and
Prince William counties and the City of Alexandria in Virginia.
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Some of these jurisdictions have no minimum tree planting requirement of any type for newly
subdivided residential lots, including Montgomery County, Frederick County, Gaithersburg, and
Annapolis. Jurisdictions with a tree-per-lot requirement include that requirement in an adopted
landscape manual, rather than within the Zoning Ordinance. Those standards for tree planting
in townhouse developments are as follows:
•

•

•

•

Howard County requires one shade tree per townhouse unit, but allows the trees to be
located on residential lots or on open space lots or other on-site locations. Small
deciduous or evergreen trees may be substituted for shade trees at a 2:1 ratio for up to
50% of the shade trees required. Requirements for the City of Laurel mirror these.
Prince George’s County requires 1.5 shade trees per dwelling and 1 ornamental or
evergreen tree per dwelling. Trees may be located on the residential lots or on common
open space lots.
Anne Arundel County requires 2 shade trees per dwelling but allows the trees to be
planted on individual lots or on common area. Small deciduous or evergreen trees may
be substituted for shade trees at a ratio of 2:1 for up to 1/3 of the shade trees.
The City of Frederick requires that one tree be planted on a lot for each 3,000 square
feet of lot area, or part of lot more than 1,000 square feet.

Staff notes that those local jurisdictions with zoning standards for tree planting in townhouse
developments (many do not have requirements) include a range of requirements from 1 to 2
trees per townhouse lot, with flexibility to locate some of the trees in common area.
Zoning Text Amendment, as Authorized by the Mayor and Council
As authorized for filing by the Mayor and Council on January 13, 2020, the originally proposed
text amendment (see attachment A) would establish the tree planting requirement to one (1)
tree per lot for residential lots containing townhouse, attached and semi-detached units, and
retain the existing three trees per lot requirement for single unit detached lots. This
requirement would achieve additional tree cover within residential townhouse lots primarily
with ornamental trees, in addition to the shade trees provided as street trees and those
required by the Forest and Tree Preservation Ordinance (FTPO). It includes flexibility to allow
for the trees to be planted in either the front or rear yard of such lots, but not outside of the
residential lots. This would result in fewer requested subdivision waivers for tree planting, but
would still allow for the granting of subdivision waivers if a hardship can be determined. Our
City’s Urban Forester reviewed and supported these recommended changes.
This requirement would be more in line with the number of trees per lot supported by the
Mayor and Council for the Shady Grove Neighborhood Center project plan, which yielded less
than one tree-per-lot on the individual townhouse lots, while providing 1.5 trees per
townhouse lot in the aggregate within the first phase of the project.
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Text Amendment – As Revised and Recommended by Staff
At the February 26, 2020 Planning Commission meeting, staff presented the draft as authorized
by the Mayor and Council. Based on that discussion, staff developed a revised draft to address
the concerns raised, including the reduction of tree canopy, providing flexibility in certain
circumstances and providing for tree canopy in infill developments within or adjacent to
residential neighborhoods, that was presented to the Commission on April 8. The new language
as recommended by staff (see attachment B) allows an applicant the ability to locate a portion
of the required trees in common areas or on City-owned property, subject to certain criteria,
including if the design of the typical lot prohibits placing all three trees on the lot; whether
there is tree canopy in the vicinity of the lots provided through other tree-planting
requirements, and that the trees planted off of the residential lots contribute toward tree
canopy within the semi-detached, attached or townhouse area.
Staff recommended the revised language, in part because it creates an ordinance standard for
which to review and evaluate a trees-per-lot reduction request, rather than subjecting the
request to the subdivision waiver standard, which is primarily based on a hardship and
sometimes difficult to prove. The new language also gives the applicant flexibility in locating
required trees-per-lot to common areas and public parkland within the development project.
There is past precedent for this in the city that came about through the subdivision waiver
process, and the new language formally makes this option available, provided that the criteria
are met.
Staff also proposed some clarifications to the text amendment that were not included in the
original draft authorized by the Mayor and Council. The first clarifies that existing trees to be
preserved on single family lots count toward the tree-per-lot requirement. The second clarifies
that trees planted to meet the tree-per-lot requirement do not count toward trees that are
required by the Forest and Tree Preservation Ordinance (FTPO) or street tree planting
requirements.
Planning Commission Discussion
The Planning Commission had concerns about reducing tree canopy during previous discussions
on February 26 and April 8, 2020, given Rockville’s status as a Tree City, the desire for tree
canopy to not be eroded throughout the city, and potential negative effects on neighborhood
character. The Commission generally agreed on the following components, and asked staff to
develop a revised text amendment for consideration.
•
•

Trees per Lot: Most commissioners stated that the three trees per lot requirement
should be retained for semi-detached (duplex), townhouse and attached units (current
requirement).
Duplex Lots: The Commission supported duplex lots having the same requirements as
single-unit detached lots, as the lot area of duplexes is only slightly smaller than a typical
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•

•

•

•

•

single-unit detached lot, and that this requirement should be met on site rather than
allowing off-site flexibility.
Flexibility in meeting the trees per lot requirement: Commissioners supported the
planting of trees required for attached and townhouse residential lots on common
areas, allowing for the creation of stands of trees within a townhouse development that
would make the tree planting more effective and potentially more compatible with
surrounding development.
Urban vs. Infill Townhouse standards: The Commission recognized that some townhouse
developments are more urban in character, which could or should have different treeplanting requirements than townhouses in other areas, such as those within or near
existing residential neighborhoods.
Survivability: The Commission expressed concern about the survivability of trees on
individual lots, which is not guaranteed and dependent on individual property owners
retaining the trees.
Reference to Chief of Zoning rather than City Forester: Commissioners noted concerns
with the text amendment as modified by staff, including the change from referencing
the City Forester to the Chief of Zoning for determining whether proposed planting is
acceptable.
Quality of trees planted: Commissioners stated that planting quality trees, including
native species, should be incorporated in all development regardless of the proposed lot
type.

Planning Commission Recommendation (2020)
For the June 24, 2020 Planning Commission meeting, staff provided a revised draft for the
Planning Commission’s consideration that incorporated the discussion points listed above. The
revised draft incorporated the following changes:
•

•

•
•

Retained three trees per lot requirement for all semi-detached, townhouse and
attached units. The draft relocates semi-detached to the section with single unit
dwellings, so that requirement remains three trees per lot, to be provided on the lot
containing the units and would not be eligible for off-lot locations.
Provided criteria for when required trees per lot may be located off of the residential
lots: when there is not enough room on the proposed lots for trees to thrive; and when
it can be demonstrated that off-lot trees provide tree canopy in or near the townhouse
or attached unit areas;
Provided additional criteria for developments containing townhouse or attached units,
in or adjacent to existing neighborhoods, that tree locations be compatible in character
with the existing residential community; and
Modified references to the City Forester and Chief of Zoning by referring to planting
standards enacted by the Forester. This will clarify that the trees required to be planted
by this requirement are subject to the standards developed by the City Forester
regarding species and planting requirements. Staff notes that trees planted on common
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area are typically subject to a Forest Conservation Easement, a Warranty and
Maintenance Agreement, and are enforced via site plan at a minimum. Trees on
individual residential lots are not enforced in this manner, unless they are covered by an
easement, which is rare.
The Planning Commission considered the revisions and made a recommendation to the Mayor
and Council that incorporated these changes (see attachment C).
Recent Updates
Since the public hearing, staff has noted concerns from both the Planning Commission and the
Mayor and Council regarding the recent additional requests for waivers from the trees per
residential lot requirement. Examples include the Potomac Woods site plan on Fortune Terrace
and the redevelopment of the King Buick property for townhouses. The developers of both
projects have requested or intend to request waivers of the tree planting requirement. In light
of this, the Planning Commission and staff have agreed that there is an opportunity to
reconsider and perhaps revise the Commission’s recommendation made to the Mayor and
Council in June 2020, with the intent of further revising the proposed Zoning Text Amendment
to create an appropriate lot tree requirement for attached and semi-detached lots.
Staff finds the original intent of the proposed Zoning Text Amendment is to create a standard
that is appropriate for townhouse, attached and semi-detached lots. Staff notes that the
Commission’s recommended draft (attachment C) does not adequately meet the intent of the
original text amendment by retaining the 3 trees per lot requirement, and in fact, holds
townhouse development to a higher and, in many cases, unmeetable standard when compared
with other types of residential development. Staff has proposed a revised draft (attachment D)
for Planning Commission discussion and recommendation. Furthermore, staff finds this text
amendment will further promote an equitable zoning requirement across varying types of
residential lot development in the city. Staff recommends this draft for recommendation by
the Planning Commission to the Mayor and Council.
The revised draft (attachment D) that staff is recommending intends to balance the needs of
the text amendment while addressing past concerns. The revised draft incorporates the
following changes:
•
•
•
•

Subdivider shall provide a minimum of one (1) tree on each residential lot per 2,000
square feet or fraction thereof, up to a maximum of three (3) trees.
Existing trees on a lot, if properly preserved, shall count towards this requirement.
Planning Commission has an option to approve trees off the lot in the common space of
the development at a 2:1 ratio if criteria are satisfied.
Required trees shall be submitted via a landscaping detail which demonstrates proper
planting space, a 50% native species requirement, and trees are in locations and
configurations following proper planting practices.
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•

Trees planted pursuant to this requirement are in addition to trees planted in fulfillment
of the requirements in Chapter 10.5, or as otherwise required by the Zoning Ordinance.

Planning Commission Recommendation - December 8
The Planning Commission reviewed and discussed the revised recommendation from staff at its
meeting on December 8, 2021. Urban Forester Shaun Ryan gave a thorough presentation on
the rationale for the revision, which included equity among different types of residential units
as a goal, which recommends one tree per 2,000 square feet of residential lot area for all
residential unit types. The Commission also appreciated staff including many of the
Commission’s prior recommendations into the revised draft and clarifying the tree
requirements for new development from both the Forest and Tree Preservation Ordinance and
the Zoning Ordinance. After discussion, the Commission approved a motion to support the
revised staff recommendation.

Mayor and Council History
The Mayor and Council authorized the filing of the proposed Text Amendment on January 13,
2020, as described above. A public hearing was held on December 7, 2020.

Public Notification and Engagement
Text amendment applications are sent to all neighborhood associations for review and
comment prior to public meetings.

Boards and Commissions Review
Planning Commission discussed on February 26, April 8, and June 24 of 2020. Planning
Commission provided a recommended text amendment to Mayor and Council on a memo
dated November 10, 2020.
Planning Commission discussed a revised text amendment (attachment D) provided by staff on
December 8, 2020.

Next Steps
Based on instructions from Mayor and Council, staff will prepare draft language for
consideration at a future meeting, tentatively scheduled for January 24, 2022.

Attachments
Attachment 12.a:
Attachment 12.b:
Attachment 12.c:

Text Amendment as Authorized
(PDF)
2020 Staff Revision (PDF)
Planning Commission Recommendation
(PDF)
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Attachment 12.d:

Revised Staff Recommendation - 2021

(PDF)
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December 23, 2019

ATTACHMENT TO APPLICATION
TO THE CITY OF ROCKVILLE FOR A
TEXT AMENDMENT TO THE ZONING ORDINANCE
Applicant: Mayor and Council of Rockville
The applicant proposes to amend the zoning ordinance adopted on December 15, 2008, and with
an effective date of March 16, 2009, by inserting and replacing the following text (underlining
indicates text to be added; strikethroughs indicate text to be deleted; * * * indicates text not
affected by the proposed amendment). Further amendments may be made following citizen
input, Planning Commission review and Mayor and Council review.
Amend Article 21, “Plats and Subdivision Regulations” as follows:
25.21.21 – Tree Planting
a. The subdivider shall plant at least one (1) street tree per 40 feet of lot frontage within the
public right-of-way or if approved by the Approving Authority, adjacent to the public
right-of-way. The species, location and method of planting to be approved by the City
Forester Chief of Zoning.
b. Tree Planting on Residential Lots
1. Single Unit Detached Residential Lots:
(a) The subdivider shall plant a minimum of one (1) tree in the front yard and two (2)
trees in the rear yard of every residential lot as approved by the City Forester
Chief of Zoning.
2. Semi-detached, Attached, and Townhouse Residential Lots:
(a) The subdivider shall plant a minimum of one (1) tree on each lot, supplemented
with shrub plantings, as shown on the approved landscape plan.
(b) Each lot shall provide a minimum tree planting area of 7 feet in length by 7 feet in
width and a minimum 200 cubic foot tree pit for each tree.
(c) The tree planting area shall not be encumbered by utilities or easements.
c. Tree planting must be done in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 10.5 of the City
Code, “Forest and Tree Preservation”.
***
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Section 25.21.21 – Tree Planting
a. The subdivider shall plant at least one (1) street tree per 40 feet of lot frontage within the public
right-of-way or if approved by the Approving Authority, adjacent to the public right-of-way. The
species, location and method of planting to be approved by the City Forester Chief of Zoning.
b. Tree Planting on Residential Lots
1. Single Unit Detached Residential Lots:
(a) The subdivider shall plant a minimum of one (1) tree in the front yard and two (2) trees
in the rear yard of every residential lot as approved by the City Forester Chief of Zoning.
Existing trees on the lot that will be preserved may count toward this requirement.
2. Semidetached, Attached, and Townhouse Residential Lots:
(a) The subdivider shall plant a minimum of one (1) tree on each lot, supplemented with
shrub plantings, as shown on the approved landscape plan.
(b) Each lot shall provide a minimum tree planting area of 7 feet in length by 7 feet in width
and a minimum 200 cubic foot tree pit for each tree.
(c) The tree planting area shall not be encumbered by utilities or easements.
(d) Modification:
i.

In approving lots for semidetached, attached, or townhouse dwelling units, the
Approving Authority may allow the subdivider to plant some or all of the required
trees per lot in a common area or parcel to be dedicated to the City within the
proposed development, if the Approving Authority finds:
A. The design of the lots makes planting some or all of the required trees on each
lot impractical;
B. The subdivider has submitted a typical landscape plan for each lot
demonstrating the provision of sufficient trees and other plant material on or
adjacent to each lot that contribute to the tree canopy and landscaped area
within the area of the semidetached, attached or townhouse lots; and
C. The trees to be located in a common area or on a parcel to be dedicated to the
City contribute to the tree canopy of the semidetached, attached or townhouse
area.

c. Tree planting must be done in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 10.5 of the City Code,
“Forest and Tree Preservation”. Trees planted pursuant to this subsection are in addition to
trees planted in fulfillment of the requirements of Chapter 10.5.

Attachment 12.b: 2020 Staff Revision (3946 : Discussion and Instruction to Staff for Zoning Text Amendment TXT2020-00256, to Amend Section
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City of Rockville

MEMORANDUM
November 10, 2020
TO:

Mayor and Council

FROM:

Planning Commission

SUBJECT:

Planning Commission Recommendation on Zoning Text Amendment Application
TXT2020-00256, To Modify the Tree Planting Requirements for Trees Per lot for
Duplexes, Townhouses and other Attached Units
______________________________________________________________________________
At its meeting on June 24, 2020 the Planning Commission reviewed and discussed Zoning Text
Amendment (ZTA) Application TXT2020-00256 to modify the tree planting requirements in
Section 25.21.21 for townhouses, duplexes and other attached residential units.
The Planning Commission discussed the proposed text amendment at three meetings: February 26,
April 8 and June 24. After lengthy discussions and deliberation, the Planning Commission voted to
recommend a version of the amendment for approval to the Mayor and Council, that addresses
issues of concern noted below.
SUMMARY OF PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATIONS
During their discussions, the Planning Commission identified several issues of concern,
including:
•

Trees per Lot: Most commissioners stated that the amount of three trees per lot
requirement should be retained for semi-detached (duplex), townhouse and attached
units.

•

Duplex Lots: The Commission supported duplex lots having the same requirements as
single-unit detached lots, as the lot area of duplexes is only slightly smaller than a typical
single-unit detached lot, and that this requirement should be met on site.

Attachment 12.c: Planning Commission Recommendation (3946 : Discussion and Instruction to Staff for Zoning Text Amendment TXT2020-
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•

Flexibility in meeting the trees per lot requirement: Commissioners supported the
planting of trees required for attached and townhouse residential lots on common
areas, allowing for the creation of stands of trees within a townhouse development that
would make the tree planting more effective and potentially more compatible with
surrounding development.

•

Urban vs. Infill Townhouse standards: The Commission recognized that some townhouse
developments are more urban in character, which could or should have different treeplanting requirements than townhouses in other areas, such as those within or near
existing residential neighborhoods. A criteria was added to address compatibility of
planting trees with the existing neighborhood on infill developments.

•

Survivability: The Commission expressed concern about the survivability of trees on
individual lots, which is not guaranteed and dependent on individual property owners
retaining the trees. A dimensional requirements for appropriate tree plating on
individual lots is included.

•

Reference to Chief of Zoning rather than City Forester: Commissioners noted concerns
with the text amendment as modified by staff, including the change from referencing
the City Forester to the Chief of Zoning for determining whether planting is acceptable.
The revised amendment references both and distinguishes between their roles relative
to development review projects.

•

Quality of trees planted: Commissioners stated that planting quality trees, including
native species, should be incorporated in all development.

Staff recommended amendments to the draft text amendment for consideration by the
Planning Commission to address all of the identified issues. Therefore, on a motion by
Commissioner Pitman, seconded by Commissioner Tyner, with Commissioners Tyner, Wood,
Miller, and Pitman voting in favor of the motion, Commissioner Goodman opposed and
Commissioners Littlefield and Hadley absent for the vote, the Commission recommended
approval of Text Amendment TXT2020-00257, as modified and shown below:

Section 25.21.21 – Tree Planting
a. The subdivider shall plant at least one (1) street tree per 40 feet of lot frontage within the public
right-of-way or if approved by the Approving Authority, adjacent to the public right-of-way. The
species, location and method of planting shall be in accordance with standards established to
be approved by the City Forester and this section.
b. Tree Planting on Residential Lots
1. Single Unit Detached and Semidetached Residential Lots:

Page 2 of 3
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(a) The subdivider shall plant a minimum of one (1) tree in the front yard and two (2) trees
in the rear yard of every single unit detached and semidetached residential lot as
approved by the Chief of Zoning in accordance with standards established by the City
Forester.
2. Semidetached, Townhouse and Attached Residential Lots:
(a) The subdivider shall plant a minimum of three (3) one (1) trees per on each townhouse or
attached residential lot, supplemented with shrub plantings, as shown on the approved
landscape plan.
(b) Each lot shall provide a The minimum tree planting area for each tree planted on a
townhouse or attached residential lot is 7 feet in length by 7 feet in width and a minimum
200 cubic foot tree pit for each tree.
(c) The tree planting area shall not be encumbered by utilities or easements.
(d) Modification:
(1.) In approving lots for semidetached, attached or townhouse dwelling units, the
Approving Authority may allow the subdivider to plant some or all of the required
trees per lot in a common area, or parcel to be dedicated to the City within the
proposed development, if the Approving Authority finds that the following criteria
have been met:
(a) The design of the lots or the dwelling units makes planting some or all of the
required trees on each lot impractical;
(b) The subdivider has submitted an overall landscape plan, as well as a typical
landscape plan for each lot, demonstrating the provision of sufficient trees and
other plant material to ensure adequate tree canopy and landscaped area
within the area of the townhouse lots; and
(c) For townhouse or attached residential lots proposed within an existing
residential neighborhood, or lots that are adjacent to or confronting
properties with existing single-unit detached dwellings, trees are to be planted
in locations and configurations compatible with the character of the existing
neighborhood.
c. Tree planting must be done in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 10.5 of the City Code,
“Forest and Tree Preservation”. Trees planted pursuant to this subsection are in addition to
trees planted in fulfillment of the requirements of Chapter 10.5.

Page 3 of 3
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Section 25.21.21 – Tree Planting
a. The subdivider shall plant at least one (1) street tree per 40 feet of lot frontage within the public
right-of-way or if approved by the Approving Authority, adjacent to the public right-of-way. The
species, location, and method of planting shall to be approved by the City Forester. the Urban
Forester or designated staff.
b. The subdivider shall plant a minimum of one (1) tree in the front yard and two (2) trees in the
rear yard of every residential lot as approved by the City Forester.
b. The subdivider shall provide a minimum of one (1) tree on each residential lot per 2,000 square
feet or fraction thereof, up to a maximum of three (3) required trees. Existing trees on a lot, if
properly preserved, shall count towards this requirement. The Approving Authority may
approve a lot with fewer than the required number of trees if it finds that:
1. the lot does not contain sufficient unencumbered area to provide a planting area
consistent with best industry practices established by the International Society of
Arboriculture for each required tree;
2. for each required tree that is not provided on the lot, two (2) replacement trees are
provided on a common area or other lot within the proposed subdivision; and
3. reduction of the required trees on the lot and provision of the replacement trees will
provide equal or greater aesthetic value to the subdivision and are compatible with the
character of the surrounding neighborhood.
c. The species, location, and method of planting of trees required by subsection 25.21.21.b shall be
consistent with a landscaping detail submitted by the subdivider and approved by the Urban
Forester or designated staff. The landscaping detail must demonstrate the following:
1. Each lot shall provide a minimum planting area for each required tree consistent with
best industry practices established by the International Society of Arboriculture.
2. The planting area shall not be encumbered by utilities or easements.
3. Trees shall be planted in locations and configurations following proper planting
practices. When feasible, trees should be located within the public viewshed.
4. Each lot shall be supplemented with shrub plantings, to be approved by the Urban
Forester or designated staff.
5. A minimum of fifty (50%) percent of all new trees required by subsection 25.21.21.b
shall be native species.
6. For lots within an existing residential neighborhood, or lots that are adjacent to or
confronting properties with existing dwellings, trees should be planted in locations and
configurations compatible with the location and configuration of existing trees within
the residential neighborhood or adjacent or confronting properties, as applicable.
d. Tree planting must be done in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 10.5 of the City Code,
“Forest and tree preservation.” Trees planted pursuant to this section are in addition to trees
planted in fulfillment of the requirements in Chapter 10.5 or as otherwise required by the
Zoning Ordinance.
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Mayor & Council Meeting Date: December 20, 2021
Agenda Item Type: Discussion, Instructions and Possible Adoption
Department: Housing and Community Development
Responsible Staff: Asmara Habte

Subject
Discussion, Instructions, and Possible Adoption of an Ordinance to Amend Chapter 13.5 of the
Rockville City Code Entitled "Moderately Priced Housing" So as To: (1) Establish a 99-Year
Control Period for Certain Rental MPDUs; (2) Uniformly Apply a Fifteen Percent (15%) MPDU
Set-Aside Requirements for Developments of 50 or More Units; (3) Apply the In-Lieu Fee
Formula Currently Only Applicable to Lifecare Facilities for Contributions to the Moderately
Priced Housing Fund in Lieu of Providing MPDUs to Senior or Special Needs Housing with
Services Uses; (4) to Clarify Restrictions on the Re-Sale of Certain MPDUs; and (5) Update the
Name of the Implementing Department.

Recommendation
The proposed ordinance would amend Chapter 13.5 of the Rockville City Code Entitled
"Moderately Priced Housing,” so as to:
1. Establish a 99-Year Control Period for certain rental MPDUs;
2. Uniformly Apply a Fifteen Percent (15%) MPDU set-aside Requirement for
developments of 50 or more units;
3. Apply the In-Lieu Fee formula currently only applicable to Lifecare Facilities for
contributions to the Moderately Priced Housing Fund, in lieu of providing MPDUs to
Senior or Special Needs Housing with Services uses;
4. To clarify restrictions on the re-sale of certain MPDUs; and
5. Update the name of the implementing department.
The Mayor and Council introduced the Ordinance at its meeting held on November 8, 2021 and
held a public hearing on December 8, 2021. The Mayor and Council may vote to adopt the
Ordinance this evening as presented or with modification(s) it seeks. Staff will update the
implementing MPDU regulations following the adoption the Ordinance.
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Discussion
Executive Summary
The Mayor and Council has identified the expansion and preservation of affordable housing
opportunities as a top priority in its Priority Initiatives. One of the existing tools to achieve these
initiatives is the City's Moderately Priced Dwelling Unit (MPDU) program.
On November 8, 2021, the Mayor and Council introduced the proposed amendments to
Chapter 13.5 of the Rockville City Code Entitled "Moderately Priced Housing." The Mayor and
Council conducted a public hearing on the item on December 6, 2021.
The amendments seek to:
(1) Establish a 99-Year Control Period for Certain Rental MPDUs;
(2) Uniformly Apply a Fifteen Percent (15%) MPDU Set-Aside Requirement for Developments of
50 or More Units;
(3) Apply the In-Lieu Fee Formula Currently Only Applicable to Lifecare Facilities for
Contributions to the Moderately Priced Housing Fund, In lieu of Providing MPDUs to Senior or
Special Needs Housing with Services Uses;
(4) to Clarify Restrictions on the Re-Sale of Certain MPDUs; and
(5) Update the Name of the Implementing Department.
Attached to this staff report is the Ordinance (Attachment A), redlined version of Chapter 13.5
of the Rockville City Code Entitled "Moderately Priced Housing" (Attachment B).

Mayor and Council History
The Mayor and Council has discussed these topics and provided directions at various times,
including the following:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.

April 1, 2019
February 3, 2020
February 22, 2021
September 13, 2021
November 8, 2021
December 6, 2021
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Public Notification and Engagement
The Mayor and Council conducted a public hearing on December 6, 2021. The public hearing
was advertised in the Washington Post on November 18 and 25. Staff also reached out to the
development community and law firms specializing in land use.
City staff disseminated the public hearing notification to other organizations, including the
Rockville Housing Enterprises (RHE), Housing Opportunities Commission of Montgomery County
(HOC), and the Montgomery County Department of Housing and Community Affairs.
Three residents provided public testimony, including two who supported the proposed
amendments, and one resident who spoke on liberalizing the MPDU law to allow non-profit
organizations to purchase MPDUs at initial sale. The current policy allows non-profits to
purchase at resale only.

Boards and Commissions Review
Staff reached out and solicited feedback from the following boards and commissions:
-

Human Rights Commission
Human Services Advisory Commission
Rockville Housing Enterprises Board of Commissioners

At the December 6, 2021 public hearing, the RHE Board of Commissioners and RHE staff
provided public testimony in support of the proposed amendments.

Next Steps
The Mayor and Council introduced the Ordinance at its meeting held on November 8, 2021 and
held a public hearing on December 8,2021. The Mayor and Council may vote to adopt the
Ordinance this evening as presented or with modification(s) it seeks. Staff will update the
implementing MPDU regulations following the adoption the Ordinance.

Attachments
Attachment 13.a:
Attachment A_ Ordinance_Amendments to Chapter
13.5_FINAL_11.3.2021
(DOCX)
Attachment 13.b:
Attachment_B_Chapter_13.5___MODERATELY_PRICED_HOUSING_Amendments_11.3.2
1
(DOCX)
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Ordinance No.

ORDINANCE: To amend Chapter 13.5 of the
Rockville City Code, entitled “Moderately
Priced Housing,” so as to: (1) establish a 99year control period for certain rental MPDUs;
(2) uniformly apply a fifteen percent (15%)
MPDU
set-aside
requirements
for
developments of 50 or more units; (3) apply the
in-lieu fee formula applicable to lifecare
facilities to senior or special needs housing with
services uses; (4) to clarify restrictions on the
re-sale of certain MPDUs; and (5) update the
name of the implementing Department

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE MAYOR AND COUNCIL OF ROCKVILLE,
MARYLAND as follows:

SECTION I - That Chapter 13.5 entitled “Moderately Priced Housing” is hereby
amended to read as follows:
CHAPTER 13.5
Moderately Priced Housing
***
Sec. 13.5-3. - Definitions.
The following words and phrases, as used in this chapter, have the following meanings:
***
Consumer price index means the latest published version of the consumer price index for all
urban consumers (CPI-U) of the U.S. Department of Labor for the Washington Metropolitan
area, or any similar index selected by the City Manager.
Control period means the time an MPDU is subject to either resale price controls and owner
occupancy requirements or maximum rental limits.
(a) For an MPDU offered for sale to an owner-occupant, the control period is thirty (30) years
from the date of the first settlement on the MPDU.
(b) For an MPDU first offered for rent between March 1, 2001 and ____, 2021, the control
period is thirty (30) years from the date of first rental of the MPDU.
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(c) For an MPDU first offered for rent after ____2021, the control period is ninety-nine (99)
years from the date of first rental of the MPDU.
***
Department means the Department of Housing and Community Planning and Development
Services.
Director, except as otherwise indicated, means the head of the Department of Community
Planning and Development Services Housing and Community Development, or the Director's
designee.
***
Sec. 13.5-5. Requirement.
***
(b) Except as provided herein, The the required number of MPDUs shall equal fifteen twelve
and one-half (1512.5) percent of the total units in the development.
(c) When the development at one (1) location is in any zone which provides for an MPDU
density bonus and (1) is covered by a plan of subdivision, or (2) is covered by a site plan
approval, or (3) requires a building permit to be issued for construction, the required number
of moderately priced dwelling units is a variable percentage that is not less than twelve and
one-half (12.5) fifteen (15.0) percent of the total number of dwelling units at that location.
Except as specified in subsections (c) and (d), the required number of MPDUs shall vary
according to the amount by which the approved development exceeds the normal or
standard density for the zone in which it is located. Bonus density is permitted in zones
designated as RMD-10, RMD-15 and RMD-25 over the presumed base density where
MPDUs are provided. If the use of the optional MPDU development standards does not
result in an increase over the base density, the City Manager shall conclude that the base
density could not be achieved under conventional development standards, in which case the
required number of MPDUs shall not be less than twelve and one-half (12.5) fifteen (15.0)
percent of the total number of units in the subdivision. The amount of density bonus
achieved in the approved development determines the percentage of total unit that must be
MPDUs.
Achieved Density
Bonus
Zero
Up to 1%
Up to 2%
Up to 3%
Up to 4%
Up to 5%
Up to 6%
Up to 7%

MPDU's Required
12.5% 15.0%
12.6% 15.1%
12.7% 15.2%
12.8% 15.3%
12.9% 15.4%
13.0% 15.5%
13.1% 15.6%
13.2% 15.7%
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Up to 8%
Up to 9%
Up to 10%
Up to 11%
Up to 12%
Up to 13%
Up to 14%
Up to 15%
Up to 16%
Up to 17%
Up to 18%
Up to 19%
Up to 20%
Up to 22%

-3–

13.3% 15.8%
13.4% 15.9%
13.5% 16.0%
13.6% 16.1%
13.7% 16.2%
13.8% 16.3%
13.9% 16.4%
14.0% 16.5%
14.1% 16.6%
14.2% 16.7%
14.3% 16.8%
14.4% 16.9%
14.5% 17.0%
15.0% 17.5%

(d) In planned development zones, the number of MPDU's shall not be less than either the
number of density bonus units or twelve and one-half (12.5) fifteen (15.0) percent of the
total number of units, whichever is greater. In addition, in approving the redevelopment of
an existing public housing project, the Mayor and Council may authorize up to the same
number of units that existed in the public housing project before redevelopment.
***
(f)
***
(3) In the case of a Senior or Special Needs Housing with Services and Life Care Facility
projects, whether as a stand-alone project or as part of a mixed-use development:
a.

The applicant must request an alternative MPDU agreement.

b.

The applicant may meet the MPDU requirement through set-aside of units or
contribution into the Moderately Housing Priced Fund as provided in the MPDU
Regulations.

c.

When the applicant is providing units, which may include units within the entire
spectrum of unit types, including independent living, assisted living, skilled
nursing, and memory care units, the applicant must set-aside five percent (5%) of
the total development units as MPDUs across the spectrum of units type as in the
MPDU Regulations.
As part of its request for an alternative MPDU agreement, and only when MPDUs
are provided onsite, the applicant may request permission to provide a percentage
of onsite MPDUs that is lower than otherwise required if the applicant can
demonstrate that providing the reduction will result in furthering the objective of
providing a broad range of housing opportunities throughout the City. The
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maximum percentage reduction is limited to two and one-half (2.5) percentage
points from the required percentage of MPDUs.
d.

Under such an alternative agreement, and when on-site MPDUs are provided, the
maximum monthly fee for Senior or Special Needs Housing with Services and
Life Care Facility units must be established annually using the method set forth in
regulations adopted by the Mayor and Council.

***
(g) In the case of a life care facility, whether as a stand-alone project or as part of a mixed-use
development, the applicant must (i) set-aside five (5) percent of the total units in the life
care facility as MPDUs, or (ii) contribute to the Moderately Priced Housing Fund an amount
as determined by regulations adopted by the Mayor and Council.
(gh) The MPDU agreements shall be signed by the applicant and all other parties whose
signatures are required by law for the effective and binding execution of contracts
conveying real property. The agreements must be executed in a manner that will enable
them to be recorded in the land records of Montgomery County. If the applicant is a
corporation, the agreements must be signed by the principal officers of the corporation
individually and on behalf of the corporation. Partnerships, associations or corporations
shall not evade this chapter through voluntary dissolution. The agreements may be assigned
if the City approves, and if the assignees agree to fulfill the requirements of this chapter.
(hi) The applicant shall file with the first application for a building permit hereunder the MPDU
agreements and a statement of all land the applicant owns in the City that is available for
building development. In later applications, the applicant need only show addition and
deletions to the original landholdings available for building development.
(ij) The written agreement to build MPDU's must include the number, type, location and plan
for staging construction of all dwelling units and such other information as may be required
by the City to determine the applicant's compliance with this chapter. The staging plan for
all dwelling units under the building permit must be so arranged that MPDU's will be built
along with or before other dwelling units, so that no or few dwelling units that are not
MPDU's are built before the applicant builds any MPDU's.
(jk) If an applicant does not build the MPDU's contained in the staging plan with or before other
dwelling units, the City may withhold any later building permit to the applicant until the
MPDU's contained in the staging plan are built.
(kl) Recording of covenants. The applicant must execute and record covenants assuring that:
(1)The restrictions of this chapter run with the land for the entire period of control, and
(2)The covenants will bind the applicant, any assignee, mortgagee, or buyer, and all other
parties that receive title to the property.
These covenants must be senior to all instruments securing permanent financing.
(lm) Later deeds. The grantor must state, in any deed or instrument conveying title to an MPDU,
that the conveyed property is an MPDU and is subject to the restrictions contained in the
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covenants required under this chapter during the control period until the restrictions are
released.
***
Sec. 13.5-9. Control of rents and subsequent sale prices; foreclosures.
(a) Subsequent sale price. Except for foreclosure proceedings, moderately priced dwelling units
constructed or offered for sale to owner-occupants or rent under this chapter shall not be
resold or refinanced during the first thirty (30) years after the original sale for a price greater
than the original selling price plus:
***
SECTION II – This ordinance shall become effective immediately upon adoption.
NOTE: Underlining indicates material added
Strikethrough indicates material deleted
Asterisks * * * indicate material unchanged by this ordinance

******
I hereby certify that the foregoing is a true and correct copy of an ordinance adopted by the
Mayor and Council at its meeting of _____________.

____________________________________
Sara Taylor-Ferrell,
City Clerk/Director of Council Operations
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Chapter 13.5 MODERATELY PRICED HOUSING
Sec. 13.5-1. Legislative findings.
The Mayor and Council of Rockville hereby finds that a severe housing problem exists within the City with
respect to the supply of housing relative to the need for housing for residents with low and moderate incomes.
Specifically, the Mayor and Council finds:
(1)

The City is experiencing an increase in residents of or approaching retirement age, with consequent
fixed or reduced incomes; young adults of modest means forming new households; government
employees in moderate income ranges; and mercantile and service personnel needed to serve the
expanding industrial and commercial base and population growth of the City;

(2)

The supply of moderately priced housing has grown at a radically slower pace than the demand for
such housing;

(3)

The inadequate supply of housing in the City for persons of low- and moderate-income results in large
scale commuting from outside the City to places of employment within the City thereby overtaxing
existing roads and transportation facilities, significantly contributing to air and noise pollution all
adversely affecting the health, safety and welfare of and resulting in an added financial burden on the
citizens of the City;

(4)

Demographic analyses indicate that public policies which permit exclusively high-priced housing
development discriminate against young families, retired and elderly persons, single adults, female
heads of households and minority households, and such policies produce the undesirable and
unacceptable effects of exclusionary zoning, thus failing to implement the Rockville housing goals and
objectives and the housing goal of the general plan for the City;

(5)

Experience indicates that the continuing high level of demand for more luxurious housing, with a
higher profit potential, discourages developers from offering a more diversified range of housing, and
the production of moderately priced housing is further deterred by the high cost of land, materials and
labor;

(6)

Actual production experience in the City indicates that if land costs can be reduced, houses of a more
modest size and fewer amenities can be built to be sold at a profit in view of the existing ready market
for such housing;

(7)

Given the proper incentive, the private sector is equipped and possesses the necessary resources and
expertise required to provide the type of moderately priced housing needed in the City;

(8)

Rapid regional growth and a strong housing demand have combined to make land and construction
costs very high and to have an effect on the used housing market by causing a rise in the prices of
those units;

(9)

In some instances, existing housing for persons of low and moderate income is of lower quality and
overcrowded.

(Ord. No. 29-90, 9-10-90)

Rockville, Maryland, Code of Ordinances
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Sec. 13.5-2. Declaration of public policy.
The Mayor and Council hereby declares it to be the public policy of the City to:
(1)

Implement the Rockville housing goals and objectives and the general plan goal of providing for a full
range of housing choices, conveniently located in a suitable living environment, for all incomes, ages
and family sizes;

(2)

Provide for low and moderate income housing to meet existing and anticipated future employment
needs in the City;

(3)

Assure that moderately priced housing is dispersed within the City consistent with the general plan and
neighborhood plans;

(4)

Encourage the construction of moderately priced housing by allowing optional increases in density in
order to reduce land costs and costs of optional features that may be built into such moderately priced
housing;

(5)

Require that all subdivisions of fifty (50) or more dwelling units include a minimum number of
moderately priced units of varying sizes with regard to family needs;

(6)

Require that all moderately priced dwelling units be provided on-site unless the Mayor and Council
approves an alternative agreement in certain limited circumstances as set forth in this chapter;

(7)

Ensure that private developers constructing moderately priced dwelling units under this chapter incur
no loss or penalty as a result thereof, and have reasonable prospects of realizing a profit on such units
by virtue of the MPDU density bonus provision of Chapter 25;

()

Allow developers of residential units in qualified projects more flexibility to meet the broad objective
of building housing that low and moderate income households can afford by letting a developer, under
specified circumstances, comply with this chapter by contributing to a Moderately Priced Housing
Fund;

()

Encourage the construction of moderately priced housing by allowing certain governmental fees to be
waived for a development that includes moderately priced housing.

(Ord. No. 29-90, 9-10-90; Ord. No. 5-14, 3-10-14)

Sec. 13.5-3. Definitions.
The following words and phrases, as used in this chapter, have the following meanings:
Applicant means any person, firm partnership, association, joint venture, corporation, or any other entity for
combination of entities, and any transferee of all or part of the land at one (1) location, who after this chapter
takes effect:
(1)

Submits for approval or extension of approval a preliminary plan of subdivision under chapter 25 which
plan provides for the development of a total of fifty (50) or more dwelling units at one (1) location in
one (1) or more subdivisions, parts of subdivisions, re-subdivisions, or stages of development,
regardless of whether any part of the land has been transferred to another party or;

(2)

Submits to the City a plan of housing development for any type of site plan approval or other
development approval required by law, which plan includes construction or development of fifty (50)
or more dwelling units at one (1) location; or
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(3)

With respect to all land not subject to subdivision approval or site plan approval, applies for a building
permit or permits under chapter 5, which permit is or permits are for the construction of a total of fifty
(50) or more dwelling units at one (1) location.

In determining whether a development contains a total of fifty (50) or more dwelling units for the purpose of
applying this chapter, all land at one (1) location within the City available for building development under common
ownership or control by an applicant, including land owned or controlled by separate corporations in which any
stockholder or family of the stockholder owns ten (10) percent or more of the stock, must be included. An
applicant shall not avoid this chapter by submitting piecemeal applications or approval requests for subdivision
plats, site plan approval, development approvals or building permits. Any applicant may submit a preliminary plan
of subdivision for approval, site plan for approval, recorded plat or request for building permit for less than fifty
(50) dwelling units at any time, but the applicant must agree in writing that upon the next such application or
request, the applicant will comply with this chapter when the total number of dwelling units at one (1) location has
reached fifty (50) or more. All applicants, with respect to land to which this chapter applies, have local official
approval to participate in the federal rent supplement program.
At one (1) location means all adjacent land of the applicant if:
(1)

The property lines are contiguous or nearly contiguous at any point, or

(2)

The property lines are separated only by a public or private street, road, highway or utility right-of-way
or other public or private right-of-way at any point, or

(3)

The property lines are separated only by other land of the applicant which is not subject to this chapter
at the time of any permit, development or subdivision application by the applicant.

Available for building development means all land:
(1)

Owned by, or under contract to, the applicant,

(2)

Zoned for any type of residential development,

(3)

Which will use public water and sewerage, and

(4)

Which is already subdivided or is ready to be subdivided for construction or development.

Closing costs means statutory charges for transferring title, fees for obtaining necessary financing, title
examination fees, title insurance premiums, house location survey charges and fees for preparation of loan
documents and deed of conveyance.
Consumer price index means the latest published version of the consumer price index for all urban
consumers (CPI-U) of the U.S. Department of Labor for the Washington Metropolitan area, or any similar index
selected by the City Manager.

Control period means the time an MPDU is subject to either resale price controls and owner
occupancy requirements or maximum rental limits.
(a) For an MPDU offered for sale to an owner-occupant, the control period is thirty (30) years
from the date of the first settlement on the MPDU.
(b) For an MPDU first offered for rent between March 1, 2001 and ____, 2021, the control
period is thirty (30) years from the date of first rental of the MPDU.
(c) For an MPDU first offered for rent after ____2021, the control period is ninety-nine (99)
years from the date of first rental of the MPDU.
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Date of original sale means the date of settlement for purchase of a moderately priced dwelling unit.
Date of original rental means the date the first lease agreement for a moderately priced dwelling unit takes
effect.
Department means the Department of Housing and Community Planning and Development Services.
Director, except as otherwise indicated, means the head of the Department of Community Planning and
Development ServicesHousing and Community Development, or the Director's designee.
Dwelling unit means building or part of a building that provides complete living facilities for one (1) family,
including at a minimum facility for cooking, sanitation and sleeping.
Eligible person means a person or household whose income qualifies the person or household to participate
in the MPDU program.
Housing agency means the Rockville Housing Enterprises or such other agency or organization as the Mayor
and Council may designate.
Life care facility means a facility housed in a single building or group of buildings that provides for continuing
progressive care of residents. Occupancy is restricted as provided in Title 10 of the Human Services Article of the
Annotated Code of Maryland, as amended, and any other applicable provisions issued by the Department of Aging.
A life care facility must include dwelling units for either independent or assisted living, or both, plus a nursing
home of a suitable size to provide treatment or care of the residents; it may include ancillary facilities for the
further enjoyment, service or care of the residents.
Low income means levels of income within the income range for "very-low-income families" established from
time to time by the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development for the Washington Metropolitan area,
under federal law, or as defined by City regulations.
Moderate income means those levels of income, established by the City Manager, which prohibit or severely
limit the financial ability of persons to buy or rent housing in Rockville.
Moderately priced dwelling unit or MPDU means a dwelling unit which is constructed, sold or rented under a
government program to assist the construction of housing for families of moderate income, if the sales prices or
rental rates do not exceed the maximum sales prices or rental rates for MPDU's established in regulation by the
Mayor and Council including:
(1)

"Conventional or "turnkey" construction for a housing agency or construction in reliance upon an
agreement by a housing agency before construction begins to enter into a lease (commonly known as
"turnkey leasing") or purchase contract after completion as authorized under federal law or

(2)

The deferral rent supplement program, or

(3)

Any federal program to assist housing for families under the programs for home ownership, rental
and/or cooperative housing authorized in federal law, or

(4)

Any other federal, state or local government program identified by the Mayor and Council in
regulations: (1) designed to assist housing for families of low or moderate income; or (2) is sold or
rented at a sale price or rental rate that does not exceed the applicable maximum price or rental
established from time to time by the Mayor and Council by regulation under this chapter.

Moderately Priced Housing Fund means a fund established by the City Manager to achieve the purpose of
section 13.5-9.
Optional density bonus provision means any increase in the number of dwelling units permitted by chapter
25 (Zoning ordinance), subsection 25.11.04.b. in a residential medium density zone.
Planning Commission means the Rockville Planning Commission.
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Senior or Special Needs Housing with Services means apartments and individual residential dwelling units
along with common areas for communal dining, activities and socializing along with an indivisible package of
services that meet the majority of needs of daily living, including, but not limited to utilities, apartment/grounds
maintenance, property taxes, one or more meals per day, housekeeping, transportation, social and wellness
activities, and emergency care.
Significantly More MPDUs means fifteen (15) percent more units than the number of MPDUs that are
required to be built on the site of the proposed development.
(Ord. No. 29-90, 9-10-90; Ord. No. 20-00, 11-27-00; Ord. No. 7-09, 3-9-09; Ord. No. 5-14, 3-10-14; Ord. No. 9-19, 41-19)

Sec. 13.5-4. Determination of income and eligibility standards.
The City Manager shall establish standards of eligibility for the MPDU program in regulations adopted and
which shall be revised when changes in market condition affect the ability of moderate-income households to buy
or rent housing. These standards shall establish moderate income levels for varying sizes of households, which will
qualify a person or household to participate in the MPDU program. In establishing standards of eligibility and
moderate-income levels, the City Manager shall consider the price established for the sale or rental of MPDU's
under this chapter, the term and interest rate that applies to the financing of such dwelling units, the estimated
levels of income necessary to carry a mortgage on such dwelling units, and family size and number of dependents.
(Ord. No. 29-90, 9-10-90)

Sec. 13.5-5. Requirement.
(a)

Any applicant, in order to obtain a building permit must submit to the Division of Inspection Services, with
the application of a permit, a written MPDU agreement approved by the Mayor and Council and by the City
Attorney that provides the required number of moderately priced dwelling units.

(b)

Except as provided herein, the required number of MPDUs shall equal twelve and one-half (12.5) percent of
the total units in the development.

(c)

When the development at one (1) location is in any zone which provides for an MPDU density bonus and (1)
is covered by a plan of subdivision, or (2) is covered by a site plan approval, or (3) requires a building permit
to be issued for construction, the required number of moderately priced dwelling units is a variable
percentage that is not less than fifteen percent (15.0%) twelve and one-half (12.5) percent of the total
number of dwelling units at that location. Except as specified in subsections (c) and (d), the required number
of MPDUs shall vary according to the amount by which the approved development exceeds the normal or
standard density for the zone in which it is located. Bonus density is permitted in zones designated as RMD10, RMD-15 and RMD-25 over the presumed base density where MPDUs are provided. If the use of the
optional MPDU development standards does not result in an increase over the base density, the City
Manager shall conclude that the base density could not be achieved under conventional development
standards, in which case the required number of MPDUs shall not be less than fifteen percent (15.0%) than
twelve and one-half (12.5) percent of the total number of units in the subdivision. The amount of density
bonus achieved in the approved development determines the percentage of total unit that must be MPDUs.
Achieved Density
Bonus
Zero
Up to 1%
Up to 2%

MPDU's Required
12.5% 15.0%
12.6% 15.1%
12.7% 15.2%
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Up to 3%
Up to 4%
Up to 5%
Up to 6%
Up to 7%
Up to 8%
Up to 9%
Up to 10%
Up to 11%
Up to 12%
Up to 13%
Up to 14%
Up to 15%
Up to 16%
Up to 17%
Up to 18%
Up to 19%
Up to 20%
Up to 22%

12.8% 15.3%
12.9% 15.4%
13.0% 15.5%
13.1% 15.6%
13.2% 15.7%
13.3% 15.8%
13.4% 15.9%
13.5% 16.0%
13.6% 16.1%
13.7% 16.2%
13.8% 16.3%
13.9% 16.4%
14.0% 16.5%
14.1% 16.6%
14.2% 16.7%
14.3% 16.8%
14.4% 16.9%
14.5% 17.1%
15.0% 17.2%

(d)

In planned development zones, the number of MPDU's shall not be less than either the number of density
bonus units or twelve and one-half (12.5) fifteen percent (15.0%) of the total number of units, whichever is
greater. In addition, in approving the redevelopment of an existing public housing project, the Mayor and
Council may authorize up to the same number of units that existed in the public housing project before
redevelopment.

(e)

In the Mixed-Use Transit District (MXTD) and the Mixed-Use Corridor District (MXCD) zones, at least fifteen
(15) percent of the total number of dwelling units must be MPDU's.

(fd) (1) Instead of building the required number of MPDUs an applicant may offer to:

(2)

a.

Build Significantly More MPDUs at one or more other sites in the City.

b.

Convey land in the City that is suitable in size, location, and physical condition for Significantly
More MPDUs.

c.

Contribute to the Moderately Priced Housing Fund an amount that will produce Significantly
More MPDUs; or

d.

Do any combination of these alternatives that will result in building Significantly More MPDUs.

The Mayor and Council has the option to accept the offer if it finds that:
a. 1) In the project or subdivision originally proposed by the applicant, an indivisible package of
resident services and facilities to be provided to all households would cost the occupants of the
MPDUs so much that it is likely to make the MPDUs effectively unaffordable by eligible
households; or
2)
b.

Extraordinary circumstances make building the required number of MPDUs as part of the
project impractical; and

An offer made by an applicant under subsection (f)(1) will achieve Significantly More MPDUs or
units which low and moderate-income households can more easily afford; and
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c.

Acceptance of the applicant's offer will achieve the objective of providing a broad range of
housing opportunities throughout the City.

(3)

In the case of a Senior or Special Needs Housing with Services and Life Care Facility projects, whether
as a stand-alone project or as part of a mixed-use development:

a.

In the case of a Senior or Special Needs Housing with Services and Life Care Facility projects,
whether as a stand-alone project or as part of a mixed-use development:
a.

The a Applicant must request an alternative MPDU agreement.

b.

The applicant may meet the MPDU requirement through set-aside of units or
contribution into the Moderately Housing Priced Fund as provided in the MPDU
Regulations.

c.

When the applicant is providing units, which may include units within the entire
spectrum of unit types, including independent living, assisted living, skilled
nursing, and memory care units, the applicant must set-aside five percent (5%) of
the total development units as MPDUs across the spectrum of units type as in the
MPDU Regulations.

d.

Under such an alternative agreement and when hard units are provided the maximum
monthly fee for Senior or Special Needs Housing with Services and Life Care Facility
units must be established annually using the method set forth in regulations adopted by
the Mayor and Council.

b.

Under such an alternative agreement, and when on-site MPDUs provided, the maximum monthly
fee for Senior or Special Needs Housing with Services and Life Care Facility units must be
established annually using the method set forth in regulations adopted by the Mayor and
Council.

c.

As part of its request for an alternative MPDU agreement, and only when MPDUs are provided
onsite, the applicant may request permission to provide a percentage of onsite MPDUs that is
lower than otherwise required if the applicant can demonstrate that providing the reduction will
result in furthering the objective of providing a broad range of housing opportunities throughout
the City. The maximum percentage reduction is limited to two and one-half (2.5) percentage
points from the required percentage of MPDUs.

(4)

The procedures for considering and implementing alternative offers shall be established by regulations
adopted by the Mayor and Council. The City Manager or designee will work with the applicant to
establish an alternative agreement to present to the Mayor and Council for approval. To implement an
offer, the applicant must sign an agreement with the City Manager or designee not later than a time
provided by the Mayor and Council in its approval of the offer.

(5)

Notwithstanding any other provisions of the subsection, the Mayor and Council may reject a request by
an applicant to establish an alternative agreement to meet MPDU requirements in whole or in part
whenever the public interest would best be served thereby.

In the case of a life care facility, whether as a stand-alone project or as part of a mixed-use development, the
applicant must (i) set-aside five (5) percent of the total units in the life care facility as MPDUs, or (ii)
contribute to the Moderately Priced Housing Fund an amount as determined by regulations adopted by the
Mayor and Council.
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(g)

The MPDU agreements shall be signed by the applicant and all other parties whose signatures are required
by law for the effective and binding execution of contracts conveying real property. The agreements must be
executed in a manner that will enable them to be recorded in the land records of Montgomery County. If the
applicant is a corporation, the agreements must be signed by the principal officers of the corporation
individually and on behalf of the corporation. Partnerships, associations or corporations shall not evade this
chapter through voluntary dissolution. The agreements may be assigned if the City approves, and if the
assignees agree to fulfill the requirements of this chapter.

(h)

The applicant shall file with the first application for a building permit hereunder the MPDU agreements and a
statement of all land the applicant owns in the City that is available for building development. In later
applications, the applicant need only show addition and deletions to the original landholdings available for
building development.

(i)

The written agreement to build MPDU's must include the number, type, location and plan for staging
construction of all dwelling units and such other information as may be required by the City to determine the
applicant's compliance with this chapter. The staging plan for all dwelling units under the building permit
must be so arranged that MPDU's will be built along with or before other dwelling units, so that no or few
dwelling units that are not MPDU's are built before the applicant builds any MPDU's.

(j)

If an applicant does not build the MPDU's contained in the staging plan with or before other dwelling units,
the City may withhold any later building permit to the applicant until the MPDU's contained in the staging
plan are built.

(j)

Recording of covenants. The applicant must execute and record covenants assuring that:
(1)

The restrictions of this chapter run with the land for the entire period of control, and

(2)

The covenants will bind the applicant, any assignee, mortgagee, or buyer, and all other parties that
receive title to the property.
These covenants must be senior to all instruments securing permanent financing.

(k)

Later deeds. The grantor must state, in any deed or instrument conveying title to an MPDU, that the
conveyed property is an MPDU and is subject to the restrictions contained in the covenants required under
this chapter during the control period until the restrictions are released.

(Ord. No. 29-90, 9-10-90; Ord. No. 8-02, 4-22-02; Ord. No. 7-09, 3-9-09; Ord. No. 5-14, 3-10-14; Ord. No. 9-19, 4-119)

Sec. 13.5-6. Zoning provisions; waiver of requirements.
(a)

If the applicant elects the optional density provisions, permitting the construction of an increased number of
dwelling units, the requisite percentage and number of MPDU's shall apply to the total number of dwelling
units as increased by application of the optional density provisions that increases the density above the
otherwise permitted density of the zoning classification in which the property is situated.

(b)

Waiver of requirements. Any applicant who presents sufficient evidence to the Mayor and Council in
applying for a building permit, or in submitting a preliminary plan of subdivision for approval or requesting
site plan or project plan approval, may be granted a waiver from part or all of section 13.5-5. The waiver
must be related only to the number of MPDU's to be built and may be granted only if the Mayor and Council,
after consulting with the Department, finds that the applicant cannot attain the full density of the zone,
because of any requirements of the zoning ordinance or the administration of other laws or regulations.
When any part of the land that dwelling units cannot be built on for physical reasons is used to compute
permitted density, the applicant's inability to use the optional density bonus provisions is not in itself
grounds for waiving the MPDU requirements. Any waiver must be strictly construed and limited.
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(Ord. No. 29-90, 9-10-90; Ord. No. 7-09, 3-9-09; Ord. No. 9-19, 4-1-19)

Sec. 13.5-7. Maximum prices and rents of moderately priced dwelling units.
Moderately priced dwelling units shall not be sold or rented at prices or rents that exceed the maximum
prices or rents established under this section.
(1)

(2)

Sales.
a.

The sale price of any MPDU, including closing costs and brokerage fees, shall not exceed an
applicable maximum sale price established from time to time by the Mayor and Council.

b.

The Mayor and Council in issuing MPDU sale price regulations shall seek appropriate information,
such as current general market and economic conditions and the current minimum sale prices of
private market housing in the City, and shall consult with the building industry, employers, and
professional and citizen groups to obtain statistical information which may assist in setting a
current maximum sale price. The Mayor and Council, shall, from time to time, consider changes
in the income levels of persons of low and moderate income and their ability to buy housing. The
Mayor and Council shall also consider the extent to which, consistent with code requirements,
the cost of housing can be reduced by the elimination of amenities, the use of cost- reducing
building techniques and materials, and the partial finishing of certain parts of the units.

c.

The Mayor and Council shall issue maximum sale prices for MPDU's which continue in effect until
changed by later regulation. The maximum sale prices shall be based on the necessary and
reasonable costs required to build and market the various kinds of MPDU's by private industry.
The sale prices for any succeeding year must be based on a new finding of cost by the Mayor and
Council, or on the prior year's maximum MPDU price adjusted by the percentage change in the
relevant cost elements indicated in the consumer price index.

d.

The Mayor and Council may make interim adjustments in maximum MPDU sale prices when
sufficient changes in costs justify an adjustment. Any interim adjustment shall be based on the
maximum MPDU sale prices previously established, adjusted by the percentage change in the
relevant cost elements indicated in the consumer price index.

e.

If the Mayor and Council finds that other conditions of the design, construction, pricing, or
amenity package of an MPDU project will lessen the ability of eligible persons to afford the
MPDU's, the Mayor and Council may restrict those conditions that will impose excessive
mandatory homeowner or condominium fees or other costs that reduce the affordability of the
MPDU's.

f.

The City Manager may allow an applicant to increase the sale price of an MPDU when the City
Manager finds in an exceptional case that a price increase is justified to cover the cost of
modifying the external design of the MPDU when a modification is necessary to reduce excessive
marketing impact of the MPDU on the market rate units in the subdivision. The City Manager
shall approve the amount of any increase for this purpose, which shall not exceed ten (10)
percent of the allowable base price of the unit.

Rental.
a.

The rent, excluding utilities when they are paid by the tenant, for any MPDU must not exceed a
maximum rent for the dwelling unit in accordance with the formula for calculating the maximum
rent set forth in regulations adopted by the Mayor and Council. Different rents must be
established for units when utility costs are paid by the owner and included in the rent. The City
Manager shall adjust the maximum rent annually in accordance with the formula set forth in the
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regulations. Sixty (60) days prior to implementing any such annual adjustment, the City Manager
shall inform the Mayor and Council of the amount of the adjustment in the maximum rent.
b.

c.

Subject to approval as part of the MPDU agreement, the Applicant shall be permitted to charge
fees to MPDU tenants for amenities and services, as follows:
1.

Approved amenities and services must be offered to MPDU tenants in the same manner in
which they are to all tenants.

2.

Fees charged to MPDU tenants must be equal to or less than the rates normally charged by
the Applicant.

3.

The Applicant is not permitted to charge a fee for non-structured or surface automobile
parking to MPDU tenants. The Applicant is permitted to charge a fee for structured or
garage parking to MPDU tenants. The fee for the first parking space per MPDU household
must not exceed one-half (½) the monthly rate charged to market-rate tenants. Additional
parking spaces can be charged at the monthly market-rate.

Notwithstanding the above, within sixty (60) days of being informed of any adjustment in the
maximum rent for a dwelling unit, the Mayor and Council may establish a different maximum
rent than provided by the aforesaid formula. In such a case, the Mayor and Council shall consider
the current cost of building MPDUs, available interest rates and debt service for permanent
financing, current market rates of return on investments in residential rental properties,
operating costs, vacancy rates of comparable properties, the value of the MPDU at the end of the
control period, and any other relevant information.

(Ord. No. 29-90, 9-10-90; Ord. No. 5-01, 2-12-01; Ord. No. 10-15, 5-18-15)

Sec. 13.5-8. Sale or rental of moderately priced dwelling units.
(a)

Sale or rental to general public.
(1)

Every moderately priced dwelling unit required under this chapter must be offered to the general
public for sale or rental to a good faith purchaser or renter to be used for his or her own residence,
except units offered for sale or rent with the assistance of, and subject to the conditions of, a subsidy
under a Federal, State or local government program, identified in regulations adopted by the Mayor
and Council whose purpose is to provide housing for persons of low or moderate income.

(2)

Before offering any moderately priced dwelling units, the applicant shall notify the Department of the
proposed offering and the date on which the applicant will be ready to begin the marketing to eligible
persons. The notice shall set forth the number of units offered, the bedroom mix, the floor area for
each unit type, a description of the amenities offered in each unit and a statement of the availability of
each unit for sale or rent, including information regarding any mortgage financing available to buyers
of the designated unit. The applicant shall also give the Department a vicinity map of the offering, a
copy of the approved development, subdivision or site plan, as appropriate, and such other
information or documents as the Director finds necessary. The department shall maintain a list of
eligible persons who are seeking to purchase an MPDU and shall notify such eligible persons of the
offering.

(3)

If the Department finds that the offering notice is complete, it shall decide whether the offering of the
units to eligible persons will be administered by lottery or by another method that will assure eligible
persons an equitable opportunity to buy or rent an MPDU. The Department must notify the applicant
of the method and when the ninety (90) day priority marketing period for the MPDU's may begin.
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(4)

In establishing notification and marketing procedures, the City Manager may, establish marketing
priorities for persons or households who live or work in the City and for persons over age fifty-five (55),
and priorities for marketing units with three (3) or more bedrooms to households of larger size, so that
families may be notified of the availability of MPDU's that may meet their housing needs. The
Department shall give persons to be notified information of the proposed offering and shall furnish
other appropriate assistance. Persons so notified have an exclusive right, until the proposed date of
public offering, to contract with an applicant to buy or rent the available MPDU's except those MPDU's
which are subsidized under subsection (b)(1).

(5)

Moderately priced dwelling units, except those built, sold, or rented under another Federal, State or
local program, may not be offered for rent by an applicant during the ninety (90) day priority marketing
period, except in proportion to the market rate rental units in that subdivision as follows:

(6)

(b)

a.

In a subdivision containing only single unit dwellings, the proportion of rental MPDU's must not
exceed the proportion of market rate rental units to all market rate units.

b.

In a subdivision containing both single unit dwellings and multiple-unit dwellings, the proportion
of rental single unit dwelling MPDU's to all single unit dwelling MPDU's must not exceed the
proportion of market rate rental single unit dwellings to all market rate single unit dwellings; and
the proportion or rental multiple-unit dwellings MPDU's must not exceed the proportion of
market rate rental multiple-unit dwellings to all market rate multiple-unit dwellings.

c.

Applicants shall make a good faith effort to enter into contracts with eligible persons during the
priority marketing period and for an additional period necessary to negotiate with eligible
persons who indicate a desire to buy or rent an MPDU during that period.

Every buyer or renter of an MPDU shall certify on a certificate prescribed by the City Manager that he
or she is buying or renting the unit for his or her own use, or as the primary residence for his or her
family. Buyers of MPDU's except a housing agency, must not lease MPDU's to other parties unless the
City Manager finds sufficient cause to allow temporary rentals of such units under regulations, which
may include maximum rental levels, adopted by the Mayor and Council. An applicant must not sell or
lease any unit without first obtaining such a certificate from the buyer or lessee. Copies of certificates
to applicants from buyer or lessees must be furnished to the Department and must be maintained on
file with the Department. Before the sale by an applicant or by the housing agency to any buyer of any
MPDU who does not possess a certificate of eligibility, the applicant or the housing agency shall
request a determination by the Department from the certificates on file whether the proposed buyer
had previously bought another MPDU. Previous buyers must not buy a second MPDU unless no other
first-time purchasers are qualified to buy that unit. The City Manager may waive this restriction for
good cause.

The designated housing agency or corporation.
(1)

In view of the critical long-term public need for housing for families of low and moderate income, the
housing development agency or nonprofit corporation designated by the Mayor and Council has the
option to buy or lease, for its own programs or programs administered by it, up to forty (40) percent of
all MPDU's which are not sold or rented under any other Federal, State, or local program. The housing
agency may buy or lease up to thirty-three and one-third (33⅓) percent of the MPDU's not sold or
rented under any other Federal, State or local program.
This option may be assigned to persons of low or moderate income who are eligible for assistance
under any Federal, State or local program identified in regulations adopted by the City Manager or this
option may be assigned to an entity, for the purchase or lease by the entity, to house eligible persons.
The Mayor and Council shall designate housing authorities under this subsection. These standards must
require the corporation to demonstrate its ability to operate and maintain MPDU's satisfactorily on a
long-term basis.
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(2)

The Department shall notify the designated agency or corporation promptly after receiving notice from
the applicant under subsection (a) of the availability of MPDU's. If the housing agency exercises its
option, it must submit to the applicant, within twenty-one (21) calendar days after the Department
notifies the housing agency under subsection (b), a notice of intent to exercise its option for specific
MPDU's covered by this option. Any MPDU's not bought or leased under this subsection shall be sold or
rented only to eligible persons under subsection (b) during the priority marketing period for eligible
persons to buy or lease.

(3)

In exercising this option, the housing agency shall designate the units by reference to number, type,
size and amenities of the units selected if the designation does not result in any one (1) type of unit
exceeding by more than forty (40) percent the total units of that type which are sold or rented under
this section, unless the applicant agrees otherwise. The notice required under subsection (b)(2) must
state which MPDU's are to be offered for sale and which are to be offered for rent and the housing
agency may buy only units which are offered for sale and may lease only units which are offered for
rent. The housing agency shall decide whether it will exercise its option within forty-five (45) days after
it receives the original notice.

(Ord. No. 29-90, 9-10-90; Ord. No. 20-00, 11-27-00; Ord. No. 5-01, 2-12-01; Ord. No. 7-09, 3-9-09; Ord. No. 9-19, 41-19)

Sec. 13.5-9. Control of rents and subsequent sale prices; foreclosures.
(a)

(b)

Subsequent sale price. Except for foreclosure proceedings, moderately priced dwelling units constructed or
offered for sale to owner-occupants or rent under this chapter shall not be resold or refinanced
during the first thirty (30) years after the original sale for a price greater than the original selling price plus:
(1)

A percentage of the unit's original selling price equal to the increase in the cost of living, as determined
by the consumer price index;

(2)

An allowance for improvements made to the MPDU not to exceed ten (10) percent of the selling price
calculated in accordance with Section 13.5-9(a)(1).

(3)

An allowance for closing costs which were not paid by the initial seller, but which will be paid by the
initial buyer for the benefit for the later buyer; and

(4)

A reasonable sales commission if the unit is not sold within sixty (60) days to an eligible person from
the department's eligibility list.

Subsequent sale requirements.
(1)

Any moderately priced dwelling unit offered for resale during the first thirty (30) years after the
original sale must be first offered exclusively to the housing agency. The Department shall notify the
housing agency of any MPDU offered for resale. Upon receipt of such notice, the housing agency has
twenty-one (21) days to indicate to the seller its interest in acquiring any such MPDU. For any MPDU
that the housing agency has so indicated its intent, the housing agency then has twenty-four (24) days
to notify the seller of its final decision.

(2)

If the housing agency does not exercise the rights provided for herein within the prescribed time
frames set forth above, the MPDU then shall be offered exclusively for forty-five (45) days through the
Department to persons found by the Department to be of eligible income. After this 45-day period
expires, that unit may be offered for sale to the general public.

(3)

If the MPDU remains unsold one hundred eighty (180) days after the unit is offered for sale to the
general public, the city manager may permit the owner of the MPDU to sell the MPDU at market price.
If a unit is sold a market price, the seller must pay to the Moderately Priced Housing Fund all sales
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proceeds in excess of the price calculated in accordance with subsection (a). Once the sales proceeds
are deposited in the Moderately Priced Housing Fund, the city will release the covenants applicable to
the unit.
(c)

Sale after control period ends.
(1)

If an MPDU is sold or resold after thirty (30) years after its original sale or rental, the restrictions on
resale in subsections (a) and (b) no longer apply. However, for the first sale of an MPDU after thirty
(30) years after the original sale or rental, the seller shall pay to the Moderately Priced Housing Fund
one-half (½) of the excess of the total resale price over the sum of the following:
a.

The original selling price;

b.

A percentage of the unit's original selling price equal to the increase in the cost of living as
determined by the consumer price index;

c.

An allowance for improvements made to the MPDU unit not to exceed ten (10) percent of the
selling price calculated in accordance with Section 13.59(c)(1)b.

d.

A reasonable sales commission.
The City Manager shall adjust the amount paid into the Fund in each case so that the seller
retains at least ten thousand dollars ($10,000.00) of the excess of the resale price over the sum
of the items in a. through d.

(2)

The City Manager shall find that the price and terms of a sale covered by subsection (c)(1) are bona fide
and accurately reflect the entire transaction between the parties so that the full amount required
under subsection (c)(1) is paid to the fund. When the City Manager finds that the amount due the fund
is accurate and the City receives the amount due, the City shall terminate the MPDU controls and
execute a release of the restrictive covenants.

(3)

The housing agency shall have the right for forty-five (45) days after receiving notice that an offer has
been made to match any bona fide offer to buy an MPDU when the MPDU is offered for sale after
thirty (30) years after the original sale or rental. Upon receipt of such notice, the housing agency has
twenty-one (21) days to indicate to the seller its interest in matching any bona fide offer to buy the
MPDU. Thereafter, for any MPDU that the housing agency has so indicated its interest, the housing
agency then has twenty-four (24) days to notify the seller that it will match any such bona fide offer.

(4)

The housing agency need not pay into the Moderately Priced Housing Fund any portion of the resale
price of any MPDU that it sells after thirty (30) years after the original sale or rental.

(d)

Initial and subsequent rent controls. Unless previously sold under subsection (c)(1), moderately priced
dwelling units built or offered for rent under this chapter shall not be rented for thirty (30) years after the
original rental at a rent greater than that established by regulations adopted by the Mayor and Council.
Whenever any moderately priced dwelling unit other than those built, sold or rented under any Federal,
State or local program offered by the housing agency is offered for rent during the 30-year control period, it
must be offered exclusively for sixty (60) days to eligible persons, as determined by the Department, for use
as his or her own residence and to the housing agency. The housing agency may assign its right to rent such
units to persons of low or moderate income who are eligible for assistance under any Federal, State or local
program identified in regulations adopted by the City Manager.

(e)

City foreclosure regulations. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, the Mayor and Council may adopt
written regulations dealing with foreclosure proceedings. If an MPDU is sold in foreclosure proceedings
begun by a lending institution holding a note secured by a mortgage or deed of trust, the City shall terminate
the MPDU controls and execute a release of the restrictive covenants if all proceeds of the sale, if any, that
shall be paid to the Moderately Priced Housing Fund have been paid. If a foreclosure sale of an MPDU occurs
during the first thirty (30) years after the original sale or rental, any price paid at the foreclosure sale that
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exceeds the price established under subsection (a) plus any reasonable costs and fees of foreclosure shall be
paid into the Moderately Priced Housing Fund. If an MPDU is foreclosed after thirty (30) years after the
original sale or rental, subsection (c) applies. If the unit sold by foreclosure was a rental unit, the Department
shall calculate the sale price that would have been permitted at the time of original rental as if the unit had
been originally offered for sale.
(f)

Waivers. The City Manager may waive the restriction on the resale and re-rental prices for MPDU's if the City
Manager finds that the restrictions conflict with regulations of Federal or State housing programs and thus
prevent eligible persons from buying or renting units under the MPDU program.

(g)

Bulk transfers. This section does not prohibit the bulk transfer or sale of all or some of the rental MPDU's in a
subdivision within thirty (30) years after the original rental if the buyer is bound by all covenants and controls
on the MPDU's.

(h)

Compliance. The City Manager shall adopt regulations to promote compliance with this section and prevent
practices that evade controls on rents and sales of MPDU's.

(Ord. No. 29-90, 9-10-90; Ord. No. 5-01, 2-12-01; Ord. No. 9-19, 4-1-19)

Sec. 13.5-10. Waiver of fees.
(a)

Qualifications. If a person, firm, partnership, association, joint venture, corporation, or other entity or
combination of entities, or transferee of all or part of the land at one (1) location:
(1)

Submits for approval or extension of approval a preliminary plan of subdivision under Chapter 25 which
plan provides for the development of a total of less than fifty (50) dwelling units at one (1) location in
one (1) or more subdivision, parts of subdivisions, resubdivisions, or stages of development, regardless
of whether any part of the land has been transferred to another party or;

(2)

Submits to the City a plan of housing development for any type of site plan review or other
development approval required by law, which plan includes construction or development of less than
fifty (50) dwelling units at one (1) location; or

(3)

With respect to all land not subject to subdivision approval or site plan review, applies for a building
permit or permits under chapter 5, which permit is or permits are for the construction of a total of less
than fifty (50) dwelling units at one (1) location.

Such person, firm, partnership, association, joint venture, corporation, or other entity or combination of
entities, or transferee may apply for a waiver of all or some of the development fees, described in subsection (b) if
MPDU's are included in the project.
(b)

(c)

Fees. Fees which may be waived are:
(1)

Building application and permit fee;

(2)

Stormwater management fee and contributions;

(3)

Site plan review application fee;

(4)

Public Works application and permit fees.

Procedure. The Mayor and Council may waive in whole or in part, all or some of the fees described in
subsection (b) after considering the following factors:
(1)

The number of MPDU's provided;

(2)

The ratio of MPDU's to the entire project;

(3)

The financial burden upon the applicant of providing MPDU's;
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(4)

The location of the MPDU's;

(5)

Such other factors as the Mayor and Council may deem appropriate.

(Ord. No. 29-90, 9-10-90; Ord. No. 7-09, 3-9-09)

Sec. 13.5-11. Regulations; enforcement.
(a)

The Department shall maintain a list of all moderately priced dwelling units constructed, sold or rented
under this chapter, and the City Manager may, from time to time, adopt regulations necessary to administer
this chapter.

(b)

This chapter applies to all agents, successors and assigns of an applicant. A building permit shall not be
issued, and a preliminary plan of subdivision, development plan, or site plan shall not be approved unless it
meets the requirements of this chapter. The City Manager may deny, suspend or revoke any building or
occupancy permit upon finding a violation of this chapter. Any prior approval of a preliminary plan of a
subdivision, development plan or site plan approval or other previous development approval may be
suspended or revoked upon the failure to meet any requirement of this chapter. An occupancy permit shall
not be issued for any building to an application, or a successor or assign of any applicant, for any
construction which does not comply with this chapter.

(c)

Any violation of this chapter or regulations adopted under it is a misdemeanor.

(Ord. No. 29-90, 9-10-90; Ord. No. 7-09, 3-9-09)

Sec. 13.5-12. Appeals.
(a)

Any person aggrieved by any quasi-judicial decision of the City Manager pursuant to this chapter may appeal
to the Board of Appeals as provided by Article 66B of the Annotated Code of Maryland.

(b)

Any person aggrieved by any decision of the Board of Appeals or the Mayor and Council pursuant to this
chapter may appeal the same to the Circuit Court for Montgomery County. Such appeal shall be taken
according to the Maryland Rules as set forth in Title 7, Chapter 200.

(Ord. No. 29-90, 9-10-90; Ord. No. 5-01, 2-12-01)

Sec. 13.5-13. Applicability.
This chapter applies to all applicants and units developed by applicants, except when:
(1)

A building permit has been issued prior to September 10, 1990; or

(2)

A special exception for housing for senior adults and persons with disabilities has been approved by the
Board of Appeals; or

(3)

A preliminary subdivision plan or other development plan or proposal has been approved by the
Planning Commission prior to September 10, 1990;

(4)

A development in a Planned Development Zone has been approved by the Mayor and Council or the
Planning Commission under the applicable provisions of the Zoning Ordinance prior to September 10,
1990.

(Ord. No. 29-90, 9-10-90; Ord. No. 7-09, 3-9-09)
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Mayor & Council Meeting Date: December 20, 2021
Agenda Item Type: Discussion and Instructions
Department: PDS - Zoning Review & Other
Responsible Staff: Jim Wasilak

Subject
Discussion on Proposed Parkland Dedication Requirements, Including Fee-In-Lieu of Dedication
and Impact Fees

Recommendation
Staff recommends that the Mayor and Council receive a presentation on proposed regulations
to require dedication of pubic parkland in connection with new development, the results of the
public outreach meetings, and provide direction.

Change in Law or Policy
If enacted, these potential changes to City Code would require parkland dedication or fee-inlieu of dedication, and a potential park impact fee, for new developments.

UPDATE
At the December 7, 2020 work session on this topic, the Mayor and Council provided the
following feedback.
•
•
•

•

•

Agreed that the City should consider implementing a parkland dedication and/or fee-inlieu to provide for future parkland.
Discussed how to identify priority sites for acquisition since the City has identified areas
with deficiencies rather than specific sites for acquisition.
Agreed that a suitability determination for potential parkland to be dedicated to the City
would be made by the Director of Recreation and Parks, but that the Mayor and Council
should be involved in acceptance of the parkland.
Discussed options for ensuring that the established timeframe for using the fee-in-lieu
funds collected is reasonable and considers property acquisition and procurement
processes. Staff noted that the initial recommendation of a 7-year timeframe for using
funds was not based on code and could be modified by the Mayor and Council within
limits as the City must make sure that expended funds benefit the project where the
funds came from. Another option to extend the time-period would be to collect fee-inlieu at time of occupancy permit rather than building permit, as is typical.
Agreed that applying the requirements citywide would maximize flexibility.
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•

•
•

Councilmember Pierzchala suggested that a definition of pending projects should be
included if they are to be exempt. He also wondered if developers could be required to
improve an existing park. He suggested that parkland separated by large rights-of-way
from the development should not count to satisfying the parkland need. In addition, the
requirements should not get in way of housing production. He also suggested that
Champion projects encourage consolidation to provide more flexibility for
developments that in turn would yield larger parkland properties.
Mayor Newton expressed that perhaps one-size-fits-all is not appropriate across all
mixed-use (MX) zones, and that the City could look at different percentages.
Agreed that the City should undertake public outreach prior to coming back to the
Mayor and Council and receiving direction to prepare a draft ordinance.

The City has undertaken two public outreach meetings (December 2 nd and December 7th) to
gain feedback. Below is a summary of the feedback received at the meetings. Written
comments are also attached.
The public outreach meetings were attended by a total of 16 individuals, most if not all of
whom were residents of Rockville. Most attendees were strongly in favor of the concept of a
reliable way of achieving parkland in new development and applauded the Mayor and Council
for considering it. Most speakers were in favor of dedication over fee-in-lieu or a parks impact
fee as the best way to achieve the goal of additional parkland. Others recognized that the
flexibility afforded by fee-in-lieu was a positive aspect, and some expressed support for both
parkland dedication/fee-in-lieu and impact fees. Other concerns expressed include:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Whether implementing a new requirement would dissuade developers who are
providing needed housing in the City;
Whether the minimum requirement for parkland dedication in the MX zones should be
uniform or more related to the density and location of each;
Concern that the additional costs would increase the cost of residential units in the City;
Whether the requirements should apply to developments that are only commercial;
Emphasis on acquisition should be for prime natural areas and areas for additional tree
planting to gain the environmental benefits;
Concerns expressed about ensuring park maintenance is adequate;
City should explore conservation easements on land that could be used as parkland but
would remain privately-owned;
Support for extending the period during which the City must spend the in-lieu funds or
risk losing them. Others thought there should be no end date.

Background
The following was provided for the previous December 7, 2020 work session item as
background information for this topic.
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Open space and recreation are highly valued in Rockville. The City has approximately 1,035
acres of parkland in 65 parks with a variety of amenities across the community. Recreation
facilities range from small-scale neighborhood-based spaces for programming and meetings, to
large ‘specialized’ facilities that serve the entire community and beyond.
Funds are allocated each year to maintain and upgrade the parks and recreation facilities in the
city to ensure safe, clean, and attractive amenities for residents and visitors. The 2016
Community Survey results indicate that recreation facilities, athletic facilities, and the
appearance of City parks are rated much higher than in other benchmark jurisdictions.
To ensure equitable access to park facilities citywide, the City set a goal to provide parkland
within a 10-minute walk from any residence. The City’s PROS Plan also established a goal to
maintain a ratio of 18 acres of parkland for every 1,000 residents. While some areas of the city
are well served by parks within convenient walking distance, others are not. As a city with a
population nearing 70,000 and 1,035 acres of parkland, the goal for acreage per 1,000 residents
is not currently met.
The population is projected to grow to 82,000 by 2040, and this growth will put even more
pressure on the existing parks and recreation facilities. The population growth calls for creation
of new or expansion of existing parks and other recreation facilities to meet the demand that
comes with additional users, especially in redeveloping and urbanizing areas along Rockville
Pike and in Town Center.
The Mayor and Council authorized a study on parkland dedication and fee-in-lieu options in
2017. PDS and Recreation and Parks staff, in consultation with consultant Duncan & Associates,
developed background and options to address the issues, resulting in the Report on Parkland
Acquisition Approaches for the City of Rockville that was presented to the Mayor and Council in
February 2018 (See Attachment A). The Mayor and Council held subsequent work sessions to
discuss the issues and provide direction.
The attached report describes jurisdictions in this region and nationally that are using these
mechanisms and outlines the pros and cons of both options. At work sessions in May 2018 and
July 2019, the Mayor and Council discussed the options presented and provided direction to
staff on their preferred approach to increasing the amount of public parkland in the city. They
also addressed offsetting the cost to the City of providing park and recreation facilities to serve
residents of new developments.
Overview of Options
The City does not currently have a permanent, dedicated funding source or other specific
mechanism to acquire or require parkland from developers during the development review
process. The goal of the parkland acquisition initiative is to create a consistent, standardized
tool to use as new development occurs. The intent is to give the City an opportunity to
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strategically manage growing demands placed on the parks and recreation system, and to
reasonably ensure that new capacity can be provided to assist in meeting those demands.
The 2018 report outlined two primary options for addressing the need to ensure that the City’s
parks and recreation facilities are not overburdened with the stress of an increasing population
from new development. The options presented were:
• Parkland dedication, or fee-in-lieu when dedication is not feasible; and
• An impact fee for parks and recreational facilities.
These approaches could ensure that the landowner, developer, and future residents who are
creating the new demand for new parks and recreation facilities bear a portion of the costs of
the City providing them.
Parkland Dedication/Fee-in-lieu of Dedication
The 2018 report recommended the parkland dedication/fee-in-lieu option as the primary
mechanism for achieving additional parkland in new development. During the discussions, the
Mayor and Council supported the staff recommendation of on-site parkland dedication at a rate
of ten (10) percent of the project land area for development in the City’s Mixed-Use (MX)
zones, twenty (20) percent of the project land area for development in the Residential Medium
Density (RMD) zones, and single-family detached residential (R) zones. The requirement for
dedication, or fee-in-lieu of dedication, would only apply to new development containing
residential if there are more than 25 multifamily, 20 townhouse or attached units, or 15 singlefamily detached units are proposed. The dedication would not be required on previouslyapproved projects, such as Twinbrook Quarter.
The requirement for dedication of parkland, or fee-in-lieu of dedication, would also apply to
non-residential developments that contain a minimum of 5,000 square feet of floor area.
Suitability criteria would need to be developed to ensure that dedicated parkland could be
integrated with the City’s park system, and that the land to be developed is desirable as public
parkland from the City’s perspective.
The Recreation and Parks Department Director has stated that public parkland smaller than 0.3
acre is not desirable, which means that a developer would be required to achieve the minimum
3-acre parcel or project size for public park dedication. Staff’s recommendation is that the
Director of Recreation and Parks would make the recommendation as to whether the proposed
dedication is acceptable to the City, with the Mayor and Council being involved with this
decision as well.
This decision as to what type of dedication and/or fee applied to the developer should be made
as early in the development review process as possible so that applicants design their project to
accommodate the parkland or not, as appropriate. At the pre-application stage, an applicant
could be put on notice that the City will be looking for dedicated parkland in a particular
project, based on the recommendations in the Comprehensive Plan, PROS Plan or Strategic
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Plan. In addition, the Recreation and Parks Advisory Board could also provide its
recommendation on the applicant’s proposal to meet this requirement. Staff recommended,
and the Mayor and Council concurred during the June 20 work session, that a minimum project
size of three acres be required for dedication of public parkland to be considered.
Depending on the location and nature of the proposed parkland to be dedicated, the City might
prefer payment of a fee-in-lieu of dedication in certain situations. For proposed development
projects that include residential units and that would otherwise be required to comply with the
parkland dedication requirement, the report proposed a fee-in-lieu equal to 10% of the
assessed value of the land within the project boundaries. Improvements to land are not
included.
Parkland will be dedicated where new development occurs, which primarily means the MixedUse zones such as MXTD, MXCD and MXE zones, represented geographically by the Rockville
Pike corridor, Town Center, and the Research Boulevard and Piccard Drive areas primarily. All
these areas will require additional parkland as new residential redevelopment occurs.
Otherwise, the Comprehensive Plan, the Parks, Recreation and Open Space Plan, or the
Recreation and Parks Strategic Plan will provide guidance on the desirability of parkland
dedication in other locations. Most of the developable parcels in other zoning districts are
smaller than three acres, so these redevelopment projects would not dedicate parkland but
would be subject to the fee-in-lieu instead.
The 2018 report noted that it is important to provide a basis for what the fee-in-lieu funds may
be spent on and where fee-in-lieu funds could be expended. Revenue generated through fees
paid in-lieu-of dedication will be used by the City for parkland acquisition, expansion or
enhancement of existing parks, to serve the new residents of the development that was
assessed the fee. Fees collected under this provision will be spent in the general vicinity of the
site of the development application.
The City can use the Parks, Recreation and Open Space (PROS) Plan, Recreation and Parks
Strategic Plan, and the Comprehensive Plan for guidance in deciding upon which facilities,
programs, and locations to spend the fees that are collected. The Mayor and Council previously
supported a tiered preference system, whereby the first preference is within one-half mile from
the development site, the second preference is within the same planning area as the
development site, and the third preference is within an adjacent planning area within one mile
of the development site. This would allow the funds to contribute toward neighborhood parks,
community centers or regional facilities if the criteria are met. However, given the analysis in
the Strategic Plan regarding facility and programmatic needs, the Mayor and Council should
consider establishing priorities based on these identified needs, in concert with the tiered
preference system.
Fees collected by the City must be spent within seven (7) years from the date of receipt. This
period may be extended by five (5) years if, at the end of the initial seven-year period, less than
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50% of the residential units within the development project that generated the fee have been
constructed. If the City does not expend the fee payment within seven (7) years of being paid,
the applicant/developer (or successor) may request a refund for the portion of the fee that was
not expended.
Impact Fees
Impact fees, which would be a fee charged to the developer on a per-residential unit and persquare- foot-of-commercial-floor-area basis payable at the time of building permit, must relate
to the park and recreation needs generated by the new development. Also, the revenue must
substantially benefit the new development. Impact fees should be used to defray capital
expenses for land acquisition or facilities, but not for operating costs.
The Mayor and Council made the following recommendations at its prior meetings:
1. The City would apply the Parks impact fee for nonresidential projects, including
retail/restaurant, office, industrial and other similar uses. The 2018 report
recommended that a minimum of 5,000 square footage for nonresidential development
be the threshold for applying the impact fees. This was supported by the Mayor and
Council.
2. The impact fee levels should be set at 75% of the updated figures recommended by the
fiscal consultant in order to reduce the financial impact on property developers.
3. The impact fees be indexed to the Capital Cost Index published in the Engineering News
Record. The report noted that several Maryland counties index their impact fees to this
standard.
4. The following were discussed as being exempt from impact fees and/or land dedication:
• The Moderately Priced Dwelling Units (MPDUs) portion of the development;
• Existing and pending Project Plans (Projects under review or that have already been
approved); and
• Developments with three or fewer residential units.
Although Maryland does not have a specific, required timeframe for spending the funds
collected as impact fees, the revenue collected would likely need to be spent, or at least
programmed, within about seven (7) years of being collected. The revenue may be used for
capital expenses only, and for new capacity such as new or expanded parkland, or new or
expanded recreational facilities in the city.
Additional Recommendations
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The 2018 report also included the following recommendations, which were supported by the
Mayor and Council. However, the current Mayor and Council has not provided direction on
these items.
1. A combination of on-site dedication, fee-in-lieu of dedication, and off-site dedication
may be acceptable to meet the dedication requirements. The Director of Recreation and
Parks would make the determination of acceptability, with appeals from this decision
made to the Approving Authority of the development application (i.e., Planning
Commission or Mayor and Council).
2. Credit for onsite amenities and private open space, to include indoor spaces devoted to
public use, may be assigned to meet up to 50 percent of the dedication requirement.
Qualifying amenities would be specified in the code.
3. Areas dedicated to parkland could be used to meet other development standards, such
as forestry or stormwater management requirements, provided that the public parkland
use is not impeded. The condition of the land to be dedicated to the City, and any
planned improvements, would have to be acceptable to the City.
4. The Mayor and Council indicated that they could support a “hybrid” program which
would utilize some combination of both impact fees and dedication/fee-in-lieu, as the
situation dictates. Staff believes that this should be the Mayor and Council’s decision.
Requirements in Other Local Jurisdictions
City of Frederick
The City of Frederick, Maryland has established a park dedication or fee-in-lieu program for
residential development similar to what is being considered for Rockville. Following is a
current summary of Frederick’s program:
• The program requires the dedication of parkland in connection with new residential
development, with distinctions are made between new residential development and
infill development. The program is applicable to any development that increases the
number of units beyond what is currently on the property.
• The Planning Commission and the Recreation and Parks Commission may recommend a
waiver of the parkland dedication if it is determined that there is sufficient parkland in
the vicinity.
• The parkland dedication requirement may be waived for townhouse and multi-family
developments if it is determined that the private open space provided can reasonably
serve the development.
• The parkland dedication requirement is 1,000 square feet for each new residential unit
and 500 square feet for each accessory detached dwelling unit.
• For infill development, the requirement is 500 square feet per unit and 250 square feet
for each accessory detached unit.
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•

For retirement communities, the dedication requirement is 500 square feet per
dwelling, but may be satisfied through private open space so long as that space meets
the relevant park standard.

Where a park is dedicated per this regulation, 75 percent of the dwelling units must be
within a quarter mile of the park, and no unit can be more than one-half mile from the park.
If the Planning Commission determines that park dedication is unsuitable at that location, it
may require dedication at another suitable location, pay a fee-in-lieu, or a combination of
both. The fee amount is determined by the Board of Aldermen based on a recent appraisal
of the property.
The funds from the fee-in-lieu may be used for:
•
•

Acquisition of parkland.
Pay the principal, interest or other costs of financing instruments intended for the
acquisition of City parkland.

In the Downtown Commercial/Residential (DB), Carroll Creek Overlay, and Historic districts
within the city, a park impact fee of $1,000.00 per new dwelling unit is assessed, the funds
used to provide parkland improvements within the defined area.
The Planning Commission may approve off-site parkland dedication if it is located within a
half mile of the site and cannot be interrupted by a primary arterial street or freeway. Such
off-site parkland must be connected to the development site by a sidewalk or pathway
system.
If the development does not generate enough area to provide a 3-acre park, either by itself
or in combination with adjacent developments, the Planning Commission may approve a
combination of a fee and dedication of land for private, rather than public use.
At the time of site plan approval, if parkland is not being dedicated then the fee-in-lieu or
the park improvement fee must be paid. In the case of dedication, no more than 50 percent
of the dwellings may be built until the dedication is accepted by the City and the park
improvements have been completed.
Prince Georges County
Prince Georges County has a parkland dedication ordinance with fee-in-lieu. It is limited to
new residential subdivisions and does not apply to site plan projects. The dedication
requirement ranges from 5% to 15% of the site depending on the density of development.
Montgomery County
Montgomery County has an adopted Parks, Recreation and Open Space Plan that states that
recommendations for parks and recreation must be provided in all urban plans and sector
plans. New parkland is added to the County park system through dedication via the land
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development process, direct purchase using CIP funds, or occasional donation from
property owners. Dedication is not a zoning requirement but may be achieved through the
optional development method, which may entail density or other incentives provided as
part of a development project.
City of Gaithersburg
The City of Gaithersburg requires a minimum green area, landscaping and amenity area for
new development as a percentage of the site, but there is no specific parkland requirement
or impact fee.
Next Steps
Following the feedback from the public outreach meetings, the Mayor and Council needs to
determine if a zoning text amendment (ZTA) should be developed to go through the public
process. The dedication/fee-in-lieu program would require a significant revision to the City’s
current Zoning Ordinance. Amendments would be needed to the definitions and all zones to
add new or revised requirements for the provision of parkland or fee-in-lieu in place of the
current open space and public use space requirement. Establishing an impact fee program
would require amendments to an appropriate section of City Code to apply an additional fee
and/or land dedication during the development and construction process.
If the Mayor and Council desires to move forward with the amendment process, staff needs
direction on the specifics of the proposed changes. These include:
•
•

•

Whether the Mayor and Council wish to implement a parkland dedication and fee-inlieu system, an impact fee regime, or a combination of both;
Basic parameters of parkland dedication, including the amount of parkland dedicated by
zoning category.
o Should there be varying amounts required within each zoning category, such as
MXTD (high density) vs. MXC (low density)?
o Minimum amount of land to be dedicated as public parkland. The discussion has
been a minimum of .3 acres;
o Minimum thresholds of development that requires parkland dedication;
o Development of suitability standards for land to be dedicated as parkland, to be
determined initially by the Director of Recreation and Parks and approved by
Mayor and Council;
o Criteria for where and how the fee-in-lieu funds will be spent – the three-tiered
system with preferences from the Recreation and Parks guiding documents;
o Maximum time period during which the fee-in-lieu funds must be spent,
including when the time period begins (building permit issuance vs. occupancy
permit).
If Impact Fees are also to be considered, parameters associated with them should also
be determined. The following have been previously agreed upon.
o Fees set at 75% of the amount established by the 2018 study;
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o Apply to both residential and nonresidential development;
o Indexed to the Capital Cost Index published by the Engineering News Record;
o Exclusions include MPDUs, pending projects (to be defined), and projects with
less than three units.
Following this, staff will bring back the proposed ZTA and code amendments for authorization
to move forward at a future meeting.

Mayor and Council History
The Mayor and Council have discussed this topic on February 12, 2018, May 18, 2018, and July
8, 2019. The Mayor and Council gave preliminary direction at those sessions. The Mayor and
Council also held a work session on this topic on December 7, 2020, which is summarized in this
report.

Public Notification and Engagement
Staff undertook a public notification and engagement program based on the Mayor and
Council’s direction at the December 7, 2020 meeting. These virtual public input sessions were
held on December 2 and December 7, 2021 and were widely publicized.

Boards and Commissions Review
Staff will solicit input from appropriate boards and commissions, including the Planning
Commission, Environment Commission and Recreation and Parks Board, during the zoning text
amendment process and prior to bringing back a recommended ordinance for consideration.

Fiscal Impact
A positive fiscal impact to the City is expected should the program be implemented. However,
these new requirements may discourage new residential development due to higher costs for
the project compared to other jurisdictions. This may result is less future tax base.

Next Steps
The next steps depend upon the direction received from the Mayor and Council on moving
forward with a parkland/payment-in-lieu ordinance revision, the potential components, and the
process. The dedication/fee-in-lieu program would require a significant revision to the Zoning
Ordinance. Amendments would be needed to the definitions and all zones to add new or
revised requirements for the provision of parkland or fee-in-lieu in place of the current open
space and public use space requirement.
Establishing an impact fee program would require amendments to an appropriate section of
City Code to apply an additional fee and/or land dedication during the development and
construction process.

Attachments
Attachment 14.a:
(2018) (PDF)
Attachment 14.b:

Report on Parkland Acquisition Approaches for the City of Rockville
Written Comments

(PDF)
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I.

Introduction

The parks and recreational facilities maintained and operated by the City of Rockville are often cited as a
key factor in Rockville residents rating our quality of life so high. It has long been a priority of the City to
provide a top-notch park and recreation system that offers enjoyable neighborhood parks, community
facilities and other recreational amenities. The City’s current level of service in terms of parkland per
1,000 residents is roughly 16 acres. The map at Attachment A shows the City’s existing parks and
recreational facilities.
While some areas of the city are well served by parks within walking distance of their neighborhoods,
others are not. Also, with a growing population, there is continued pressure to create new park space,
especially in redeveloping and urbanizing areas along Rockville Pike and in Town Center. The map at
Attachment B describes how the City is covered in terms of walkability to parks.
The focus of this report (and work session with the Mayor and Council) is to discuss ways to go about
ensuring that while new growth occurs, the City is able to plan for and provide new park space and
recreational facilities. The overarching goal is to provide parks and recreational facilities, or to collect
fees to create them, as new development occurs so that the new development does not overburden the
existing park system, and the City continues to provide facilities that serve all residents. One of the
many keys to this effort will be to create a mechanism that is fair and equitable as the City attempts to
keep up with the on-going demands of a growing population.
The City currently does not specifically require parks to be provided as part of new development
projects. Instead, we have standards requiring that “open area” and “public use space” be provided
within new development projects. However, those standards are fairly flexible and permissive in terms
of what constitutes an open area and public use space, and they do not specifically call for the creation
of additional parkland. The City also has goals, policies and recommendations in the Comprehensive
Master Plan and in the Parks, Recreation and Open Space Plan that speak to the need and desire to
acquire parkland, but those recommendations have not been implemented through an ordinance
requirement.
There are tools used in other jurisdictions that provide the means to ensure new parks and recreational
facilities are provided as new development occurs. These tools will be explored further in this report.
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II.

How has the City acquired parks in the past?

There are a number of ways in which the City has acquired parkland over the years, including recently.
These include the following.









Deeded to City as part of a development project – As the King Farm, Fallsgrove, Rose Hill, and
Tower Oaks development projects were planned and approved, the City was able to negotiate
for park and open space to be dedicated to the City for public use. These include Mattie
Stepanek Park, King Farm Park, Fallsgrove Park, Village Green, and the Rose Hill and Tower Oaks
stream valleys.
Conveyed to the City by a Homeowners Association – This involved the acquisition by the City of
parcels A and B from the Chestnut Lodge Planned Development area, conveyed by their
homeowners’ association earlier this year.
Purchased from Developer- In conjunction with the acquisition of the two donated parcels from
the Chestnut Lodge HOA, parcel I of Chestnut Lodge was purchased by the City from the private
owner of the parcel.
Purchased from the County – The City arranged to purchase land previously owned by the
county at 175 Watts Branch Parkway where the Karma Academy once stood.
Land Swap with County – The City has swapped property with the county in the past, including
for a portion of Upper Watts Branch (a school site) in exchange for land adjacent to Wootton
Parkway.

Revenue sources that have been used for acquisition include the City’s general fund appropriations, and
state grants through the Program Open Space fund. This is a grant program funded through real estate
transfer taxes, administered by the Maryland Department of Natural Resources, with funds being
allocated annually to the counties for subsequent allocation. The City does not currently have a
permanent, dedicated funding source, nor other specific mechanisms to acquire or require parkland in
the city.
It should also be noted that there is a portion of the County property tax dedicated to advanced
parkland acquisition. It is administered by the Maryland National Capital Park and Planning Commission.
Although that tax is assessed on properties in the city as well as throughout the county, the City does
not typically receive any of the revenue generated. The fund is used to support and expand the
countywide parks system, which city residents also use. The tax rate is .001, or 1/10 th of a penny per
$100 of assessed value.
Although some of these tools have served us well from time to time, they are not ones that may be used
on a consistent basis as new development occurs, especially with the redevelopment nature of our
recent growth patterns. A consistent, standardized tool that can be employed regularly as new
development occurs will give the City an opportunity to more carefully manage the demands placed
upon our park and recreational facilities, and to reasonably ensure that new capacity is provided to
meet those new demands.
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III.

Tools used by other jurisdictions

Many jurisdictions across the country, as well as a few locally, use either a parkland dedication
requirement through their zoning ordinance, or an impact fee that is charged to new development for
parks and recreation facilities. Below are several examples researched by staff. One common feature
they all share is a robust park system for their local population.
Parkland Dedication examples
Austin, TX has a dedication ordinance required for residential subdivisions, site plans that include
residential units, and hotels/motels. The required amount is based on a formula of parkland acreage
per 1,000 resident population to be generated by the development (to maintain 9.4 acres of parkland
per 1,000 population); the amount varies by density of the project. In their “urban core,” parkland
dedication cannot exceed 15% of the gross site area. The requirement is reduced for affordable
housing. Under certain conditions, the land can remain as private parkland, with a recorded recreation
easement, for 100% of the requirement. Austin includes a fee-in-lieu provision where dedication of land
is not feasible. The fee-in-lieu amount is based on the average purchase price to the City for acquiring
an acre of parkland, along with the parkland level-of-service (which is based on the total citywide
acreage of neighborhood parks and greenways relative to the city’s population).
Their Recreation and Parks director makes the initial determination as to whether to accept dedication
or fee-in-lieu, with final approval by their Land Use Commission. They emphasize the purpose of the fee
in-lieu is not to achieve equity in terms of where parkland is provided, but rather to have development
maintain the same citywide parkland level-of-service. If development occurs in deficient areas, the
dedication tool may contribute to equity. Otherwise, bond funds, grants, donations or some other
source would be needed to address deficiency problems. However, when deciding where to spend their
fee-in-lieu, they do use a parkland deficiency map as a guide, along with other criteria in their operating
procedures. Their funds must be spent within five (5) years of collection.

St. Paul, MN requires 150 square feet of parkland per residential dwelling unit, up to a maximum of
4.5% of the buildable land area, or a fee-in-lieu of dedication at $1,200 per dwelling unit (up to 4.5% of
county assessor’s value of the land). The requirement is reduced for affordable housing.
They are also one of the few jurisdictions that require parkland dedication for non-residential projects.
St. Paul has documented that 90% of their demand for park space is from residential uses, and 10% from
commercial/industrial. They require 28 square feet per 1,000 square feet of commercial gross floor area
(GFA), 11 square feet per 1,000 square feet of industrial GFA, and 6 square feet per 1,000 square feet
GFA for wholesale, warehousing and storage space. Non-residential projects that are less than 5,000
square feet are exempt.
They also have an option for private land to be maintained for public use instead of making a dedication.
However, the area must be accessible to the public in a manner similar to public land, and a parkland
development agreement must be executed. They specify that funds collected through fee-in-lieu shall
be used within ½ mile of the project for which the funds were collected, or for the neighborhood or
community park nearest to the project.
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Dunedin, FL requires dedication, or a fee in-lieu, when five (5) or more residential units are constructed,
via a site plan or subdivision. They require six (6) acres to be dedicated per 1,000 population to be
generated (prorated for the project). The six (6) acres are split evenly between neighborhood and
community park needs.
They allow credit up to 75% of the neighborhood park requirement to be private open space. Their fees
collected in-lieu of dedication must be spent or obligated within 7 years of collection, and be spent in
the “general vicinity” of the area where the fees were generated.

Impact Fee examples
Pasadena, CA has used their Residential Impact Fee since 1988 to help mitigate the impacts on the park
system from new residential development. The fee is imposed on all new residential development, and
they range from $15,000 to over $28,000 per unit depending on the number of bedrooms; affordable
housing units are charged $800. The fee has been the primary funding mechanism for parkland
acquisition, trails and capital improvements for parks in the city’s budget. It helped fund the first new
city park in over 30 years, and brought about the city dog park in the city. They can also use the fund on
any school ground park which is subject to a cooperative agreement between the city and the Pasadena
Unified School District.
Boulder, CO has an impact fee for parks and recreation that ranges from $2,700 to $7,000 per unit,
depending on the size of the dwelling unit. In Sacramento, CA, their park development impact fee is
about $3,500 for multi-family units (but $1,600 if in an infill area), and $5,900 for single-family units
($2,700 if infill).

Local/Regional examples
The City of Frederick, MD actually has both an impact fee and a parkland dedication requirement. They
require 500 square feet of parkland to be dedicated for each infill residential unit and for retirement
communities, and 1,000 square feet for other non-infill residential units. They have a provision where
private open space may suffice to serve multi-family and townhouse development, and dedication
would not be required unless the comprehensive plan calls for a park in the area. They also have a
provision where, if approved by the city, the city may deem areas in forest or proposed for afforestation
(or reforestation in a forest conservation easement) to be suitable as public parkland.
Fee-in-lieu is determined by the Board of Aldermen and is based on the fair market value of the
property with a recent appraisal. Funds may be used to acquire city parkland, or to pay the principal,
interest or other costs of bonds, notes or other obligations issued or undertaken by or on behalf of the
city to finance the acquisition of city parkland. Under certain conditions, private open space may
comprise 20% of the total parkland required.
In addition to their required parkland dedication, the City of Frederick also charges a park and recreation
impact fee of $868 per residential unit (but $586 if the development has a pool to be maintained by the
homeowner’s association).
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Prince Georges County has had a parkland dedication ordinance with fee-in-lieu since 1981. Theirs is
limited to new residential subdivisions, so it doesn’t apply to site plan projects. Their dedication
requirement ranges from 5% to 15% of the site depending on the density of the development project.

Fairfax County, VA has a strategic plan requiring 10% of their land mass to be held as county parks. In
suburban areas, their goal is to provide at least 5 acres per 1,000 population. In urban areas, the goal is
1.5 acres per 1,000 population and 1 acre per 10,000 employees. Countywide, their goal is for a
minimum of 13 acres per 1,000 population.

Montgomery County has an adopted Parks, Recreation and Open Space Plan that states that
recommendations for parks and recreation must be provided in all urban plans and sector plans, with a
hierarchy and typology of parks described. New parkland is added to the County park system through:
dedication via the land development process, direct purchase using CIP funds, and the occasional
donation of land by property owners. Dedication is not a zoning ordinance requirement, but can be
achieved through their optional method of development, which provides additional density or other
incentives for certain amenities provided as part of a development project. The White Flint Plan
recommended several parks in the area, but according to the County, those will likely be privately
owned and maintained. The plan also discusses the possibility of an amenity fund, but that has not yet
been pursued.

The City of Gaithersburg requires a minimum green area, landscaping and amenity area for new
development as a percentage of the site, but they don’t have a specific parkland requirement nor an
impact fee.

Attachment 14.a: Report on Parkland Acquisition Approaches for the City of Rockville (2018) (3773 : Proposed Parkland Dedication

14.a

5
Packet Pg. 362

IV.

Guidance from the Comprehensive Master Plan and Parks, Recreation and Open Space Plan

When considering new land use or other tools required to advance goals of the City, it is always
advisable to look to the Comprehensive Master Plan for guidance to ensure consistency with the City’s
overall vision for the community. Fortunately, the 2002 Comprehensive Master Plan (the “Master
Plan”), as well as other subsequent neighborhood plans and plan elements, provide guidance and
support for possible new tools the City may want to consider.
Chapter 6 of the Master Plan addresses Recreation, Parks and Open space, and identifies parkland
acquisition as a critical issue. It discusses the desire for parkland dedication and also for a payment-inlieu fee of 5% of the total value of the land being developed. It goes on to say that this is “generally a
last resort option; however, consideration should be given to adopting such a requirement to apply only
in cases where dedication is not practical or feasible.” The chapter concludes with a set of
recommendations, which includes the following:
“Require allocation of a minimum of 20% of development area for parkland. The requirement
should provide appropriate payment-in-lieu only if the allocation of parkland is not feasible or
desirable.” (p. 6-7)
The Rockville Pike Neighborhood Plan, adopted in 2016, builds upon the Master Plan goals by
recommending that 10-acres of new parkland be created along the Rockville Pike corridor. The plan
states as a goal to have parkland accessible within a 10-minute walk from any residence. It describes a
minimum size of 3/10 of an acre for new parkland, and that 15% of a developable project’s site should
be allocated to publicly-accessible open space (or fee-in-lieu).
The Parks, Recreation and Open Space (PROS) Plan was adopted by the Mayor and Council in 2009, and
although it is not technically part of the Master Plan, it certainly provides guidance for park needs
throughout the city. The plan recommends obtaining funding for land acquisition, and for a focus on
areas of greatest need, especially East Rockville, Twinbrook, Town Center and Rockville Pike.
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V.

Two Options to Consider

Two options are presented for the Mayor and Council to consider as possible approaches for the
acquisition or expansion of parks and recreation facilities, with details on both described in the following
section. The two options are:
1. Parkland dedication, or fee-in-lieu when dedication is not feasible (a new option supported by
the Comprehensive Master Plan)
2. Impact fee for parks and recreation facilities (a new option)
Both measures provide an approach to help meet the demand for new parks and recreation facilities as
new development occurs, but without overburdening existing residents with the financial impact to
expand the City’s park system due to increased demand caused by the new development. With this
type of regulatory or “user fee” approach, the intent is that the landowner, developer and future
residents who are creating the demand for new park facilities should bear at least a portion of the costs
of providing new parks and recreation facilities. Historically, the City has often had to resort to using
general fund reserves to pay for parkland, rather than having a ready park fund to tap.
Both approaches must also meet certain ‘tests,’ starting with being proportional in terms of the
requirement relative to the demand generated by the new development. There must also be a
relationship or a “nexus” between the dedication or use of the fees and the benefits received by the
development. Finally, any fees that are generated must be spent in a timely manner so they benefit the
new residents creating the demand.
Neither measure is intended to achieve equity in terms of providing park space or recreation facilities in
certain areas of a city. They are not designed to make up for existing deficiencies in park space or
recreation facilities. Rather they are intended to have new development reasonably pay for itself in
terms of impacts they would have on the City’s parks and recreation facilities. The City must remain
committed to taking the lead in the creation of new parkland and recreation facilities, and also work
with applicants to meet our future demands.

Public Use Space and Open Area Zoning Text Amendment
Staff will also propose updates to our current open area and public use space requirements, regardless
of which of the two options described in this report might be favored by the Mayor and Council. Staff
will bring forward a zoning text amendment that proposes to combine those two current zoning
ordinance standards into a “common open space” standard with a clearer definition of what should be
included. The current definitions of “open area” and “public use space” are included in Attachment C.
The standards for this new common open space requirement should be adjusted to work in concert with
any new parkland dedication requirement or impact fee that the City decides to implement. The table
on page 9 provides suggestions for what a common open space requirement might be. That new draft
standard will be finalized and brought forward in a zoning text amendment for consideration as
direction is provided on the options described in this report.
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A. Option 1 - Parkland Dedication, with a Fee-in-Lieu-of dedication
Description – This approach would be implemented as a zoning ordinance standard, requiring onsite
parkland dedication for public use, or payment of a fee-in-lieu of dedication. This approach would
implement the Master Plan recommendation of allocating a certain percentage of a development area
for parkland, or to allow a fee-in-lieu where it is not practical or feasible to dedicate. It would apply to
all new applications for development and redevelopment that result in a net increase in residential
dwelling units, as described below.
As this option was drafted, staff was mindful of having an approach that is reasonable and provides
some flexibility in how it could be administered. For dedication, allowing options is important – the City
could require onsite dedication as a starting point, but also allow offsite dedication, or a fee-in-lieu-of
dedication, or a combination of approaches. The City could also consider private open space to meet a
portion of the dedication requirement, and allow onsite private amenities to be credited at least partly
against the dedication requirement. Staff also proposes to allow applicants to use at least a portion of
the proposed dedicated area to meet some of their forestry requirements.

Applicability – A parkland dedication requirement, or fee-in-lieu-of dedication, could apply to site plan
applications and subdivision plats, with the following net increase in residential dwelling units on the
project site (above the number of units that previously existed):
-

25 multi-family dwelling units
20 townhouse (single family attached) dwelling units
15 single-family detached dwelling units

Staff believes it is important to have a threshold below which this option would not apply. Development
projects yielding a fewer number of units than indicated here would likely generate either very small
parcels of proposed dedicated park areas which would not be desirable for the City to maintain, or
would generate a modest fee-in-lieu amount that would be restricted in terms of how, where and when
it could be spent. Also, the stress on the existing park system by relatively few units would likely be
small.
For affordable or moderately-priced dwelling units, staff has not defined a credit or exemption since we
are not proposing to apply it on a per-unit basis. The standard is based on land area, so a reduction or
exemption may not apply. One exception would be if the entire development project consists of
affordable units, then we could exempt the entire application (or require a lower percentage to be set
aside or paid-in-lieu).

Dedication Requirement – Consistent with the Master Plan recommendation, an onsite parkland
dedication requirement could be based on a percentage of the total site area. It would vary by zoning
district, similar to the current open area and public use space requirements. As noted above, the
current open area and public use space standards are also proposed to be amended and combined into
one common open space standard, with a new definition which is described later in this report.
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Possible Dedication and Open Space Requirements in Mixed Use Zones
Zone
MXTD
MXCD

Suggested Parkland
Dedication %
10%
10%

Suggested Common
Open Space %
10%
10%

MXE
MXB
MXNC
MXC
MXT

10%
10%
10%
10%
10%

10%
10%
10%
10%
10%

Current Requirements %
Open Area
Public Use Space*
10 % (15% if res.) 10%
10% if < 20k sq ft 5%
15% if > 20k sq ft
20%
5%
10%
5% if > 20k sq ft
10%
5% if > 20k sq ft
10%
10%
*Public use space is within required open area.

An additional consideration regarding the standards suggested here is to allow an exemption from the
Common Open Space requirement if an applicant proposes to set aside a greater amount of dedicated
parkland than the minimum required percentage.

Medium Density Residential Zones
For proposed development in the Residential Medium Density Zones (RMD-25, RMD-15 and RMD-10),
the City currently has a standard requiring 50% open area within the overall site (section 25.11.06). This
section should be amended to include a parkland dedication requirement of 20%, which could be part of
an overall 50% open area standard (which would also be updated to the new common open space
requirement).
Single Dwelling Unit Residential Zones
For proposed development in the Single Dwelling Unit Zones (R-400, R-200, R-150, R-90, R-75, R-60 and
R-40), the same parkland dedication standard of 20% would be required. But those cases would be
reviewed through the subdivision process. Section 25.21.19 would need to be updated, which currently
describes the City’s standards for Public Sites and Open Spaces as follows: “proposed park, playground,
or other public use shown in the Plan…, the subdivider must dedicate or reserve, at the option of the
Commission, adequate space for such purpose…”

When analyzing possible dedication standards to use for the mixed use and residential zones, staff
considered different approaches to determine what a fair standard would be, including a calculation
based on setting aside a specific amount of square footage per dwelling unit or per capita. However,
staff continued to come back to the guideline recommended in the current Comprehensive Master Plan
(which suggests 20% dedication of developed area). Nevertheless, the recommendation here is to
consider a lower set-aside amount (10%). This standard is a reasonable one to begin with, and is also
accompanied by flexibility in how it could be administered. It is roughly in line with (but lower than) the
City’s current level of service for parkland, but is not as impactful as a per-unit or per-capita standard
might be. Many jurisdictions that require parkland dedication do so on the basis of maintaining a level
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of service expressed by the number of acres per resident population. However, trying to maintain our
current level of service of 16.5 acres per 1,000 in population through a dedication requirement would be
too onerous to require for new development projects.

Suitability standards/criteria for dedicated land - To determine whether proposed parkland is suitable
for dedication, the criteria below could be used by the City in making its determination. The use of the
term “suitability” is intended to result in parkland area that can meet the park and recreation needs of
new residents in the development that is triggering the need.














Minimum size – a proposed parkland dedication shall be no less than 3/10 of an acre in the MXTD and MX-CD zones, and no less than ½ acre in all other zones. If the ordinance standard results
in an amount less than these minimum allowable parkland dedication areas, then a fee-in-lieu-of
dedication would be required.
Usability – the proposed area must be useable as park space in terms of topography, drainage
and configuration of the site. It shall not be configured as a narrow strip of land without
substantial demonstration of its purpose and function to serve the general public.
Contiguous – the proposed parkland to be dedicated shall be in a contiguous area to the extent
feasible. Small, scattered, individual sites will likely not be accepted, unless it is demonstrated
that they would serve the needs of residents of the proposed development.
Accessibility – the proposed dedicated site must be accessible to the general public.
Connectivity to other parks – where existing parks, open space, or trails are present on sites
adjoining the proposed development project, the proposed parkland to be dedicated should be
located so it is contiguous to such areas, and provide connections to adjoining parks and open
areas where feasible.
Underserved areas – when the neighborhood where the proposed development is occurring is at
a deficit in terms of park space, then parkland dedication will be preferred over payment of a feein-lieu. Underserved and deficit areas would be based on guidance provided in the City’s Parks,
Recreation and Open Space Plan as well as the Comprehensive Master Plan.
Sensitive and rare habitat protection – proposed dedication areas that provide for the protection
of habitat for sensitive and rare plant and animal species are desired.
Consistent with the City’s Comprehensive Master Plan – proposed parkland dedications shall be
consistent with and result in implementing the City’s Parks, Recreation and Open Space Plan
and/or the Comprehensive Master Plan.

Determination of parkland dedication or fee-in-lieu – It is the City’s preference to have land dedicated
onsite for a public park with the development projects that trigger this requirement. However, it will
also be possible for an applicant to propose to pay a fee-in-lieu-of dedication in instances where
dedication is not feasible on the site, or not desired by the City. If a proposed site does not meet the
minimum size requirements, or is otherwise determined to be unsuitable by the City based on the
criteria described above, then a fee-in-lieu-of dedication may be provided. However, the City is also
providing an opportunity for an applicant to propose an off-site parkland dedication when onsite
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dedication is determined not to be feasible. Finally, a combination of options (onsite dedication, fee-inlieu, and off-site dedication) will also be considered and may be allowed.
The process for determining whether to accept a proposed dedication, to require a fee-in-lieu-of
dedication, to allow an off-site dedication, or a combination of those options, is to have the director of
the Recreation and Parks Department consider the applicant’s submittal, and following consultation
with the City Manager, provide direction early in the development review process. The director will
evaluate the proposed method of meeting this requirement based on the suitability standards described
above, and will provide a determination in writing based on those standards.
This determination will occur early in the development review process in order to provide certainty and
predictability for the applicant for their overall design of the project. The determination by the director
of the Recreation and Parks department will be made during the pre-application stage of site plan
review, or during the review of a preliminary plan for subdivision for single-family residential
development. The Director of Recreation and Parks will notify the applicant in writing of this
determination.
When City staff have completed their full review of an application, with a recommendation prepared for
transmittal to the approving authority for action, the staff report will describe the determination made
for parkland dedication, or payment of a fee-in-lieu, or a combination thereof.

Appeal - If the Director rejects a request by the developer to dedicate parkland, or to pay a fee-in-lieu-of
dedication, the applicant may appeal the decision to the approving authority for the application. The
approving authority will then make the final determination as to whether the dedication or fee-in-lieu-of
dedication will be accepted, considering the suitability standards set forth above and the
recommendation of the Director.

Offsite Parkland Dedication –The City may accept an offsite dedication of parkland upon approval of
such proposal by the Director of Recreation and Parks, provided it is in the general vicinity of the
development site and meets the suitability standards/criteria for dedicated land described above.

Credit for onsite amenities and private open space – The City may allow that privately-owned onsite
amenities being provided with the development project could be credited against the public parkland
dedication and fee-in-lieu requirement, but not to exceed 50% of the requirement. Onsite amenities
that may be considered for such credit include publicly-accessible open areas, parks, playgrounds, trails
and exercise areas. Credit may also be provided for indoor spaces dedicated to the provision of publiclyaccessible art, and open areas or dedicated spaces open to the public such as museums, art galleries,
science centers or facilities, cultural arts centers, or community rooms.
As with the approval of dedicated parkland, the Director of Recreation and Parks will make the
determination as to whether credit for onsite amenities and private open space will be accepted, which
will also be determined during the pre-application stage.
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Land, facilities, and improvements approved under this provision must be accessible to the public in a
manner similar to public parkland. The City and the owners of the development must execute a
parkland development agreement insuring that specific land will be developed and maintained by the
owners, and that the parkland use is a covenant that runs with the land.
This provision is consistent with other jurisdictions analyzed. St. Paul, MN, allows private land to be
maintained for public use for up to 100% of the dedication requirement. Austin, TX, allows up to a 50%
credit for onsite amenities provided by an applicant (for pools, exercise areas and publicly-accessible
open space). Dunedin allows a credit for up to 75% of their neighborhood park requirement where
private open space is being provided and will be privately maintained (but only for the neighborhood
park requirement; but not the community park requirement). Frederick, MD has a provision where
private open space may suffice to serve multi-family and townhouse development, and dedication
would not be required unless the master plan calls for a park.

Ability to meet certain development standards/requirements on proposed parkland dedication sites –
With the approval of the Director of Recreation and Parks, the City could allow the proposed parkland
dedication area to be used to meet a portion of certain development standards, provided the primary
use of the proposed parkland area for public recreation is not impeded. A maintenance agreement
between the City and the applicant will be required, describing maintenance responsibilities and other
obligations.
The following could be acceptable on the dedicated parkland:



Areas in forest or proposed for afforestation or reforestation in a forest conservation easement.
Environmental site design features and related improvements required as a result of the
development project. This may include publicly accessible, useable portions of a stormwater
management facility.

This provision would be consistent with other jurisdictions as well. Although Frederick does not allow
stormwater ponds in dedicated areas, they do allow areas in forest or proposed for afforestation or
reforestation in such areas. Austin allows up to 50% of a dedicated site to be in the floodplain, and the
City of San Jose allows a 50% credit for stormwater detention facilities.

Ownership, conveyance and improvement of dedicated land –Ownership of dedicated parkland will be
conveyed to the City, and will be City-maintained. Conveyance of parkland will occur through
subdivision plat approval and recordation prior to obtaining building permits for the project, and will be
accompanied with a fee simple deed conveying ownership to the City.
If amenities or improvements to the park are being provided by the developer, those shall be completed
in a manner consistent with City standards, and accepted by the City prior to issuance of occupancy
permits. Otherwise the applicant will provide improvement guarantees for grading and seeding of the
parkland to be dedicated. The dedicated land will be conveyed in a condition that is graded, seeded and
otherwise prepared as agreed upon, and free from debris and other construction material.

Attachment 14.a: Report on Parkland Acquisition Approaches for the City of Rockville (2018) (3773 : Proposed Parkland Dedication

14.a

12
Packet Pg. 369

Proposed Amendments Impacting Approved Parkland Dedication Areas – If an amendment to an
approved site plan or subdivision is proposed that would impact an approved parkland dedication area
(public or private), or would impact the required fee-in-lieu, then a recommendation from the Director
of Recreation and Parks is required as part of the application. Compliance with the dedication or fee-inlieu standards is still required.
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Fee-in-lieu-of dedication
Description – When dedication of parkland (either onsite or off-site) is deemed by the City to not be
feasible due to the suitability standards described, payment of a fee-in-lieu-of dedication would be
required. Fee-in-lieu funds would be spent in the general vicinity of the development from which the
fees were paid. The funds can be pooled with other in-lieu payments, or other City or park funds, for
the acquisition of land for new parks or expansion of existing ones. However, they cannot go toward
operations, recreational programs or maintenance of parkland or facilities. The funds should also not be
used specifically to remedy existing park deficiencies, unless this also aligns with the needs created by
the new development.

Amount Required – The amount of a required fee-in-lieu payment would be based on the assessed
value of the land at the time of pre-application. The source for determining the assessed value of the
land will be the State of Maryland’s Department of Assessments and Taxation (SDAT) most recent
records published online.
For proposed development projects that include residential units, and would otherwise be required to
comply with the parkland dedication requirement, the fee-in-lieu is equal to 10% of the assessed value
of the land within the project boundaries; improvements to land are not included.
As described, a combination of onsite and/or offsite parkland dedication and fee-in-lieu is acceptable. If
an applicant dedicates a portion of the required parkland and satisfies the balance of the requirement
with fee-in-lieu, the amount of land dedicated will be deducted from the required fee-in-lieu payment
that was otherwise required.

Administering the Fee – The fee must be paid prior to issuance of the first building permit for the
development project, but at the discretion of the City, partial payments may be made that are
proportional based on the number of units being developed within the phases of a multi-phase project.

Expenditure of fees collected - Revenue generated through fees paid in-lieu-of dedication will be used
by the City for parkland acquisition, expansion or enhancement of existing parks, to serve the new
residents of the development that was assessed the fee. Fees collected under this provision will be
spent in the general vicinity of the site of the development application. The City will use the Parks,
Recreation and Open Space Plan and the Comprehensive Master Plan for guidance in deciding on
locations to spend fees collected.
The funds generated by fee-in-lieu will not be used for maintenance and operations, and will be used
only for the following purpose:



To acquire parkland for a public use; or
For capital expenses for new, expanded or enhanced public parks and/or recreation facilities
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The fees collected will need to be accounted for separately from other funds, including being segregated
from the City’s general fund money. The funds would be appropriated in the budget that is approved by
the Mayor and Council, and most likely in the form of a Capital Improvement Project.
Fees collected by the City must be spent within seven (7) years from the date of receipt. This period
may be extended by five (5) years if, at the end of the initial seven-year period, less than 50% of the
residential units within the development project that generated the fee have been constructed.

Refund - If the City does not expend the fee payment within seven (7) years of being paid, the
applicant/developer (or successor) may request a refund for the portion of the fee that was not
expended. The refund request must be made in writing and filed with the Finance Department no later
than 180 days after the expiration of the deadline to expend the funds. The Finance Department will
refund the unspent fees to the applicant.
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B. Option 2 - Impact Fee for Parks and Recreational Facilities
The other option staff is putting forth for consideration is that of an impact fee that could be charged to
new development applications during the permitting process. An impact fee is a commonly accepted
financing mechanism used by local jurisdictions to offset the cost of expansion of infrastructure or
government facilities that would be required to be built as a result of new development. It’s a way of
assuring new development pays its “fair share” for providing services. It is based on maintaining the
current level of service by assessing new development the proportional cost of expanding that service or
facility. For parks and recreational facilities, it is typically charged for new residential development, but
may also be required with new non-residential construction.
As described in a 2009 impact fee study conducted for the City, in order for an impact fee to be valid, it
typically must satisfy two conditions: “rational nexus” and “rough proportionality.” First, there must be a
need for the additional facilities or expansion of infrastructure as a result of the new development.
Second, there must be a fair and equitable connection between the fee charged to the new
development and the benefit it receives. A municipality may only charge an impact fee for capital
projects that will benefit the new development, and for services provided by the jurisdiction.
A Maryland Attorney General’s opinion issued in 2004 addresses this concept as well. In response to a
request from Taneytown, MD, the opinion supports the power of Maryland municipalities to enact
reasonable impact fees as a regulatory tool. But there must be a sufficient nexus between the fee
assessed and the proportional cost of providing the benefits supported by that fee to the affected
property owners. It should be used to defray the costs of infrastructure and capital expenses, but not
for operating costs. The Attorney General’s office stated:
“Under the rational nexus test, an impact fee is permissible as a regulatory measure, so long as
(1) the fee relates to the needs attributable to new development, and (2) the revenue collected
is earmarked for the substantial benefit of the development charged.”

2008/09 City of Rockville Impact Fee study
In 2008, the City contracted with the consulting firm Municipal Financial Services Group (MFSG) of
Annapolis to evaluate, calculate and recommend possible impact fees for the City to consider. The areas
studied and ultimately recommended were: public safety, recreation and parks, stormwater and general
government. Other service areas were studied but not recommended. However, as the study was
concluded in 2009 during the “Great Recession,” none of the recommended fees were enacted. There
were also concerns about the timing of spending revenue that is generated, and where it could be used.
The calculation of the fees was based on the incremental cost of replacing the current recreational and
park facilities owned and operated by the City. The actual value of the land for parks was excluded from
the calculation.
Facilities counted within the inventory at the time included: the swim center, the senior center, F. Scott
Fitzgerald Theater, Glenview Mansion, all the community and neighborhood centers, the King Farm
Farmstead, the Beall Dawson House, and other facilities, for a total of 183,319 square feet of facility
space. The estimated average cost to build a new facility was $250 per square foot, plus another $50
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per square foot to outfit the facility. At a total cost of $300 per square foot, times 183,319 square feet
total, the full cost to replace all facilities was estimated at about $55 million. This cost was then
allocated between residential and non-residential uses in the city, and then further broken down for an
average cost per resident and per employee.
The following table describes the 2009 recommendation for impact fees for parks and recreational
facilities that could be charged for different uses, along with a potential revenue generation forecast
through fiscal year 2030.
Recreation/Parks Recommended Impact Fees (2009 study):
Residential (per unit)

Fee

Single family detached
Single family attached
Multi-family / other

$1,711
$1,524
$1,230

Non-residential (per 1000 sq ft)
Retail / Restaurant
Office
Industrial
Other

$582
$931
$517
$466

Potential Revenue –
FY09 to FY30
$95,800
$253,000
$7,567,400

$468,800
$5,224,900
$42,700
$453,200
$14,105,800

The study recommended spending the fees collected within six to eight years, and they could be used
for expansion of recreational facilities operated by the City.
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Updated Impact Fees
The City re-engaged with the firm MFSG to update the base assumptions and other data used in the
2009 study, so that a revised, current impact fee may be considered. They have included the land cost
within the calculation as well (at about $840,000 of assessed value per acre), and have updated the cost
of improved facility area at $400 per square feet. Below are the updated impact fee rates to consider,
with those provided by the consultants, and fee levels recommended by staff (along with average fees
from a 2015 national survey).
Updated Recreation/Parks Impact Fees:

Residential (per unit)
Single family detached
Single family attached
Multi-family / other
Non-residential (per 1000 sq ft)
Retail / Restaurant
Office
Industrial
Other

National
Average
(2015)*
$2,812
$2,099

$815
$881
$562

Updated Fees
from consultant
study
$2,290
$1,950
$1,570

Recommended Fees by
Staff (75% of the
consultant fee)
$1,718
$1,463
$1,178

$700
$1,120
$620
$560

$525
$840
$465
$420

*From National Impact Fee Survey: 2015; prepared by Duncan and Associates.

Staff believes an impact fee for parks and recreation facilities should be one of the options seriously
considered as this discussion continues.
Staff also recommends that the impact fees be adjusted downward slightly from the fee levels
determined through the updated consultant work. The rates recommended by staff in the table above
are at 75% of the levels determined by the consultants to be defensible and justifiable based on the
methodology used. It is customary for jurisdictions enacting new impact fees to not charge the full
amount allowable, since this introduces a new financial impact to the economics of development
projects. However, this is a policy decision that would ultimately be decided by the Mayor and Council.
Staff also recommends that units required under the City’s Moderately Priced Dwelling Unit (MPDU)
program be fully exempt from paying impact fees. Since it a long-standing City goal to promote the
creation of additional affordable and moderately-priced housing options, exempting such units from this
new charge would be consistent with that goal.
If the impact fee option is ultimately adopted, staff recommends that development applications that are
currently in the review process should be exempt from the fee. This would include complete, accepted
applications for projects plans, site plans and building permits.
An impact fee would be administered at the building permit stage of the review process, where the fee
would be paid prior to issuance of a building permit. As such, it would have the effect of being phased in
for a large, multi-phase development project, since the fee would only apply to those phases about to
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be constructed. Staff also recommends exempting any development application where three (3) or
fewer additional (net) residential dwelling units are being created on the subject site. If this is applied to
new non-residential development as well, then there should also be a minimum square footage at which
it is triggered (perhaps at 5,000 square feet and above).
Although Maryland does not have a specific, required timeframe for spending the funds, the revenue
collected would likely need to be spent, or at least programmed, within about seven (7) years of being
collected. The revenue may be used for capital expenses only, and for new capacity such as new or
expanded parkland, or new or expanded recreational facilities in the City.
There are jurisdictions which also include annual adjustments to impact fees. For instance, in Maryland,
Anne Arundel, Talbot and Queen Anne’s counties adjust their fees each year based on the Construction
Cost Index published in the Engineering New Record. In those jurisdictions, fees are automatically
adjusted to account for inflationary increases in the cost of providing public facilities utilizing the most
recent twenty-city annual national average data from the Engineering News Record Construction Cost
Index. The City currently makes a similar adjustment using the Builder’s Cost Index to the in-lieu fee in
the Publicly-Accessible Art in Private Development ordinance.
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3.2

5

1000

275

650

275

200

400

360

$20,000,000 MXCD

$2,500,000 MXTD

$12,400,000 MXTD

$1,700,000 MXE

$2,700,000 MXTD

$6,000,000 MXTD

$8,400,000 MXTD

1.00

0.23

0.32

0.35

0.40

0.50

0.35

43,560

9,801

13,939

15,246

17,424

21,780

15,246

43,560

9,801

13,939

15,246

17,424

21,780

15,246

87,120

19,602

27,878

30,492

34,848

43,560

30,492

$2,000,000

$250,000

$1,240,000

$170,000

$270,000

$600,000

$840,000

$1,001,300

$275,358

$650,845

$283,456

$200,260

$400,520

$360,468

Retail

Retail

Office

Retail

Retail

Non-Res
Use Type

Retail
Retail (3/4)
200,000 Office (1/4)

10,000

50,000

15,000

5,000

6,000

100,000

Parkland
Parkland
Common
Fee-In-Lieu Residential
Dedication Dedication Open Space Total Open at 10% of Impact Fee
(at 10%) in (at 10%) in (10%) in Sq. Area in Sq. Assessed $1,178/unit Non-Res
Zone
Acres
Sq. Ft.
Ft.
Ft.
Value
(multifamily) Sq. Ft.

$26,250

$7,875

$4,200

$3,150

$52,500

$525
$5,250
$525
$840 $120,750

$525

$525

$840

$525

$525

$1,122,050

$280,608

$677,095

$291,331

$204,460

$403,670

$412,968

Non-Res
Total Impact
Rate per Non-Res Fee (Res
1,000 sq Impact
and Nonft
Fee
Res)

Examples, using the draft standards in this report, and the general characteristics of recent
projects in Rockville:
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Notes:
1. For MX-TD & MX-CD, the minimum area to be dedicated (for the dedication scenario) is 3/10th of an acre (13,068 sq. ft.); therefore the minimum development site where
dedication is required is 3 acres.
2. For all other zones, the minimum area to be dedicated is 1/2 an acre (21,780 sq. ft.); therefore the minimum development site where dedication is required is 5 acres.
3. Project examples 1, 2, 3, 5 and 7 would dedicate land onsite (under the dedication scenario), since the proposed dedicated area exceeds the minimum required size.
4. Project examples 4 and 6 would pay fee in-lieu-of dedication, since the dedicated area would be less than the minimum size allowed.
5. For the impact fee examples, the rates are those recommended by staff, and MPDUs are exempt from the calculation (15% of the units in the MX-TD & MX-CD zones are
MPDUs, and 12.5% of the units are MPDUs in all other zones).
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VI.

Parkland Dedication / Fee-In-Lieu Examples
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VII.

Pros and Cons of the Two Options

Pros of Parkland Dedication and Fee-In-Lieu:





It’s an accepted standard in the typical zoning powers of a municipality
Has a direct, clear relationship to the application to which it is being applied
With dedication, the land is made available at the location where the development being built is
creating the need
It is in support of Master Plan goals to create additional parkland (20% per the plan)

Cons of Parkland Dedication and Fee-In-Lieu:








Appears to be more effective as a suburban standard, where new subdivisions are created or
large development projects are built. Rockville is experiencing mostly smaller, infill, mixed use
projects.
Will mostly result in fee-in-lieu payments, since the average size of our site plans is 2.5 acres and
the same cons that are listed in the Cons of Impact Fee would be applicable.
Fee-in-lieu must be spent in the general vicinity of the development project, so it is limited in
terms of how, where and when it must be used; and must be tracked and accounted for
separately
It’s an additional regulatory demand on top of already fairly restrictive standards
Dedication of land would require an applicant to go through the subdivision platting process,
which doesn’t always happen on a site plan application (especially redevelopment activities)

Pros of Impact Fee:





Would potentially apply to more residential units than a parkland dedication standard
We can vary the fee by residential unit type, and apply it to non-residential permits, too
Average size of site plans is too small to be affected by parkland dedication, so most projects
would pay fee-in-lieu anyway.
We have a methodology already (by MFSG) along with the regulatory authority to do it

Cons of Impact Fee:





Requires creation of a separate fund, to ensure it is spent in a timely manner
Requires active CIP planning to program funds, and the discipline to spend in a timely manner
and to combine it with other city revenue where necessary for project implementation
Places the burden on the City to purchase land where necessary (dedication requirement places
more of this burden on the developer)
City must have funds available to construct park amenities (with impact fees and other revenue
as needed)
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Jim Wasilak
From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:

Community Wildlife Habitat <communitywildlifehabitat@gmail.com>
Wednesday, December 8, 2021 8:38 PM
Jim Wasilak
Written version of my comments from last night on parkland acquisition

In answer to the question, I believe Rockville should require Parkland with New Development without question.
One issue that needs to be addressed in this effort is “What is the nature of the parkland that should be
established?” While tot lots, ball fields, and other recreational structures are important, I believe that it is critical to focus
on natural settings and native flora and fauna.
Trees are a critical element to this focus for many reasons, some of which I will list, although this list is not meant to be
exhaustive. Trees combat climate change. They enhance water quality by filtering pollutants, controlling erosion, and
creating habitat for aquatic life. They provide shade which saves on electricity and contributes to human and animal
comfort, as well as human physical and mental health. They provide habitat for wildlife, thereby slowing species
extinction and countering.ecotype disruption. They support pollinator life cycles. They are critical to the health and
comfort of City of Rockville residents. They must be preserved and their numbers in the city increased.
I have served on the Planning Commission for nearly 8.5 years. While I in no way speak for the commission in these
comments, my experience on the body provides the basis for them. During my tenure there have been multiple attempts
to change ordinances or grant waivers that allow a huge reduction in the number of trees that developers are required to
plant. This has been particularly evident with townhouse developments. That reduction has been a 2/3 reduction, which
can be a very large number of trees.
It was interesting to me that the day after the second hearing to gain public input on the question of whether Rockville
should require parkland with new development, the Planning Commission was reviewing a text amendment that revises
the number of trees required for townhouse lots. The proposal was likely an improvement over the existing
code. However, shile it was not clear what the precise impact would be, the general one was a reduction in the number of
required trees. I find it ironic and inconsistent that this text amendment is being considered while the Mayor and Council
are asking for input on the issue of requiring parkland with new development. That said, the Planning Commission as a
body voted in favor of the amendment over my single opposing vote.
I understand why developers don’t want to spend the money or release the land for that many trees. However, the
townhouse developments that are being approved these days are essentially bare of trees, and, therefore in my mind,
ugly and unhealthy. They are also overcrowded, overpriced, and traffic congestion is not being addressed adequately.
I congratulate the Mayor and Council on starting to develop an approach to the acquisition of parkland. However, I also
ask that you spread the concept of parkland throughout new developments and encourage developments to contain more
open space containing trees.
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Thank you for your consideration.

Have a happy holiday season and a healthy new year.

Anne Goodman
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Jim Wasilak
From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:

Audrey Shen <aushen1210@gmail.com>
Tuesday, December 7, 2021 4:18 AM
Jim Wasilak
Citizen Input on Parkland in New Development

Dear Mr. Wasilak,
I recently saw that the City of Rockville is asking for public input on whether developers should be required to include
parkland in new developments.
My answer is ABSOLUTELY YES.
I have been an active volunteer to remove nonnative plants with certified Weed Warriors at various parks of Rockville as
I love parks and nature.
For me, trees, native plants for pollinators, and places for people to unwind and meet their neighbors are much needed
as development continues at a rapid pace.
Please benefit our community for years to come by including parks as an essential part of healthy communities!
Sincerely,
Audrey
Sent from my iPhone
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December 8, 2021
TESTIMONY – Zoning Text Amendment to Require Parkland Dedication or Fee-in-Lieu
Of Dedication in New Development and A Potential Parks Impact Fee
Submitted by:

Burton Hall
402 Baltimore Road
Rockville, MD 20850

First and foremost, congratulations and thanks to the Mayor and Council and City staff for your
consideration of this text amendment. Over the past 70 years, parkland has been set aside and
dedicated for public use in most large residential developments. As a result, Rockville is blessed with
1,000+ acres of City parks. While there are significant gaps, a large percentage of residents live
within a 10-minute walk of a park. Hopefully this text amendment will provide the mechanism for
Rockville to begin to fill in the areas where parks are desperately needed.
Working under what was at the time essentially an unofficial policy, the City was able to broker
the dedication of 20% of the King Farm tract and 34% of the Fallsgrove tract for public parks. The
particular development scenarios for these projects helped to make this possible. Much of this new
parkland is on buildable land, a key consideration if recreational uses are to be accommodated. As a
result, several large, attractive and highly usable parks were added to the system, along with
significant forested, stream valley sections. These two developments brought in thousands of new
residents. It was critically important then, as it is now, to provide these parks for all the new
residents, to ensure these large new areas included conveniently located park, recreation and open
space resources, as well as to protect existing nearby parks from over-use.
I believe the outline of the text amendment, as drafted is overall complete and well thoughtout. The flexibility to require dedication, or fee-in-lieu or an impact fee will make this practical and
workable. Requiring dedication within very small development parcels would not yield usable park
spaces. It is highly appropriate for the City to be able to decide in each case whether dedication (if
the parcel is large enough) or fee-in-lieu would serve the community’s interest best.
Here a couple of areas I suggest changes to the text:






For larger developments (should for instance the City annex another large land parcel),
consideration should be given to requiring the developer to contribute to the cost of
constructing the parks. Constructing new parks from scratch is an expensive undertaking.
For Fee-in-Lieu funds, seven years to spend is likely not enough, given all the process, public
input, etc. necessary to design and build new parks. Consider ten years, with two five-year
extensions.
Fee-in-Lieu funds and funds collected through Impact fees could be a real asset, but would be
much more effective if the city could pool the funds to obtain parkland anywhere in the city.
There are obvious benefits to obtaining new parkland nearby new development areas, but that
will not always be possible. Perhaps an exception process could be added, requiring Mayor and
Council approval, if it’s determined that obtaining parkland in close proximity to the
development is not feasible, either because no land is available or available land is too
expensive, e.g. Rockville Pike planning area.
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Opportunities to obtain new parkland in some areas of the City, e.g. Twinbrook, East Rockville,
are very limited. All the land is currently in use. It may be necessary for the City to purchase
land with existing structures, in order to build new parks. The Mayor and Council should
consider the option to buy currently “improved” land in order to add parks in these underserved
areas.
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Jim Wasilak
From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:

carylmcneilly@gmail.com
Wednesday, December 8, 2021 12:47 PM
mayorcouncil; Jim Wasilak
YES Re: Should Parkland Be Required With New Development?

Importance:

High

Green spaces are one of the things that most attracted my husband and I to Rockville. Rockville’s long-time
designation as a Tree City USA and policy of having parkland within a 10-minute walk of every citizen long
made it an attractive alternative to other suburbs, and increased property values here. The importance of
green spaces was reinforced by the Covid pandemic, when people found parkland the only place to get out of
the house or apartment, and many discovered for the first time how much they valued nature as a place of
recreation, refuge and inspiration. Covid reminded us that PARKLANDS ARE AN ESSENTIAL PUBLIC
GOOD for people of all ages and incomes.
It is a huge loss to the quality of life in Rockville that many of our green spaces are being replaced by
development. IT IS TIME TO REQUIRE EVERY NEW DEVELOPMENT TO INCLUDE PARKLAND. It is
especially important to provide parkland as part of transit-oriented development, since many people do not
own cars to travel to parks.
It is essential to require developers to retain green space for:
-

Improving our mental and physical health,

-

Encouraging children’s’ healthy development,

-

Providing pollinator habitat,

-

Managing stormwater runoff,

-

Making our streets inviting for walking and bicycling,

-

Reducing the ‘heat island’ effect of new developments, and

Mitigating rising temperatures from climate change (green spaces lower temperatures and reduce energy
demands from AC).
It’s no coincidence that Rockville Town Center is an unappealing destination with nothing but concrete on all
sides (outside the Red Brick Courthouse grounds). The lack of trees along many streets and in commercial
areas (e.g., Town Center, Twinbrook) forces us to drive for errands and to Metro during the summer instead of
walking or biking (which increases emissions and worsens climate change). I urge Rockville’s Mayor and
Council to Require Parkland with New Development.
Thank you for your attention,
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5705 Stillwell Road, Rockville 20851
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Jim Wasilak
From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:

Jake Rose <williamjacobrose@gmail.com>
Wednesday, December 8, 2021 9:55 AM
Jim Wasilak
Require new development to create parkland

Hello Jim,
My name is Jake Rose. I'm a resident in the City of Rockville.
I wanted to thank you for asking for public input about requiring parkland with new development
- https://rockvillereports.com/should-parkland-be-required-with-new-development/.
I support this new requirement. I enjoy public space on a daily basis, and creating this requirement would allow future
residents to do the same for years to come. The preserved land in this area is one of the reasons the quality of life in this
City is so high.
Thank you,
- Jake Rose
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Jim Wasilak
From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:

Josephine Cox <jobird11@gmail.com>
Tuesday, December 7, 2021 11:49 AM
Jim Wasilak
Parkland for new Devlopments

To Whom it may concern,
I won't be able to attend the Zoom call tonight, but I wanted to provide some comments. I think Rockville has done a
great job with many large and small parks distributed across neighborhoods. I believe that it is critical that new
developments should have associated greenspace. As more and more space is devoted to large apartment and office
buildings and less to single family homes with reasonable yard space, I think it is critical to make sure there is plenty of
greenspace. I also think it is critical to have garden areas with water and native plants for pollinators. It makes sense and
most people enjoy green space. Well-managed greenspace and gardens are important for people's well-being as well as
for the planet.
For example the new Twinbrook Quarters is going to be a huge development with stores and dwellings along the 355
corridor which is already full of malls and their associated 'dead space' parking areas. The current plan is/was to have
some green space incorporated into the development. I hope this is still a requirement.
Thanks
Josephine Cox
Twinbrook resident
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Jim Wasilak
From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:

Monica Berger <monica@gotthard.org>
Tuesday, December 7, 2021 8:16 PM
Jim Wasilak
Power point and fact sheet from this evening

Jim,
Thank you for the talk this evening. I would be interested in the slides and the fact sheet.
I'd like to echo Deborah Landau's suggestion of not letting in lieu of funds expire and return to developers, given the
difficulty and time horizon of land acquisition. These funds should stay with the city for the purpose of eventual
parkland acquisition to benefit residents. I think the idea of putting that money in an endowment or appreciating fund
would be a good one.
I feel strongly that parkland should be dedicated to native plants, shrubs and trees to provide shade, oxygen and
wellbeing for people and wildlife alike, rather than rubber-mulched playgrounds and turf or concrete.
I liked Chuck Woolery's suggestion of green roofs and biophilic construction as ways to increase green space. He and I
have talked in the past about some kind of Citizen's Conservation Corps- perhaps residents could be given a small tax
break or enter a raffle for free passes to the Swim Center, for example, for volunteer hours they put in with maintaining
public parks, as a way to incentivize this kind of work and to get more residents involved and interested.
Thank you again for your time!
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Jim Wasilak
From:
Sent:
To:
Cc:
Subject:

Monica Berger <monica@gotthard.org>
Wednesday, December 8, 2021 3:29 PM
mayorcouncil
Jim Wasilak
Requiring Parkland with New Development

Dear Distinguished Mayor and Council:
I was fortunate to attend Jim Wasilak's presentation yesterday on whether Rockville should require parkland with new
development in the city, and I appreciate the outreach in this matter. Parklands are an essential public amenity, the
importance of which cannot be overestimated. The answer, in my opinion, is a resounding "Yes!"
When my family and I were looking for a house 12+ years ago, one of the draws of the Hungerford neighborhood, besides
the proximity to Metro and the relative affordability of homes, was the existence of not just one, but three (!) parks within
walking distance. The policy of offering parkland within a 10-minute walk for every citizen makes Rockville an attractive
alternative to other suburbs. During the pandemic, when the only safe place was inside your home, or outside away from
others, parks became important to many that had not visited them before. Natural spaces offer refuge and physical and
mental wellbeing. Many for whom telework has become an integral part of their work lives now find having wild spaces
nearby a welcome outlet.
I continue to be dismayed that tree cover and green spaces are removed in the name of progress. A prime example is the
new Tower Oaks development- the name of which is an insult to the formerly towering oaks that gave their lives for
this. New housing and retail should remain in areas that are already developed (i.e., redevelopment). IT IS TIME TO
REQUIRE EVERY NEW DEVELOPMENT TO INCLUDE PARKLAND, or to pay parks impact/in lieu of fees where
parkland is not immediately available. However, the quality of the green open space is also critical.
I urge the Mayor and Council to be thoughtful about the quality of those spaces. A rubber-mulched playground or a
mowed turf field are both wildlife deserts. I urge you to look to native trees, shrubs and plants that support native insects,
birds, and small mammals, as well as supporting city residents. If you are not yet familiar with it, the homegrown national
park movement is a game-changer (https://homegrownnationalpark.org/). Thoughtfully designed native green spaces improve
physical and mental health, sequester carbon dioxide and produce oxygen, provide habitat, and reduce stormwater flooding and
summer temperatures. In short, they help mitigate climate change and ecosystem degradation.

Mr. Wasilak's presentation also mentioned the thinking on returning in lieu of funds to developers if not used within a
certain number of years (e.g., seven). Deborah Landau suggested, and I agree very strongly, that in lieu of funds should
remain with the City indefinitely for the express purpose of acquiring parkland. Eventually returning funds to the
developer defeats the whole purpose of the in lieu of payment and is an end run around setting aside green space.
I urge you to require parkland with new development.
Thank you for your attention,
Monica Berger
1007 Brice Rd, Rockville, MD 20852
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Jim Wasilak
From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:

skipcaryl2@aol.com
Wednesday, December 8, 2021 1:22 PM
mayorcouncil; Jim Wasilak
YES! Re: Should Parkland Be Required With New Development?

Dear Mayor and Council Members,
Green spaces are one of the features that attracted my wife and I from Bethesda to Rockville. The
necessity of green spaces was reinforced by the Covid pandemic, when people flooded into
parkland to get out of the house or apartment. For example, it’s amazing how many suddenly flocked
to Red Gate Park, and lots of people discovered for the first time how much they valued nature as a
place of recreation, refuge and inspiration. Covid reminded us of what Rockville Mayors and Councils
have long known: PARKLANDS ARE AN ESSENTIAL PUBLIC GOOD for people of all ages and
incomes.
It is a huge loss to the quality of life in Rockville that many of our green spaces are being replaced by
development. IT IS TIME TO REQUIRE EVERY NEW DEVELOPMENT TO INCLUDE
PARKLAND. It is especially important to provide parkland as part of transit-oriented development
and lower-income neighborhoods, since many people do not own cars to travel to parks.
It is essential to require developers to retain green space for:








Improving our mental and physical health,
Encouraging children’s’ healthy development,
Providing pollinator habitat,
Managing storm water runoff,
Making our streets inviting for walking and bicycling,
Reducing the ‘heat island’ effect of new developments, and
Mitigating rising temperatures from climate change (green spaces lower
temperatures and reduce energy demands from AC).

I urge the Rockville Mayor and Council to Require Parkland with New Development.
Thank you for your attention,
Dr. Robert Williamson
5705 Stillwell Road, Rockville 20851
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Jim Wasilak
From:
Sent:
To:
Cc:
Subject:

Robert DiSpirito <rdispirito@rockvillemd.gov>
Tuesday, November 30, 2021 2:13 PM
Ricky Barker; Tim Chesnutt; Craig Simoneau
David Levy; Jim Wasilak; Christine Henry; James Woods; Emad Elshafei; Bryan BarnettWoods
FW: Parkland and New Development

From: Sean Cullinane <cullinsk@gmail.com>
Sent: Tuesday, November 30, 2021 1:15 PM
To: mayorcouncil <mayorcouncil@rockvillemd.gov>
Subject: Parkland and New Development
Good afternoon,
I will not be able to attend either discussion regarding the parkland requirement discussion with new
development. However, I would like to voice my opinion in case written comments are taken into account.
I want to advocate that any new development should require mandatory parkland as well as bike lanes. It is critical to
hold property developers accountable for using valuable land in Rockville given the growing climate change threats. In
all development, the entire community must be kept in mind since the entire city is impacted as more land is altered and
built. By including parkland, Rockville ensures that the health of the city is secured as well as assistance with water
retention issues.
Additionally, I want to add that Rockville should also include bike and pedestrian lanes with all development, paid for by
developers. Every statistics shows a direct connection between more bike lanes and more bicyclists. By adding bike
lanes around the city, we decrease traffic, expedite delivery of goods, and create a city that is easier to get around. This
is another low cost mechanism that places health and wellness as a primary concern.
Thanks and feel free to contact me if I can add further comments.
Sean Cullinane
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Jim Wasilak
From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:

Wayne Breslyn <waynebreslyn@gmail.com>
Wednesday, December 8, 2021 11:54 AM
Jim Wasilak
Follow-up to WebEx Meeting Last Night on Parks in Rockville

Hi Jim. Thanks for the thorough presentation last night and a chance to provide input. Following up, based on my
experience with RedGate, there is a clear desire and need for parks in our communities. I would advocate for the City to
move forward and seek further input from residents on this important issue.
Thank you once again,
Wayne Breslyn
1916 Stanley Avenue, Twinbrook
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